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A NOTE ON TRANSLITERATION AND
STYLE

Generally, I used the “New Romanization System,” released in July 2000 by the
ROK Ministry of Culture and Tourism, available at http://user.chollian.net/
~lyh220/urimal/romanization.htm, in transliterating Korean words. However, in
order to enable the readers to easily identify the precise spelling of the original
Korean words, I made one adjustment to the system. Instead of reflecting irre-
gular sound changes (when pronounced) on the spelling, I decided to simply use
one English character for a specific Korean character. For instance, the Korean
letter for “g” (ㄱ), which is pronounced either as “g” or as “k” depending on the
context, is always spelled as “g.” This rule applies to the case where the con-
sonant appears as the last letter in a word. For example, the word meaning South
Korea (한국) is spelled as “Hangug.”

Other exceptions are as follows. For North Korean first and family names, I
used Radiopress, Chousen Minshushugi Jinminkyouwakoku Soshikibetsu Jin
meiroku (North Korea Directory) (Tokyo: Radiopuresu, various years), which
followed the official North Korean transliteration system.

For South Korean first and family names, I used the “New Romanization
System.” However, when a specific spelling is preferred and/or used by a parti-
cular individual (where it is known) or when it is commonly used, I followed
suit. For example, Roh Tae Woo (노태우) is not spelled as “No Tae Wu” as the
New Romanization System would suggest. Moreover, Kim (김), Lee (이), and
Park (박) are spelled as “Kim,” “Lee,” and “Park.” Simply following the transli-
teration rule, Kim must be spelled as “Gim,” Lee as “I,” Park as “Bag.” However,
these names are common enough to stand as exceptions.

For North Korean location names (e.g. cities, mountains, rivers), I followed Sin
Dae Heung, ed., Saishin Chousen Minshushugi Jinminkyouwakoku Chimei Jiten
(New Dictionary of Location Names in the Democratic People’s Republic of
Korea) (Tokyo: Yuuzankaku, 1994). When the spelling of the location names
differ from the one widely used internationally, I have indicated the latter in
parentheses. For South Korean location names, I referred to Kim Myong
Taek, ed., Gyotong Gwangwang Hangug Doro Jido (Korea Tour-Road Atlas:
Chinese-English Edition) (Seoul: Jungang Jido Munhwasa, 2001).
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For book, journal, and article titles in notes, I followed the New Romanization
System. However, I used official names, when available, for book, journal, and
article titles in the main text. For this reason, the title of the same journal can be
spelled differently in the text and in notes in a few cases. For example, Kyun
ghyang Sinmun, a South Korean daily, is spelled as Kyunghyang Sinmun (official
English name) in the main text, but Gyeonghyang Sinmun (transliteration) in
notes. This method is used to make it easy for the readers to identify and locate
source materials.

The Democratic People’s Republic of Korea is abbreviated as the DPRK, and
the Republic of Korea as the ROK without note. Korean names are written with
surnames preceding given names, while American and Japanese names are given
with the surname following the given name. The time and dates are indicated in
local time. All the titles and positions reflect those in the period under discus-
sion. Electronic addresses (URL) for a book or a journal article published and
available on the internet are indicated where appropriate. The date of access is
March 17, 2008 unless otherwise indicated.
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INTRODUCTION

Is the logic behind North Korea’s military actions different from ours? In other
words, does North Korea use force regardless of its policy objectives? In the
following chapters, I hope to demonstrate that North Korea’s logic in using force
is in fact not fundamentally different from ours. North Korea has used force to
achieve its policy objectives, however idiosyncratic they might be, within the
structural conditions it faces. Moreover, I also hope to demonstrate that there has
been a learning process on the part of the North Korean leaders with regard to
the manner in which they have used military force.

A few assessments deserve being highlighted. First, North Korea’s policy
objectives have changed significantly over time, from ambitious, aggressive, and
hostile ones in the 1960s to more defensive ones in the 1990s onwards. In 1968,
for example, North Korea captured the U.S. intelligence-gathering ship Pueblo
and attempted to overthrow the South Korean government. Since the 1990s,
however, regime survival and acquisition of economic assistance have become
its most important objectives. To this end, North Korea has sought to normalize
relations with the United States and Japan. Despite military crises, North Korea’s
policy objectives since the 1990s have been minimalist.

Second, North Korea’s military actions have been consistent with its policy
objectives. In other words, the North Korean leaders have been rational in using
military force for the purpose of achieving their policy objectives. Changing
patterns of North Korea’s military actions, particularly in terms of their intensity
and targeting, support this contention. This does not mean, however, that the
North Koreans have always been successful. Some military actions were very
successful in achieving their policy objectives while others were only moderately
so. Yet others were unsuccessful or even counterproductive. Simply put, North
Korean leaders have been highly rational and moderately successful high-risk
takers with idiosyncratic policy objectives.

Third, North Korea’s military actions have been shaped and constrained by
structural factors such as military advantages that it has enjoyed. More specifi-
cally, North Korea’s military advantages were a motivating factor and determi-
nant for choosing the location of its military actions. They were also a
determinant of success. The history of North Korean military action strongly
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suggests that North Korea’s propensity to threaten to or actually resort to the use
of force has been high, particularly when a new opportunity was created by the
acquisition of new military capabilities. The preferred location of North Korea’s
military actions changed over time according to the shifting military balance,
and where the North Koreans had military advantages, chances were high that
their military actions would succeed. In other words, structural factors, instead of
tactical factors such as negotiating skills, played a decisive role in determining
the outcome of North Korea’s military actions.

Finally, North Korean leaders have learned lessons from the past, and their
skill in using military force in conjunction with diplomatic actions has become
more sophisticated over time. The North Koreans have demonstrated their ability
to conduct highly sophisticated and elaborate military-diplomatic campaigns
since the early 1990s. In fact, what they did in Panmunjom and in the Yellow
Sea in the 1990s was refined repetitions of what they had done in the 1970s;
what they have been doing since 2002 is a modified repetition of what they did
in the 1990s.

North Korea’s military-diplomatic actions have five distinctive characteristics.
First, despite the tendency to focus on the offensively oriented nature of North
Korean military strategy, deterrence has been a critical enabling factor for its
military actions and military-diplomatic campaigns. For North Korean military-
diplomatic campaigns to succeed, North Korea has to prevent strong U.S.–ROK
retaliations. The United States and/or South Korea seriously considered major
military retaliations or coercive actions in response to the North Korean raid on
the South Korean presidential residence and the seizure of the U.S. intelligence-
gathering ship Pueblo in 1968, the shooting-down of the U.S. reconnaissance
aircraft EC-121 in 1969, the Axe Murder incident in Panmunjom in 1976, and
the nuclear crisis in 1994, but, as we know, they eventually dropped the military
option in all of the cases. In other words, North Korea successfully deterred the
U.S. and ROK from taking effective retaliatory measures.

Second, legal factors have significantly influenced North Korea’s military
actions. North Korean policymakers have proved to be extremely knowledgeable
about legal issues, and well versed in exploiting them to their advantage. Their
ability to make use of legal issues seems to have resulted from the nature of the
North Korean political system, in which a small number of specialists tend to stay
in the same position for a long time, creating a strong knowledge base of legal
matters and organizational memory. When the North Korean naval vessels started
repeatedly crossing the Northern Limit Line (NLL) – a quasi-maritime borderline
between North and South Korea in the Yellow Sea – in 1999, the North Korean
side did not have a local military advantage, as the outcome of the naval clash in
South Korea’s favor suggested. However, the North Koreans still took actions
hoping that they could exploit legal problems pertaining to the status of the
NLL.

Third, an element of surprise has almost always been an important ingredient in
North Korea’s military actions. The seizure of the Pueblo, the shooting down of
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the EC-121, the Axe Murder incident, announcements to withdraw from the
Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons (NPT) in 1993 and 2003,
the launch of the ballistic missiles in 1993, 1998 and 2006, and the nuclear test
in 2006 all came to observers’ surprise. The frequent use of surprise seems to
have implanted in our minds an impression that the North Koreans are “crazy.”
However, surprise has actually worked well.

Fourth, none of North Korea’s major military-diplomatic actions have been
primarily caused by domestic political factors. Even in cases in which domestic
political objectives played a role, they have been of secondary importance, or
less, as motives of North Korean military actions. In the period directly follow-
ing the end of the Korean War in 1953, North Korea did not undertake many
military actions as its attention was focused on a number of serious domestic
power struggles.1 North Korea’s use of force actually increased when Kim Il Sung’s
position was consolidated in the 1960s. Furthermore, when Kim Jong Il formalized
his position in the Workers’ Party in the early 1980s, North Korea continued to
undertake provocative actions, such as the Rangoon Incident.

Fifth, the contention that North Korea tends to undertake military actions
when it faces a hostile international environment is not true. History suggests it
has initiated military actions when the international environment was favorable
as well as when it was not. The 1976 Axe Murder incident took place in an
international environment most favorable to North Korea while its nuclear
diplomacy began in 1993 and in 2002 when the international situation was
extremely negative to the country. The Taepo Dong launch took place in 1998
when the international environment was quite favorable due to the adoption of
the engagement and sunshine policies by the United States and South Korea,
respectively. The 1999 naval clash took place about two weeks after William
Perry, special advisor to the president and secretary of state, visited Pyongyang.
The international environment does not necessarily determine the outcome of
their action, either. The Axe Murder, for example, failed disastrously despite a
favorable international environment, while the nuclear diplomacy twice turned
out to be a success under the most unfavorable international environment.

Finally, regardless of their immediate results, North Korea’s military-
diplomatic campaigns have in some cases produced mid- to long-term unintended
consequences. In the 1960s, for example, sustained assaults along the Demili-
tarized Zone (DMZ) provoked the United States and South Korea to fortify the
area, making it impossible for North Korean agents to penetrate the DMZ as
easily as before. In the 1970s, North Korean naval and air activities catalyzed
South Korea’s effort to fortify the offshore islands in the Yellow Sea – the
Northwest Islands – and build up and modernize its naval forces deployed in the
area. The local military balance in the area had become decisively favorable to
the South Korean side by the time the naval vessels of North and South Korea
engaged in battle in 1999. The launch of the Taepo Dong missile in 1998
encouraged the United States and Japan to accelerate their efforts on ballistic
missile defense programs. These cases demonstrate the importance of paying
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attention to the mid- to long-term repercussions in assessing the effectiveness of
North Korea’s military-diplomatic campaigns. Short-term success could turn into
mid- to long-term failure.

Structure and definitions

The following chapters are structured as follows. Chapter 1 will provide a
historical and analytical survey of North Korea’s past conventional as well as
unconventional military actions. In this, four distinct periods are identified:

(a) Genesis of military-diplomatic campaigns, 1966–72
(b) Diplomatic uses of limited force, 1973–82
(c) The rise of terrorism, 1983–92
(d) Sophisticated military-diplomatic campaigns, 1993–present

Chapters 2 to 9 will constitute detailed studies of significant cases. These case
studies have been selected on the basis of one or more of the following criteria:

(a) Sustained use and/or threat of force conducted for a period of over one year
for a set of coherent policy objectives; or

(b)Major crisis in which the U.S.–ROK side’s Defense Condition (DEFCON)
was raised to level three or above

Eight cases met these criteria. Under the first criterion, assaults along the
DMZ in the 1960s, the West Sea incident in the 1970s, the first round of nuclear
diplomacy, missile diplomacy, the sustained campaigns to undermine the Korean
Armistice in the 1990s, and the second round of nuclear diplomacy since 2002
were selected. Under the second criterion, the Pueblo incident of 1968 and the
Axe Murder incident of 1976 were chosen. In order to conduct a controlled
comparative analysis, all case study chapters will follow the outline indicated
below.

(a) Historical description
(b) Critical factors
(c) Characteristics
(d) Assessment
(e) Repercussions (when they apply)

Here, critical factors refer to the factors that motivated or enabled North Korea
to use force, such as military balance, the international environment, and legal
issues that played critical roles in North Korea’s military-diplomatic campaigns.

In discussing characteristics of North Korea’s use and/or threat of force, four
important aspects will be considered. First, I will look at the location and timing
of North Korea’s military actions. Where and when did military actions take
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place? Did they take place in the DMZ, in the Joint Security Area, or somewhere
else? What determined the timing of the military actions? The existence of the
element of surprise will also be an important factor discussed here.

Second, I will discuss forces involved and the type of force used, examining
whether they were: (a) conventional forces, unconventional forces, or weapons of
mass destruction and ballistic missiles; (b) the actual or potential use of force;
and (c) controlling, coercive, or subversive use of force. A quick word on defi-
nitions: the actual use of force, or simply use of force, refers to the real, physical
application of force against the target. The potential/indirect use of force, or
threat of force, refers to the exercise of compellence by demonstrating military
force and by issuing threats, explicitly or implicitly.2 The controlling use of force
aims at establishing physical control over targets. The coercive use of force is
meant to exercise influence over the targets without attempting to establish
physical control over them. The subversive use of force aims at undermining the
military, economic, psychological, or political strength or morale of a regime and/
or at overthrowing an incumbent government.3

Third, I will investigate the intensity and targeting of the threat or use of
force. How intensely and what kind of targets did North Korea attempt to attack?
How many people were killed and wounded? Was the target enemy armed
forces, citizens, or leadership? Was it Americans or South Koreans that were
attacked? Finally, I will examine the level of military-diplomatic coordination,
asking how closely the specific military actions and diplomatic moves were
coordinated and how deliberately or purposively military force was employed to
support diplomatic actions and vice versa.

Assessing the results of the use of force is one of the most challenging parts
of this study due largely to the secrecy of the North Korean system and to the
inherent difficulty involved in assessing the consequences of military actions. I
will take the following steps in order to produce an objective assessment. First, I
will identify North Korea’s original policy objectives. In doing so, I will use
North Korea’s official and semi-official pronouncements as the most important
source of information. Since North Korea’s pronouncements are quite often
exaggerated or, worse, designed to mislead, I will also use an assessment of
North Korean intentions made by the top leaders and high-ranking American
and South Korean officials to make necessary adjustments. In addition, I will
employ circumstantial evidence to make further adjustments and to identify other
policy objectives that the North Koreans might have had. Second, I will identify
consequences of North Korea’s military actions. The most clear-cut con-
sequences would include destruction of certain physical targets or formal agree-
ments. Even in clear-cut cases involving formal agreements, care will be taken to
find out how much of the agreement was actually implemented. Finally, I will
evaluate the effectiveness of North Korea’s military actions based primarily on
the evaluations made by American and South Korean high-ranking officials.
In particular, their private evaluations are the most useful source of information
since these are considered to be highly genuine. In analyzing these case studies,
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I will discuss domestic origins of North Korea’s military actions where possible.
After I assess the results of the military actions, I will separately discuss mid- to
long-term repercussions, if any.

Regarding terminology, the term “military actions” is used throughout this
study to mean overt use or threat of military force, including the use of potential
nuclear force, to achieve policy objectives. Covert actions such as guerrilla
infiltration operations, assassination attempts, and terrorist attacks will be refer-
red to as “unconventional” actions or activities.

North Korea’s use of force in a historical continuum

North Korea defines its military actions as part of a historical continuum and,
following a military-first policy, will continue to use force as the single most
important policy tool in the foreseeable future. One of the biographies of Kim
Jong Il, entitled Gen. Kim Jong Il: The Lodestar and published in Pyongyang,
claimed that Kim had enabled his country to fight and win a war of nerves against
the United States, and characterized the Pueblo incident of 1968 as “the first war
of brains (dunoejeon)” and the 1993–94 nuclear diplomacy as “yet another war of
wisdom (jihyejeon).”4 In the first case, Kim Jong Il was said to have created a
situation in which the U.S. Congress, Defense Department, and State Department
were “flustered and thrown into confusion,” and the threatened retaliation by the
United States “went up in smoke before the quick moves taken by the Leader
[Kim Jong Il].” The United States was eventually forced to send a letter of
apology to North Korea. This was a victory in the first war of brains against the
United States for “young General Kim Jong Il in his twenties.” The second war of
brains came at the time when the United States and South Korea were conducting
Team Spirit 93 joint military exercise and the international pressure on North
Korea to accept inspections on its nuclear facilities was mounting. The “General,”
the biography explained, “wisely ordered the launch of a ‘15-day war’ and
snubbed the arrogant United States again for the entire world to see.”5

On June 16, 1999, Rodong Sinmun and Kulloja, the daily newspaper and the
journal of the Central Committee of the Workers’ Party of Korea (WPK), jointly
issued an article entitled “WPK’s policy of giving priority to army is invincible.”
The article contended:

The WPK’s policy of giving priority to the army is a powerful policy that
ensures a decisive victory in political and diplomatic confrontation with
imperialism.

… Today the WPK’s policy of giving priority to the army is a
guarantee for sure victory in diplomacy with the enemies. Our self-
reliant defence capabilities, a result of scores of years of arduous
efforts, instill great fear into the imperialists. We will strongly counter
imperialism while saying whatever we want to say in face of any threat
and blackmail.6

INTRODUCT ION
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Chapter 1

NORTH KOREA’S MILITARY-
DIPLOMATIC CAMPAIGNS

After the Korean War ended in July 1953, a relative calm prevailed in Korea. In
1954–60, North Korea was busy with domestic power struggles and the rehabilitation
of its war-torn economy. From 1961–65, however, North Korea started to follow a
revolutionary agenda vis à vis South Korea and began to invest a large amount of
resources to its military build-up. This build-up eventually resulted in active conven-
tional as well as unconventional offensives since the mid-1960s.

Genesis of military-diplomatic campaigns, 1966–72

Conventional and unconventional assaults and
assassination attempts

The period between 1966 and 1972 witnessed a dramatic increase in North Korean
military activities such as sustained armed assaults along the Demilitarized Zone
(DMZ) and conventional attacks against U.S. intelligence-gathering assets. During
this period, major actions were concentrated along the DMZ and in the Sea of Japan.
North Korean actions resulted in a large number of casualties. Most of the casualties
were American and South Korean servicemen, but a number of South Korean civi-
lians were also killed. Unconventional attempts to assassinate the South Korean pre-
sident as well as massive guerrilla infiltrations into South Korea accompanied the
more conventional military actions.

Assaults along the Demilitarized Zone

North Korea mounted numerous armed assaults directed at U.S.–ROK forces along
the DMZ in the latter half of the 1960s. It started to use larger teams and more
heavily armed operatives in 1966, and the emphasis shifted from intelligence col-
lection and subversion to overt “harassment.” There were also clashes in or near the
Joint Security Area (JSA) in Panmunjom in this period.

In response to the increase in North Korean armed assaults, South Korea took
active retaliatory measures, causing tension between the United States and South
Korea because the South Korean raids were executed without the approval of
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the Commander in Chief, United Nations Command (UNC), a U.S. Army
general who at that time exercised operational control over South Korean forces
in addition to the U.S. forces in Korea. The United States faced a serious chal-
lenge in helping South Korea; while the help was certainly necessary, there was
a danger that the U.S. help might encourage the South Koreans to take uni-
lateral, punitive actions against North Korea which might result in military
escalation.

Conventional attacks

During this period, North Korea mounted a number of conventional attacks at
sea and in the air. The first such attack took place in April 1965, when two
North Korean MiG-17 fighters attacked and damaged a U.S. Air Force RB-47H
reconnaissance aircraft in the Sea of Japan. The plane survived the attack, how-
ever, and landed safely in Japan.1

Two years later, in January 1967, a South Korean naval patrol craft PCE-56 was
attacked and sunk by North Korean coastal guns when it was protecting South
Korean fishing boats in the Sea of Japan. North Korea claimed that the ship was
sailing inside its territorial sea, while the UNC claimed it was not.2

Then on January 23, 1968, North Korean naval vessels captured the U.S.
Navy intelligence-gathering ship Pueblo and its crew in the Sea of Japan. In
order to get the crew and the ship back, the United States agreed to hold bilateral
talks with North Korea in Panmunjom. The crew, but not the ship, returned to
the United States in December.

On April 15, 1969, two North Korean MiG-21 fighters shot down the U.S.
Navy EC-121M reconnaissance aircraft in the Sea of Japan, killing all crew
members aboard.3 Although U.S. leaders considered a military response, given
the war in Vietnam and lack of Congressional support for expanded military
action, they ultimately rejected an armed retaliation.4 Finally, in June 1970, a
North Korean high-speed craft seized a South Korean Navy broadcasting ship
with 20 crewmen in the Yellow Sea.

Assassination attempts

Between 1966 and 1972, North Korea conducted two separate assassination
attempts against the South Korean president. On January 21, 1968, a 31-man
assault team from North Korea’s 124th Army Unit, a special operations unit
created in 1967, attempted to mount a raid on the South Korean presidential
residence – the Blue House – to kill Park Chung Hee. The team was stopped on
the way to the Blue House, however, and the plan failed. The second attempt
was made in June 1970, when three North Korean agents infiltrated into Seoul
and tried to install a remote-controlled bomb at the gate of the National Ceme-
tery three days before Park was scheduled to make a speech there. The bomb
prematurely exploded, however, and the attempt failed.

NORTH KOREA’S MIL ITARY-D IPLOMAT IC CAMPAIGNS
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Unconventional warfare

North Korea’s unconventional warfare during this period centered on infiltrations
of spies and armed guerrillas into South Korea to construct revolutionary bases
or to incite instability, a Korean-style “Vietnam strategy,” of sorts.5 North Korea
deployed guerrilla teams either through the DMZ or from the sea with fast boats;
sightings, contacts, and firefights were reported almost daily in mid-1967.6

Between October 30 and November 2, 1968, major North Korean infiltration
operations took place in Uljin and Samcheok on the South Korean east coast. On
three separate occasions, eight 15-member operation teams from the 124th Army
Unit landed in these areas. Over 40,000 ROK Army and ROK National Police
personnel were mobilized for several months to suppress the infiltrators.7

Defying the United States and overthrowing the ROK government

North Korea had highly ambitious policy objectives during this period, ranging
from strategically pinning down U.S.–ROK forces on the Korean Peninsula to
seriously hampering U.S. reconnaissance activities. North Korea’s military actions
were largely quite effective in achieving their policy objectives. Although North
Korea failed to seriously challenge the stability of South Korea and to assassinate
President Park, it succeeded in diverting U.S.–ROK attention and resources
away from Vietnam, hampering U.S. reconnaissance activities, and straining U.S.–
ROK relations.

These successes, nevertheless, were attained at tremendous cost, both in the
short run and in the long run. In the short run, sustaining active military opera-
tions exacted a high human toll. Over this six-year period, as many as 715 North
Korean servicemen were killed in various engagements, more than double the
number of South Korean military personnel killed in the same period.8 In the long
run, the massive military buildup during this period put a heavy burden on the North
Korean economy. North Korea spent approximately 30 percent of its budget on
defense for the five consecutive years between 1967 and 1971, significantly hamper-
ing its economic development.9 After South Korea’s per capita gross national product
(GNP) surpassed that of North Korea’s in 1969, the gap between the two economies
has continued to widen to date.

Diplomatic uses of limited force, 1973–82

Conventional skirmishes, assaults, infiltrations, and
assassination attempts

In 1973–82, North Korea’s military actions underwent a clear change. Its focus
shifted from operations along the DMZ and in the Sea of Japan to operations in
the Yellow Sea and in the JSA. The intensity of the use of force diminished
dramatically, and military actions were better coordinated with diplomatic

NORTH KOREA’S MIL ITARY-D IPLOMAT IC CAMPAIGNS

9



moves. In this period, conventional skirmishes at sea and in the air and low-
intensity assaults on UNC personnel occurred frequently. Unconventional attacks
such as infiltrations by sea and assassination attempts continued, but at a much
lower level.

Conventional skirmishes

North Korean military activities at sea increased in the 1970s, particularly in the
Yellow Sea around the Northwest Islands, five offshore islands under UNC jur-
isdiction which are situated much closer to the North Korean coast than to the
South Korean coast. In October 1973, North Korea instigated a new military
crisis around the Northwest Islands, which came to be known as the West Sea
incident. (Both North and South Korea call the Yellow Sea the “West Sea.”) North
Korean patrol boats frequently entered the areas around the Northwest Islands
between 1973 and 1975 to challenge the Northern Limit Line (NLL), a quasi-
maritime border established unilaterally by the UNC after the Armistice Agree-
ment ending the Korean War was signed. In 1975 and 1976, North Korean
fighters frequently flew in the area, as well.

The strongest military action in the air during this period was North Korea’s
attempt to shoot down a U.S. SR-71 reconnaissance aircraft. In August 1981,
North Korea launched SA-2 surface-to-air missiles at the SR-71 as it was flying
over the Yellow Sea. The missiles missed the target.10

Low intensity assaults

Between 1973 and 1977, assaults on UNC personnel occurred frequently in the
JSA and the DMZ, which peaked in 1976 and culminated in the Axe Murder
incident. On August 18, 1976, two U.S. Army officers were killed in the JSA in
Panmunjom by North Korean guards wielding axes. In reaction, the United
States mobilized its armed forces and concentrated them in and around the
Korean Peninsula in a show of force. Then the U.S. forces in Korea, together
with South Korean special forces, undertook an operation to cut down a poplar
tree, which was the direct cause of the clash in the JSA. This operation caused
an extremely tense situation; had there been even one accidental shot, it is quite
likely the situation could have quickly escalated into a free-for-all.

Infiltrations and assassination attempts

With time, the number of known infiltrations declined noticeably, with the 1969
high of 144 declining to 86 in 1970, 52 in 1971, and only 20 in 1972. This trend
continued as the number further declined in the latter half of the decade. Though
the assassination attempts in 1968 and in 1970 had failed, assassination
remained a popular tactic for North Korea. On August 15, 1974, another attempt
was made to assassinate Park Chung Hee when a North Korean-trained South
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Korean citizen fired rounds at Park. He missed Park, but the First Lady was
killed in the incident.11

New maritime order, peace agreement, and the
withdrawal of U.S. forces

North Korea’s policy objectives in 1973–82 continued to be revisionist in nature.
However, diplomacy became a primary channel through which the North Kor-
eans tried to achieve their objectives. In the West Sea incident and the Axe
Murder incident, coordinated diplomatic actions were indispensable for translat-
ing military actions into concrete gains.

In this period, North Korea’s objectives included (a) challenging U.S.–ROK
positions on the status of the waters around the Northwest Islands and the status
of the NLL, (b) complicating U.S.–ROK relations, and (c) driving U.S. forces
out of Korea. The failed attack on the SR-71 in 1981 seemed to have been in
line with the capture of the Pueblo and the shooting down of the EC-121 in the
late 1960s in that hampering U.S. reconnaissance activities was the primary
objective. An assassination attempt was made once again, most likely in order to
destabilize South Korea and obstruct its economic development.

During this period, cooperative elements started to appear in the objectives of
North Korea’s military-diplomatic actions. One of the objectives in the West Sea
incident was to promote bilateral U.S.–DPRK talks for concluding a peace
agreement, which North Korea proposed to the United States for the first time in
1974, shortly after it started the naval operations in the Yellow Sea. In the Axe
Murder incident, one of North Korea’s objectives was to marshal international
support for its position both in the Non-Aligned Movement summit meeting and
in the upcoming United Nations General Assembly meeting. Moreover, North
Korea seems to have attempted to encourage those in the United States advo-
cating the withdrawal of U.S. forces from Korea by attacking American soldiers
deployed there.

North Korea’s military-diplomatic campaigns in this period worked to produce
some positive yet largely marginal results. In the West Sea incident, North Korea
succeeded in publicly demonstrating the existence of the legal dispute involving
the Yellow Sea and in underlining the arbitrary nature of the Armistice arrange-
ments in Korea. It also succeeded in highlighting the disagreements between the
United States and South Korea with regard to the status of the NLL. However, it
failed to actually enforce the territorial claims it made, and to seriously under-
mine U.S.–ROK relations.

North Korea used the Axe Murder incident to reinforce its diplomatic offen-
sive by claiming that the U.S. presence in South Korea was a root cause of the
confrontation on the Korean Peninsula. However, the brutal killing of the U.S.
servicemen backfired. The reaction of the international community to the North
Korean action was extremely negative. North Korea’s diplomatic offensive against
the U.S. military presence in South Korea lost its momentum thereafter. In addition,
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the incident wrecked North Korea’s position in the inter-Korean diplomatic com-
petition at the United Nations General Assembly.

North Korea’s military actions in this period were less costly in terms of
casualties and physical damage than those in the previous period. The naval
and air activities in the Yellow Sea involved only a few actual military clashes,
and damage to the North Korean side was small. While two U.S. officers were
killed, no North Korean was killed in the Axe Murder incident. Finally, the
assassination attempt did not involve major forces or significant material
investment.

More broadly, however, North Korea’s military actions during this period did
involve large costs. For instance, operations in the Northwest Islands area were
made possible by continued heavy spending on defense. Although North Korea’s
defense expenditure during this decade was relatively smaller than in the 1960s,
it remained remarkably high in absolute terms.12 Moreover, North Korea’s
actions at sea provoked South Korean responses: Seoul adopted the “sasu”
strategy entailing unconditional defense of the NLL, the offshore islands in the
Yellow Sea were fortified, and South Korea’s naval and air forces were
strengthened.

The rise of terrorism, 1983–92

Assassination attempt and terrorist attacks

The 1983–92 period saw a relative calm in terms of North Korea’s use of mili-
tary force with only sporadic action in the DMZ or in the Northwest Islands
area. Instead, North Korean efforts to disrupt South Korea continued with a new
emphasis on terrorism. In 1983, relatively small-sized infiltration operations
against South Korea increased. In July, an infiltration attempt was made near a
South Korean nuclear power plant in Wolseong. In September, the office of the
U.S. Information Service in Daegu was attacked, and four South Korean civi-
lians were killed.13 In the same year, an attempt was made to assassinate South
Korean President Chun Doo Hwan in Rangoon, Burma (now Myanmar). On
October 9, 1983, North Korean agents detonated a bomb in the Aung San Martyrs’
Mausoleum, killing 21 people including four South Korean cabinet members.
President Chun, however, survived uninjured.14

As the 1988 Seoul Olympic Games drew near, North Korean terrorist attempts
to disrupt them became frequent and intense. The first major attempt was made
in September 1986, six days before the Asian Games opened in South Korea,
when a bomb exploded in the Gimpo International Airport, killing five and
wounding more than 30 people. Then on November 29, 1987, Korean Air Lines
Flight 858 bound for Bangkok from Abu Dhabi was bombed by two North
Korean agents, exploding in midair over the Andaman Sea. All 115 people on
board were killed.15 After the incident, one of the two agents killed himself
while the other female agent, Kim Hyon Hui, was captured.
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Desperate attempts to reverse the tide

North Korea’s policy objectives during this period were revisionist in the first
half but relatively status quo-oriented in the latter half. In 1983, North Korea
clearly tried to destabilize South Korea with the assassination attempt on Pre-
sident Chun, whose domestic political position was not very strong. By contrast,
North Korea’s terrorist attacks in 1986 and 1987 were limited in purpose and
arguably defensive in nature. What the North Koreans tried to do was to prevent
the Asian Games and the Seoul Olympic Games from succeeding. The North
Koreans knew that the success of these important international sports events
would enormously enhance South Korea’s position in the inter-Korean competi-
tion for legitimacy both domestically and internationally. North Korea’s actions
were defensive in the sense that it was making a final effort to prevent the
Republic of Korea from becoming a stable, rich, and internationally acclaimed
state.16

North Korean actions during this period were unsuccessful. North Korea’s
conventional actions were too unfocused and too limited to produce meaningful
results. The terrorist attacks, no matter how dramatic a psychological shock they
might have had, largely backfired. Despite the North Korean attacks, the Asian
Games and the Olympic Games were not significantly disturbed. Rather, the
disclosure that two North Korean operatives bombed the Korean Air liner fueled
international condemnation of North Korea as a terrorist state. In January 1988,
the United States designated North Korea as a terrorist-sponsoring nation.
Although North Korea’s military and terrorist operations during this period were
relatively inexpensive without the employment of significant military forces, the
price that North Korea paid diplomatically was prohibitively high. The net effect
of North Korean military and terrorist actions was clearly negative.

Sophisticated military-diplomatic campaigns, 1993–present

Nuclear and missile diplomacy and undermining the Armistice

After more than a decade, North Korea’s overt military-diplomatic campaigns
returned to centre stage in the next period, this time with weapons that have
regional and potentially global strategic implications. In addition, North Korea
initiated sustained military actions in the JSA, the DMZ, and the Yellow Sea to
undermine the Korean Armistice. During this period, no known attempt was made
to assassinate the South Korean president. North Korea’s military assistance and
material support for international terrorist and revolutionary groups also declined.

Nuclear diplomacy, round one

North Korea initiated its first foray into nuclear diplomacy in 1993. On March
12, North Korea declared it would withdraw from the Treaty on the
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Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons (NPT). This threat successfully brought
the Americans into bilateral negotiations in June. The talks failed to produce a
swift and definitive solution to the nuclear issue. Moreover, the sidelined South
Koreans became frustrated and started to show a negative attitude toward U.S.–
DPRK interactions. Under such circumstances, North Korea began discharging
spent fuel rods from its five-megawatt (MW) nuclear reactor in May 1994,
turning rising tension into crisis. In June 1994, the United States seriously con-
templated imposing economic sanctions on North Korea. North Korea declared
that it would regard sanctions as a “declaration of war.”17 The end of the crisis
came suddenly and unexpectedly. During his unofficial visit to Pyongyang in
mid-June, former U.S. President Jimmy Carter was able to reach agreement with
Kim Il Sung on ways to deflate the crisis.

Missile diplomacy

North Korea’s missile-related activities became an official agenda item in U.S.–
DPRK bilateral talks. As a result, the first round of missile talks was held in
1996. North Korea’s efforts to develop medium- and long-range ballistic missiles
had long been known. In May 1993, North Korea test-launched a medium-range
No Dong missile in the direction of Tokyo. A big surprise came when North
Korea launched a three-stage rocket based on the Taepo Dong 1 in August 1998,
with some unexpected technological breakthroughs. It was doubly shocking
because the rocket flew over the Japanese main island in the direction of Hawaii.

Assaults on the Korean Armistice

At the same time, North Korea attempted to undermine the Armistice by initi-
ating sustained military-diplomatic campaigns in 1993, causing trouble in the
JSA, DMZ, and Yellow Sea. The North Koreans conducted armed demonstra-
tions several times in the JSA between 1994 and 1996 and provoked an
exchange of fire in the DMZ in 1997. They also conducted naval actions to
challenge the NLL in the Yellow Sea in June 1999. The resulting naval skirm-
ishes developed into a major exchange of gunfire between the two Koreas. In
June 2001, three North Korean cargo ships sailed through the Jeju Strait, and one
of them later crossed the NLL in the Yellow Sea and entered the port of Haeju. In
June 2002, two North Korean patrol boats separately crossed the NLL in the
Yellow Sea, and one of them suddenly opened fire against one of the South Korean
patrol boats. The ensuing exchange of fire lasted for about 30 minutes, and both
side suffered casualties and damage.

Covert operations

Some of North Korea’s ongoing covert operations were unveiled in 1995, 1996,
and 1998. In October 1995, a North Korean infiltration team was discovered
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while it was attempting to cross the Imjin River south of the DMZ. In the same
month, two North Korean operatives infiltrated into South Korea in order to
conduct political operations before being captured by South Korean security
forces. In September 1996, a Sang o-class North Korean special-purpose sub-
marine was found on the South Korean east coast in a failed infiltration/
exfiltration operation. In June 1998, a North Korean Yugo-class midget sub-
marine was found off the South Korean east coast with nine corpses inside.
Also, a North Korean semi-submersible that had infiltrated the southern coast
was sunk in December 1998.18

Nuclear diplomacy, round two

In December 2002, North Korea set in motion a second round of nuclear diplo-
macy by announcing that it would restart the construction and operation of its
nuclear facilities. Faced with financial sanctions imposed by the United States
and America’s refusal to seriously engage with Pyongyang, North Korea laun-
ched ballistic missiles in July 2006 and conducted a nuclear test in October.

Coercing to survive

North Korea’s policy objectives in this period were predominantly intended to
preserve the status quo. Through its active military-diplomatic campaigns in this
period, North Korea sought to create a mechanism that would ensure its regime’s
survival. Normalization or at least improvement of its relations with the United
States was the single most important means of achieving that goal. Economic
gain also emerged as another of the most important policy objectives in this
period. This was a significant development given that North Korea had never
before demanded direct economic rewards in its military-diplomatic campaigns.

North Korea’s military-diplomatic campaigns in this period were quite suc-
cessful. The most tangible success was won with the signing of the 1994 Agreed
Framework in which the United States promised to provide light-water reactors to
North Korea and offered to improve U.S.–DPRK relations in response to North
Korea’s promise to freeze its nuclear development and to accept full nuclear
inspections in the future.

Together with the discovery of a suspected underground nuclear facility in
Kumchangri, North Korea’s active missile diplomacy initiated in 1998 prompted
the United States to undertake a major review of its policy toward the country. As
a result, the United States and the DPRK issued the “Joint U.S.–DPRK Statement
on International Terrorism” and the “U.S.–DPRK Joint Communiqué” in 2000.

In the second round of nuclear diplomacy, North Korea successfully used nuclear
coercion to force the United States to reengage with it. After the nuclear test in
2006, the United States shifted its policy toward North Korea, eventually ceasing to
apply the Trading with the Enemy Act in June 2008 and removing North Korea
from its State Sponsor of Terrorism list four months later.
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In parallel with nuclear and missile diplomacy, North Korea proposed the
conclusion of a U.S.–DPRK peace agreement in October 1993, and a “tentative
agreement” in February 1996 as a first step toward the conclusion of a peace agree-
ment with the United States. These proposals were made while North Korea simul-
taneously undertook a series of military actions and armed demonstrations. North
Korea’s logic was that since the danger of war was looming large on the Korean
Peninsula and military tensions rose because the current Armistice mechanism was
ineffective, the United States and the DPRK must conclude a peace agreement or at
least establish a better peace mechanism in order to avoid another war. With its series
of military actions, North Korea tried to create the reality to fit its argument. Never-
theless, North Korea has so far failed to conclude a tentative agreement, let alone a
peace agreement, with the United States.

North Korea’s military-diplomatic campaigns were quite costly in this period.
North Korea devoted a large amount of its resources to nuclear and missile
development and in the second nuclear crisis endured tremendous socio-
economic pressure from the United States. North Korea also suffered a number
of casualties and loss of naval vessels in the naval battles in 1999 and 2002.
North Korea’s covert operations also proved to be a costly venture. Within a
matter of two years, North Korea lost two special-purpose submarines, a Sang o-
class submarine in 1996 and a Yugo-class submarine in 1998. These incidents
were an indication of the growing difficulties the North Koreans faced in suc-
cessfully executing covert operations.

Finally, North Korean military actions during this period also produced negative
results. Partly as a result of North Korea’s nuclear and missile diplomacy, the United
States and Japan accelerated their joint efforts on ballistic missile defense and Japan
started to deploy ballistic missile defense systems in 2007. Also, the naval battle of
June 1999 undermined North Korea’s ability to exercise conventional military-
diplomatic campaigns by demonstrating that its conventional military assets were
outdated and were no match for their South Korean counterparts. The only way for
the North Koreans to match South Korea now was by means of surprise, as it did in
2002.
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Chapter 2

ASSAULTS ALONG THE
DEMILITARIZED ZONE, 1966 68

North Korea mounted numerous armed attacks directed against U.S.–ROK
forces along the Demilitarized Zone (DMZ) in the latter half of the 1960s. With
its sustained military operations along the DMZ, North Korea succeeded in
diverting U.S.–ROK attention away from Vietnam, straining the U.S.–ROK
relationship, and bolstering Kim Il Sung’s position both domestically and
internationally.

Attacks and counterattacks

Armed attacks against U.S.–ROK forces

After North Korean leader Kim Il Sung announced in October 1966 that the U.S.
forces should be “dispersed to the maximum everywhere and on every front of
the world,” guerrilla-type assaults against U.S. and South Korean forces surged.1

North Korea started to use larger teams and more heavily armed operatives.2

Between October 15 and 19, 1966, 11 South Korean servicemen were killed in
ambush. On October 21, a South Korean truck was attacked in the western
DMZ, killing six South Korean soldiers. During the early morning hours of
November 2, the last day of the U.S. President Lyndon Johnson’s visit to South
Korea, six U.S. and three South Korean soldiers were killed in two separate
clashes with North Korean troops south of the DMZ. On one occasion, a Korean
People’s Army (KPA) squad attacked an eight-man U.S. patrol with hand grenades
and submachine guns, about one kilometer south of the DMZ, killing six Amer-
icans and one South Korean soldier serving in the U.S. unit as Korean Augmenta-
tion to the U.S. Army (KATUSA). In another simultaneous attack, a KPA squad
attacked a South Korean patrol, killing two soldiers.3 The November 2 attack on
the U.S. patrol became a front-page story in the U.S. media, although the story
itself did not attract sustained public attention.4 Between January and November
1966, six U.S. and 30 South Korean soldiers been killed in 40 such incidents.5

The emphasis of North Korean assaults along the DMZ since mid-October
shifted from intelligence collection and subversion to “harassment.”6 Before that,
North Korean infiltration agents usually wore civilian clothes and rarely engaged
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in firefights except when challenged by the South Korean military or security
services. In mid-October, North Korean infiltration teams started to seek out and
attack South Korean forces. An intelligence memorandum produced by the U.S.
Central Intelligence Agency (CIA), dated November 8, argued that (a) although
there had been a marked increase in North Korean harassment attacks along the
DMZ since mid-October, these actions probably did not reflect a decision to
engage in wholesale violations of the Armistice Agreement, (b) there was no
evidence that the North Koreans intended to open a “second front” in the Viet-
nam War, and (c) the North Koreans might have heightened tensions along the
DMZ to warn the United States and South Korea against further deployment of
ROK forces to Vietnam and to demonstrate North Korean support of Hanoi to
other Communist states.7

North Korea’s official position was that the United States was intensifying
military provocations against North Korea and was creating tension on the
Korean Peninsula. On November 5, the North Korean Ministry of Foreign
Affairs (MFA) stated that “[o]n the occasion of Johnson’s visit to South Korea,
the frantic armed provocations by the U.S. imperialist aggressor army and their
puppet troops in South Korea” reached the “stage of foolhardiness,” and
demanded that the United States “stop hostile provocations against the D.P.R.K.
and quit South Korea at once, taking all their murderous weapons.”8 In June
1967, an MFA official said: “following U.S. President Johnson’s visit to South
Korea in October last year various provocations have been staged in a more
premeditated way” on the Military Demarcation Line (MDL), warning that a
“grave danger of war breaking out again in Korea at any moment” had been
created due to the “U.S. imperialists’ schemes for another war.”9

North Korean attacks along the DMZ continued in 1967. In February, a U.S.
soldier was killed when North Koreans fired upon his nine-man patrol south of
the DMZ. In April, 40–60 North Korean soldiers crossed the eastern MDL. In
the following six-hour engagement, the U.S.-led United Nations Command
(UNC) side used artillery for the first time since the Armistice. It was in the
midst of these events that the MFA issued a statement contending that the “cea-
seless military provocations of the U.S. imperialist aggressors have increased
tension in Korea to a higher pitch and led the situation to an unbearable, grave
stage.”10 On May 22, North Korean intruders exploded satchel charges in the
barracks of the U.S. Second Infantry Division in the first incident of the kind
since 1953. Two U.S. soldiers were killed, 16 were seriously injured, and two
U.S. army barracks south of the DMZ were completely demolished.11 On July 16,
the KPA killed three U.S. soldiers south of the southern boundary of the DMZ.

Faced with the new developments, Gen. Charles Bonesteel III, Commander in
Chief of the United Nations Command (CINCUNC), reported in July that:

Actions along DMZ are also continuing with increasing viciousness
with more planned, small-scale attacks being made. Firefights are
occurring almost every night. A few days ago three more U.S. soldiers
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were killed. This year’s score along DMZ to date: firefights 69; NKs
[North Koreans] 64 KIA [killed in action], 2 captured; ROK/US 35
KIA, (including 6 U.S. KIA), 87 WIA [wounded in action]. Irritating
factor is that in last few weeks NK along DMZ are improving their kill
ratio.12

North Korean attacks on UNC vehicles also increased. On August 10, a truck
was attacked south of the southern boundary of the DMZ, killing three South
Korean soldiers. On August 22, the KPA attacked a U.S. vehicle carrying straw,
killing one soldier and injuring another. Then on August 29, three U.S. soldiers
were killed and five were wounded when two U.S. vehicles were destroyed by
mines planted by North Koreans.

During this period, there were also clashes in and near the Joint Security Area
(JSA) in Panmunjom where the Military Armistice Commission (MAC) meet-
ings were held. On August 28, 1967, North Koreans attacked a U.S. Army
Engineer Company working 200 yards northeast of the JSA advance camp,
killing two U.S. soldiers and two KATUSAs and injuring 26 others. On
September 8, a brief free-for-all, involving some 40 personnel from both sides,
began when a KPA guard hit a UNC officer as he tried to take a picture. On
November 29, three KPA guards attacked a UNC guard near the MAC con-
ference building. A fist fight ensued but was stopped by Security Officers from
both sides. There were also two sabotage attacks on trains near the DMZ in
September.13 Of 114 North Korean infiltrations in 1967, 69 cases involved
armed attacks.14

In December, Kim Il Sung stated that the present situation required a “more
enterprising, more revolutionary” approach to “accomplish the south Korean
revolution. … ”15 This statement was followed a month later, in January 1968,
with an attempted guerrilla raid on the Blue House, the South Korean pre-
sidential residence, aimed at assassinating South Korean President Park Chung
Hee. The same month, a U.S. intelligence-collection vessel – the USS Pueblo –

was captured off the North Korean east coast. North Korean attacks in the DMZ
continued and even intensified after these incidents.

On January 22, KPA infiltrators attacked a U.S. guard post and wounded three
U.S. soldiers. Two days later, two U.S. soldiers were killed by North Korean
agents while in a blocking position to trap remnants of a group of North Korean
infiltrators who had attempted to assassinate President Park. On January 25,
KPA soldiers mounted raids in the DMZ in an area defended by the U.S. Second
Division, killing one U.S. and two South Korean servicemen. On the next day, a
U.S. soldier was killed by North Korean agents south of the DMZ.

After a temporary pause in February and March, North Korean attacks
resumed in April. Interestingly, after the Senior Members meetings with regard
to the Pueblo began in February in the MAC in the JSA, incidents in and near
the JSA increased, and U.S servicemen became the preferred targets of North
Korean assaults. On April 12, 15 KPA guards armed with clubs hit UNC Joint
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Duty Office personnel who were inspecting the perimeter on the northern edge
of the MDL in the JSA. Two days later, North Korean intruders ambushed a
UNC JSA security guard truck en route to the JSA, killing two U.S. soldiers and
two KATUSAs. On May 2, one KPA security guard knocked down an unarmed
UNC guard near a MAC conference room. On August 26, KPA guards dragged
a UNC Security Officer off a UNC jeep and attacked him near KPA Guard Post
No. 5 in the JSA. On September 2, some 15–20 North Korean workers assaulted
U.S. officers in the JSA after they attempted to return a dropped hat to a North
Korean guard. Then on December 1, one UNC officer and one enlisted member
were attacked and beaten by at least 15 KPA security guards in the JSA.

There were also attacks along the DMZ. On July 20, two U.S. servicemen
were killed in two separate incidents near the DMZ. On August 18, the KPA
mounted a surprise raid on the U.S. Seventh Division area, killing two U.S.
soldiers. On September 27, two U.S. soldiers were killed when North Korean
intruders ambushed their jeep south of the MDL. On October 18, a U.S. vehicle
was attacked and four were killed.

While attacks in the JSA drastically diminished after the crew of the USS
Pueblo was released on December 23, attacks outside the JSA continued. On
April 7, 1969, North Korean soldiers fired some 300 rounds in 40 minutes into
UNC positions in the central sector of the DMZ. On September 22, North
Korean howitzers and recoilless guns opened fire on a ROK Army guard post in
the central sector of the DMZ. On October 18, a U.S. vehicle was attacked in
daylight in the western DMZ, and four U.S. soldiers were killed.

South Korean counterattacks

Given North Korea’s statements, the attack on November 2, 1966, against a U.S.
patrol unit seems to have been related to Johnson’s visit to South Korea. However, it
might not have been the only reason for the particular timing. A less known factor
was that some 30 South Korean troops had mounted a raid on October 26, a week
before the November 2 attack, against North Korea. The South Korean attack team
penetrated through the DMZ into North Korean territory to mount the raid, claiming
some 30 casualties on the North Korean side. The United States assessed that by
attacking American troops on November 2, the North Koreans might have sought to
encourage the United States to take measures to prevent any repetition of the South
Korean raid across the DMZ.16

The South Korean raid caused some tension between the United States and
South Korea primarily because it was executed without approval by General
Bonesteel, who at that time exercised operational control over South Korean
forces. The raid was thus a violation of the command relationship. After the
incident, the CINCUNC and the U.S. ambassador to South Korea warned South
Korean leaders against any repetition of such incidents.17

Violations of the command relationship continued after the December 2 inci-
dent, nevertheless. South Korean Defense Minister Kim Sung Eun organized
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elite anti-infiltration units with 2,400 men under his command and by February
1968 had conducted on average two raids a month against the North. In parti-
cular, 11 such raids were mounted between October 26 and December in 1967.
Among them was a raid mounted against a KPA division headquarters in Novem-
ber 1967. The headquarters was blown up and the 12-man South Korean strike
team returned without any casualties. Most South Korean cabinet members did not
know about these activities since the South Korean infiltration units were under the
personal control of the Defense Minister and their activities were closely held
secrets even within the South Korean government. South Korea had about 200
anti-infiltration troops in each division near the DMZ and was training an additional
group. Also, there was one airborne battalion that could be parachuted in for
guerrilla activity.18

Cyrus Vance, who visited Seoul in February 1968 as a U.S. special pre-
sidential envoy, wrote on the possible unilateral military retaliations made by
South Korea against North Korea:

If counter-actions by the Republic of Korea resulted in the outbreak of
war with North Korea, the lives of some 12,000 American civilians (most
of whom are located in the vicinity of Seoul) would be immediately
endangered. Similarly, since American aircraft are parked wing to wing
on the six ROK airfields and American military forces are deployed along
a key portion of the DMZ – to theWest and North of Seoul and across two
of the most likely attack routes into South Korea – the prospects of
American troops becoming immediately involved in combat with North
Korean forces are extremely high.

The outbreak of war in Korea could thus be ignited either by a ser-
ious North Korean incursion into the South or by a South Korean foray
into the North.19

The United States emphasized the “provocative nature” of the South Korean
cross-MDL attacks directed by Defense Minister Kim, and suggested that some
of the most serious North Korean incursions into the South in the past might
actually have been launched in retaliation for the South Korean raids.20 The U.S.
side also pointed out that there was no evidence that the South Korean raids had
had dampening effects on North Korean actions, and refused to commit itself to
an “agreed retaliation policy” suggested by the South Koreans that involved
“instant, punitive, retaliatory action” against future North Korean violations of
the Armistice Agreement.21 Moreover, Vance warned President Park that were
the South Koreans even to consider removing troops from South Vietnam, the
United States would pull its forces out of Korea.22 Defense Minister Kim was
replaced by Choi Young Hee on February 28, 1968, shortly after the Vance visit.

The U.S. officials were also concerned that South Korean decision-makers
might lose their temper and take irrational actions. They were particularly wor-
ried about President Park’s mental condition. This element compounded their
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concern about the possible unilateral retaliatory actions by the South Koreans.
Vance wrote:

… the raid on the Blue House had unfortunate psychologic effects on
him. He felt that both he and his country had lost face and his fears for
his own safety and that of his family were markedly increased. Com-
pounding this problem has been his heavy drinking. This is not a new
development but it may be having cumulative effects. Highly emotional,
volatile, frustrated and introspective, Park wanted to obtain from me a
pledge for the United States to join his Government in instant, punitive, and
retaliatory actions against North Korea in the event of another Blue House
raid or comparable attack on some other important South Korean economic,
governmental, or military facility. He wanted my assurance of an “auto-
matic” U.S. response in the event of another serious raid against the ROK. I
refused to give any such assurances. Park’s views were mirrored by almost
every member of his Cabinet, who, while now civilians, are mostly retired
colonels and generals.23

Although the Vance visit improved U.S.–ROK relations in the short run,
Vance was not optimistic about the long-term prospects. Specifically, Vance was
concerned that (a) North Korea might try to get South Korea to take some uni-
lateral action to further divide the United States and South Korea, (b) there was
an unstable political situation with Park’s mood and attitude, (c) a serious pro-
blem could be raised with the possibility of South Korea’s unilateral action, and
(d) Park might not “last.”24 The United States faced a dilemma in helping South
Korea. While the help was certainly needed, there was a danger that the U.S.
help might encourage the South Koreans to take unilateral, punitive actions,
which could result in escalation.25

Critical factors

The war in Vietnam

In the late 1960s, the United States was deeply involved in the war in Vietnam
and a large number of South Korean troops were also committed. The U.S.–
ROK involvement in the Vietnam War seemed to have convinced the North
Koreans that even if they posed serious military challenges to the two countries,
the U.S.–ROK side would not be able to react boldly. In April 1967, Kim Il
Sung suggested that the situation in the DMZ would not develop into war
because “the U.S. imperialists are heavily involved in Vietnam and the fighting
is going against them there.”26 Interrogations of captured North Korean agents
pointed to the same conclusion; North Koreans evaluated the United States as
“so overextended” in support of South Vietnam that it would be unable to
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adequately reinforce Korea in case of war.27 Pointing out that North Korea was
determined to create conditions for a “peoples’ war” in South Korea, a U.S.
intelligence estimate in May 1968 assessed that North Korean leadership rated
the risks of this enterprise as “not very high” due to the U.S. involvement in
Vietnam and the resultant discord in the United States limiting the military cap-
abilities and the will to support any serious South Korean retaliations against the
North.28

North Korea’s military buildup

North Korea’s improved special operations capabilities, together with the more
or less balanced overall military power between the North and the South, con-
tributed to its active military campaign in the late 1960s. North Korea initiated a
major military buildup in 1962. With its “Party military lines” to arm the popu-
lation and fortify the entire nation, North Korea had by the late 1960s equipped
itself with sufficient deterrent capabilities against possible U.S.–ROK retaliations
and with defense infrastructure to guarantee its survival even if the U.S.–ROK
side actually mounted military retaliations against it. By the late 1960s, a short,
decisive war was difficult for either side to accomplish. Samuel Berger, Director
of the Korean Task Force, elaborated in February 1968 why escalation would be
futile:

The temptation to strike back in reprisal is understandable, but it will
produce no decisive outcome. The danger in retaliatory or punitive air
attacks against North Korea is that they could invite air attacks against
the South. If Pyongyang or other NK [North Korean] site is hit, what is
to prevent an attack against Seoul or some other site? Action and
counter-action could lead to resumed fighting along the DMZ, but both
sides are too strong to move successfully against each other in this area.
The end result would be to call off the reprisal policy, after physical
damage had been done to both sides and a period of fighting in the
DMZ with no decisive result (it would not end infiltration), or move to
full scale war. None of these outcomes is in the South Korean or our
interest.29

In short, strong retaliations by the U.S.–ROK side were not likely. Given such
a military environment, North Korea could take limited military and unconven-
tional actions against the U.S.–ROK side with impunity.

The North Koreans understood this. For instance, the MFA declared on April
14, 1967:

Our heroic People’s Army has now grown into an invincible, moder-
nized combat detachment of cadres and is standing like an iron wall at
the defence post of the country.
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The entire people are under arms in the northern part of the country
and the whole country has been converted into a fortress.30

In addition, improved special operations capabilities gave North Koreans an
offensive edge over South Korea in the areas of unconventional operations. In
April 1967, North Korea established an elite special operations unit, the 124th
Army Unit. By July, North Korea had trained and made available for dispatch
some 1,200 or more specially selected agent-guerrilla personnel, capable of
conducting subversion, espionage, agitation, and supporting or carrying out
militant guerrilla action. Moreover, the North Koreans had been training for two
years some 500 subversives in each of the nine provinces, or a total of 5,000 or
more, for guerrilla activity in a target province in South Korea. Together with a
4,070-man reconnaissance brigade, special-forces-type personnel added up to
about 10,000.31

Coping with hit-and-run-type assaults was an inherently daunting task. Gen-
eral Bonesteel wrote:

Our ability to effectively cope with the NK [North Korean] aggressive
killer-patrol actions in or near the DMZ is not as good as I’d like it to
be. There are three major reasons: (a) the NK flagrant violations of the
DMZ while we abide by it and require the ROK’s [South Koreans] to do
likewise; (b) the basic military difficulty of reacting effectively against
guerrilla hit and run tactics at NH’s [sic, North Korea’s] initiative, usually
at night, in a 150 mile band of generally rugged terrain covered now with
fairly dense vegetation and natural cover and from which the DMZ offers
an immediate sanctuary (this is what is very seriously intensifying ROK
frustration, anger and desire to make retaliatory raids); and (c) inexper-
ienced soldiers and junior leaders.32

North Korea’s military advantage was further reinforced by the lack of ade-
quate defense on the U.S.–ROK side. Both inland and on the coast defense
systems against North Korean infiltrations were primitive and weak. The DMZ
area was a gigantic, rugged, unexploited natural reserve. Most of the area was
covered with plants and, therefore, visibility and accessibility were severely
limited.

North Korea’s treaty relationships with the Soviet Union and China

In addition to the shift in the overall military balance, the treaties that North
Korea had concluded with the Soviet Union and the People’s Republic of China
(PRC) worked as a reassurance to North Korea and a deterrence against the
United States and South Korea. As ROK forces were under the operational
control of an American general, North Korea’s ability to deter a strong reaction
from the United States was of utmost importance.
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North Korea signed treaties of Friendship, Cooperation, and Mutual Assis-
tance separately with the Soviet Union and the PRC in 1961. What was sig-
nificant militarily was the treaties’ emphasis on mutual defense. Article 1 of the
Soviet–DPRK treaty and Article 2 of the PRC–DPRK treaty stipulated that in
the event of one of the parties being the object of an armed attack by any state or
coalition of states and being thus in a state of war the other party would imme-
diately render military and other assistance with all the means at its disposal.33

In November 1967, North Korean Foreign Minister Pak Song Chol told his
Soviet counterpart that in addition to its strong army, the DPRK had strong
allies – the Soviet Union and China. In such circumstances, the Americans
would “hardly attempt to resume the war.”34 A U.S. intelligence memorandum
produced in February 1968 stated that the North Koreans might be counting
heavily on U.S. preoccupation with Vietnam, and on the deterrent value of their
own mutual defense treaties with China and the Soviet Union.35

Different approaches

The United States and South Korea disagreed over how to react to North Korean
actions. On the one hand, being pinned down in Vietnam militarily and faced
with strong domestic opposition, the United States was not in a position to take a
strong response against North Korea. On the other hand, with the life of their
own president threatened, the South Koreans were inclined to take strong coun-
termeasures. As a result, South Korea took military actions against North Korea
without approval by General Bonesteel. Against this backdrop of rising tension,
President Park Chung Hee announced in February 1968 that South Korea would
seek “Self-Reliant National Defense (Jaju Gugbang)” to reduce its reliance on
U.S. forces.36

The United States and South Korea differed on their approaches to the
Korean unification issue. While South Korean leaders were inclined to push for
unification should an opportunity arise, American leaders tried to avoid creat-
ing a situation in which Koreans might start pushing for unification. U.S.
Ambassador to South Korea William Porter wrote in May 1968 that it was not
very difficult to specify evidence to support existence of “Korean ardor for
reunification,” and that it was the natural impulse of a homogeneous people
living in one half of a divided nation, and this impulse was only strengthened
by the fact that many South Korean leaders were born in the North. On the
basis of such an assessment, the United States was paying serious attention to
the mood among South Korean personalities at the decision-making level, and
to the possible implications of improved military preparedness of the ROK
armed forces.37 The U.S. leadership was concerned about the South Korean
military buildup plan formulated in April 1968 because given the increased
military capability the ROK leadership might take military moves which
ranged from larger retaliatory actions to a preemptive strike against the North
to effect reunification. Porter concluded that full support of the South Korean
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plan was, therefore, not justified in terms of present U.S. objectives in Korea
because it could lead to a military force capable of “independently taking
courses of action inimical to the U.S. national interest.”38

The danger of the “March North” was subsequently discounted on the ground
that there were only a few “fanatics” in the South Korean leadership and South
Korea depended on U.S. logistical support in making such a move. The U.S.
government recognized that it was worth worrying about such a scenario, how-
ever, and decided that it had better keep ROK forces defensively oriented and
continue to make clear that the U.S. defense guarantee would not apply to hosti-
lities arising from a South Korean attack in order to prevent such a scenario
from coming into reality.39

Characteristics

Location and timing

Most of the North Korean attacks on the U.S.–ROK forces took place in or near
the DMZ as well as in the JSA. The North Korean armed campaign along the
DMZ lasted for about three years. Armed attacks occurred 15 times in 1966, 69
times in 1967, 175 times in 1968, and 21 times in 1969.40 With regard to the
timing, there were several cases where North Korea took military actions when
important diplomatic events were taking place. For example, a South Korean
truck was attacked in the western DMZ in October 1966 while President Park
Chung Hee attended a summit meeting in the Philippines for countries partici-
pating in the Vietnam War. The November 2, 1966, attacks occurred on the last
day of the Johnson visit to South Korea. Furthermore, attacks in and near the JSA
increased after theMAC SeniorMembers meetings on the Pueblo issue were initiated
in February 1968 and diminished after the Pueblo affair was wrapped up in December
of the same year.

Forces involved and the type of use of force

In most cases, a small number of specially trained forces were used to undertake
assaults on U.S.–ROK forces along the DMZ. Joseph Bermudez, Jr. identified
incidents on May 22 and August 27 in 1967 and on April 14 in 1968 as executed by
the foot reconnaissance stations within the Reconnaissance Bureau under the KPA
General Staff. The foot reconnaissance stations “normally utilized teams of three
to five lightly armed and equipped troops who operated within the army groups’
area of responsibility.”41

North Korea’s use of force was actual and caused a number of human casualties
and material damage to the U.S.–ROK side. However, North Korea did not go so
far as to actually seize and hold South Korean territories. There was no indication
that North Korea was willing to escalate the situation into war. In this sense, the
use of force here was primarily coercive and not about controlling the target.
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North Korea’s use of force along the DMZ during this period was thus designed to
influence the perception and behavior of the target countries.

Intensity and targeting

In terms of casualties, U.S. forces suffered six deaths in 1966, 16 in 1967, 18 in
1968, and 35 in 1969. The ROK forces suffered 29 deaths in 1966, 115 in 1967,
145 in 1968, and 10 in 1969. The largest number of deaths recorded on one day
was nine (six U.S. and three South Korean), caused by two separate attacks on
November 2, 1966. On the other hand, the attrition rate was much higher for
North Korean forces than U.S.–ROK forces, as the KPA suffered 43 deaths in
1966, 228 in 1967, 321 in 1968, and 55 in 1969.42 The incidents inside the JSA,
however, were relatively low-key. No death was recorded and most of the inci-
dents only involved the use of fists and clubs.

No particular pattern can be identified in the targets of North Korean actions.
Most of the time, both U.S. and South Korean forces were targets of North
Korean assaults, although North Korea focused heavily on U.S. forces in its
military actions while negotiations on the Pueblo issue were ongoing. After the
Pueblo crew was released, U.S. and ROK forces were again targeted fairly
equally. One caveat here is that since the U.S. Forces Korea had South Koreans
working with them as KATUSA, an attack on a U.S. unit often meant an attack
on both Americans and South Koreans. This partly explains why U.S. and South
Korean soldiers were killed together in many cases.

Military-diplomatic coordination

There was little coordination between North Korea’s military actions and its
diplomatic moves. Military actions were sometimes executed with concurrent
diplomatic action, most frequently statements issued by the MFA, but such
coordination did not translate into concrete outcomes due largely to the lack of
direct diplomatic channels between the United States and the DPRK. The mili-
tary-diplomatic coordination in this period was thus mostly primitive.

It is also important to note that not all clashes were necessarily deliberate, as
unintended clashes also occurred. A fist fight in Panmunjom on November 29,
1967, which was eventually stopped by the Security Officers from both sides,
stands as a case in point. This incident demonstrated that men on the ground
could not be perfectly controlled all the time.

Assessment

Diverting U.S.–ROK attention and resources away from Vietnam

In his report at the Workers’ Party Conference in October 1966, Kim Il Sung
said, “In the present situation, the U.S. imperialists should be set back and their
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forces should be dispersed to the maximum everywhere and on every front of
the world.”43 As the war in Vietnam intensified, the best way for North Korea to
strengthen international revolutionary forces was to help the North Vietnamese
“struggle” against the United States.

There were two primary means for helping the North Vietnamese effort. One
was to provide military or other assistance, which North Korea did by sending
pilots and aircraft to North Vietnam.44 (In mid-1966, North Korea also offered
the dispatch of a KPA division to North Vietnam. However, the North Vietna-
mese seemed to have declined the offer for they did not need additional troops.
Instead, they accepted North Korean fighter pilots.45) The other was to distract
U.S. and South Korean attention away from the war in Vietnam. Given the fact
that the United States and South Korea had committed sizable forces to the war
in Vietnam, it was strategically wise to raise tension in Korea where the Amer-
icans, let alone the South Koreans, had high political and military stakes. In
November 1966, shortly after North Korea intensified assaults against U.S.–
ROK forces, the MFA issued a statement saying that the “fresh moves of the
U.S. imperialists and the Pak [Park Chung Hee] clique for the dispatch of troops
are an unpardonable criminal act against the Korean and Vietnamese peoples,” and
that the South Korean “puppet regime must stop immediately the criminal act of
driving South Korean youths to the aggressive war in South Vietnam.”46 In January
1967, the North Korean Ambassador to the Soviet Union suggested that keeping
tensions high along the demarcation line was “a kind of help for the Vietnamese
people,” because it was distracting a part of the U.S. forces from Vietnam.47

The North Korean actions affected U.S.–ROK behavior as early as November
1966. In that month, Winthrop Brown, U.S. Ambassador to South Korea,
informed Washington that political problems surrounding the dispatch of more
South Korean troops to Vietnam had been compounded by the increase in the
number of incidents along the DMZ.48 In September 1967, President Park
explained to U.S. Ambassador Porter that public concerns about South Korea’s
own security and defense capabilities were affecting his ability to dispatch
additional ROK troops to Vietnam, particularly when the North Korean actions
along the DMZ and infiltrations were escalating.49 The U.S. embassy in Seoul
wrote in September 1967 that:

Our task [to help Park overcome domestic political obstacles] is not
becoming easier because boldness of NK [North Korean] sabotage of
DMZ and pressure on DMZ itself is creating (as it is undoubtedly
designed to do) in public mind much uneasiness about ROK ability to
defend itself. Moreover, when railroad sabotage is carried out miles
south of DMZ and relatively close to nation’s capital, it involves face
and builds up ROKG [ROK government] desire for riposte. In [such]
circumstances, question naturally arises whether new military man-
power should be used at home rather than in defense of country two
thousand miles away.50
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With the anticipated increase of North Korean activities, influential voices
within South Korea had started to argue by November 1967 that South Korean
troops could not be spared and any such dispatch would spur the North to
increase pressure against the South.51

North Korean military actions were successful in preventing the dispatch of
additional South Korean forces to Vietnam although they failed to force the
withdrawal of South Korean forces already present in Vietnam. In April 1968,
President Park told President Johnson that it would be “impossible” to send more
active forces to Vietnam at present because of the situation in South Korea. This
was a marked departure from comments made earlier in December 1967, when
President Park indicated his willingness to send 5,000 civilians and 6,000 addi-
tional troops to Vietnam to augment forces in Vietnam.52 The North Korean
operations successfully reversed Park’s earlier position.

Straining U.S.–ROK relations

In January 1969, the CIA assessed North Korean tactics against South Korea in
the previous year and reported that the North Koreans almost certainly
believed that large-scale armed incursions would cause frictions between Seoul
and Washington over measures to counteract them.53 Although it is not clear
whether North Korea had deliberately set straining U.S.–ROK relations as a
major policy objective in planning their active military actions against U.S.–
ROK forces, it was one of the most successful aspects of the North Korean
military campaign.

In October 1967, the U.S. Vice President Hubert Humphrey told the South
Korean Prime Minister that although the United States was aware of the great
problem presented by the North Korean infiltrations, South Korea must not
respond unilaterally. Humphrey emphasized the importance of concerted
actions, and cautioned that unilateral action could only lead to “mis-
understanding.” The Prime Minister made no response to the Vice President’s
remarks on this subject.54 In November 1967, Secretary of State Dean Rusk
suggested to South Korean Foreign Minister Choi Kyu Hah that South Korea
respond to North Korean actions “with considerable restraint.” Rusk cautioned
the Foreign Minister of the possible consequences of a significant North–South
conflict, and stated that if any such clash occurred South Korea should appear
to be the victim of aggression. Rusk contended that since South Korea needed
the support and sympathy of many foreign governments, it should “keep its
record clean.”55

The heightened level of the North Korean provocations exacerbated the dis-
agreements between the United States and South Korea, however. An internal
U.S. government memorandum in February 1968 assessed that the North Korean
actions had hardened Seoul’s attitude and increased the likelihood of a major
ROK reaction to North Korean harassments, and that the North Koreans prob-
ably believed that the United States would impose restraints on the ROK. The
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memorandum concluded that the North Koreans now probably saw “great and
continuing opportunities” to exacerbate relations between Seoul and Washington.56

Impact on negotiations over the USS Pueblo

North Korea seems to have used armed clashes in and near the JSA as leverage
to influence negotiations over the detained U.S. reconnaissance vessel Pueblo.
North Korean assaults occurred frequently in April and early May, just before it
presented a draft document of a U.S. apology on May 8. The North Koreans
might have thought it useful to put military pressure on the United States before
it made a concrete proposal. However, declassified U.S. documents do not sug-
gest that the North Korean military actions actually affected the U.S.–DPRK
negotiations over the Pueblo.

Eliminating the United Nations Command

The U.S. embassy in Seoul suspected that North Korea might exploit the South
Korean retaliatory actions against the country for diplomatic purposes, parti-
cularly in places of high international visibility such as the United Nations
General Assembly. In November 1966, U.S. Ambassador Brown assessed that
the North Korean military actions might have been related to its effort to
undermine the status of the UNC in South Korea. North Korea and its sup-
porters in the United Nations were mounting an organized and vigorous dip-
lomatic assault on the U.S.–ROK position in the Korean unification debate.
The U.S. embassy suspected that North Korea and its friends might be using a
new tactic to seek to eliminate the UNC and the United Nations Commission
for the Unification and Rehabilitation of Korea, or at least obtain more sym-
pathizers. One possible way to do so was to accuse the U.S.–ROK side of
violating the Armistice Agreement. In fact, the MFA and the media alleged that
the United States and South Korea were stepping up armed attacks and military
provocations in violation of the Armistice Agreement.57 Such claims were
contrary to the truth since the North Koreans were the ones who were violating
the Armistice Agreement much more frequently than the U.S.–ROK side.
However, the U.S.–ROK position could have been damaged if the occasional
South Korean punitive raids against North Korea across the MDL were
revealed. The United States was concerned that the North Koreans might have
obtained photographic and physical evidence to support their allegations.58

This concern, however, did not materialize. North Korea did not mount dip-
lomatic propaganda campaigns by making use of the South Korean retaliatory
actions. In the meanwhile, the U.S. embassy, the Department of State, and the
U.S. Mission to the United Nations decided in August 1966 to take a preventive
measure by preparing a “White Paper” documenting North Korean violations of
the DMZ for presentation to the United Nations General Assembly. The report
was submitted to the United Nations on November 2.59
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Strengthening Kim Il Sung’s position

Military actions in the DMZ might have worked as a political tool for Kim Il
Sung to enhance his prestige as a revolutionary and counter his political oppo-
sition both at home and abroad.60 When North Korea initiated the active military
actions in 1966, important domestic political developments were taking place in
North Korea. In October 1966, the pro-Kim Il Sung partisans strengthened their
position within the Party, and in May 1967 the monolithic ideological system
was adopted, paving the way for the supremacy of Kim’s position within the
Workers’ Party. In this process, however, Kim faced a political challenge from
Pak Kum Chol, who was critical of Kim’s single-minded focus on military
buildup implemented at the expense of economic development. Kim used the
tension created by the DMZ incidents to justify his military-first policy, and
purged Pak and his followers at the May 1967 fifteenth plenum of the Fourth
Party Central Committee.61

Kim also used the military actions in the DMZ to bolster his international
prestige. After North Korea embarked on the military offensive, Kim started to
boast that North Korea was taking the leading role in international revolutionary
struggle against the United States in support of North Vietnam. In doing so, Kim
distinguished himself from Chinese and Soviet leaders, whom he characterized
as not doing enough to advance the Communist cause. Given the anti-Kim Red
Guard criticism coming from China, it was particularly important for Kim to
appear like a true revolutionary in the international Communist movement.62

Kim succeeded in winning the highest praise from Fidel Castro, the Cuban
leader, who characterized him as “one of the most distinguished, brilliant, and
heroic socialist leaders in the world today. … ”63

Repercussions

The military actions against the U.S.–ROK forces produced unintended con-
sequences as well. The most apparent and immediate repercussion was the
strengthening of the defense in the DMZ. In this regard, particularly important
was the North Korean attack on U.S. forces on November 2, 1966. As Daniel
Bolger wrote, patrols in the DMZ had by then actually become “rather pro forma
affairs.” However, the November 2 attack changed the situation, and the Amer-
icans started to pay serious attention to the North Korean infiltrations.64 As a
result, General Bonesteel loosened the rules of engagement in early 1967 and
gave the commanders of the I Corps (Group) and the ROK First Army the
authority to use artillery and mortar against enemy elements in or south of the
DMZ and against KPA units shooting from hostile territory.65 Furthermore, in
July 1968, the UNC changed its rules of engagement and allowed ROK units in
the DMZ to counter North Korean intrusions and ambushes at their own discre-
tion. This change was an important departure from the previous arrangement
with which military actions taken by ROK units in border clashes were subject
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to prior approval by the CINCUNC.66 Following the new rule, South Korean
units used significant artillery and mortar fires along the DMZ three times by
1969.67

In addition, toward the end of 1967, General Bonesteel and President Park
produced two documents on combined counter-guerrilla operations – the UNC
Counterinfiltration-Guerrilla Concept Requirement Plan and ROK Presidential
Instruction No. 18. According to these decisions, the ROK Army introduced
infrared night-vision equipment, searchlights, and infrared gun-sights while it
strengthened the protection of guard posts and command posts.68 In addition, the
ROK Army replaced wooden fences with iron fences in the DMZ by mid-
1968.69 At the same time, the UNC developed a four-layer defense – patrols and
guard posts in the DMZ, a barrier defense system just south of the southern edge
of the DMZ, and mobile quick-reaction forces behind them – against North
Korean infiltrations throughout 1967. By July 1968, the chain-link fence and the
new barrier system were installed along the entire southern boundary of the
DMZ.70 As a result, the capabilities of the U.S.–ROK forces in dealing with
North Korean provocations had improved dramatically by the end of the
1960s.71
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Chapter 3

THE PUEBLO INCIDENT, 1968

On January 23, 1968, two days after North Korean armed agents mounted an
assault on the South Korean presidential residence, North Korean naval vessels
captured the U.S. Navy intelligence-gathering ship Pueblo and its crew in the
Sea of Japan. In order to get the crew and the ship back, the United States
agreed to hold direct talks with the DPRK in Panmunjom.

The crew, but not the ship, was returned to the United States in December
1968 after the conclusion of the talks, which lasted 11 months. The Pueblo
incident was a total victory for North Korea. By capturing the ship, North Korea
succeeded in hampering U.S. intelligence activities, diverting U.S.–ROK attention
away from Vietnam, and straining U.S.–ROK relations.

The seizure of the Pueblo and the
“U.S.–DPRK” negotiations

Detention of the USS Pueblo1

Just before noon on January 23, 1968, the USS Pueblo was sailing approxi-
mately 16 nautical miles off the North Korean east coast. Suddenly, a North
Korean SO-1 patrol craft, with its crew in battle position, appeared and approa-
ched the Pueblo. At 1210 hours, the SO-1 communicated with a base on the
shore that it judged the Pueblo to be an unarmed American reconnaissance ship.
At 1227 hours, the SO-1 signaled, “Heave to or I will open fire.” The Pueblo
answered, “I am in international waters,” and “intend to remain in present loca-
tion until tomorrow.”

At this point, three P-4 torpedo boats approached from the west, again with
their crew in battle position, and joined the SO-1 in surrounding the Pueblo. The
SO-1 sent in international code, “Follow in my wake; I have pilot aboard.” As
another P-4 sailed toward the Pueblo, two MiG-21s flew over the area. When
one of the P-4s with eight to 10 fully armed troops on board started to move
toward the Pueblo, Lloyd Bucher, the commander of the Pueblo, decided to
leave the area. Then, another SO-1 appeared and joined in chasing the Pueblo.
At 1306 hours, the SO-1 sent a message ashore: “According to the present
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instructions, we will close down the radio, tie up the personnel, tow it and enter
port at Wonsan. At present, we are on our way to boarding. We are coming in.”2

The first SO-1 started to approach the Pueblo. At 1327 hours the SO-1 finally
opened fire on the Pueblo, quickly followed by fire from the P-4s. The Pueblo
was escaping at almost full speed. While the SO-1 had a maximum speed of
28.5 knots and the P-4 55 knots,3 the Pueblo’s maximum speed was just 13.1
knots. Bucher immediately ordered destruction of all classified materials. As the
North Korean boats attacked the Pueblo, a MiG fighter launched rockets in the sea.

After taking continued fire, Bucher decided to surrender. At 1345 hours, the
Pueblo gave in and followed the SO-1 to the port of Wonsan. As confirmed by
radio intercepts of the communication of the North Korean side, the Pueblo was
between 15.5 and 17.5 nautical miles from shore when it was detained.4 The
entire North Korean nation went on alert after the Pueblo capture. North Korean
nationals living in the east coast were evacuated and anti-aircraft guns were
mobilized and concentrated there.5

The Pueblo had departed Sasebo, Japan on January 11 and moved into the
Sea of Japan to perform surveillance of North Korean ports in Kimchaek (for-
merly called Songjin), Chongjin, Mayangdo, and Wonsan, as well as Soviet naval
vessels operating in the Tsushima Straits. The missions of the Pueblo were to:

� Determine the nature and extent of naval activity [in the] vicinity of North
Korean ports of Chongjin, Songjin [Kimchaek], Mayang Do [Mayangdo] and
Wonsan;

� Sample electronic environment of East Coast North Korea, with emphasis on
intercept/fixing of coastal radars;

� Intercept and conduct surveillance of Soviet naval units;
� Determine Korcom [Korean Communist] and Soviet reaction respectively to

an overt intelligence collector operating near Korcom periphery and actively
conducting surveillance of USSR [Union of Soviet Socialist Republics] naval
units;

� Evaluate USS Pueblo’s (AGER-2) capabilities as a naval intelligence collec-
tion and tactical surveillance ship; and

� Report any deployment of Korcom/Soviet units which may be indicative of
pending hostilities or offensive actions against U.S. forces.6

Since it was known that Soviet submarines operated from Wonsan during the
winter time, it would have been a great achievement if any information on their
submarine operations was obtained.

In hindsight, the Pueblo had actually been under close North Korean surveil-
lance. When the Pueblo was operating in the area, one of the Pueblo crewmen
realized that North Korea had its fire control radar locked on the ship for days.
On January 21, the Pueblo noticed a SO-1 approach and then pass 300 yards in
front of it before heading to Wonsan. Finally, on January 22, two North Korean
fishing trawlers came close to the Pueblo. One of the trawlers approached the
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Pueblo, passed in front of it only 100 yards away, and then circled it before
going back to the north. After a while, the two trawlers together approached the
Pueblo again. This time, they came as close as 30 yards and again circled it
before leaving the area.

Initial moves

North Korea was quick in putting its demands on the table. At the 261st Military
Armistice Commission (MAC) meeting on January 24, Maj. Gen. Pak Chung
Kuk, Senior Member of the Korean People’s Army/Chinese People’s Volunteers
(KPA/CPV) delegation to the MAC, first denounced the United States for
“infiltrating an armed spy ship” into “the coastal waters of our side up to the
point 39°17.40N and 127°46.90E off the Wonsan Port.”7 Pak then demanded that
the United Nations Command (UNC) (a) admit the “aggressive act” committed
by the “armed spy ship,” (b) apologize for the act, (c) severely punish those who

Map 3.1 Pueblo navigation chart
Source: Back inside cover of Lloyd M. Bucher, with Mark Rascovich, Bucher: My Story
(Garden City, NY: Doubleday & Company, 1970), reprinted with permission of the
copyright holder.
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were responsible for it, and (d) give assurance that such provocation would not
be repeated.8 On the other side of the table, the U.S.-led UNC demanded
immediate release of the Pueblo and its crew, expression of apology for the illegal
detention, and compensation for the damages incurred on the United States by
the incident. North Korea also took measures to strengthen its bargaining power.
On January 25, Radio Pyongyang reported that Bucher had written a letter of
confession acknowledging that the Pueblo had spied on military installations
along the east coast and intruded into the coastal waters of North Korea. Bucher’s
confession was followed by confessions by other crew of the Pueblo.

At the same time, North Korea put extra military pressure on the UNC side.
On January 25, soldiers of the Korean People’s Army (KPA) mounted raids in
the Demilitarized Zone (DMZ) in an area defended by the U.S. Second Division
and killed one U.S. and two South Korean servicemen.9 North Korean MiG
fighters came as close as five miles to the north of the Military Demarcation Line,
breaking away from the ordinary procedure of remaining at least 30 miles away
from the line. North Korea went into full mobilization, and its population, admin-
istrative institutions, industries, and factories in Pyongyang began to evacuate.10

Later on the same day, the KPA/CPV Senior Member to the MAC sent a letter to
the UNC stating that it was possible to solve this problem if the United States
acknowledged that the people of the ship were prisoners of war and showed its
willingness to negotiate under such terms.11 Then on February 8, Kim Il Sung
made nuanced comments, suggesting that although North Korea would stand firm,
it did not want war. Kim said:

If the U.S. imperialists persist in their attempt to solve this matter by
mobilizing their armed forces to threaten and blackmail us, they will get
nothing out of it. If they do get anything it will be only corpses and death.

We do not want war, but we are not afraid of it. Our people and
People’s Army will retaliate for the “retaliation” of the U.S. imperialists,
return all-out war for all-out war.12

The Director of Central Intelligence Richard Helms assessed that Kim’s posi-
tion was not to reopen the war, but to make the situation as tough as possible for
the United States.13

The United States took both military and diplomatic steps to cope with the
situation. Just after the Pueblo was detained, the USS Enterprise carrier task
force heading for Vietnam from Japan was ordered to move north, and other
naval assets were ordered to deploy near the port of Wonsan. By January 24, a
task group composed of the Enterprise and five destroyers was deployed south-
east of the Korean Peninsula, and on January 31, the second task group with the
aircraft carrier Ranger and three destroyers arrived in the area. On February 2,
the third task groups with the carrier Yorktown and six destroyers joined the
already deployed forces. Finally, the carriers Kearsage and Coral Sea, the frigate
Truxton, the Pueblo’s sister ship Banner, and four additional destroyers arrived.
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These forces constituted Task Force 77.14 The U.S. Fifth Air Force set up
advance headquarters at Osan Air Base in South Korea. Two fighter-bomber
squadrons were sent to South Korea and Strategic Air Command bombers were
sent to the west Pacific from the United States.15 President Johnson decided to
activate more than 14,000 Air Force and Navy air reservists on January 25, the
first call-up of U.S. reserves since the 1962 Cuban missile crisis. The call-up was
expected to put pressure on North Korea as well as prevent the North Koreans
from thinking about taking offensive actions against South Korea.16 The United
States also flew an A-12 reconnaissance aircraft on a three-pass “Black Shield”
mission over North Korea on January 26. The aircraft found the Pueblo in a
small bay north of Wonsan, but detected no signs of military reaction in the
North Korean forces.17 Because of the North Korean attempt to raid the South
Korean presidential residence on January 21, the Defense Condition (DEFCON)
had already been raised to level three on January 22.18

The effectiveness of this show of force, however, was questioned by some top
U.S. decision-makers. For example, while Secretary of Defense Robert McNa-
mara thought that the diplomatic initiative would be reinforced by a call up,
Llewellyn Thomson, U.S. Ambassador to the Soviet Union, commented that the
presence of U.S. naval force off Wonsan would make it virtually impossible for the
North Koreans to return the Pueblo and its crew, and that the show of force would
prevent the Soviets from acting as an intermediary or quietly exerting influence on
the North Koreans to ease the crisis.19

Despite all the contemplated military options, the prevailing U.S. policy
direction was to seek peaceful solution. After all, the capture of a spy ship was
“not worth us going to war,” as presidential adviser Clark Clifford put it.20 On
January 26, President Johnson announced that the United States would continue
to use every means available to find a prompt and peaceful solution to the problem.

By January 29, the U.S. leadership had reached consensus as to what U.S.
objectives should be in the crisis. The objectives were to: (a) get back the crew
of the Pueblo and, possibly, the ship; (b) keep the confidence of the South
Koreans and their willingness to provide an increment of force in South Viet-
nam; and (c) avoid a second front in Asia.21

In response to the January 27 message, a UNC Senior Member requested an
immediate closed meeting between the Senior Members of each side. The two
sides agreed that the meetings would be held in the conference room of the
Neutral Nations Supervisory Commission in the Joint Security Area. With this
agreement, North Korea successfully brought the Americans to the negotiating
table. The first meeting was held on February 2.22

U.S.–ROK relations

The capture of the Pueblo took place only two days after the January 21 raid on
the Blue House. Although that attempt failed, South Koreans were shocked that
the infiltrators managed to come close to the presidential residence. As a result,
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South Korean leaders became emotional and were looking for ways to retaliate
against the North Koreans. Worried about a possible escalation of the situation,
the United States dissuaded South Korea from taking strong actions in retalia-
tion. The South Korean government did not like the American attitude that not
only North Koreans but also South Koreans could not be trusted to stay calm in
a crisis.23

The South Koreans were also frustrated by the contrast between the restraint
that the United States exercised after the North Korean raid on the Blue House
and the strong reaction that it showed after the capture of the Pueblo. This gave
the impression that the United States did not care about the life of the South
Korean president as much as 82 American sailors detained with the Pueblo.24

South Koreans’ feeling was further hurt by the fact that the North Korean raiders
who attacked the Blue House had infiltrated into South Korea through a DMZ
area defended by the U.S. Army.25 South Korean forces tended to do better
in patrolling, and some U.S. soldiers handled the mission poorly due partly to
primitive conditions in the bunker complexes and weak junior leadership.26 As a
result, the South Koreans had strong doubts about the ability and seriousness of
the U.S. forces in defending South Korea. To ease tensions, Washington recom-
mended on January 23 that the UNC Senior Member make “strong, dignified
and hard statements” on the North Korean raid on the Blue House as well as on
the seizure of the Pueblo so as not to give South Koreans the feeling that the
United States attached more importance to the latter.27

As the United States and North Korea moved toward bilateral negotiations to
solve the Pueblo issue, the relationship between the United States and South
Korea became further strained. The United States failed to immediately inform
the South Korean government of the receipt of the January 27 letter from the
KPA/CPV Senior Member. Left out, the South Korean government was worried
that the United States might be trying to establish direct contact with North
Korea at locations other than the Joint Security Area, and that the United States
might forgo force augmentations and leave the situation in status quo ante
without solving President Park’s political or security problems once the United
States obtained the release of the Pueblo and its crew. In order to pressure the
United States not to take that path, the South Korean side even hinted at the pos-
sible withdrawal of its forces from operational control of the Commander-in-Chief of
the United Nations Command (CINCUNC) and the withdrawal of South Korean
forces from Vietnam.28

Once the secret talks began between the United States and North Korea, the
South Koreans showed more negative reactions. Public opinion in South Korea
and the views expressed in the National Assembly were also negative. The South
Koreans were particularly frustrated by the fact that issues related to South Korea
such as infiltrations in the DMZ and attacks on its citizens were not being discussed
in any forum.29 The United States appeared to be interested only in saving its
own nationals. In a meeting with U.S. Ambassador William Porter and Gen.
Charles Bonesteel, III, CINCUNC, on February 6, South Korean Prime Minister
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Chong Il Kwon complained that although there had been innumerable violations by
North Korea, and South Korea was abiding by international agreements, the South
Koreans had no means of retaliation because the UNC tied the ROK government’s
hands. Chong then demanded that if more closed meetings with North Koreans were
necessary, South Korean representatives must be included, or at least the U.S. must
consult with South Korean representatives before acting. Finally, the prime minister
said that if there was another incident, South Korea would have to act, suggesting
limited retaliations. Although the U.S. side did not take the threat of retaliation too
seriously, it thought that the South Koreans felt deep down that “this may be moment
to reunify the country and that if opportunity is lost, it may not come again.”30

To calm the situation in South Korea, the United States sent Cyrus Vance to
Seoul in mid-February as a special presidential envoy. One of the main objec-
tives of his mission was to reassure the South Koreans that the United States
would not abandon South Korea when the Pueblo and its crew were returned,
and to urge President Park to remain calm and patient and not to permit any of
his men to engage in rash acts that would create a wholly new set of problems
and strains for the U.S.–ROK alliance.31

During his visit to Seoul, Vance agreed that the United States would take necessary
measures to deal with the North Korean threat, regularize U.S.–ROK defense minis-
terial meetings, and that the U.S. president would ask Congress to provide $100 mil-
lion to South Korea in military assistance. In return, the South Korean leaders
promised that (a) they would take actions to dampen public agitation for retaliatory
actions, (b) they would stand by during the closed door sessions between the United
States and North Korea unless it was to go on for a long period of time, (c) South
Korea would make no reprisals for the Blue House raid or the Pueblo capture, and (d)
there would be no significant reprisals in the future without consulting the United
States. The United States promised to inform the South Korean government of the
proceedings of the closed MAC meetings.32

Special MAC Senior Members meetings

By the time the special MAC meetings began, North Korea had created a situation
where time was on its side. A U.S. National Security Council (NSC) staffer wrote
on February 2 that this was the case since (a) the status quo was a victory for the
North Koreans, (b) prolonged meetings without result would exacerbate U.S.–
ROK relations, (c) the detained ship and the crew would be further exploited, (d)
the North Koreans would get enormous prestige from keeping the United States
“on the hook,” (e) the North Koreans seemed to believe that the U.S. reaction
would be mild, and (f) the North Koreans would enhance their prestige by
remaining equal to the United States in bilateral talks.33 It was against such a
backdrop that special MAC Senior Members meetings began on February 2.

Before the negotiations got into substantive issues, the status of the meetings
became a point of contention between the UNC and the KPA. In the process of
negotiation, the United States unintentionally verged on giving North Korea a
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higher diplomatic status by upgrading the status of the meetings, and the North
Korean side attempted to turn the special MAC meetings into direct U.S.–DPRK
bilateral talks.

Usually, the MAC meetings were held between the UNC on one side and the
KPA/CPV on the other. The special MAC Senior Members meeting organized
for negotiations on the Pueblo, however, was a closed forum with representa-
tions only from the United States and North Korea. The UNC Senior Member
in the meetings was getting his directions from the State Department via the
U.S. embassy in Seoul instead of the CINCUNC. This was largely because the
Pueblo was not under the command of the CINCUNC but under the command
of the Commander in Chief, U.S. Pacific Command and, therefore, the matter
was dealt with as an issue outside of the Korean Peninsula. The United States
decided to use the MAC meeting as a forum to discuss the Pueblo issue largely
because it did not have diplomatic relations with North Korea and, therefore,
lacked other useful channels to talk with the North Koreans. As a result, the
special MAC meetings, though not intending to, became virtual diplomatic
talks between the government of the United States and the government of the
DPRK.

The North Koreans did not deliberately attempt to make this happen, but they
quickly realized the potential implications of such a development and tried to
make use of it. In the second MAC Senior Members meeting on February 4, the
KPA/CPV Senior Member asked whether he could understand that the case was
to be dealt with as a matter between the DPRK and the United States, and not
between the KPA and the UNC. He also added that if this understanding was
correct and the U.S. side appointed a representative of the United States, his side
would also appoint a representative of the DPRK.

The U.S. government recognized the potential problem that such a definition
might create. Samuel Berger, Director of the Korean Task Force, wrote that the
North Koreans appeared to have picked up the UNC point in order to make a bid to
raise the level of discussion on the Pueblo to “government-to-government,” and
pointed out two problems that might arise. First, by holding the bilateral talks, the
United States might end up giving North Korea a certain level of diplomatic
recognition and status. Second, the United States might be raising the profile of
the special MAC meetings and treating the Pueblo issue at a level higher than
the MAC where the issues that the South Koreans were most concerned about,
such as the Blue House raid, were discussed.34 The South Koreans would loath
to see such a development.

For these reasons, the UNC Senior Member was instructed to walk a thin line.
The UNC Senior Member explained in the third meeting on February 5 that he
was the Senior Member of the MAC and represented the U.S. government “with
full authority to discuss the release of the U.S.S. Pueblo and its crew.” He did
not say that he was a representative of the U.S. government, though, and hence
the official U.S. position was that the meeting was not between the U.S. and
DPRK governments. In response, the KPA/CPV Senior Member unilaterally
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noted UNC Senior Member’s “acknowledgement” that the Pueblo case was a
matter to be handled by the governments of the DPRK and the United States.35

The North Korean side tried to exploit this issue further in the fourth meeting
on February 7. In that meeting, the North Korean side requested the addition of a
deputy and the exchange of minutes and more formalized procedures such as press
releases. Such a move was interpreted as an effort to (a) enhance North Korea’s
prestige by characterizing itself as an equal interlocutor of the United States, (b)
prolong the negotiations, (c) further strain U.S.–ROK relations, and (d) keep U.S.
forces pinned down in Korea.36 In the meantime, U.S. Ambassador Porter’s sug-
gestion to move the talks outside Korea was turned down by the State Department
for the change from military to diplomatic channels would go farther toward
giving appearance of recognition of North Korea than present procedures.37 This
problem faded away in the fifth meeting on February 10 in which the KPA/CPV
Senior Member neither went back to the question of the precise status of the UNC
Senior Member, nor referred to the point that the governments of the DPRK and
the United States were being represented.38

In the sixth meeting on February 14, the North Korean side finally put forth
their terms for the release of the Pueblo crew, which did not include the release
of the ship. The KPA/CPV side stated:

… we will give considerations to (will be able to consider) the issue of
returning the crew members only when your side apologizes for the fact
that the U.S. Government dispatched the armed spy ship Pueblo to the
territorial waters of the Democratic People’s Republic of Korea, con-
ducted espionage activities and perpetrated hostile acts, assuring (and
assure) that it will not commit such criminal acts again.39

In the seventh meeting on February 16, the KPA/CPV side made it clear that
return of the ship itself could not be the subject of discussion on the grounds that
it was equipment used in espionage. While taking diplomatic steps, North Korea
strongly warned against possible U.S. military actions. For example, on February
17, North Korean Vice Premier Pak Song Chol issued a statement in which he
said:

If the U.S. imperialists and the Pak Jung Hi [Park Chung Hee] clique
should dare attempt any “retaliatory act,” it will in itself mean the start
of war.

U.S. imperialism and its stooges should look straight at the reality
and act with discretion.

Whether a new war breaks out in Korea or not entirely depends on
the attitude of the U.S. imperialists and their stooges.

The more the U.S. imperialists resort to threat and blackmail and war
racket, the more it will complicate the present situation, and if there is
anything for them to get from this, it will be only corpses and death.40
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In this period, the United States had three realistic means of pushing the
negotiation ahead. First, the strengthening of the overall strategic posture would
enable the United States to speak and be listened to. Based on this assumption, the
U.S. force level in and around the Korean Peninsula was substantially increased. It
was also recognized, nevertheless, that even these measures would not make the
overall situation advantageous to the United States.

Second, the redeployment of the carrier force away from Korea would give a
reason for the North Koreans to take positive steps in resolving the issue. This
option was made available by the deployment of the carrier battle group in the
Sea of Japan in the first place. By February 7, the Enterprise task group had
been ordered and was moving southward through the Tsushima Straits to an area
12 hours’ sailing time from the former position. It was expected that the Soviet
Union would report this movement to North Korea. The timing of this movement
was calculated to give the impression to North Korea that the United States was
prepared to ease pressures while talks were still in progress.41 By February 20,
the Enterprise was in Subic Bay in the Philippines.

Finally, the United States regarded the military assistance to South Korea as
an important bargaining chip in its negotiations with North Korea since it would
not only ease the concerns of the South Koreans but also make the North Kor-
eans think that their advantage would be undercut as time went by. A member of
the NSC recommended on March 4 a building up of South Korean capabilities
“rapidly, substantially, and very overtly.” In fact, when Vance visited Seoul, he
offered an additional $100 million in military assistance to South Korea.42

The Pueblo issue loomed large in U.S. domestic politics during the 1968
presidential election campaign. The fact that Johnson was receiving letters from
the Pueblo crew had a large impact on public opinion.43 Undersecretary of State
Nicholas Katzenbach, noting that the biggest ovation Richard Nixon received
during one of his addresses was for his reference to do something about the
Pueblo, predicted that the Pueblo would undoubtedly be an issue in the
presidential campaign.44

In the 11th meeting on March 9, the KPA/CPV Senior Member again implied
that the Pueblo crew might be punished. The North Korean delegation also
complained that the United States was requesting the return of the crew in
exchange for nothing.45 In the 16th meeting on May 8, North Korea presented a
draft document of a U.S. apology to North Korea.46 The U.S. side considered a
so-called “overwrite” plan, in which the UNC Senior Member would write
across the face of a document presented by the North Koreans an acknowl-
edgment of the receipt of the crew and sign it.47 By agreeing to do this, the
North Koreans could claim that the Americans had signed the document and the
Americans could say that they had signed only on what the U.S. Senior Member
had written.48 In the 22nd meeting on September 30, however, the North Korean
side submitted to the UNC Senior Member an exact statement to be signed.
This new document undercut the effectiveness of the “overwrite” idea as it
included the sentence, “Simultaneously with the signing of this document, the
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undersigned acknowledges receipt of 82 former crew members of the Pueblo
and one corpse,” thus making the overwrite repetitive.49

Finally, on December 23, the UNC Senior Member issued a brief state-
ment – “I will sign the document to free the crew and only to free the crew” –

and then proceeded to sign the documents as prearranged.50 At 1130 hours,
the 82 members of the Pueblo crew, with the remains of a killed sailor,
walked across the Bridge of No Return into the southern section of the DMZ.
After moving to a nearby U.S. Army camp, the Pueblo crew held a press
conference, in which the commander of the Pueblo stated that at no time had
the Pueblo entered North Korean territorial waters and described the beatings
and abuse of the crew by the North Koreans while in captivity. The crew
arrived in the United States on December 24, reunited with their families for
the Christmas holidays.51

Toward the end of Johnson’s presidency, measures to induce the North Kor-
eans to return the Pueblo were discussed. All the options were declined, how-
ever, and the ship did not return.52 By 1999 the Pueblo had been brought from
Wonsan to Pyongyang, and is currently displayed in the Taedong River as “an
epitome of disgraceful defeat the U.S. suffered in its aggression against the north
and a symbol of severe punishment meted out to the U.S.”53

Critical factors

Overall and local military balance

The more or less equal military balance between the North and the South in this
period seems to have made the North Korean leaders confident of their ability to
deter U.S.–ROK forces from taking meaningful retaliatory actions against their
military provocations. In 1968, North Korean air power was substantially
superior to that of South Korea, while South Korea enjoyed superiority in
ground forces.54 In naval power, while South Korea had an advantage in terms
of tonnage, North Korea possessed a larger number of high-speed torpedo boats
and other patrol boats useful in limited and surprise attacks near its coasts.
Soviet help was indispensable to North Korea in arming itself. It was reported in
February 1968:

The North Korean air force is estimated to include 21 MiG-21, 350
MiG-17, and 80 MiG-15 fighters plus 80 Il-28 bombers. Moreover,
since 1965, North Korea’s air defense missile complexes have grown
with Soviet help from two to ten, of which at least five are now
operational. North Korea is said to have 500 air-defense missiles. …

The North Korean army of 350,000 to 400,000 is equipped almost
exclusively with Soviet equipment including medium tanks, and the
North Korean Navy is said to have two Soviet W-class [Whiskey-class]
submarines, four Komar-type guided-missile ships, forty motor torpedo
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boats and two coastal defense complexes with Soviet radar and shore-to-
ship missiles.55

The U.S. Special National Intelligence Estimate prepared in May 1968 asses-
sed that the number of SA-2 surface-to-air missile sites had increased from two
to 20 over the previous three years.56 The area around Wonsan was heavily
armed. There was a large air base, 14 air-defense sites each consisting of six
guns, and two surface-to-air missile sites around the city.57 North Korea had
approximately 400 jet fighters, compared to 200 in South Korea. More specifi-
cally, there were 67 MiG-15/17s and five MiG-21s in the area around Wonsan
while the United States had only 24 fighters in Japan.58 On January 9, 1968, two
MiG-21s flew close to the DMZ in a counter-patrol and inspection flight. By
then, basic MiG-21 pilot training, which started in June 1966 with Soviet help,
had been completed.59

At the time of the Pueblo capture, the U.S. aircraft carrier Enterprise and the
frigate Truxton were 510 miles away from Wonsan. Although there were four F-
4Bs on five-minute alert, they were only equipped with air-to-air missiles and
were incapable of attacking targets on the sea. There were two A-4 and F-4 U.S.
Marine squadrons deployed in Japan that could have arrived in the area near
Wonsan within two hours, but they were not informed of the Pueblo incident
until the morning after the incident. In addition, at the time the Pueblo was
under attack, there were no U.S. fighters on a strip alert that could provide a
quick response to the situation. Furthermore, the first boarding attempt on the
Pueblo was made at 1315 hours; on that day, twilight came at 1709 hours and
darkness at 1738 hours. There were only three and a half hours of light for the
U.S. Air Force to effectively react after the Pueblo was captured. The Com-
mander of the U.S. Fifth Air Force issued an order to send aircraft but later
reversed the order because of the approach of darkness and the superiority of
enemy forces in the area.60

In addition to the Vietnam War that constrained the U.S. actions as discussed
in the previous chapter, North Korea’s ability to prevent successful military
countermeasures on the part of the United States played a critical role in the
crisis. After assessing different military options, Secretary Rusk concluded that
the use of military force would “make us feel better about it, but does not get
our ship and our men back.”61

North Korea’s cooperation with the Soviet Union and China

North Korea’s improved relationship with the Soviet Union worked to facilitate
its decision to capture the Pueblo. The Soviet Union had provided a large
volume of military assets to North Korea before the incident and supported its
position after it happened. In the late 1960s, after the downfall of Nikita
Khrushchev and the onset of the Great Cultural Revolution in China, the Soviet–
North Korea relationship improved greatly.62 The Soviet Union decided to
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provide a large amount of military and financial aid to North Korea in 1965. In
May 1965, Kim Il Sung expressed his “great satisfaction” for the promised
Soviet assistance of weapons and military equipment in the amount of 150 mil-
lion rubles, which made the significant military buildup possible.63 In addition,
North Korea’s alliance treaty relationships with the Soviet Union and China also
influenced the North’s decision to capture the Pueblo since they provided deter-
rents against U.S. retaliation.

When President Johnson sent a letter dated February 5, 1968 to Soviet Foreign
Minister Alexei Kosygin, calling on the Soviets to work with the Americans for peace
in Korea, he replied that when Soviet ships intruded into U.S. territorial waters, the
Soviets used diplomatic channels, apologized, paid fines, and then settled the matter.
He suggested that the United States work through diplomatic channels and not resort
to a show of force.64 The United States even received a message from the Soviet
Union suggesting that the United States pretend that the Pueblo had actually violated
the territorial waters of North Korea.65

Behind the scenes, however, the Soviet attitude was more mixed. The Soviets
did not have prior knowledge of the intended capture of the Pueblo and, when it
happened, they sought to prevent both North Korea and the United States from
escalating. The most important Soviet objective in the crisis was to avoid getting
dragged into a war with the United States.66 In April 1968, Leonid Brezhnev,
General Secretary of the Communist Party of the Soviet Union, expressed his
concerns about the Korean intention to “bind the Soviet Union somehow, using
the existence of the treaty between the USSR and the DPRK [as a pretext to]
involve us in supporting such plans of the Koreans friends about which we knew
nothing.” He also said that the Soviet leaders were “against taking the matter
towards unleashing a war. …”67 The North Koreans were similarly duplicitous.
During the crisis, they even attempted to obtain additional economic aid from
the Soviets in return for inside information on developments.68

U.S. domestic politics

Regardless of what the North Korean decision makers thought, American leaders
actually believed that North Korea had taken American domestic politics into
account when it made the decision to capture the Pueblo. Several factors were of
particular importance. First, the presidential election was scheduled in November
1968. As the United States was already deeply involved in the Vietnam War, it was
politically difficult for the U.S. president to mobilize additional forces for another
major contingency in Asia. As presidential advisor Berger wrote, the North Koreans
knew about “our foreign exchange problems, budgetary deficit, and the President’s
domestic difficulties,” assessing that North Korea might have thought that main-
taining a certain amount of tension in Korea would put “added strains on our
resources and add to the President’s troubles at home.”69 When McNamara sug-
gested on January 25 that the President ask for legislation extending the tours of
duty of those serving, Johnson responded negatively, commenting that such
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legislation would put the American boys on North Korean side. “We must keep
them on our side,” he put it.70

Second, the lessons of history seem to have worked against the United States.
When the Pueblo was seized, the Senate Foreign Relations Committee was
considering whether or not to hold formal hearings on the 1964 Gulf of Tonkin
incident. At the time, misinterpretation of the incident was suspected to have led
the U.S. Congress and the American public into supporting the substantial mili-
tary commitment to the war in Vietnam. This precedent led the respected Senator
William Fulbright to remark soon after the Pueblo was captured that the United
States should be very careful in this instance not to jump to conclusions until
“we know all the facts.”71

Finally, the general public in the United States did not support military
options, as Johnson rightly predicted. In a public opinion poll, only 3 percent of the
respondents supported retaliation even at the risk of war while 47 percent
supported a diplomatic solution.

Characteristics

Location and timing

The military operation to detain the Pueblo took place in a geographically limited
theater, about 16 nautical miles off the east coast of North Korea near the major port
city of Wonsan. The Sea of Japan has traditionally been an area with active naval
activities. This was particularly true for the Soviet Union and North Korea, who used
Vladivostok, Wonsan, and Chongjin as major port cities.

Although it is unclear when the plan to capture a Pueblo-type vessel was first con-
ceived by the North Koreans, the first such ship – the USS Banner – began operating
in the area in February 1967, about a year prior to the Pueblo incident. The North
Koreans achieved perfect surprise in the Pueblo seizure. Presidential adviser
McGeorge Bundy confessed about a week after the Pueblo incident that “no one ever
thought a small power such as North Korea would take offensive action against a
major power in a situation such as this.”72 Although the North Korean broadcast on
January 6 criticizing the United States for “incessantly committing provocative acts
lately on the sea off of the eastern coast” and for dispatching “many armed boats” into
the North Korean coastal waters was an ominous warning of the coming detention of
the U.S vessel, such a statement was not exceptional amidst the customarily harsh
North Korean rhetoric.73 It was only in hindsight that such a comment could be con-
sidered a warning. It was judged that the Blue House raid and the Pueblo incident had
not been planned in a coordinated manner because the raid on the Blue House must
have needed considerable advance planning and training. In addition, the Pueblo
embarked on its mission on January 10, only 11 days prior to the raid on the Blue
House.74 Military operations to capture the Pueblo lasted for about two and a half
hours. After the capture of the Pueblo, it took about 10 days before the special MAC
meetings started. The bilateral negotiations lasted for almost 11 months.
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The timing of the release of the Pueblo crew was noteworthy: just after
Richard Nixon, who was supposedly a tough negotiator, was elected U.S. pre-
sident. It is quite possible that the election of Nixon affected the North Korean
negotiation behavior.

An operation in reaction to hostile reconnaissance activities or to attack a
naval vessel was not new to the North Koreans. North Korea had already
attacked U.S. reconnaissance aircraft in January 1954, February 1955, June
1956, June 1959, and April 1965. Incidents at sea were also not without pre-
cedent. For example, in January 1967, an ROK Navy patrol craft PCE-56 was
sunk by North Korean coastal artillery, with 39 crewmen killed and 15 wounded.
In October 1967, a South Korean and a U.S. patrol boat were attacked at the
mouth of the Imjin River. Furthermore, there had been a number of cases where
the North Koreans captured South Korean fishing boats. In other words, the
North Korean navy and air force had some experience in this kind of operation
before the capture of the Pueblo.

Forces involved and the type of use of force

Only a limited number of naval and air assets were involved in the capture of the
895-ton Pueblo. North Korea employed two 215-ton SO-1 patrol craft, four 25-ton
P-4 fast attack torpedo craft, and two MiG-21 fighters in the operation.75

The seizure of the Pueblo involved the actual application of military force
to take control of the ship, its crew, and intelligence-gathering equipment and
related documents. The physical possession of the American citizens provided
significant bargaining power to the North Koreans vis à vis the United States.
The steps the North Koreans took to highlight this point, such as showing the
pictures of the Pueblo crew to the outside world through various channels and
sending letters written by the crew to the U.S. president, were quite effec-
tive.76 By repeatedly referring to crew welfare and possible punishment, the
North Korean negotiators tried to make the best use of the U.S. concern for
crew safety.77

Intensity and targeting

The North Koreans used 57-millimeter guns and machine guns in attacking the
Pueblo. As a result of the gunfire, one crew member was killed. The physical
target in this case was a reconnaissance vessel, its crew, and all the equipment
and documents related to U.S. intelligence-gathering activities aboard the
Pueblo. The political target was clearly Washington, and not Seoul. The fact that
an American vessel was targeted was highlighted by the simultaneous attack on
the Blue House, in which the target was distinctly South Korean. This clear
target discrimination worked effectively in separating the United States and
South Korea in the period following the Pueblo incident, a significant strength in
the North Korean negotiating strategy.
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Military-diplomatic coordination

In the Pueblo incident, North Korea’s military actions and diplomatic moves
were well coordinated. It was only one day after the seizure that North Korea put
its four demands on the table. North Korea immediately followed this by trying
to strengthen its negotiating position, broadcasting a report that the commander of
the Pueblo had written a “confession” acknowledging that the Pueblo had spied
on North Korea.

As North Korea went into full mobilization, it issued statements demonstrat-
ing its will to resist U.S. military pressure. At the same time, however, it quickly
conveyed its willingness to negotiate with the United States. The first bilateral
meeting was held on February 2, only 10 days after the capture of the Pueblo.
After the negotiations began, North Korea continued to generate tension, mean-
ingful but not excessive, by provoking military clashes near the negotiation site
in the Joint Security Area.

Assessment

Hampering U.S. intelligence-gathering activities

The most direct and immediate objective of the Pueblo seizure was to hamper
U.S. intelligence-gathering activities. The Pueblo seizure produced several posi-
tive results for the North Koreans. First, the Pueblo seizure put an additional
burden on U.S. reconnaissance activities. After the Pueblo was captured, U.S.
reconnaissance had to observe self-imposed restrictions on flight areas for a long
period; fighter escort was provided when the reconnaissance aircraft was over
water; and strip alert was ordered when it was over land.78 In April 1969, the
U.S. Congress institutionalized this heightened security precaution by passing a
resolution stating that “no manned ship or plane of the Armed Forces of the
United States should be sent into danger areas on an intelligence-gathering mis-
sion without adequate protection against attack or capture by foreign armed
forces.”79 Also, as a result of the Pueblo affair, all intelligence operations using
Pueblo-type ships were terminated, and the vessels were decommissioned by late
1969.80

Second, the loss of the intelligence-gathering equipment and related infor-
mation to the North Koreans, and to the Soviets and Chinese indirectly, was a
serious blow to U.S. intelligence efforts. After the Pueblo was captured, the
Soviet Union sent a team of electronics and decoding experts to North Korea
to assist with the interrogation of the Pueblo crew, and China sent an inter-
rogation team to question Pueblo crew members who had previously gathered
intelligence off the Chinese coast.81 The Director of the U.S. National
Security Agency evaluated the loss of the Pueblo as “a major intelligence
coup without parallel in modern history” with regard to its effect on com-
munications security, stating that the overall loss and impact on U.S. ability
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to conduct signals intelligence was considered “very severe.”82 An assess-
ment made on the impact of the loss of approximately 7,000–8,000 docu-
ments aboard the Pueblo concluded that it had given North Korea as well as
other Communist countries significant insight into U.S. intelligence-collection
capabilities and constituted a major compromise of intelligence-gathering
sources and methods in Southeast Asia. Another review by the National
Security Agency concluded that the compromise to the Cryptologic Commu-
nity was “without precedence in U.S. cryptologic history.”83

Although cryptographic communications were thought to have been secure due
to the inability of the North Koreans or others to decrypt messages without crypto-
graphic keys, it was revealed in mid-1985 that a spy ring within the U.S. Navy, led by
John Walker, a communications specialist, had been passing the keys to coded com-
munications to the Soviet Union for more than 17 years.84 On this point, retired Maj.
Gen. Oleg Kalugin, former deputy chief of the KGB station at the Soviet embassy in
Washington, D.C., said:

[We] read all cryptographic traffic between the United States Naval
Headquarters and the Navy across the world.… So by keeping control of
the movement of U.S. nuclear submarines, by controlling the coded traffic
between the Navy and the units in the open seas, we could really protect
our country’s security. … I think this was the greatest achievement of
Soviet intelligence at the time of the Cold War.85

Diverting U.S. and South Korean resources away
from the Vietnam War

By the time of the Pueblo incident, the North Koreans had actively been helping the
North Vietnamese war effort by sending 30 pilots and providing 10 MiG-21s and by
conducting sustained assaults on the U.S.–ROK forces in South Korea.86 The seizure
of the Pueblo, as well as the Blue House raid, was yet another way of helping North
Vietnam by diverting U.S. and South Korean attention.

North Korea was quite successful in this regard. The effects of the Pueblo
seizure were clear and immediate. Soon after the Pueblo capture, the United
States diverted the aircraft carrier Enterprise from South Vietnam to the Sea of
Japan, as well as 10,000 tons of bombs en route to South Vietnam to South
Korea.87 On January 24, Defense Secretary McNamara remarked that if the
North Korean effort was aimed at tying U.S. hands in other theaters, they had
“succeeded” since the United States could not move in South Vietnam until the
Pueblo incident was resolved.88 The seizure of the Pueblo was also effective in
influencing U.S. policy in Vietnam more broadly. A CIA report in January 1968
assessed that all the Communist parties would wish to handle the Pueblo affair in
such a manner as to “increase pressures on the U.S. Government, at home and
abroad; the effect, they would hope, would be to make it more difficult for the US
to sustain its present course in Vietnam.”89
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Straining U.S.–ROK relations

One of the most important consequences of the Pueblo incident was the strain it
caused in U.S.–ROK relations. Although it appears that North Korea did not
necessarily intend to do so by seizing the Pueblo, it was a significant consequence.
Once such effects were recognized, North Korea attempted to make use of and
exacerbate the friction between the United States and South Korea. For example,
North Korea tried to put the special MAC meetings, or virtual bilateral U.S.–
DPRK talks, above the MAC meetings at which South Korea was represented. In
the 13th MAC meeting, the North Korean Senior Member asserted that the meet-
ings were taking place between representatives of the DPRK and U.S. govern-
ments, and complained that the U.S. side had continued the “discourteous act” of
calling the DPRK “North Korea.” He went on to warn that unless the United States
decided to deal with the government of the DPRK, the question of the Pueblo crew
would never be solved.90 Such a demand seems to have been designed to elevate
U.S.–DPRK relations, demean South Korea, and drive a wedge between the
United States and South Korea.

Defending Kim Il Sung’s position

The North Korean leadership might have also used the Pueblo incident to justify
its “dual-track development policy.” Adopted in 1962, this policy called for the
simultaneous development of economic and military strength. By the time of the
Pueblo incident, the negative consequences of that policy had become apparent.
It was already revealed in 1966 that North Korea could not achieve the goals set
in the seven-year plan by the target date of 1967 and was forced to extend the
deadline by three years.91

In a speech on March 21, 1968, Kim Il Sung said that the North Koreans did
not have to fear the “U.S. imperialists” because North Korea was “incomparably
stronger” than in the days of the Korean War and had adequate means for
defeating them. He also pointed out that North Korea had “an impregnable
defence coping with any imperialist aggression” as a result of the work of
“arming all the people and fortifying the whole country.”92

Kim Il Sung also used the Pueblo incident, after the event, in purging his
political rivals in the military. In criticizing some of North Korea’s top military
leaders including Defence Minister Kim Chang Bong, Kim Il Sung said in Jan-
uary 1969:

Had it not been for revisionist influence, they [the North Korean mili-
tary leaders under criticism] would not have objected to shooting down
American aircraft. Also, how was it different from Khrushchev’s order [to
back off during the Cuban Missile Crisis] when they suggested capturing
the Americans [USS Pueblo] instead of shooting at them when they
came close to the coast? Why on earth are we preparing for war?93
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From these remarks, it can be inferred that while Kim Il Sung wanted to sink
the Pueblo, the North Korean military leaders suggested capturing the ship. The
capture, and not the destruction, provided the North Koreans with precious
assets – U.S. intelligence equipment and documents as well as live American
hostages. Despite the positive outcome of the decision to capture the Pueblo,
Kim Il Sung was willing to use it to purge his rivals. In this context, it is telling
that North Korea shot down a U.S. Navy EC-121 reconnaissance aircraft on
April 15, 1969, Kim Il Sung’s birthday. On the next day, Kim sent a message to
congratulate the officers and men of the KPA Unit 447 which was responsible
for the operation.94 These facts strongly suggest that the action was deliberately
executed at Kim’s order to distinguish himself from the purged military leaders
and strengthen his position in the military establishment.
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Chapter 4

THE WEST SEA INCIDENT, 1973 76

In October 1973, North Korea initiated a long and systematic military and dip-
lomatic campaign in the area surrounding five offshore islands in the Yellow
Sea.1 These five islands – Baengnyeongdo, Daecheongdo, Socheongdo, Yeon-
pyeongdo, and Udo – are much closer to the North Korean west coast than the
South Korean west coast but remain under the military control of the Comman-
der in Chief, United Nations Command (CINCUNC), as stipulated by the
Armistice Agreement signed in July 1953. This group of islands lying around
the Ongjin Peninsula came to be called the Northwest Islands (NWI).2

The North Koreans undertook a series of military actions in the NWI area
between 1973 and 1976 to back their claim that the waters around the NWI were
under their jurisdiction and that the Northern Limit Line (NLL), a quasi-
maritime borderline between North and South Korea established by CINCUNC,
was not valid. They succeeded in making their legal claims widely known and
also in complicating U.S.–ROK relations. At the same time, however, the North
Korean actions also ended up encouraging the fortification of the NWI and a
South Korean naval buildup.

Coordinated military-diplomatic offensive

Claiming the 12-nautical-mile “coastal waters”

On October 23, 1973, a North Korean gunboat and torpedo boat crossed the
NLL to the south. While the North Korean vessels crossed the NLL, they did not
violate the 3-nautical-mile “contiguous” waters around the NWI claimed by the
U.S.-led United Nations Command (UNC). In short order, the North began to
escalate, and not only cross the NLL but also intrude into the contiguous waters
of the NWI. Between November 19 and December 1, North Korean patrol boats
entered the waters around Baengnyeongdo, Daecheongdo, Socheongdo, and
Yeonpyeongdo six times.3 Between October and December 1973, North Korean
vessels crossed the NLL 43 times, including nine guided-missile boats crossing
the line six times.4
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The first territorial dispute under the Korean Armistice surfaced at the 346th
Military Armistice Commission (MAC) meeting on December 1.5 In the meet-
ing, the North Korea-led Korean People’s Army/Chinese People’s Volunteers
(KPA/CPV) delegates claimed jurisdiction over the area 12 nautical miles from the
North Korean west coast, and alleged violations of the Armistice Agreement by
South Korean naval vessels. This formal complaint came from the long-held North
Korean position that South Korean naval vessels had repeatedly intruded into their
12-nautical-mile zone of jurisdiction since the early 1960s.6 The NWI, according
to North Korea, were in its “coastal waters,” so the sea contiguous to the NWI
belonged to North Korea.

The KPA/CPV representatives also suggested that the NLL was not valid. It
stated:

… you U.S. imperialist aggressors organized the south Korean naval
craft into our coastal waters … to enforce a sea blockade and what is
worse, commit without hesitation such outrageous act as to hinder the
free navigation of many foreign merchant ships entering the ports in the
West Sea [Yellow Sea] of our country.7

This statement implicitly referred to U.S.–ROK enforcement of the NLL
causing North Korea’s maritime traffic, particularly vessels departing from the
port town of Haeju, to make a detour around the NLL instead of sailing across
the line to the high seas. The KPA/CPV side warned that because of “reckless
commotions” on the UNC part, an armed conflict between both sides might
occur and “a grave irretrievable situation” might be created.

The KPA/CPV representatives then argued that the waters north of the mar-
itime boundary line of Hwanghae-do province and Gyeonggi-do province, which
extended southwest from the western end of the inland boundary between the
two provinces, belonged to the coastal waters of North Korea. It was clear that
the North Koreans were attempting to interpret Paragraph 13b of the Armistice
Agreement to mean that the waters to the north and west of the provincial
boundary line were under the military control of the Supreme Commander of the
Korean People’s Army (KPA).

The North Korean side finally insisted that the UNC submit a request and get
KPA’s approval in advance if it wanted to sail in North Korea’s coastal waters en
route to the NWI, warning that “proper steps” would be taken resulting in “severe
punishment” if the UNC side did not adhere to this new demand. A memorandum
that the CINCUNC sent to Washington characterized this MAC meeting as “the
most belligerant [sic] since the Pueblo period.”8

Probing UNC and South Korean reactions

North Korea then embarked upon an interesting series of actions most likely
designed to probe UNC and South Korean reactions. The ROK Ministry of
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National Defense (MND) announced on December 7 that a North Korean patrol
boat had “violated” South Korean waters by coming close to Baengnyeongdo.9

On December 10, a North Korean patrol boat came as close as 3.6 nautical miles
to the southwest of Socheongdo, and stayed there for about two hours. The ROK
Navy claimed that the North Korean patrol boat had violated South Korean
waters.10

Then on December 11, three North Korean torpedo boats in combat formation
launched an extremely provocative high speed run near UNC naval vessels
escorting a landing ship on a routine supply run to Baengnyeongdo.11 On
December 18, two North Korean patrol boats entered the contiguous waters of
Socheongdo to a point near the path routinely traveled by a civilian ferry between
the South Korean port of Incheon and Baengnyeongdo. Later on the same day,
two North Korean patrol gunboats again violated the contiguous waters of
Socheongdo.12

Interestingly, while the UNC charged the North Korean side at the December
24 MAC with violating the Armistice Agreement on December 11 and 18, it did
not mention the North Korean actions on December 7 or 10, which the South
Koreans claimed had constituted violations of their waters.13 The North Koreans
probably learned from these events that the UNC and the ROK government
interpreted the legal status of the waters in the area differently.

In the 347th MAC meeting, the UNC side clarified its position. It warned that
(a) any intrusion by naval vessels into waters contiguous to the NWI would be a
violation of Paragraph 15 of the Armistice Agreement (Note that the crossing of
the NLL was not deemed as a violation), (b) any attempt to interfere with or
interrupt the passage of UNC vessels traveling directly to and from the NWI
would constitute an attempt to modify the terms of Paragraphs 13b and 15, (c)
the UNC would take all necessary means to stop North Korean intrusions into
contiguous waters of the NWI and to insure the unimpeded progress of the ships
to and from the NWI, and (d) the UNC would not request North Korean per-
mission to sail to the NWI. The UNC pointed out that North Korea had actually
recognized and respected the NLL delineation over the past twenty years. The
UNC also rejected the KPA/CPV contention that the provincial boundary line
referenced in Paragraph 13b ceded the KPA/CPV side the contiguous waters
surrounding the NWI. Finally, the UNC insisted that North Korea’s provocative
actions cease, as they were dangerous, served to heighten tensions and, there-
fore, were “clear violations of the spirit of the Armistice Agreement.”

On February 15, 1974, North Korean naval vessels attacked two South
Korean fishing trawlers – Suwon ho No. 33 and Suwon ho No. 32 – that were
fishing in waters north of the NLL, some 30 nautical miles northwest of
Baengnyeongdo in the first such attack since the North-South Joint Communiqué
was issued in July 1972. One of them was sunk and the other was seized.14 The
incident was assessed to have been a result of aggressive patrolling action by
North Korean boats.15 Six months later, on June 28, 1974, three North Korean
gunboats attacked and sank South Korean Maritime Police patrol boat No. 863
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after a two-hour firefight in the Sea of Japan, north of the seaward extension of the
Military Demarcation Line (MDL), killing 26 crew members and detaining two.
When the boat encountered the North Korean gunboats, it was estimated to have been
located near the 12-nautical-mile limit and about six nautical miles north of the
extension of the MDL. However, it was not clear whether it was inside or outside of
the 12-nautical-mile limit.16

Escalation

After a period of relative calm, tensions rose once again in February 1975.17 At
1505 hours on February 26, two unidentified boats were detected in the inter-
national waters 20 nautical miles south of the NLL and 23 nautical miles west of
Socheongdo, an area where fishing boats did not normally operate. At 1635
hours, two South Korean patrol boats dispatched to the area found them. They
then approached the unidentified vessels to ascertain their identity. However,
they did not respond to the demand. At 1909 hours, a South Korean destroyer
arrived on the scene. After a while, the unidentified boats headed for a fleet of
eight other boats which appeared like fishing boats, and maneuverings on both
side continued. Then at 2026 hours, in an attempt to prevent the North Korean
vessels from operating south of the NLL, the South Korean destroyer hit one of
them. The 200-ton ironclad fishing boat sank as a result.18

In reaction to the incident, North Korea sent 11 vessels including torpedo
boats, gunboats, and guided-missile boats to the south, and flew a total of 85
sorties of MiG fighters in the areas near Baengnyeongdo. The entire North
Korean fleet and SA-2 surface-to-air missiles deployed in the Ongjin Peninsula
were put on alert. The heightened tension continued until the next morning.19

Some of the North Korean fighters intruded into the airspace above Baeng-
nyeongdo, Daecheongdo, and Socheongdo islands on 11 separate occasions
between 2341 hours on February 26 and 0917 hours on February 27. In reaction
to the situation, South Korean fighters as well as U.S. Air Force (USAF) F-4
fighters took off. The North Korean jets and the South Korean fighters came
within 17 nautical miles of each other, creating a precarious situation.20 After
these hostilities, the North Korean Ministry of Foreign Affairs denounced the
USAF involvement in the incident, claiming that it indicated that the United
States was “the ringleader” who was “exacerbating tension in Korea and indul-
ging in the war provocative moves.”21 The U.S. Department of Defense con-
tended that the USAF F-4s remained above the Osan Air Base and did not
participate in the pursuit of North Korean fighters in the Yellow Sea.22

The events on February 26–27 were discussed in the 360th MAC meeting
held on March 3. The KPA/CPV side claimed that the South Korean naval ves-
sels had rammed and sunk a North Korean fishing boat in international waters.
The UNC argued that the North Korean armed vessels were in an area of the
Yellow Sea which was normally patrolled by the UNC side and that their unex-
plained presence in the area presented a possible threat to the security of South
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Korea and its fishing vessels in adjacent areas. In other words, the UNC tacitly
acknowledged that the North Korean vessels were in international waters and
that the presence of these vessels in the area was not a violation of the Armistice
Agreement in itself.23

South Korea had a different interpretation. The MND announced that the
North Korean boats had “violated” South Korea’s “maritime operating area
(jagjeon haeyeog)” south of the Northern Patrol Limit Line (NPLL) which defines
an area, based on the NLL, in which patrol activities are conducted.24 In other
words, South Korea regarded the crossing of the NLL and the intrusion into its
maritime operating area as illegal. The South Korean position did not have a
solid legal basis, however. For this reason, just before the 360th MAC meeting,
the United States informed South Korea that the UNC would not try to justify
the sinking of the North Korean vessel based on South Korea’s claim on the
maritime operating area.25 In the MAC meeting, the UNC used the phrase “in
accordance with internationally accepted maritime practices” throughout in
referring to South Korea’s naval challenges.26

The United States did not view armed enforcement of ROK fishing claims,
especially in areas it regard as international waters beyond the armistice zone,
within the scope of its obligations, either.27 In fact, after the February 1975 inci-
dent, the UNC requested that the MND not disclose the fact that U.S. air assets had
been involved in the operations. The MND agreed, although they later disclosed
the USAF F-4 participation, after which the CINCUNC conveyed the “strongest
personal protest” to the MND. The U.S. side suspected that South Korea had
played up the USAF involvement for the purpose of demonstrating to the North
Koreans the “credibility and consistency of U.S. commitment” to South Korea.28

Provocations in the air

North Korean air activities continued in the area. On March 24, 1975, 30 North
Korean fighters conducted active air maneuvers in the NWI area between 0800
and 1300 hours. They took 15 different routes in the airspace, and flew across
the NLL sometimes as deep as 50 nautical miles. There were two intrusions of
the airspace above Baengnyeongdo and Socheongdo islands. In reaction, South
Korean aircraft scrambled to challenge the North Korean fighters.29 The North
Koreans seem to have done in the air what they had been doing at sea. They
crossed the NLL frequently, and occasionally violated the airspace above the
NWI. Again, North Korea was taking steps to consolidate its legal claims and to
highlight the difference between the UNC and the ROK government over the
interpretation of the legal status of the NLL.

The MND requested the UNC to make a strong protest against the North
Korean action at the MAC. In the 362nd MAC meeting on May 27, the UNC
side claimed that the two North Korean overflights above Baengnyeongdo and
Socheongdo were serious violations of the Armistice Agreement. When the
UNC mentioned the other maneuvers, however, it characterized them simply as
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“highly provocative” activities that took place far south of North Korea’s
normal operating area and adjacent to the South Korean territory. The UNC did
not claim that these air maneuvers constituted violations of the Armistice
Agreement.30

More importantly, U.S. air assets were not used in the March 24 incident, as
they were in the February 26 case.31 In July 1975, it was reported that the U.S.
Department of Defense had instructed the CINCUNC to formulate a U.S.–ROK
combined operation plan to defend the NWI. However, it also instructed the
CINCUNC not to include U.S. military assets in such a plan.32 Taken as a
whole, the United States tried as much as possible to avoid becoming entrapped
by South Korean positions where the issues were not directly related to the enfor-
cement of the Armistice Agreement or obligations under the U.S.–ROK Mutual
Defense Treaty.33

The North Korean operations in the NWI area continued sporadically after the
incident in March. A North Korean patrol craft violated the waters contiguous to
Baengnyeongdo on May 14.34 On June 9, two MiG-21 fighters flew over
Baengnyeongdo.35 The North Korean fighters returned when ROK Air Force
aircraft scrambled.36 On July 12, three North Korean fishing vessels and one patrol
craft intruded into the waters contiguous to Baengnyeongdo.37 Then on January
23, 1976, two North Korean MiG fighters flew over Baengnyeongdo.38 A South
Korean source also recorded that eight North Korean vessels crossed the NLL 18
times between March 7 and March 27.39

North Korea’s proposal for a peace agreement with
the United States

While taking sustained military actions, North Korea made a new proposal on
March 25, 1974, calling for the conclusion of a bilateral peace agreement with
the United States.40 In the report presented at the Third Session of the Fifth
Supreme People’s Assembly, Ho Dam, North Korean Vice-Premier and Minister
of Foreign Affairs, stated:

… today’s reality of our country makes it necessary to settle the
question of signing a peace agreement directly with the United States in
order to create prerequisites for the removal of the tension in Korea and
promotion of her independent and peaceful reunification.

… it is right and proper to settle the question between the parties
concerned which hold real power to guarantee it with certainty. The
Democratic People’s Republic of Korea and the United States of
America are the two signatories to the Korean Armistice Agreement
and the actual parties concerned.

The Korean Armistice Agreement was signed at first between the
Korean People’s Army and the Chinese People’s Volunteers on the one
hand and the “United Nations forces” on the other, but the Chinese
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People’s Volunteers withdrew from Korea already long ago and the
so-called “United Nations forces” present in south Korea are, in fact,
none other than the U.S. Army.

… the question of signing a peace agreement must be solved
directly with the United States, the party concerned which has its troops
stationed in south Korea, holds the whole supreme command of the
armed forces and signed the armistice agreement.

In proposing a peace agreement with the United States, we seek, in
the long run, to put an early end to foreign interference in our internal
affairs, the root cause of the permanent tension in out country, and open
a favourable phase for settlement of the internal affairs of the nation by
the efforts of Koreans themselves, on all accounts. … 41

Ho Dam justified his proposal by pointing out that South Korean authorities
had “turned down all the reasonable proposals of ours” and were “continuously
stepping up war preparations and ceaselessly perpetrating armed provocations,”
adding that the U.S. government was “chiefly to blame for the strained situation and
the danger of war created in Korea today.” On this basis, Ho Dam insisted that the
peace agreement include the following four points:

(a) Both sides shall pledge to each other not to invade the other side and shall
remove all the danger of direct armed conflict. The United States shall be
obliged not to “instigate the south Korean authorities to war provocation
manoeuvres”

(b) The two sides shall discontinue arms reinforcement and arms race
(c) The berets of the “United Nations forces” shall be taken off the foreign

troops stationed in South Korea and they will be withdrawn at the earliest
possible date along with all their weapons

(d) Korea shall not be made a military base or operational base of any foreign
country after the withdrawal of all foreign troops from South Korea.42

On this basis, Ho Dam proposed discussions to negotiate a peace agreement
with delegates “of a rank higher than those of the MAC” participating from both
sides. This proposal was designed to place direct U.S.–DPRK talks above the
MAC meeting where the South Koreans were also represented. The Supreme
People’s Assembly sent a letter to the U.S. Congress on March 25.43

This proposal was a significant departure from North Korea’s previous posi-
tion that a peace agreement must be concluded between the North and the South.
Also significant was its new claim that the foreign troops stationed in South
Korea should be withdrawn “at the earliest possible date.” In a reversal of its
previous position, the withdrawal of U.S. forces from Korea was to be realized
after, and not before, the conclusion of the peace agreement. The new proposal
was apparently influenced by the conclusion of the Paris peace treaty under
which U.S. forces withdrew from Vietnam.44 North Korea seemed to have
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thought that the same kind of peace agreement could result in the withdrawal of
U.S. forces from South Korea in the long run.

Critical factors

Significance of the Northwest Islands

Located much closer to the North Korean west coast than to the South Korean
west coast but under UNC jurisdiction, the NWI have enormous strategic sig-
nificance both to the U.S.–ROK side and to North Korea.45 The NWI are located
approximately 45 to 110 nautical miles west of Seoul in the Yellow Sea, sur-
rounding the Ongjin Peninsula in North Korea. Baengnyeongdo is located
approximately seven nautical miles away from the North Korean west coast and
approximately 93 nautical miles from the South Korean port of Incheon. Yeon-
pyeongdo is located approximately six nautical miles from the Ongjin Peninsula
and approximately 44 nautical miles from Incheon.46

UNC jurisdiction over the NWI was important for several reasons. First, the
NWI are located in positions that can block entrance to the Taedongman and
Haejuman bays in North Korea. Second, the NWI are critical military assets for
the defense of the western front and the capital area of South Korea, and thus are
useful for (a) stopping North Korean seabound infiltration, (b) stopping North
Korean advance into the mouth of the Hangang river, Ganghwado island, and
the Gimpo Peninsula in the western front, (c) blocking the southward advance of
North Korean naval forces, (d) disrupting the sea lines of communication
between China and North Korea, and (e) maintaining sea control in the Yellow
Sea. Third, the NWI served as an important base for intelligence collection. A
radar site in Baengnyeongdo could detect movements of Chinese aircraft as far
away as Shenyang. Finally, the NWI could be used as a base from which landing
operations on the Ongjin Peninsula could be conducted.47 In a way, the NWI are
a dagger at North Korea’s belly.

Differing interpretations of the “contiguous” waters

Differing interpretations between the UNC and North Korea over the definition
of “contiguous” waters was yet another important backdrop to the North Korean
actions. The disagreement between the UNC and North Korea over maritime
jurisdiction dated back to the armistice negotiations, when the UNC insisted on
three-nautical-mile territorial sea while the KPA/CPV side upheld the 12-nautical-
mile territorial sea. Having failed to agree on the width of the territorial sea, they
decided to use an ambiguous expression in Paragraph 15 of the Armistice
Agreement. It read:

This Armistice Agreement shall apply to all opposing naval forces,
which naval forces shall respect the waters contiguous to the
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Demilitarized Zone and to the land area of Korea under the military
control of the opposing side, and shall not engage in blockade of any
kind of Korea. [Italic added]

As a result of this ambiguity over the maritime jurisdiction, when naval hos-
tilities broke out in the early 1970s, the UNC regarded the three-nautical-mile zone
surrounding the NWI as contiguous waters under its jurisdiction, while North
Korea regarded the 12-nautical-mile zone from its coasts as contiguous waters
under its jurisdiction.48 Moreover, the North Korean side suggested that islands
such as the NWI did not have contiguous waters and, therefore, the waters sur-
rounding the NWI were under the military control of the Supreme Commander
of the KPA.49

The North Korean attempt to refute the UNC argument gained new momen-
tum as the 12-nautical-mile territorial waters became a new international legal
norm in the early 1970s. In the 1970s, the number of the nations which claimed
12-nautical-mile territorial sea exceeded the number of the nations claiming the ter-
ritorial waters of less than 12 nautical miles.50 If the 12-nautical-mile line from the
North Korean west coast is superimposed on a map, Baengnyeongdo and Yeon-
pyeongdo would fall inside the line, while Daecheongdo and Socheongdo would be
on it.51 In the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea initiated in
New York in December 1973, the 12-nautical-mile limit came to be widely accepted
as an international norm.52 This came about partly from pressure by developing
countries with which North Korea had affinity, serving as encouragement for Pyon-
gyang.53 It was against this backdrop that North Korea declared in December 1973,
that it would exercise territorial rights over the waters surrounding the NWI.
According to a U.S. embassy wire cable in December 1973, North Korean vessels
had operated by then up to but not beyond 12-nautical-mile reach of their own
shores.54

This was a challenge to the UNC, headed by an American general, since the
United States was one of the countries which still upheld the three-nautical-mile
territorial sea and was therefore on the defensive within the international legal
community. In fact, the United States privately acceded to the North Korean posi-
tion. On December 22, 1973, a telegram from the State Department to the U.S.
embassy in Seoul even argued:

There is, of course, no definition of “contiguous waters” in Article 15
[sic, Paragraph 15] of the Armistice Agreement. In this regard, based on
the records and information available to us here, it would appear that
we have in fact respected a “contiguous waters” limit of twelve miles
off North Korean coast as claimed by North Korea (except where
access to islands or conflicting ROK territorial sea claim involved). In
accordance with the JSAO (joint sea air operation) ROK likewise
patrols out to at least twelve miles from its coast for Armistice Agree-
ment purposes. Under these circumstances, it would appear difficult to
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claim other than twelve miles “contiguous waters” limit for islands
under Article 15. (This, of course, would be limit solely for purposes of
definition of “contiguous” in Article 15 of Armistice Agreement and
hence for definition of rights and duties of parties under Armistice
Agreement, and would have no rpt [repeat] no implication in terms of
territorial sea question or claims.)

The U.S. does not recognize territorial sea claims beyond three miles
and protests such claims. Consequently we should not recognize the
North Korean claimed twelve mile territorial sea limit. We should,
however, continue to respect DPRK claimed twelve mile “contiguous
waters” limit in areas where it does not relate to access to islands and
where ROK territorial waters do not overlap in accordance with current
rules and authorities issued to U.S. forces.

… On this assumption we believe Patrol Limit Line should reflect
median line as described above rather than NLL.55

As a result, the UNC took the neither-confirm-nor-deny position. On the one
hand, the UNC did not publicly and explicitly set the three-nautical-mile defini-
tion of contiguous waters in order for South Korea to preserve its options. On
the other hand, the UNC rejected the suggestion to redefine the contiguous
waters limit to 12 nautical miles on the basis that such an action would appear to
be precedent setting in legal terms, it would incite strong North Korean reaction,
and would inevitably enmesh the United States in territorial waters dispute.56

In the meantime, the South Korean Foreign Ministry thought that upholding
the three-nautical-mile territorial sea would not be supported internationally and
seriously examined the adoption of the 12-nautical-mile territorial sea as an
option in response to the North Korean naval actions.57 However, South Korea
did not adopt the new norm until much later, in December 1977.58

Finally, the term “contiguous” in the Armistice Agreement was not used in the
way it is usually used in international law. For example, the United Nations
Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS) provided that in “a zone con-
tiguous to its territorial sea,” or “the contiguous zone,” the coastal State may
exercise the control necessary to: (a) prevent infringement of its customs, fiscal,
immigration, or sanitary laws and regulations within its territory or territorial
sea; and (b) punish infringement of the above laws and regulations committed
within its territory or territorial sea. It also said that “the contiguous zone” may
not extend beyond 24 nautical miles from the baselines from which the breadth
of the territorial sea is measured.59 This contiguous zone in the UNCLOS is thus
a totally different concept from the “contiguous” waters in the Armistice
Agreement. Furthermore, the Korean text of the Armistice Agreement uses the
word comparable to “adjacent” (rinjeob) instead of “contiguous” ( jeopsog) in
Paragraph 15.60 These complexities provided North Korea with legal opportu-
nities that it could exploit in the military-diplomatic campaign in the areas
surrounding the NWI.
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Status of the Northern Limit Line

Although the Armistice Agreement clearly defined the demarcation line on the
ground, it failed to do so at sea. As a result, it created a situation where it was
not clear how the waters in the NWI area might be controlled. The failure to
draw maritime demarcation lines resulted largely from the fact that the UNC
wanted to end the Korean War as soon as possible. Since the UNC maintained
military superiority over North Korea both in the Yellow Sea and in the Sea of
Japan during the Korean War, the UNC did not see a practical need for such
lines at the time of signing the Armistice Agreement.61 The decision not to draw
maritime demarcation lines was also in the interest of North Korea since Pyon-
gyang realized that it was in a militarily disadvantageous position and therefore
if such lines had been negotiated it would have had to make significant conces-
sions.62 Consequently, both sides signed the Armistice Agreement without
agreeing on demarcation lines at sea.

It was in this context that the UNC unilaterally established the NLL in August
1953.63 As its name indicates, the NLL was originally established to regulate the
movement of UNC/South Korean – not North Korean – vessels and aircraft,
preventing them from traveling too close to North Korea.64 Its most important
objective was to prevent South Korean fishing boats from getting seized by North
Korean patrol boats and to prevent accidental clashes between the UNC and KPA
sides.65

Several problems emerged when South Korea started to use the NLL to
regulate North Korean maritime activity in the Yellow Sea as it increased.
First, this line was not based on any statute and therefore it remained arbitrary
in nature. The NLL was a “control line” and not a “demarcation line” or, let
alone, a “borderline.”66 Second, the UNC did not officially inform the North
Korean side of the establishment of the NLL, which was only natural given
its original purpose.67 Third, according to the assessment by the Central Intel-
ligence Agency, the NLL in the Yellow Sea lay completely within North
Korea’s claimed territorial sea and intruded into inland waters in at least
three places.68 Finally, the NLL was not even strictly observed by the South
Koreans. The most lucrative fishing grounds were in shallow waters around
Yeonpyeongdo and Udo, termed the “Golden Fishing Site.” South Korean
fishing boats regularly ignored the NLL or the Fishery Control Line established
south of the NLL to create a buffer zone, to tap into the “Golden Fishing
Site.”69

Furthermore, there were important differences between the UNC and South
Korea with regard to the interpretation of the status of the NLL. The most
important question was whether to regard the crossing of the NLL as a viola-
tion of the Armistice Agreement. In short, the UNC did not regard the NLL
crossings as a violation of the Armistice Agreement, while South Korea did.
The U.S.-controlled UNC never protested when North Korea crossed the
NLL.70 In fact, the United States specifically conveyed this position to South
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Korea in December 1973, stating that it did not regard the crossing of the NLL
as an Armistice violation.71 Moreover, the State Department privately discussed
that:

We have reservations about [South Korean] MOFA’s [Ministry of For-
eign Affairs] attempt to give NLL validity as a “respected” element of
“armistice regime” which has developed over past 20 years. We are
aware of no evidence that NLL has ever been officially presented to
North Koreas [sic]. We would be in an extremely vulnerable position of
charging them with penetrations beyond a line they have never accepted
or acknowledged. ROKG is wrong in assuming we will join in attempt
to impose NLL on NK.72

This was a notable disagreement with the South Koreans, who announced on
February 15, 1974, that North Korean patrol boats had violated the “Northern
Patrol Line [the NLL]” more than 219 times since October 23, 1973, in violation
of the Armistice Agreement.73

Local military balance

In October 1973, North Korea enjoyed local military superiority in the NWI
area. North Korea had a naval port in Sagot, only about 31 nautical miles
away from Baengnyeongdo and about 18 nautical miles away from Yeon-
pyeongdo. The North Korean air base in Taetan was only about 26 nautical
miles away from Baengnyeongdo and about 34 nautical miles from Yeon-
pyeongdo. The forward naval port in South Korea at Incheon, in contrast,
was about 93 nautical miles away from Baengnyeongdo and 45 nautical
miles from Yeonpyeongdo. The nearest major air base in South Korea was
Suwon, about 115 nautical miles from Baengnyeongdo and 67 nautical
miles from Yeonpyeongdo. For this reason, North Korean high-speed boats
could reach Baengnyeongdo within 12 minutes and North Korean aircraft
could do the same within three minutes, much faster than their South Korean
counterparts.74

In 1968–70, North Korea began to physically enforce the 12-nautical-mile
zone as its naval buildup bore fruit. Improvements in North Korean naval
forces resulted in the seizure of the USS Pueblo in 1968 and a South Korean
navy broadcast ship I-2 in June 1970.75 By 1973, North Korea had dramati-
cally improved its capabilities both at sea and in the air. North Korea had
by then fielded a total of 598 combat aircraft including 130 MiG-21s and 60
An-2s.76 Twelve Osa I-class fast attack craft and 10 Komar-class fast attack
craft with Styx guided-missiles were transferred from the Soviet Union in
1968.77 North Korea also activated the West Sea Fleet Headquarters in
Wolsari in late 1973.78 The establishment of the West Sea Fleet Headquarters
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was a clear indication that the North Korean naval force was being strength-
ened in the west coast. Finally, the Korean People’s Navy reportedly con-
ducted its first major amphibious combat exercise on the west coast in the fall
of 1973.79

Here, of particular importance was a deployment of MiG-21s and Osa I- and
Komar-class guided-missile boats, which played a central role in the military-
diplomatic campaigns in the NWI area. Although the size of the missile boats
limited their operations to coastal waters and calm seas, they were effective in
the NWI area.80 North Korea continued to strengthen its forces in the area even
after 1973. By 1975, North Korea had deployed 130-millimeter coastal guns
with a range of 27 kilometers and reinforced its bases in Ongjin, Haeju, and
Taetan.81

On the South Korean side, the main combat ships in the ROK Navy were
two Gearing-class destroyers with 127-millimeter guns. They were slow in
speed and did not have missiles in late 1973.82 These destroyers were seriously
threatened by possible standoff attack by North Korean missile boats.83 South
Korea built two fast missile boats with Exocet surface-to-surface missiles
between 1971 and 1972; however, it was only after the mid-1970s that a mili-
tarily significant number of patrol boats equipped with Standard and Harpoon
surface-to-surface missiles were procured.84 Moreover, the NWI were not for-
tified back then. It was a surprise and a major revelation to the South Koreans
that the local military balance was in favor of their adversary and that there
was a military vacuum in such an important strategic area. The U.S. assess-
ment in the period was that the NWI, particularly the northernmost three, could
not be successfully defended against a determined attack by the North.85 A
South Korean National Assembly member accused the MND on December 10,
1973, saying that it was incomprehensible why the strategically important NWI
were left undefended without any meaningful defense facilities such as coastal
guns.86

As the military balance shifted over time, the tentative nature of the NLL
became problematic. The improvement in the North Korean naval and air
forces challenged the assumption that the UNC retained superiority at sea, on
which the lack of maritime demarcation lines and the enforcement of the NLL
depended.87

Finally, there were no significant U.S. forces deployed at sea around the
Korean Peninsula and therefore it was not likely that a confrontation at sea
would involve U.S. forces. In other words, the automaticity of the U.S. military
involvement in contingencies was much lower at sea than on the ground, where
the U.S. Second Infantry Division functioned as a “tripwire.” The confrontation
at sea, therefore, would likely be a limited North–South confrontation.88 This
situation gave the North Koreans room for driving a wedge between the United
States and South Korea. By taking provocative actions that would only provoke
South Korea, the North Koreans could harass the South Koreans without
offending the Americans.
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Characteristics

Location and timing

As a result of the fortification of the DMZ and improvement in North Korean
naval capabilities in the late 1960s and the early 1970s, the concentration of
North Korean military activities moved from land to sea.89 The increased naval
and air activities in the areas surrounding the NWI were something new and
came as a surprise in the beginning, although they eventually proved to be a
sustained effort that lasted for more than two years. Major actions took place in
November–December 1973, February 1974, and February and March 1975. It was
significant that the beginning of North Korea’s military-diplomatic campaigns
concurred with the beginning the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of
the Sea in December 1973.

Forces involved and the type of use of force

Usually, the size of forces involved in actions in the NWI area was not large.
Typically, conventional naval and air assets such as patrol boats, torpedo boats,
and fast missile boats as well as MiG-21 fighters executed the crossings of the
NLL and/or the intrusions into the contiguous sea and air space of the NWI. A
large number of these assets were employed at the same time in February and
March 1975.

The overwhelming majority of North Korean actions in the Yellow Sea were
the indirect and coercive use of force aimed at supporting its diplomatic moves.
It was intended neither to destroy any targets nor to occupy territories. During
the target period, there was no exchange of fire between conventional military
assets on both sides. The February 1974 incident was an exception in which the
South Korean fishing boats operating in waters north of the NLL were attacked.
In February 1975, it was a South Korean destroyer that sank a North Korean
fishing boat.

Intensity and targeting

In 1973–76, no known deaths on the U.S.–ROK side resulted from North
Korea’s military-diplomatic campaigns in the NWI area except for the deaths
of crew members of the Suwon ho which was sunk in February 1974. On the
contrary, North Korean fishermen were killed when a South Korean destroyer
sank a North Korean fishing boat in February 1975. Although the overt use of
conventional naval and air forces increased in the first half of the 1970s,
casualties created by such activities remained minimal. In this sense, it is
paradoxical that as more modern weapons came to a central stage in North
Korea’s use of force in the 1970s, fewer casualties and material damages
resulted.
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In the NWI-related actions, the major targets of North Korean military man-
euvers were abstract “lines,” namely the NLL and the three-nautical-mile lines
around the NWI. This fact implies that North Korea’s military maneuvers in this
period were predominantly diplomatic and legal rather than military in nature.

Military-diplomatic coordination

North Korea’s military actions and diplomatic moves were extremely well coor-
dinated. For example, naval intrusions in the contiguous waters of the NWI were
followed by the claim made in the MAC meeting in December 1973 that the
waters around the NWI were under the jurisdiction of the Supreme Commander
of the KPA. Also, it was only five months after the North Korean activities in
the NWI area surged that North Korea sent a letter to the U.S. Congress calling
for the conclusion of a bilateral peace agreement with North Korea to “create
prerequisites for the removal of the tension in Korea.”

In addition, the North Koreans demonstrated their ability to skillfully exploit
legal loopholes and developments in international law by employing military
force in a limited manner. They exploited the failure of the Armistice Agreement
to establish demarcation lines at sea; made use of the trend of an increasing
number of countries accepting the 12-nautical-mile territorial sea; and conducted
elaborate naval and air campaigns to consolidate their claims, undermine the
UNC position, and highlight the differences that existed between the UNC and
the ROK government.

Assessment

Formalizing territorial claims and undermining
the Northern Limit Line

North Korea’s most direct objectives in its military-diplomatic campaigns in the
NWI area were to formalize and publicize its territorial claims and to undermine
the validity of the NLL. The North Korean military and diplomatic actions pro-
duced several results. First, the military tension in the NWI area was widely
publicized and North Korea’s territorial claims became widely known.90 In legal
terms, publicizing and enforcing one’s territorial claims is always important. By
repeatedly publicizing its territorial claims and operating in the target areas,
North Korea succeeded in formalizing and buttressing its territorial claims. North
Korea succeeded in turning the Yellow Sea into areas in dispute.

Second, North Korea undermined the NLL by making its own territorial
claims. Although North Korea failed to force the UNC and South Korea to
abandon the NLL, it succeeded in posing a serious challenge to the validity of
the line at least.

Third, introduction of the Osa- and Komar-class missile boats forced South
Korea to adopt defensive tactics and South Korean vessels stopped operating in
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the triangle area between 37°30’N, 125°00’E, and 125°30’E with apex at 37°
25’N, 125°15’E, in which it had previously operated.91

In the end, North Korea failed to nullify the NLL. North Korean forces
enjoyed local superiority in the area in the early 1970s, but South Korea never
gave up the defense of the NLL. Also, North Korea failed to enforce its demand
that UNC traffic to and from the NWI seek advance approval from the KPA/
CPV.

Advancing economic gains

There seemed to have been practical economic reasons involved in North
Korea’s territorial claims. First, the North Koreans wanted to prevent South
Korean fishing boats from fishing in the vicinity of its coasts and to increase its
own gains from fishing in larger areas. On this point, North Korea’s military
actions were successful. Due to the increased risk of being detained or fired
upon, South Korean fishing boats gradually became cautious in approaching
the areas near the North Korean coast. In January 1974, the U.S. government
argued that in order to avoid confrontation, South Korean fishermen should
be urged to remain south of their “winter fishing line” instead of moving
northward to the summer limits as they traditionally did on April 30 every year
in area south of Yeonpyeongdo. It also estimated that South Korea’s police
and naval forces were already stretched to their limit and could not provide
effective security for South Korean fishermen in the area.92 Subsequently in
April 1974, a couple of months after the sinking of the Suwon ho incident,
South Korea actually moved the Fishery Control Line to the south to distance
its fishing fleet and North Korea.93 As the North Korean military-diplomatic
actions on the NLL progressed, fewer South Korean fishing boats fished
across the NLL in the Yellow Sea and the MDL-extended in the Sea of
Japan.94

Second, North Korea wanted to use a shortcut for its maritime traffic. Such an
intention was explicitly revealed on December 1, 1973 when the North Korean
side charged that the United States was letting the South Korean naval craft
“enforce a sea blockade.” In fact, while foreign commercial ships could cross the
NLL between Socheongdo and Yeonpyeongdo islands to enter or to sail out
from the port of Haeju, North Korean vessels were not allowed to do so.95 Since
the NLL was in a position surrounding the Ongjin Peninsula, North Korean
ships had to make a long detour sailing first to the west and then to the north
around the peninsula to sail out from Haeju to high seas without crossing the
NLL. For the North Koreans, it was a time- and money-consuming detour
imposed by the NLL and, therefore, it was natural that they wanted to eliminate
the line. In this instance, the result was not favorable for North Korea. Even after
the active military-diplomatic campaigns, North Korea’s maritime traffic to and
from the ports in the vicinity of the NWI continued to make a detour in order to
avoid crossing the NLL.
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U.S.–DPRK peace agreement and the withdrawal of
U.S. forces from Korea

Another clearly pronounced North Korean objective was to conclude a peace
agreement or at least open a direct communication channel with the United
States. On December 19, 1973, the Swedish Senior Officer of the Neutral Nations
Supervisory Commission stationed in Panmunjom confided that with the naval
actions in the Yellow Sea:

… the North Korean side is executing the strategy to bring about the
withdrawal of the UN [United Nations] or U.S. forces by undermining
the Armistice Agreement regime built upon the UN forces and by
demonstrating the necessity of concluding a new armistice or peace
agreement with South Korea.96

It turned out that he was half right. In March 1974, North Korea actually
proposed the conclusion of a peace agreement with the United States, and not
with South Korea. Given the withdrawal of the U.S. Seventh Infantry Division
from South Korea in 1971 and the withdrawal of the U.S. forces from Vietnam
in 1973, the North Koreans now sought to induce the dissolution of the UNC
and the withdrawal of the remaining U.S. forces from South Korea by directly
talking to the Americans. Also, by challenging the status quo under the Armistice
Agreement, North Korea might have attempted to induce and/or prepare for the
dissolution of the UNC, which was being debated at the United Nations as well as
within the U.S. government.97

The North Koreans attempted to encourage the Americans to talk to them
by first creating tension and then arguing that dialogue was needed to reduce
the tension. The March 25 letter to the U.S. Congress argued that although
tension had been eased temporarily, it was aggravated again and “military
confrontation and war danger have daily been increasing. …” On this basis,
the letter demanded that “proper measures for the solution of the situation be
adopted.” North Korea attempted to justify conclusion of a bilateral peace
agreement with the United States by emphasizing the fact that the CINCUNC,
an American general officer, had “the prerogative of the supreme command of
the army in south Korea.”98 The military tension in the NWI area was useful
in illustrating this point. By creating tension in the NWI area, North Korea
could show that even in the areas where South Korean forces played a domi-
nant role, they were strictly controlled by the CINCUNC, an American general
officer.

In addition to its approach to the Congress, North Korea secretly conveyed to
the U.S. government its intention to negotiate normalization by proposing a
meeting to Secretary of State Henry Kissinger in August 1974 through the
Romanian emissary. Kissinger ruled out the possibility of withdrawing U.S.
forces from South Korea in the foreseeable future, but he expressed willingness
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to have contacts with the North Korean side on the condition that Kim Il Sung
gave the United States assurances on positive developments in the situation.99

In this context, it is noteworthy that Kissinger had already suggested to the
Chinese government in July 1971 that if the relationships between the United
States and China developed, it would be “quite conceivable” that most, if not all,
American troops would be withdrawn from Korea before the end of Nixon’s
next term.100 This conversation might well have been conveyed to the North
Korean government. In addition, the U.S. government had decided in April 1973
that to move on a step-by-step basis toward improvement of bilateral relations
with North Korea was one of its policy options.101 Furthermore, in March 1974,
it decided to seek United Nations Security Council endorsement of the agreed
package of substitute security arrangements on the Korean Peninsula.102 In
October, Kissinger suggested to his Chinese counterpart that he wanted to elim-
inate the UNC without abrogating the Armistice.103

North Korea’s military-diplomatic campaigns in the Yellow Sea did not pro-
duce concrete results in this respect, however. The U.S. Congress did not
respond to the North Korean proposal, and no bilateral government-to-govern-
ment talks were held to discuss the conclusion of a peace agreement. The U.S.
position was that South Korea must be included in any peace agreement nego-
tiations. The UNC was not dissolved. Finally, the U.S. decision in March 1974
suggested that there should be no substantial changes in the level or missions of
U.S. forces in South Korea during the period of transition to new security
arrangements.104

Driving a wedge between the United States and South Korea

North Korea attempted to separate the U.S. and the ROK governments by mag-
nifying the disagreements between the two. As already mentioned, the UNC as
headed by an American general and South Korea disagreed as to the legal status
of the NLL. Also, the United States was concerned that South Korea’s strong
reaction to North Korea might escalate the situation in which the United States
might get embroiled, while South Korea thought that the U.S. response to North
Korean military actions was not strong enough, and cast doubts on the U.S.
commitment to the defense of the country.

In a U.S.–ROK meeting on December 1, 1973, for example, the South Korean
defense minister suggested “shouldering tactics” and patrols close to the NLL to
defy North Korean naval activities. The U.S. side rejected the suggestion, how-
ever, claiming it would be too “provocative.”105 The U.S. side thought:

It is clear that ROKG [ROK government] will continue to take North
Korean incursions seriously and wish to involve, in first instance, the
UNC and secondly ROK navy units under our [UNC] operational con-
trol. … However … we must continue to resist involving the command
or units under its control in anything but its mission.106
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Moreover, the United States assessed that South Korea was consciously
attempting to involve it in the situation and keep it “in the center of the pic-
ture” by defining the problem as an “armistice matter,” and that South Korea’s
reluctance to use the direct North–South communications mechanism might
in part be to give the United States “no way to shift any of this responsi-
bility.”107 On the South Korean side, their frustration was reinforced by U.S.
decisions in 1975 not to commit U.S. air assets to the NLL-related operations
in the Yellow Sea.

In the final analysis, however, there was a clear limit to what North Korea
could achieve in this respect. The U.S. objective in the dispute was not only to
“prevent the outbreak of hostilities” but also to “assure the retention of those
islands under the continued control of the ROK.”108 The North Korean naval
activities certainly strained the U.S.–ROK relationship, but did not undermine it
in a fundamental way.

Repercussions

Adoption of the “sasu” strategy

In reaction to the North Korean actions in the Yellow Sea, South Korea came up
with a concept of “sasu” (literally “defense to the death,” or unconditional
defense) in 1974. It was a major change in South Korea’s approach to the NLL.
South Korea made a unilateral policy decision to defend the NLL for all prac-
tical purposes, regardless of the legal standing of the NLL or the North Korean
position. After the decision was made, defense of the NLL was no longer an
issue of law enforcement but an issue of policy implementation.109

Fortification of the Northeast Islands

In response to the North Korean challenge, South Korea decided to fortify the
NWI. Military facilities were built in the NWI, artillery was deployed, and M-16
rifles were given to the marine units in Baengnyeongdo even before they were
distributed to the ROK Army. As a result, the NWI were turned into South
Korea’s forward-deployed military bastions.110

In the latter half of the 1970s, defense of the NWI was further strengthened.111

In January 1977 the Sixth Marine Brigade was established and tasked with its
defense.112 Command of the defense of Baengnyeongdo changed from a lieutenant-
colonel to a brigadier-general. The operational plan was revised so that the NWI
would be defended even in an all-out war.113 Finally, deployment of air-defense
assets on Baengnyeongdo during this period was an important reason for the
decrease in North Korean violations of the airspace over the NWI.114 The ROK
Marine Corps in Baengnyeongdo served not only to defend the NWI but also to
restrain the North Korean forces near the area from being diverted for use in
other areas.115

THE WEST SEA INC IDENT, 1 9 7 3 76

71



South Korea’s military buildup

Finally, South Korea strengthened its military capabilities to defend the NLL.
The ROK Navy introduced indigenous frigates, patrol craft, Baeggu-class and
Gireogi-class missile craft, and Chamsuri-class high-speed craft. In addition to
the two fast missile boats with Exocet missiles built between 1971 and 1972,
patrol boats equipped with Standard and Harpoon ship-to-ship missiles were
procured after the mid-1970s. The construction of these boats played an impor-
tant role in reducing North Korean provocations at sea.116 Ship-to-ship missiles
were test-fired from indigenous South Korean vessels in August and November
1975.117 As a result, North Korea’s military-diplomatic campaigns in the NWI
area petered out in the mid-1970s.
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Chapter 5

THE AXE MURDER INCIDENT, 1976

In August 1976, two U.S. Army officers were killed in the Joint Security Area
(JSA) in Panmunjom by North Korean guards wielding axes, in what was called
the Axe Murder incident.1 In reaction, the United States mobilized its armed
forces and concentrated them in and around the Korean Peninsula in a show of
force. The U.S. forces in Korea, together with South Korean special forces, also
undertook an operation to cut the poplar tree in the JSA which was the direct
cause of the clash. An extremely tense situation was created during the operation,
which could have escalated into a free-for-all exchange of fire had there been even
one accidental shot in the area.

North Korea tried to use this incident to reinforce its diplomatic offensive by
claiming that the U.S. presence in South Korea was the root cause of the con-
frontation on the Korean Peninsula. However, the brutal killing of the U.S. ser-
vicemen backfired on North Korea. The reaction of the international community
to the North Korean action was extremely negative. North Korea’s diplomatic
offensive against the U.S. military presence in South Korea lost its momentum
thereafter.

The Axe Murder and Operation Paul Bunyan

Tree-trimming operations and the Axe Murder

In 1976, the United Nations Command (UNC) had five guard posts while the
Korean People’s Army and the Chinese People’s Volunteers (KPA/CPV) main-
tained seven guard posts in the JSA. The poplar tree, thickly leafed during the
summer, obstructed the view between UNC guard post No. 3 at the southwestern
end of the JSA and guard post No. 5 in the central sector. The UNC guards
deployed at guard post No. 3 were thus subjected to harassment by the North
Korean guards who had easy, undetected, access to the spot via the “Bridge of
No Return.” The bridge was one of the important pathways to the JSA from
North Korean territory, and had two roadblocks that the KPA/CPV side had
illegally installed. UNC guard post No. 3 was vulnerably located between
Korean People’s Army (KPA) guard post No. 8 to the southeast and KPA guard
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post No. 4 located to the west of the Bridge of No Return outside the JSA. The
decision to prune the tree was made in order to prevent the North Korean guards
from harassing the UNC.

At about 1030 hours on August 18, five Korean Service Corps workers started
trimming the boughs of the tall poplar tree. Protecting the Korean Service Corps
workers were 10 UNC guards, composed of two American and one Korean
officers with four American and three Korean enlisted men armed with pistols.
Shortly after the UNC party started the work, two KPA officers and some nine
enlisted men appeared in a truck and asked about the work. When told that the
tree was to be trimmed and not to be cut down, one KPA officer indicated that
was “good.” The work lasted for 15–20 minutes, during which time some KPA
personnel tried to direct the UNC team on how to trim the tree. But then, at
approximately 1050 hours, one KPA officer told an American officer to halt the

Map 5.1 The Axe Murder and the Joint Security Area
Source: Veterans of Foreign Wars Post 7591 and Eric Sprengle, Lieutenant Colonel,
United States Army Reserve Retired, Past Post Commander and Webmaster, Veteran of
Foreign Wars Post 7591, http://www.vfwpost7591.org/opn PB.html reprinted with
permission of the copyright holders.
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work. After a short discussion, the KPA officer threatened him. However, the
American officer instructed the workers to carry on the work. At this point, the
KPA officer sent a guard across the Bridge of No Return. After several minutes,
there were approximately 30 KPA guards in the area. One KPA officer took off
his watch, and another rolled up his sleeves.

Then, one KPA officer shouted, “Kill,” and struck Captain Arthur Bonifas,
knocking him down to the ground. Five KPA guards started beating him while
the rest attacked the other UNC guards, beating them with clubs that they had
brought and axe handles the Korean Service Corps workers had left. The clash
lasted for several minutes. As a result, two U.S. officers, Captain Bonifas and
First Lieutenant Mark Barrett, were killed by axes and four American and four
Korean enlisted men were wounded. The heads of the two U.S. officers were
clubbed beyond the point of recognition. In addition, the North Koreans
destroyed three trucks and a guard post on the UNC side.

Military moves

Immediately after the incident, a National Security Council Washington Special
Advisory Group was convened in Washington, D.C. to discuss options. In the
meeting, it was first determined that North Korea did not intend a major attack
since such an attack would not be effective without the element of surprise. With
this in mind, the U.S. government decided to take military and diplomatic
actions including preparing for the deployment of an F-111 bomber squadron
and the aircraft carrier Midway from Japan to waters near Korea, and notifying
the United Nations delegates and the United Nations Security Council about the
North Korean assault.

On August 19, the U.S.–ROK alert status was raised to Defense Condition
(DEFCON) 3. The reconnaissance status was also raised to Watch Condition
(WATCHCON) 3. On the same day, KPA Supreme Commander Kim Il Sung
ordered all units of the KPA and the entire membership of the Worker-Peasant
Red Guards and the Young Red Guards militias to take their posts in combat
readiness.2 It was the first time that North Korea publicly announced such an
alert.3 Against this backdrop, the UNC devised a plan to enter the JSA with a
show of military force and cut down the poplar tree. In addition, a contingency
plan was formulated to cope with possible escalation of the situation during the
tree-cutting operation. The contingency plan included an option for U.S.–ROK
forces to attack and occupy Kaesong, a North Korean city located just north of
the DMZ, in case the North Koreans resisted the tree-cutting operation.4 The
United States and South Korea cooperated closely in planning of the operation.
Although the U.S. Joint Chiefs of Staff (JCS) and U.S. Forces Korea domi-
nated the planning of the action, South Korean Lt. Gen. Lew Byong-Hion,
Director of the ROK JCS, was in Gen. Richard Stilwell’s office almost con-
stantly during the planning phase of the operation, and the ROK JCS Chairman
and the Ministry of National Defense maintained relatively close cooperation
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with the UNC in order to plan the first joint U.S.–ROK military action during a
crisis since 1953.5

In addition, Secretary of State Henry Kissinger asked the U.S. JCS to examine
the desirability of directing artillery fire against the KPA Military Armistice
Commission (MAC) security force barracks concurrently with the tree-cutting
operation. However, the JCS recommended against this option based on the
superiority of the KPA artillery force, and explored other options such as the use
of precision-guided air munitions, surface-to-surface missiles, and unconven-
tional warfare Sea, Air, Land (SEAL) Teams to destroy North Korean installa-
tions of military or infrastructure significance, as well as the possibility of
destroying the Bridge of No Return.6

On August 19, the JCS ordered the dispatch of (a) 20 F-111s from the con-
tinental United States to South Korea, (b) a naval Task Group, including the
aircraft carrier Midway, one destroyer and four frigates, from Yokosuka to
Korean waters, (c) B-52 bombers from Guam to South Korea, and (d) 1,800
troops of the U.S. Third Marine Division from Okinawa to South Korea. On
August 20, U.S. President Gerald Ford approved the tree-cutting operation plan,
now codenamed “Operation Paul Bunyan.” Approval was given both to the plan
to cut down the poplar tree and the plan to remove the road barriers put up by
the KPA.

Meanwhile, North Korea was reacting nervously to the U.S. military man-
euvers. In Pyongyang, air raid drills were conducted between 2000 hours on
August 20 and 0200 hours on August 21. It was reported that people kept
moving in and out of shelters.7 Television and radio reports in Pyongyang were
“militant” and “aggressive.”8 According to a defected former North Korean
official, North Korea started to prepare for the possibility of war after the Axe
Murder incident happened. Pak Pyong Yop remembered:

Once the Panmunjom Incident [the Axe Murder incident] occurred, an
order for general mobilization was announced in North Korea. College
students were drafted to the armed forces and reserves (Worker-Peasant
Red Guards, the Paramilitary Training Units, and so forth) were called
up. Retired officers up to age 50 put on uniforms again. Production
facilities were getting ready to be moved to rear areas in case war broke
out. …

Between late August and mid November, approximately 200,000
people were evacuated from Pyongyang to other areas. About 8,000
households in the southern areas of the Hwanghae-do and Kangwon-do
provinces were relocated when they were judged to have family mem-
bers in poor health or with ideological problems. …

North Korea was on a complete war-ready condition for three months.
From August through September, men had their military uniforms ready
for use when they went to bed. Workers took combat positions for three
months leaving their work behind. Colleges were almost shut down with
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only the physically weak remaining. People were evacuated to moun-
tainous areas to avoid possible heavy bombing. Food was not a serious
issue since the distribution system remained intact. … 9

Diplomatic moves

From the diplomatic perspective, the Axe Murder incident was a culmination of
the propaganda campaign that North Korea had initiated in the spring of 1976.
In the early spring, North Korea started to accuse the United States of introdu-
cing new weapons into South Korea, conducting provocative military exercises,
and keeping South Korean forces on a war path. North Korea claimed that a
“grave situation” had been created and that war might break out at any time.10

Moreover, on August 5, about two weeks before the Axe Murder incident, the
Government of the DPRK issued a memorandum regarding U.S. actions in
South Korea. The memorandum stated:

… the U.S. imperialists have completed the preparations for a new war
which they had been carrying on in Korea for a long time and are going
over to a stage of starting a war itself. …

If these reckless war provocation manoeuvres of the United States
against the Democratic People’s Republic of Korea are left unchecked,
they will inevitably lead to a new war in Korea.

The Government of the Democratic People’s Republic of Korea
firmly believes that the governments of various countries and peace-
loving peoples of the world will bitterly condemn the manoeuvres of
the United States to provoke a new war and positively support the
struggle of the Korean people for the independent and peaceful reuni-
fication of the country.

The Korean people, with the positive support and encouragement of
the world peaceloving people, will force the U.S. imperialist aggression
troops to withdraw from south Korea and certainly achieve the inde-
pendent and peaceful reunification of the country without the inter-
ference of outside forces.11

Historically, North Korea had a tendency to intensify its propaganda campaign
before the United Nations General Assembly (UNGA) meeting every year.
However, what was new in 1976 was that North Korea, for the first time, began
to accuse the United States of starting a war.12

When the Axe Murder incident occurred, North Korean high-ranking officials
were attending the fifth Non-Aligned Movement (NAM) Summit Conference in
Colombo, Sri Lanka, held on August 16–19. In the evening of August 18, North
Korean Foreign Minister Ho Dam issued a statement to the NAM Summit
Conference. He characterized the Axe Murder incident as “intentional provoca-
tive acts against our side” to “directly set fire on the fuse of war systematically
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worked out by the U.S. imperialists who have long prepared to launch a new
war in Korea.”13 On August 19, a day after the Axe Murder incident, the KPA
Supreme Command issued a report, describing what happened:

As already reported, the U.S. imperialist aggressors who are making a
desperate attempt to start a new war in Korea committed a grave pro-
vocative act against our side in the joint security area [JSA] at Pan-
munjom on August 18.

Around 10:45 a.m., August 18, the U.S. imperialist aggressors sent
14 bandits carrying axes to fell a tree at random in the joint security
area.

In connection with this act of the enemy, four personnel of our side
went to the spot and repeatedly told them that the tree must not be cut
down arbitrarily but an agreement be reached between the two sides
before felling it as it is a tree in the joint security area controlled by us.

But the enemy side, far from complying with our just demand, col-
lectively pounced, brandishing lethal weapons, upon the security per-
sonnel of our side, counting on its numerical superiority, and committed
the outrageous provocative act of violence against our security personnel.

This reckless provocation of the enemy compelled our security per-
sonnel to take a step in self-defence. Thus, a free-for-all fight took place
between the two sides, injuring personnel of both sides.

This is a stark fact. But the U.S. side is raising a war racket on a
large scale, resorting to fabrications with the allegation that our side
provoked it.

Such grave provocative act committed by the U.S. side in the joint
security area of Panmunjom is a premeditated act to start a war.14

Once the Axe Murder incident occurred, North Korea called for a meeting
between UNC and KPA/CPV security officers to discuss the incident. The
UNC rejected the North Korean proposal and demanded that a full MAC
meeting be held immediately. In the 379th MAC meeting on August 19, U.S.
Navy RAdm. Mark Frudden, UNC MAC Senior Member, read a formal pro-
test regarding the August 18 incident by CINCUNC addressed to Kim Il Sung.
It strongly accused the North Koreans and asked Kim’s assurance that an
incident such as this would not occur again.15 To this, KPA Maj. Gen. Han Ju
Kyong, the KPA/CPV MAC Senior Member, said the incident was provoked
by the UNC side, and claimed that it was “part of your new war provocation
machination in the adventurous stage of igniting the fuse of war following
the completion of the preparations for a war to invade the northern half of the
Republic.”16 North Korea’s basic attitude was to avoid escalation of the
situation, however. While the meeting was going on, the KPA guards stayed in
the North Korean side of the JSA in contrast to their customary behavior of
milling about the entire area surrounding the conference building.17 The initial
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diplomatic moves were open-ended and inconclusive. Nothing happened that
could bring the situation toward resolution.

U.S.–ROK relations

South Korean President Park Chung Hee was “calm, deliberate and positive
throughout” when he met with Stilwell a day after the incident. He was much
more stable than he had been at the time of the raid on the Blue House and the
Pueblo incident in 1968. In the meeting, Park called for a two-track approach.
One track was to issue a strong protest including a demand for an apology,
reparations, and a guarantee of non-recurrence. The other track was to develop
an appropriate counteraction. He also emphasized that South Korea and the
United States should not play into North Korean hands, and suggested that the
two countries take appropriate responses “without use of arms.” Stilwell said
that a show of force by itself would not impress the North, and referred to the
fact that the major military deployment after the Pueblo incident did not pre-
vent the shooting-down of the EC-121 the following year. Park also proposed
that South Korean soldiers with taekwondo (Korean karate) skill participate in
the tree-cutting operation, noting that these soldiers would do so without fire-
arms.18 Stilwell accepted the offer and instructed the ROK troops not to carry
weapons since the Armistice Agreement allows only a limited number of
guards with rifles or pistols in the JSA.

The U.S. willingness to take strong actions against North Korea reassured
and encouraged Park. On August 20, Park said South Korea would take reta-
liatory steps promptly if North Korea perpetrated unlawful provocations, small
or large, again. He also suggested that the recent provocation was a North
Korean attempt to conceal its economic bankruptcy and serious internal power
struggle.19 To give his words teeth, Park secretly prepared his own suggested
retaliatory action. On August 20, he secretly ordered the ROK First Special
Brigade to “retaliate thoroughly against attacking enemies” if they attacked the
South Korean forces in the JSA.20 In order to execute this mission, the com-
mander of the Special Brigade decided to secretly bring grenades, pistols, and
M-16 rifles into the JSA.21

Operation Paul Bunyan

On August 21, Operation Paul Bunyan was executed. Going inside the JSA were
110 UNC personnel including 16 U.S. engineers with chain saws and axes, 30
security platoon members equipped with side arms and axe handles, and 64 ROK
Special Forces troops. There was also one JSA security platoon, an ROK force,
and another U.S. force stationed farther away from the tree. In addition, a U.S.
infantry unit in the air with 20 utility helicopters and seven attack helicopters,
U.S. and ROK artillery support, and U.S. fighters and B-52s operating south of
the DMZ were on standby.
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At 0700 hours, the UNC personnel entered the JSA. At 0705 hours, the KPA/
CPV side was notified of the ongoing operation to cut down the tree. The UNC
personnel conducted the tree-cutting operation while a truck blocked the eastern
end of the Bridge of No Return. While the operation was underway, illegal road
barriers set up by the North Korean side were removed. It was later revealed that
the North Koreans on the front line had been extremely scared during the
operation.22

After the operation ended, North Korean media reported that the U.S. side had
committed a “grave provocation” to try to catch North Korea in “their war pro-
vocation manoeuvres.”23 In an informal meeting on August 21, however, Han Ju
Kyong conveyed a message from Kim Il Sung, the Supreme Commander of the
KPA, in his first-ever personal message to the CINCUNC which said:

It was a good thing that no big incident occurred at Pan Mun Jom
[Panmunjom] for a long period. However it is regretful that an incident
occurred in the Joint Security Area, Pan Mun Jom this time. An effort
must be made so that such incidents may not recur in the future. For
this purpose both sides should make efforts. We urge your side to pre-
vent the provocation. Our side will never provoke first, but take self
defensive measures only when provocation occurs. This is our con-
sistent stand.24

At first, the reactions from the U.S. and ROK sides were negative. On August
22, the State Department announced that Kim Il Sung’s statement was not
acceptable since it did not acknowledge responsibility for the murders of the two
UNC officers, and cautioned that the United States did not intend to lower its guard,
nor fall for any propaganda ploys. On August 23, the South Korean government
announced that the message was unsatisfactory because it neither acknowledged
responsibility nor offered an acceptable solution.

However, on August 23, the State Department put out a more conciliatory
message recognizing that North Korean’s expression of regret over the incident
had been “a positive step.”25 The South Korean media was critical of the U.S.
actions as being not strong enough. South Korean officials also briefed the press
along the similar lines. On this point, the U.S. government protested to the ROK
government on August 25, and said that the United States had actually taken
serious risks in the tree-cutting operation and that the United States had followed
South Korean advice “exactly.”26

Rearrangement of JSA operations

In the 380th MAC meeting on August 25, the KPA proposed a separation of the
UNC and KPA/CPV personnel in the JSA along the MDL to avoid future clashes
and conflicts. On the one hand, the UNC was cautious. The UNC thought that the
objective of the North Korean proposal was to divert focus away from the murders
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and by doing so to suggest that defects in the JSA security arrangements and not
KPA actions were the cause of the Axe Murder incident. At the same time, though,
the UNC saw the potential benefits in the North Korean proposal. The UNC had
actually proposed such a separation in 1953 and 1970, and in this sense, the North
Korean proposal on August 25 could be regarded as a concession to the long-
standing UNC position.27

As the discussions got underway, concerns about possible consequences of the
negotiations were raised in South Korea. South Koreans were similarly con-
cerned that North Korea might use this issue to avoid its responsibility for the
killing. Further, it was worried that North Korea might try to open direct talks
with the United States and sideline South Korea. Such a concern was reinforced
when North Korea disconnected the hot line between the North and the South on
August 30, a critical confidence- and security-building measure in place since
1972.

The U.S. position was to take South Korean views seriously. After the North
Korean side made the proposal, Kissinger instructed U.S. ambassador to South
Korea Richard Sneider to fully coordinate with the South Korean government in
reacting positively to the North Korean proposal.28 To reassure the South Koreans,
the United States also announced that it would turn down the North Korean
proposal if it was an opening wedge for U.S.–DPRK bilateral talks, reminding
the South Koreans that North Korea had been trying to renegotiate the 1953
Armistice Agreement without South Korea.29

The United States was satisfied with the developments in the negotiations. In
the 381st MAC Meeting on August 28, the United States extracted from the
North Koreans “all the assurances” to the safety of U.S. personnel.30 Finally, an
agreement was reached on September 6, under which personnel of each side would
remain in their own portion of the JSA as divided by the MDL. On September 7,
U.S.–ROK forces returned to a normal alert status. The naval task force sailed back
to Japan. In mid-September, the two squadrons of F-4s and F-111s left Korea, and
weeks later, training flights by the B-52s ceased.

Critical factors

Declining U.S. commitment to South Korea and Jimmy Carter

By August 1976, the United States had been rearranging its security commit-
ment in Asia and as a result U.S.–ROK relations were under serious stress. The
diminishing U.S. security commitment was a source of tremendous concern to
Park Chung Hee, who responded by adopting the undemocratic Yusin Constitu-
tion, formulating an independent defense plan, and even initiating a nuclear
development plan. These measures offended an important part of the American
leadership. Negative views about South Korea proliferated in the United States,
and were aggravated by the abduction of Kim Dae Jung by the Korean Central
Intelligence Agency and the Koreagate bribery affair. Political oppression and
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human rights in South Korea loomed large in the American diplomatic circle.
Although the Nixon Administration remained relatively businesslike toward
South Korea and South Korea decided to cancel its nuclear program under U.S.
pressure, overall U.S.–ROK relations had become seriously strained by 1976.31

To make matters worse, Jimmy Carter, a Democratic presidential nominee,
publicly called for a total withdrawal of U.S. forces from Korea in January 1975.
Although he later changed his mind and limited the withdrawal plan to ground
forces only, his idea was a blessing for North Korea and a nightmare for South
Korea.32 In July 1976, Carter became the Democratic presidential candidate. In
the meantime, the U.S. Congress was intensifying its criticism of U.S. policy
toward South Korea. In April 1976, 119 Congress members from both chambers
sent a memorandum to the White House arguing that U.S. military assistance to
South Korea was abetting the political oppression in the country.

Debate on the Korean Question at the United Nations33

Since the foundation of the Republic of Korea and the Democratic People’s
Republic of Korea in 1948, the Korean Question had been an important political
issue for discussion at the United Nations. South Korea maintained a close
relationship with the United Nations from the beginning. The Republic of
Korea’s founding was in fact based on the outcome of general elections held
under the supervision of the United Nations Temporary Commission on Korea.
A year later, by contrast, North Korea formally demanded that the United
Nations not interfere with the unification of Korea and contended that any deci-
sions made at the United Nations without its participation were invalid.

Despite the North Korean demand, the United Nations began to play a larger
role in Korean affairs when the Korean War broke out in June 1950. In July,
the United Nations Security Council adopted Resolution 84 calling on its
member states to defend South Korea. Furthermore, UNGA Resolution 376
(V) was adopted in October, which provided for the establishment of the
United Nations Commission for the Unification and Rehabilitation of Korea
(UNCURK) to represent the United Nations in bringing about the establish-
ment of a unified, independent and democratic government of all Korea.
After the Korean Political Conference in Geneva failed to produce peace in
1954, the Korean Question was referred back to the UNGA. At this point,
however, South Korea succeeded in preventing the North Korean delegation
from being invited to the United Nations. As a result, discussions of the
Korean Question at the United Nations became pro forma in the 1960s; every
year, a pro-ROK resolution was adopted and a pro-DPRK resolution to invite
North Korea to the United Nations was rejected. Against this backdrop, in
1971, a resolution to comprehensively postpone discussions of the Korean
Question was adopted.

A major tuning point came in June 1973, however, when South Korean
President Park Chung Hee decided to push for the peaceful coexistence of two
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Koreas. Park, announcing a seven-point foreign policy for peace and unifica-
tion, suggested that South Korea would not object to the admission of North
Korea into the United Nations together with the South. In July, North Korea
established an office at the United Nations. Moreover, in October, the South
Korean government suggested that dissolving the UNC could be discussed if
an alternative mechanism was established to observe the Armistice Agreement
requirements. In the 28th UNGA in the same year, competition between the
two Koreas heated up due to the rise of the non-aligned nations’ support of
North Korea. As a result, the UNGA adopted a consensus statement calling for
the dissolution of the UNCURK, signaling a great diplomatic victory for North
Korea.34

In 1974, North Korea was gaining strength in the UNGA and was receiving
increased support. In the 29th UNGA, a pro-ROK resolution was adopted by 61
affirmative votes and 43 negative votes while a pro-DPRK resolution was
rejected by 48 affirmative votes and 48 negative votes. The support gap between
the two Koreas was shrinking. By the 30th UNGA in 1975, North Korea had
established a position almost equal to that of South Korea. During the three
years preceding the 30th UNGA, North Korea established diplomatic relations
with more than 40 countries. Moreover, it had become a NAM member in
August 1975. South Korea’s attempt to do the same was blocked by pro-DPRK
and/or anti-ROK countries.

Against this backdrop, both a pro-ROK resolution and a pro-DPRK resolution
were again submitted. The pro-ROK resolution called for (a) negotiations among
the concerned countries on new arrangements designed to replace the Armistice
Agreement and (b) early completion of discussions on alternative arrangements
for maintaining the Armistice Agreement so that the UNC could be dissolved on
January 1, 1976. The pro-DPRK resolution called for (a) the dissolution of the
UNC and total withdrawal of foreign troops stationed in South Korea under the
United Nations flag, (b) replacement of the Armistice Agreement with a peace
agreement negotiated by the DPRK and the United States, and (c) reduction of
the armed forces of both sides to an equal level.

The result was puzzling. The two resolutions, which contradicted each other,
were adopted simultaneously. The pro-ROK resolution was adopted 59 to 51,
and the pro-DPRK resolution was adopted 54 to 43. Faced with deadlock and
the tide turning gradually favorable to North Korea, the South Korean gov-
ernment decided not to discuss the Korean Question at the United Nations.
North Korea, on the other hand, was committed to seeking a one-sided victory
by pushing ahead with a pro-DPRK resolution at the UNGA. In January–
August 1976, North Korea invited a total of 182 foreign delegations from 69
countries to Pyongyang while dispatching 147 missions to 82 countries in an
aggressive diplomatic campaign to marshal support for the forthcoming show-
down in the 31st UNGA. Particularly important targets were countries in Africa
and Latin America that were associated with the NAM. In its campaign, North
Korea appealed that there was a danger of war breaking out at any moment in

THE AXE MURDER INC IDENT, 1 9 76

83



Korea due to the war preparations by the United States against North Korea. In
August, North Korea officially dismissed a proposal made by Kissinger in
September 1975 calling for four-party talks featuring North and South Korea
together with the United States and China.35 Also, the North Korean delegation
participated in the fifth NAM Summit Conference in Colombo to flex its mus-
cles before going into the main contest at the UNGA. On August 16, just two
days before the Axe Murder in the JSA, the pro-North Korean nations submitted
a draft resolution to the UNGA.36 In response, South Korea reversed its earlier
decision, and pro-South Korean nations submitted their version of a draft
resolution on August 20. Before the Axe Murder incident, however, the South
Korean side did not expect the number of North Korea supporting countries at
the UNGA to diminish.37

Local military balance

By 1976, shifts in the local military balance on the ground and at sea seemed to
have made the JSA a relatively attractive place for the North Koreans to take
actions. By then, improved defense in the DMZ made it difficult for North
Korean infiltrators to penetrate the UNC defense lines. For example, in June
1976, a three-man North Korean infiltration team penetrated two kilometers
south of the DMZ but were located and killed.38 North Korea started to construct
elaborate tunnels under the DMZ in 1971, partly in reaction to the improved
UNC defense systems against North Korean infiltrations in the DMZ established
in the late 1960s.39 Similarly, due to the South Korean naval buildup, it was
becoming harder for the North Koreans to conduct operations at sea.

In the JSA, KPA guard post No. 4 and No. 8 were located near the poplar tree
in question. There were also additional North Korean forces outside the JSA
across the Bridge of No Return, through which the KPA side had easy and quick
access to the site. Moreover, KPA artillery dominated the area by at least a 4:1
ratio.40 The KPA could therefore maintain local superiority in the area near the
poplar tree at least for a short period of time. Since the KPA initiated the action
and the fighting lasted only several minutes, it was able to maintain local super-
iority during the fight. When the U.S. reaction force arrived in the area, the
fighting had already ended.41

In the aftermath of the Axe Murder incident, Ambassador Sneider pointed
out that there were inadequate command and control procedures in the JSA.42

Moreover, the United Nations Command/United States Forces Korea/Eighth
U.S. Army policy directive regarding the use of force and firearms by UNC
security forces specified that if something happened in the JSA the UNC forces
should use a minimum of force necessary to extricate themselves, and action
should be taken to terminate any physical incidents as soon as possible.43

When the UNC personnel dispersed and left the site swiftly, they were fol-
lowing this directive. In a way, the North Koreans were helped by these UNC
regulations.
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Characteristics

Location and timing

The JSA held important symbolism and was therefore useful location for the
North Koreans to plan an action for propaganda purposes. The most important
factor seems to be the history of the JSA, popularly known as Panmunjom.
Panmunjom became a focus of world attention when it was designed as the
negotiation site for the armistice talks during the Korean War. After the Armis-
tice Agreement was concluded in July 1953, the JSA was created. Until the
bilateral communication channels for inter-Korean dialogue were established in
the early 1970s, the MAC had been the only formal channel for communication,
though indirect, between the two Koreas. For the United States and North Korea,
the MAC had been the only effective communication channel until the late
1980s when informal channels were established between the foreign services of
the two countries.

About 800 meters in diameter, the JSA is a roughly circular area in the middle
of the western sector of the DMZ. MAC meetings have been held in the area
since the armistice of the Korean War. In August 1976, the JSA was a neutral
area, maintained and patrolled jointly by the UNC and the KPA/CPV. Each side
was allowed to deploy at most five officers and 30 enlisted men equipped only
with one rifle or one pistol per man.44 Deployment of larger unarmed work
forces was also permitted in the area. Maintenance work such as pruning trees
was typically carried out by both sides without prior consultation with the other
side.

Fighting incidents had taken place within the JSA even before August 1976.
In fact, the North Koreans had heightened tensions in 1975 with threats,
destruction of UNC property, and gang assaults on UNC guards.45 In June 1975,
a free-for-all fight took place between UNC and KPA soldiers for several min-
utes after Maj. William Henderson, Acting U.S. Army Support Group Com-
mander, was verbally insulted, and then struck from behind and knocked down
to the ground by a North Korean “reporter.”46 On June 26, 1976, less than two
months before the Axe Murder incident, about 20 KPA guards assaulted two
UNC guards with boards, shovels, and sticks after the KPA guards forced a
UNC jeep to stop by blocking the road.47 This assault happened just after Mark
Frudden was appointed as a new UNC Senior Member.48 Frudden stated two
days after the incident:

The subject of the uncontrolled conduct of your [KPA] guard force has
been repeatedly brought to the attention of your side in the last year
[1975]. There are numerous instances of direct provocations by your
guard force which could have escalated into extremely serious inci-
dents. These provocations have happened so often that it appears your
side may be trying to provoke just such an incident. In addition, despite
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our protests, your side has not seemed to take any action to control
your guards.49

These facts show that when the Axe Murder incident took place, there had
already been a general trend of intensifying North Korean provocations in the
JSA. The Axe Murder incident was not a bolt from the blue.

Moreover, on August 6, 12 days before the Axe Murder, four South Korean
workers together with guards were dispatched to the location to cut down the tree
rather than trim its branches. At the time, North Korean guards told the work per-
sonnel to leave the tree as it was. It was after this event that the decision was made
to trim the branches rather than cut down the tree. For this reason, the problem
regarding the poplar tree was well known to both the UNC and KPA sides and,
therefore, the North Koreans had enough time to contemplate the potential
exploitation of this issue.50 Finally, although the connection was less apparent,
the Axe Murder incident happened about a month after Jimmy Carter officially
became Democratic presidential candidate.

Forces involved and the type of use of force

The forces involved in the incident were a relatively small number of guard
personnel. When the North Korean guards started to attack the UNC personnel,
they used clubs that they had brought and axe handles used by the South Korean
workers. In this sense, the Axe Murder occurred accidentally. Had the South
Korean workers carried their axes away when they fled from the spot, there
could not have been an “axe” murder, though there could have been a “club”
murder. The original North Korean plan, therefore, seems to have been to beat
up the Americans with the clubs they had brought in but not necessarily to kill
them as brutally as they actually did.

The North Korean military actions were coercive. The North Koreans tried to
encourage friendly nations to support its position and policies in international
forums, and to convince Americans that the withdrawal of the U.S. forces from
South Korea would be beneficial. Given the relatively favorable environment in the
international arena and the existence of troop withdrawal advocates in the United
States, what North Korea sought to do was not so much to coerce those who sup-
ported continued U.S. military presence in South Korea into giving up the idea but
rather to encourage those who supported the withdrawal of U.S. forces to raise their
voice. In this sense, this military action may be called a “positively coercive” or
“collaborative” use of force.

Intensity and targeting

The Axe Murder was not a big incident by Korean standards. The death toll was
much higher in the late 1960s and the early 1970s during other confrontations.
What shocked observers was the fact that it was the first event in the JSA to
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result in deaths. On this point, the CINCUNC noted, “What is unique is the
death of security personnel (the first caused by a conflict between the two sides in
the 23 years since the Armistice Agreement was signed), the severity, and apparent
premeditation with which the KPA attack was carried out.”51 Also, the two American
officers were killed in a brutal manner. Their bodies were bloodied and battered.
Captain Bonifas was “so badly beaten with the blunt end of an ax that his face was no
longer recognizable.”52 As such, the incident came as a surprise, and attracted world
attention.

The targets in this incident were primarily American officers. Others seem to have
been of secondary value as targets.53 According to a defected former North Korean
official, Kim Jong Il told the KPA guards not to attack South Korean workers, only
Americans.54 In hand-to-hand fighting like this, distinguishing targets must have
been relatively easy.

Military-diplomatic coordination

In this incident, military and diplomatic actions were well coordinated. North
Korea had conducted systematic diplomatic public relations efforts, especially
in NAM member countries, by sending messages through mutual visits and
the media. The propaganda efforts intensified in early August. The Axe
Murder was broadly synchronized with the NAM Summit Conference and the
submission of the pro-DPRK draft resolution to the UNGA. Since the UNGA
was scheduled to begin in late September, the North Korean military-diplo-
matic campaign seemed to have been designed to last for about two months,
beginning in early August and aiming to produce results in late September.

Assessment

Before assessing the political results, one caveat must be made. While the Axe
Murder seems to have been a premeditated, deliberate action, sheer chance also
played a role. For example, the decision to trim the tree was made by the UNC
and, therefore, the timing was not completely determined by the North Koreans.
Also, the axes used in the killing were brought in by the UNC side and not by
the KPA personnel. Had the UNC decided not to trim the tree in the first place,
this incident might not have happened at all.

It also remains possible that the whole incident was initiated by the KPA
officer on the spot, Pak Chol.55 According to a defected former KPA officer, Pak
Chol held a personal grudge against Captain Bonifas, and it was Pak who
directly initiated the fight. Pak was later highly praised by the North Korean
political leadership and was conferred a military order.56 From available evi-
dence, however, it is likely that although the details of the action were left for
the commander on the ground to plan and execute, the decision to attack
Americans was made by the highest political authority in North Korea.
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Concerning the North Korean decision-making, the Soviets saw the August 18
incident as a “deliberate provocation by Kim Il-sung, done in pursuance of his
campaign to win Third World political support,” though he did not anticipate
any sort of military crisis.57 Also, testimony by Pak Pyong Yop, who defected
from North Korea in the 1980s after having worked for the Workers’ Party of
Korea for more than 30 years and at one time in the same office as Kim Jong Il,
described how the Axe Murder incident developed:

The problem leading to the Panmunjom incident [Axe Murder incident]
arose when the U.S. forces and South Korea attempted to cut off the
branches of a poplar tree, which obstructed the vision of the northern
area, without a prior consent from the North Korean side. The North
Korean guards protested when the U.S. military police and South
Korean workers started to cut off the branches. After this, the [North
Korean] guards reported the situation directly to Kim Jong Il.

…

When Kim Jong Il received the report, he ordered, “Show them
the Korean way. Don’t care about the South Korean workers and give
the Yankees a lesson. And don’t use guns.” After some wrangling, the
clash started. The [North Korean] guards grabbed the axes that
the South Korean workers were carrying and killed [American officers].
Being upset that they actually killed men, the North Korean side again
reported the situation to Kim Jong Il. Kim ordered the forces to with-
draw.

After it had developed into a major incident, it was reported to Kim
Il Sung. Questioning the incident, Kim Il Sung said, “Why the hell did
you do this?” Kim Jong Il ordered his men to tell [Kim Il Sung] that “it
was the deliberate provocation by the U.S. military,” and that “they did
so in order to start war.” The party secretaries could not tell [Kim Il
Sung] that Kim Jong Il was responsible, and instead told him that
people at the Ministry of People’s Armed Forces were responsible. …

…

The United States was talking about retaliation and South Korea was
talking about attacking North Korea. When the United States and South
Korea took a tough position and demanded an apology, Kim Il Sung
offered his regret. Kim Il Sung told his men, “We have to express our
regret for men had been killed. The U.S. military apologized at the time
of the Pueblo incident.”58

Also, Pak Pyong Yop revealed that Kim Jong Il and the Ministry of People’s
Armed Forces considered going to war but concluded that it was not a good idea:

It was considered that if the South Korean side should take strong
counter-actions, it might be worth attacking it. Kim Jong Il and the
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Ministry of People’s Armed Forces thought about such an option.
However, it was the time when the U.S. forces were withdrawn from
Vietnam. China exercised significant influence over the North Korean
foreign policy. Kim Il Sung knew very well that such an attempt would
wind up in failure unless North Korea could get both material and
moral support from China.59

Marshaling support in international forums

At the time of the Axe Murder incident, there were two specific diplomatic
objectives that the North Korean leadership was seeking to achieve. One was to
marshal support for its position in the fifth NAM Summit Conference. The other
was to do the same at the upcoming 31st UNGA. On March 28, 1976, Kim Il
Sung clearly indicated his intention by saying:

Now, if the problem of Korea’s reunification is to be solved, it is
important to rouse the support of world public opinion and to expose the
outrages committed by the American imperialists in south Korea to the
inspection of the whole world. …

Only by rousing world opinion to support more fully the Korean
people’s cause of reunification, can we prevent war in Korea, preserve
peace in Asia and achieve the peaceful reunification of Korea. We must
work harder to rouse world feelings on the Korean question so that
Korea becomes the focus of attention in Asian affairs and globally.60

The fifth NAM Summit Conference was the first conference the North
Korean delegation attended after North Korea became a full member of the
NAM in the previous year. The importance that the North Koreans attached to
the conference was clear from the fact that North Korea sent a 120-man dele-
gation. At the conference, North Korean delegates tried hard to convince other
member nations that the presence of U.S. forces in South Korea was a source of
tension on the Korean Peninsula and submitted a draft resolution on the Korean
Question.

Due to the excessively unreasonable nature of the North Korean argument
and the occurrence of the Axe Murder while the conference was proceeding,
however, the draft resolution submitted by North Korea was significantly
revised due to opposition from relatively moderate member nations. Five
countries submitted an amendment bill, and some of the leaders of the NAM,
including Yugoslavian leader Josip Broz Tito, expressed reservations about the
North Korean position. North Korea was forced to submit an amendment draft
as a result.

In the end, some of the points raised by the North Koreans – withdrawal of
foreign troops from Korea, elimination of foreign military bases in Korea, and repla-
cement of the Armistice Agreement with a peace agreement – were reflected in the
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final political declaration, due largely to concessions made by the host nation, Sri
Lanka, which was concerned about the possible failure of the conference.61 As many
as 25 nations expressed objections to the declaration, however, and their reservations
were recorded in the proceedings. North Korea’s hard-line position failed to receive
unanimous support. The Axe Murder incident damaged the North Korean position
much more than it helped.62

The outcome of the 31st UNGA was even more disastrous to the North Kor-
eans. The negative impact of the Axe Murder on the North Korean position was
clearly recognized by American decision-makers. In a private conversation on
September 15, National Security Advisor Brent Scowcroft and Ambassador
Sneider shared the view that the August 18 incident had “come out better than
expected – and apparently to our net advantage.” Sneider thought it would have
“a beneficial effect” in the United Nations.63 The pro-North Korea draft resolu-
tion was withdrawn on September 20, just before the UNGA was convened,
apparently because of North Korean expectations that its resolution would be
rejected while the pro-South Korea resolution would be adopted. The Axe
Murder incident seriously damaged North Korea’s reputation in the international
community.64 In a meeting with Kissinger in September, South Korean foreign
minister Park Tong-jin expressed his satisfaction that the Korea debate had been
avoided at the UNGA and added that the North Koreans had withdrawn their
resolution probably because they thought they would do considerably worse than
last year. On this, Kissinger observed that the reservations entered at the NAM
meeting and the lack of support the North Koreans received over the August 18
incident had also been factors.65

An observation made by U.S. Representative Dante Fascell after the Axe
Murder is also worth mentioning. In a Congressional hearing, he pointed out that
the restrained reaction on the part of the UNC at the time of the Axe Murder
incident had been a blessing for the United States, noting:

You would think they [the North Koreans] were trying to invite a response
that would kill their men. In other words, they would be delighted to
have their 30 people killed if that would prove their point. Their point
is that the United States is aggressive and that there is great tension
here.66

Arthur Hummel, Jr, Assistant Secretary of State for East Asian and Pacific
Affairs, concurred. He responded to Fascell’s remarks by saying, “We helped our
point by not killing their [North Korean] men. I think your point is well taken.
They would have been better served from their point of view if they had
casualties on their side.”67

By not retaliating, the UNC side lost militarily but won diplomatically. The
KPA guards succeeded in doing what they were told to do – beating up the
American officers. However, the action was taken in a way that defeated any
reasonable expectation of achieving an international propaganda victory. The
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North Koreans overshot the culminating point of victory. Under such circum-
stances, all North Korea could do was to lay low to wait for the wound to heal.
After the Axe Murder incident, incidents along the DMZ diminished and the
MAC enjoyed the “longest lull” since 1953, broken in November 1984 when a
Russian defected through the JSA.68

Encouraging the withdrawal of U.S. forces from Korea

By provoking a serious incident in widely-known Panmunjom, North Korea
seem to have tried to fuel anti-war sentiment in the United States and, by doing
so, back Carter’s position that the United States should withdraw its forces from
South Korea. The attacks on U.S. servicemen were expected to demonstrate that
keeping U.S. forces on the Korean Peninsula could draw the United States into
another messy and brutal war in Asia.69

North Korea’s attempt to encourage the withdrawal of U.S. forces from South
Korea by use of force failed, however. Few people associated the Axe Murder
incident with the issue of withdrawal of U.S. forces. They argued neither for nor
against withdrawal based on the incident. To U.S. congressmen, human rights
and the War Powers Resolution were far more important than the Axe Murder.
Also, there is no evidence that U.S. public opinion was greatly affected by the
Axe Murder incident, especially in terms of their preference for presidential
candidates.70 Carter was so determined to go ahead with withdrawal that the Axe
Murder was simply irrelevant. Under such circumstances, North Korean mili-
tary-diplomatic actions did not matter much.

One limited but potentially important impact of the Axe Murder incident on
U.S. decision-makers was seen in comments made by Ambassador Sneider. On
September 15, Sneider suggested that the United States pull out its security
company in support of the JSA, saying that it would be better to do so “as an
initiative than to retreat under domestic pressure.”71 Scowcroft rejected Sneider’s
suggestion, however, noting that the “exposed quality” of this particular com-
pany was the source of its value. He further expressed his concern about “an
inclination within certain parts of the government to go ahead with small piece-
meal moves which individually had little significance but cumulatively had the
net effect of eroding our military presence in East Asia.”72 The U.S. security
company was not withdrawn.

The North Koreans might have attempted to convince the United States to
negotiate a bilateral peace agreement with them by showing that the tension on the
Korean Peninsula could never be dissipated without such an arrangement.
However, brutally killing American servicemen with axe handles did not help
induce the United States to reverse its previous position regarding a bilateral
peace agreement with North Korea. On this point, the U.S. position was clear.
As Hummel reaffirmed on September 1, “We will not negotiate on future
security arrangements on the Korean peninsula without the participation of the
Republic of Korea.”73
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Consolidating Kim Jong Il’s position

Although there is little direct evidence, it is worth pointing out that the Axe
Murder incident might have been a part of Kim Jong Il’s attempt to consolidate
his position in the North Korean political and military establishment. Kim Jong Il
started to exercise informal control over the North Korean armed forces in 1970,
when he began to frequently visit KPA units without Kim Il Sung. During his
visits to KPA units, Kim Jong Il not only listened to the briefings but also actu-
ally boarded tanks, torpedo boats, and aircraft with KPA soldiers. In 1975, Kim
Jong Il’s portrait was introduced to KPA barracks and offices. More importantly,
Kim Jong Il changed the reporting system so that he would get reports from the
KPA before they went to Kim Il Sung, thus preventing the KPA from presenting
its reports directly to Kim Il Sung.74

Such attempts to consolidate power did not go unchallenged. The most
important challenge came in June 1976. In a Workers’ Party Political Committee
meeting, Vice President Kim Tong Gyu criticized Kim Jong Il for failing to pay
enough attention to party rules and order, and for replacing old but experienced
party leaders with inexperienced young personnel at his will. Director of the
KPA General Political Bureau Ri Yong Mu, Alternate Member of the Political
Committee Ryu Jang Sik, Vice Minister of the People’s Armed Forces Ji Kyong
Hak, and others supported Kim Tong Gyu’s position. These critics were purged,
though, and the challenge to Kim Jong Il ended in failure.75

Pak Pyong Yop described the background of the Axe Murder incident:

It was the time when Kim Jong Il had emerged as [Kim Il Sung’s] suc-
cessor and the monolithic ideological system was being established. It
was the time when Kim Jong Il was getting reports on even the most
trivial incident. At that time, Kim Jong Il tried to get all the information
from all over the country, including the information on who came to the
office late.76

It is, therefore, possible that Kim Jong Il attempted to consolidate his position
vis à vis the Workers’ Party and the KPA and to defy domestic opposition by
actually exercising control over the KPA and by achieving a great military-
diplomatic victory in Panmunjom.
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Chapter 6

NUCLEAR DIPLOMACY, 1993 94

On March 12, 1993, North Korea declared it would withdraw from the Treaty
on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons (NPT).1 As a result of its military-
diplomatic campaign which lasted for a year and seven months, North Korea suc-
ceeded in getting the Washington to sign the “Agreed Framework between the
United States of America and the Democratic People’s Republic of Korea” on
October 21, 1994, obtaining economic gains and paving the way for normalization
of relations with the United States.2

Nuclear development, crises, and the Agreed Framework3

Declaration of withdrawal

North Korea’s March 12 decision to withdraw from the NPT came as a direct
response to the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) demand for special
inspections and the commencement of the 1993 Team Spirit U.S.–ROK com-
bined military exercise. On February 9, the IAEA issued a demand for “special
inspections” of suspected nuclear sites not previously declared by North Korea.
On February 25, the IAEA Board of Governors issued a resolution requesting
Hans Blix, Director General of the IAEA, to report on the North Korean com-
pliance within a month. North Korea quickly announced its rejection of the
demand. Then on March 9, Team Spirit 1993 commenced. Though smaller than
previous years, the U.S.–ROK combined military exercise featured 70,000 South
Korean troops, 50,000 U.S. troops, and the first-ever deployment of the B-2
stealth bomber to the Peninsula.4

Under such circumstances, Kim Jong Il issued Order No. 0034 of the
Supreme Commander of the Korean People’s Army (KPA) on March 8, one day
before the beginning of the Team Spirit exercises, ordering the whole country,
all people and the entire army, to switch to a “state of readiness for war” on
March 9.5 The announcement of the state of war readiness was the first since
1983.6 Under the state of war readiness:
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Senior military officials, told that an attack might be imminent, were
ordered to evacuate to underground fortifications. All military leaves
were canceled, the heads of all soldiers shaved, steel helmets were
worn, and troops were issued rifle ammunition. In Pyongyang armored
cars were drawn up in rows near security headquarters, and armed
police checked military passes, while in the countryside the civilian
population was mobilized to dig trenches near their homes as protection
against air attack.7

Following the March 12 announcement, North Korea further intensified its
military-diplomatic saber-rattling. Just after the decision to mobilize the nation
was made, the North Korean government issued a statement: “If we failed to
stop this conspiracy by the United States and its followers, it would drive the
whole nation into confrontation and war that would result in making the nation
a sacrifice for great powers.”8 At the same time, it was reported that North
Korea decided to expel foreign diplomats or deny them access to North Korean
officials, recall delegations from abroad, and suspend telephone lines between
Beijing and Pyongyang.

The initial responses from the United States and South Korea were relatively
mild. The South Korean government strongly urged North Korea to reconsider
its decision as it put its armed forces on alert on March 13 and suspended all
inter-Korean economic cooperation on March 15. President Kim Young Sam
said, “[W]e never want North Korea to be isolated internationally nor do we
want to inflict suffering on them.”9 On April 6, Kim, calling for a diplomatic
solution of the nuclear issue, said, “We do not want the North Korean regime to
be dismantled suddenly because this would threaten the security of the whole
peninsula.”10 U.S. officials also urged North Korea to reverse its decision in a
restrained manner. The Chinese attitude was a little more accommodating to
North Korea than those of the United States and South Korea. China swiftly
urged a diplomatic solution of the problem. After the IAEA referred the matter
to the United Nations Security Council (UNSC) on April 1, China made it clear
that it was opposed to the use of sanctions as a means of solving the issue.

About two weeks after the March 12 announcement, North Korea started to
take steps to deflate the tension and expressed its willingness to have direct
bilateral talks on the nuclear issue with the United States. On March 24, Kim
Jong Il announced an end to the state of war readiness.11 Then on March 29,
North Korea’s Ministry of Foreign Affairs (MFA) called for bilateral U.S.–
DPRK talks.12 In response to the North Korean overture, the United States
agreed on April 22 to bilateral high-level talks while maintaining its basic
position that the nuclear issue was an issue “between North Korea and the
international community” and that the U.S. task was to support the efforts of
the “appropriate international bodies” as they worked to resolve the situation.13

Three preparatory meetings were held while the UNSC discussed a resolution on
the North Korean nuclear issue.
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On May 11, the UNSC approved a resolution calling upon North Korea to
reconsider the March 12 announcement and to reaffirm its commitment to the
NPT.14 The MFA declared on the following day that if the UNSC moved ahead with
sanctions, the DPRK would regard such an action as a “declaration of war against
the DPRK.”15 On May 25, the United States and North Korea announced that a
high-level bilateral meeting would be held in New York on June 2. At this point,
North Korea conducted the most extensive missile flight tests to date. On May 29–
30, it test-launched three Scud and one No Dong missiles into the Sea of Japan.

With the respective delegations headed by Assistant Secretary of State
Robert Gallucci and First Vice Minister of Foreign Affairs Kang Sok Ju, the
U.S.–DPRK bilateral talks began on June 2, just 10 days before North Korea’s
withdrawal from the NPT would take effect. In the talks, Kang contradicted
previous remarks by Kim Il Sung and said that his country had the capability
to build nuclear weapons. He also suggested, however, that North Korea would
not manufacture nuclear weapons if the United States stopped threatening it,
and even suggested that its carbon-graphite moderated nuclear technology
could be traded for militarily less useful light-water technology.16 As a result
of the talks, on June 11 the two countries adopted the first-ever “joint state-
ment” declaring that they had agreed in principle to assurances against the
threat and use of force including nuclear weapons, impartial application of full-
scope safeguards, and non-interference in each other’s internal affairs. In this
context, the two governments agreed to continue dialogue on an “equal and
unprejudiced basis,” and the North Korean government decided to suspend the
effectuation of its withdrawal from the NPT.17 After the talks, Kang char-
acterized the talks as “historic.”18 The joint statement was of great symbolic
value to the North Koreans. As a result of the nuclear diplomacy, North Korea
“suddenly had become important to the United States.”19

On June 18, Kang clarified the North Korean position and its ultimate objec-
tives. He explained that the nuclear issue on the Korean Peninsula stemmed from
the “anti-DPRK policy” of the United States and, therefore, the fundamental
solution would be attained only by eliminating the “hostile relations between the
DPRK and the USA.”20 Although dialogue between the North and the South, and
between the IAEA and North Korea, eventually resumed, the key was now in the
hands of the Americans and the North Koreans. The flip side of this new devel-
opment in New York, however, was frustration in Seoul. Once this “joint state-
ment” was issued, U.S.–ROK relations started to deteriorate. Although South
Korea was seeking a negotiated settlement of the nuclear issue, it was reluctant to
see any improvement in relations between the United States and North Korea,
particularly when South Korea was sidelined in the process.

Determining the terms of trade

Once it was unofficially agreed that the nuclear issue would be handled by
bilateral negotiations between the United States and North Korea, the question
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facing Washington concerned the terms of trade. The North Koreans were
extremely straightforward in revealing their agenda. In July 1993, the second
round of U.S.–DPRK high-level talks was held in Geneva. On the second day
of the talks, the North Korean side officially declared that it was willing to
replace its carbon-graphite reactors with light-water reactors (LWRs). In
response, Gallucci was positive but cautious since he realized the immense
difficulties involved in financing such a scheme.21 North Korea had revealed
its ambitious goals, which it would eventually achieve, at an early stage of the
negotiations. As a result of the second high-level talks, the United States and
North Korea issued a press statement on July 19:

Both sides recognize the desirability of the DPRK’s intention to
replace its graphite moderated reactors and associated nuclear facil-
ities with light water moderated reactors. As part of a final resolution
of the nuclear issues, and on the premise that a solution related to the
provision of light water moderated reactors (LWRs) is achievable, the
USA is prepared to support the introduction of LWRs and to explore
with the DPRK ways in which LWRs could be obtained.22

In August, however, the U.S. government spelled out a three-pronged plan
for the third round of U.S.–DPRK talks, which basically said that the United
States would not begin the new round of talks until North Korea began serious
discussions with the IAEA and South Korea.23 The plan was designed to
encourage the resolution of the nuclear issue through the international non-
proliferation regime and inter-Korean dialogue. North Korea naturally respon-
ded negatively. When the IAEA demanded that North Korea comply with all
inspection requirements as a party to the NPT, it became apparent that North
Korea had a peculiar interpretation of its status within the NPT: since it had
only suspended its withdrawal from the NPT, it enjoyed a “unique status” by
which it could determine which inspections to accept and which to reject.
With this, the North Koreans claimed that all they could only accept inspec-
tions necessary to provide the “continuity of the safeguards,” more limited in
scope than the regular and ad hoc inspections that NPT signatories were
required to accept.24

As a result, the visit by IAEA officials to North Korea in August was not a
satisfactory one. IAEA officials were only allowed to replace film and bat-
teries in monitoring devices. Additionally, IAEA–DPRK talks in September did
not produce a positive outcome. On October 1, the IAEA General Conference
adopted a resolution calling for North Korea’s immediate acceptance of new
inspections. Then on November 1, the United Nations General Assembly adop-
ted a resolution urging North Korea to cooperate immediately with IAEA in the
full implementation of the safeguards agreement.25

The inter-Korean talks were not bearing fruit, either. While the South
Koreans tried to make the nuclear issue a top agenda item at the inter-Korean
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talks, the North Korean side insisted on prioritizing exchanges of special
envoys to prepare for the inter-Korean summit meeting. Three meetings in
October ended in failure. Then on November 3, North Korea announced the
suspension of the meetings, blaming it on the South Korean defense minister’s
remarks on the previous day. On the same day, Vice-Marshal Kim Kwang Jin,
Vice Minister of the People’s Armed Forces, declared that North Korea was
prepared to answer “dialogue with dialogue, war with war.” Kim also said,
“As the south Korean authorities proclaimed military countermove against us,
it is inevitable for us to answer them with force of arms,” adding, “Military
retaliation precisely means war.”26 The North Korean accusation was simply
an excuse to halt the inter-Korean talks, however. The South Korean defense
minister had only said that the Ministry of National Defense should discuss
how to respond to possible “accidental provocations” resulting from United
Nations sanctions, and insisted that military sanctions against North Korea,
therefore, be prevented.27

North Korea’s intention was clear. It wanted a resumption of the U.S.–DPRK
talks. On September 22, the MFA criticized the United States for setting “pre-
conditions” and demanded the United States rescind them.28 On October 4, the
MFA denounced the adoption of the IAEA General Conference resolution on
October 1, declaring, “The present situation proves once again that the nuclear
issue can be resolved only through DPRK–USA talks.”29 In short, North Korea
was closing all other doors in order to open the door for bilateral talks with the
United States.

North Korea was trying to deal effectively with the outside world by
employing both dialogue and saber-rattling. In the face of mounting tension and
the increasing possibility of economic sanctions, it demonstrated the will to
stand up against outside pressure. On November 6, it was reported that North
Korea was reinforcing its forces near the Military Demarcation Line.30 The MFA
warned on November 29 that the DPRK had taken into account all possible
consequences when it announced withdrawal from the NPT and was fully pre-
pared to safeguard the sovereignty of the country even if “the worst event such
as sanctions or war” was imposed upon it. If the United States discontinued the
talks, it also threatened that the DPRK would end its suspension of withdrawal
from the NPT.31

In the meantime, efforts were made on both sides to find a way out. In mid-
October, North Korea informally made a new proposal to the United States. The
MFA presented an American diplomat with a piece of paper proposing a series
of trade-offs to settle the issue. According to the proposal, while North Korea
would (a) remain in the NPT, (b) accept IAEA regular inspections, and (c) dis-
cuss the issue of the special inspections, the United States would (a) agree to end
the Team Spirit military exercises, (b) lift economic sanctions on North Korea,
and (c) agree to hold the third round of high-level U.S.–DPRK talks. On the
other hand, on November 15, the U.S. government endorsed the so-called
“comprehensive approach.” This approach included having North Korea initially
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accept IAEA “ad hoc inspections” as well as the resumption of the North–South
talks in exchange for cancellation of Team Spirit 1994 and the opening of the
third round of U.S.–DPRK high-level talks. It also envisioned, in phase two,
North Korea’s acceptance of IAEA inspections in the two suspected waste sites
in Nyongbyon (Yongbyon) in return for U.S. diplomatic recognition of North
Korea and trade and investment concessions from the United States, South
Korea, and Japan.32 The United States formally presented this idea, now called a
“thorough and broad” approach, on November 23 jointly with South Korea. It
was a significant step in that the United States had decided to postpone the
implementation of the special inspections to a later time rather than demanding it
as a precondition for U.S.–DPRK talks.33

At the same time, the United States examined other hardline options – sanc-
tions, the threat of military force or war, preemptive strikes, and the dispatch of
additional forces to South Korea. These options had their own weaknesses,
however. Sanctions would require a “staggering number of ships” but still might
not work. War would be too costly. Preemption would not destroy already
reprocessed plutonium and might provoke massive retaliation from North Korea.
Use or threat of force had not worked well in Somalia and Haiti. The conclusion
in the November 15 principals meeting was: “the available sticks were less than
perfect. …”34 As a result, on December 29, the United States and North Korea
agreed to take the following simultaneous and reciprocal actions: (a) beginning of
IAEA inspections on seven declared facilities; (b) resumption of inter-Korean
talks on the exchange of special envoys; (c) announcement to cancel the Team
Spirit military exercises; and (d) announcement of the date to hold the third
round of U.S.–DPRK talks.

During the talks between the IAEA and North Korea in January 1994, how-
ever, it was revealed that the United States and North Korea had not fully agreed
on the definition of an “ad hoc inspection” and North Korea’s status in the
NPT.35 While the United States had tacitly accepted the inspections needed to
maintain the continuity of the safeguards, the IAEA continued to insist that its
inspections be conducted on the basis of the safeguards agreement. North Korea
claimed that it had only agreed to the inspections needed to maintain the con-
tinuity of the safeguards and refused the sampling and gamma mapping that
were critical in inspecting nuclear activities.

In early 1994, the situation became tense. The White House announced plans
to deploy Patriot surface-to-air missiles in South Korea. The South Korean
defense ministry talked about conducting Team Spirit 1994 unless North Korea
agreed to nuclear inspections. On January 31, the MFA criticized the IAEA for
ignoring North Korea’s “unique status” and the “hardliners and conservatives” in
the United States for trying to introduce Patriot missiles to South Korea. The
MFA declared that the DPRK could live without relations with the United States,
and warned that American “hardliners and conservatives” as well as South
Korean authorities, would be held fully responsible for the “catastrophic con-
sequences” of their actions.36 At the same time, in early 1994 the KPA conducted
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“unusual activities” which created serious concern. One scenario envisaged the
North Koreans would “roll out of their winter training exercises into a surprise
attack.”37

The IAEA conceded and reached an agreement on February 15 with North
Korea on the scope of inspections, which did not amount to full-scale inspec-
tions and were in fact close to what the North Koreans claimed to be the
inspections needed to maintain the continuity of the safeguards. Based on these
developments, the United States and North Korea issued a statement on Feb-
ruary 25, entitled “agreed conclusions,” in which they pledged to take “simulta-
neous steps” on March 1. Those steps included: (a) the U.S. announcement of its
decision to agree to South Korea’s suspension of the Team Spirit military exer-
cise; (b) beginning of the inspections necessary to assure the continuity of safe-
guards, and the completion of the inspections within the period as agreed by the
IAEA and the DPRK; (c) resumption of the working-level contacts in Panmun-
jom for the exchange of North–South special envoys; and (d) announcement to
hold the third round of U.S.–DPRK high-level talks on March 21.38 In early
March all parties took steps to implement the agreed conclusions. The prospect
of the resolution of the nuclear issue seemed promising at this point. Subsequent
events led to a new and larger crisis, however.

Implementation of the agreed conclusions

In Panmunjom, the North Koreans appeared to be coming to the negotiating table
with the South Koreans solely for the purpose of satisfying their end of the
obligations in the agreed conclusions. For the North Koreans, the inter-Korean
dialogue was just a show to be staged to satisfy the American demand. The
South Korean side did not appreciate it. The Seoul delegation played it tough,
and did not respond positively to the North Korean proposals regarding the agenda
for the exchange of special envoys.39 At the eighth contact held on March 19,
the North Korean side complained about the South Korean attitude and threa-
tened the South Korean side by saying that the DPRK would answer “dialogue
with dialogue” and “war with war.” The South Koreans demanded that the North
Koreans agree that the nuclear issue would be discussed and resolved before the
exchange of special envoys. The North Korean head delegate, Pak Yong Su,
finally declared, “Seoul is not far away [from the DMZ]. If war breaks out,
Seoul will become a sea of fire.” Then the North Korean delegation walked
away from the table.40

In Nyongbyon, North Korea did not fulfill its obligations. At the reproces-
sing plant known as the “Radiochemical Laboratory,” IAEA inspectors were
not allowed to perform certain required and agreed safeguards activities. On
March 21, inspection results were reported to the IAEA, which then decided
to report it to the UNSC.41 The MFA announced on the same day that the
DPRK had decided not to send its delegation to the third round of the U.S.–
DPRK talks and they were no longer obliged to maintain the continuity of
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the safeguards. It also warned that the DPRK might have to withdraw from
the NPT.42

In response, the United States decided to cancel the third round of talks and
started preparing for the possible imposition of economic sanctions against
North Korea. Concurrently, the South Korean government decided to approve
the introduction of Patriot missiles to South Korea. On March 21, a deployment
order was signed to move up to six Patriot missile batteries from Texas to South
Korea. On March 22, the IAEA reported to the UNSC.43 On March 31, the
UNSC decided that if necessary further consideration would take place in order
to achieve full implementation of the IAEA–DPRK safeguards agreement.44

1994 nuclear crisis

With tension already rising, North Korea took another bold step when it shut
down the five-megawatt (MW) reactor in Nyongbyon on April 1. On April 19, it
notified the IAEA that it would soon begin removing the spent fuel rods but it
would allow inspectors to observe the operation. The IAEA decided not to send
inspectors, however, since it was not allowed to take samples. As a result, the dis-
charge operation started on May 9 without the presence of IAEA inspectors. The
IAEA informed North Korea that the discharge of fuel without the required safeguard
measures would constitute a serious violation of the safeguards agreement. North
Korea ignored the warning but agreed to receive IAEA officials to discuss the
issue. The beginning of the discharge marked a critical turning point. Until that
time, the focus of the debate had basically been on past nuclear developments.
Now the question also included North Korea’s future nuclear development. U.S.
Defense Secretary William Perry estimated that plutonium for five or six nuclear
devices could be obtained by reprocessing the spent fuel discharged from the
5-MW reactor.

In early 1994, North Korea vigorously conducted military exercises. It bol-
stered both offensive and defensive force exercises and tested a secure commu-
nication network used in national emergencies.45 It was reported in March that the
size of the exercises increased by 40 percent for forward-deployed ground forces,
15 percent for the navy, and 30 percent for the air force.46 In April, the number of
exercises reportedly increased from the previous year by 80 percent for the
ground forces and 50 percent for the air force. Maneuvering exercises by
mechanized units, joint navy-air force exercises, reserve force mobilization
exercises, and blackout and evacuation exercises in major cities increased sig-
nificantly.47 On April 30, a surprise exercise was conducted in which the
majority of North Korea’s combat aircraft were in the air at one time.48

At the same time, North Korea sought the resumption of the talks with the
United States. On May 3, the MFA announced that when the nuclear issue was
resolved “through the U.S.–DPRK talks,” the spent fuel rods would be put under
the IAEA control and they could be examined.49 On May 12, Kang Sok Ju pri-
vately informed the U.S. side that the possibility to separate the key fuel rods
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was preserved. Also, a North Korean diplomat suggested that it would take two
months to unload the fuel rods, and the United States and North Korea still had
some time to negotiate a deal.50 However, an IAEA inspector who arrived in
North Korea on May 19 found out that the unloading of the fuel rods was pro-
ceeding more quickly than anticipated, without records being kept.51

Subsequently, discussions in late May failed. The IAEA concluded that if
the discharge of fuel from the reactor continued, the opportunity to select,
segregate, and secure fuel rods for later measurements would be lost within
days.52 The United States announced on June 3 that it had no basis for holding
a third round of high level talks with North Korea and would seek further
action in the UNSC. It also revealed that it had already begun consultations
with its allies and with the UNSC on “appropriate next steps” in response to
North Korea’s actions, including sanctions.53 In South Korea, the National
Security Council meeting was held on June 8, for the first time under the Kim
Young Sam Administration.

North Korea remained defiant. On May 31 and June 2, it test-fired Silkworm
anti-ship missiles in the Sea of Japan.54 On June 3, Kang Sok Ju warned that if
the United States chose a “strongarm measure,” (a) the DPRK would proceed with
its nuclear development and could not but expand its “independent atomic energy
industry,” (b) the foundation of the DPRK’s temporary suspension of its with-
drawal from the NPT would collapse, and (c) economic sanctions would be
regarded as a declaration of war. At the same time, Kang also assured the United
States that the DPRK’s proposal for the package solution was still valid.55 In a
letter to the IAEA on June 6, the General Director of North Korea’s General
Bureau of Atomic Energy insisted that the spent fuel rods had individual numbers
and their original positions were all recorded so that the technical feasibility of
measuring the spent fuel rods was preserved.56

Despite the North Korean overture, however, on June 10 the IAEA Board of
Governors asked their Director General to bring the case to the UNSC and
United Nations General Assembly.57 North Korea responded strongly. On June
13, the MFA announced that the DPRK would (a) immediately withdraw from
the IAEA, (b) no longer allow the inspections for the continuity of safeguards,
and (c) strongly reaffirm its position that United Nations sanctions would be
regarded immediately as a “declaration of war.”58 On June 14, North Korea
conducted a burn test of an engine presumably to be used for the Taepo Dong
missile.59 North Korea was taking the situation to the brink.

Sanctions, preventive attack, and assessment of their consequences

In mid-June, the United States came up with a two-phase plan to impose sanc-
tions on North Korea. Also in the same period, U.S. forces in and around Korea
were reinforced and the consequences of war in Korea were given serious eva-
luation. In April, Patriot missiles arrived in South Korea and became opera-
tional. A battalion of Apache helicopters, M-2 infantry fighting vehicles,
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advanced counter-battery radar tracking systems, and about 1,000 additional
U.S. troops were deployed in South Korea. Around that time, the United States
deployed the aircraft carrier Independence to the vicinity of the Korean Penin-
sula,60 to be followed by another carrier to the Yellow Sea later.61

In June, the United States drew up three military options, each with different
levels of force buildup in Korea. The first option envisioned the dispatch of
2,000 non-combat military personnel needed to prepare for large-scale deploy-
ment. This option would be executed before any sanctions were imposed. The
second option included 10,000 troops, squadrons of aircraft to be based near
Korea, and another carrier battle group for the region. The third one involved
over 50,000 troops, 400 aircraft, over 50 ships, multiple rocket launchers, and
Patriot missiles. This option would require a reserve call-up and the deployment
of an additional carrier battle group around Korea.62 In addition, three military
options were created for bombing nuclear facilities in Nyongbyon. In the first
option, the United States would destroy the reprocessing facility only. In the
second option, nuclear facilities such as the 5-MW reactor and the spent fuel
storage pool would be taken out. The third option would be to remove key North
Korean military assets, in addition to all of above, to degrade its ability to
retaliate.63

The key U.S. decision-makers eventually agreed to execute the sanction
option with two phases. The first phase would start 30 days after the United
Nations sanctions resolution was adopted, with any trade that could contribute to
North Korea’s nuclear activities, North Korea’s exports and imports of materials
related to weapons of mass destruction or conventional weapons, flights to and
from the country except regular commercial flights and humanitarian missions,
and any economic and development assistance to the country banned. The
United States would also urge other countries to restrict their diplomatic ties
with North Korea. If North Korea took additional negative steps, the second
phase would be implemented in which North Korea’s financial assets would be
frozen and its remittances banned. On June 15, Japan and South Korea approved
the draft sanction resolution devised by the United States.64 The U.S. general
public supported the tough approach toward North Korea. In June 1994, 80
percent of the people supported economic sanctions, 51 percent supported a
military strike against North Korean nuclear facilities if the country continued to
reject inspections, and 48 percent said it was “worth risking war” to prevent
North Korean nuclear production.65

The risks involved in the military and sanctions options proved to be prohi-
bitively high, however. On May 18, a military meeting was held in Washington,
D.C. to prepare for possible war in Korea. On the next day, Defense Secretary
Perry, Gen. John Shalikashvili, Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, and Gen.
Gary Luck, Commander in Chief, U.S.–ROK Combined Forces Command,
briefed President William Clinton on the results of the meeting. In the May 19
briefing, Shalikashvili reported that in a Korean conflict, the United States would
have to send 400,000 troops, and there would be 30,000 U.S. casualties and
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450,000 South Korean casualties. In addition, a Pentagon estimate suggested that
the war would cost one million civilian casualties, more than $60 billion, and the
damage to the South Korean economy would amount to more than one trillion
dollars.66

Furthermore, no one present in the May 27 principals meeting thought sanc-
tions would induce North Korea to comply with NPT obligations. They also
could not entirely ignore North Korea’s warning that sanctions would be regar-
ded as a declaration of war.67 If the United States was to mount a military strike
against facilities in Nyongbyon, North Korea would at least take some form of
violent retaliation, be it “instigating some incident along the DMZ, lobbing
artillery shells at Seoul, or staging commando attacks with special forces and
fifth columnists somewhere deep in South Korea.” Such actions would likely
result in further escalation.68 South Korean President Kim Young Sam later
wrote in his autobiography that if the United States had bombed North Korea,
North Korea would certainly have attacked South Korea “with the enormous
firepower it had deployed along the Military Demarcation Line.”69

The Agreed Framework

The end of the crisis came suddenly and unexpectedly. During his unofficial visit
to Pyongyang, former U.S. President Jimmy Carter agreed with Kim Il Sung on
June 17 that North Korea would (a) freeze its nuclear development until the third
round of the U.S.–DPRK talks, and (b) allow two IAEA inspectors set to be
ousted from the country soon to stay in North Korea. In exchange, Carter pro-
mised that he would recommend the U.S. government support North Korea’s
acquisition of light-water reactors.70

To this, the U.S. government expressed on June 20 its willingness to hold
bilateral talks if North Korea assured that it would not place new fuel rods in the
5-MW reactor, not reprocess the withdrawn spent fuel rods while the U.S.–
DPRK talks were ongoing, and allow IAEA inspections necessary to maintain
the continuity of the safeguards. The North Korean side responded positively to
the offer on June 22. On the same day, Clinton announced that the United States
was ready to hold a new round of talks with North Korea, and assured Pyongyang
that the United States would suspend its efforts to pursue a sanctions resolution in
the UNSC.71 On June 27, the MFA declared that the third round of U.S.–DPRK
talks would be held on July 8 in Geneva.72

On June 30, the U.S. government approved a proposal for a two-stage diplo-
matic solution to the crisis. In the six-month first stage, North Korea would have
to meet international nonproliferation obligations, freeze all reactor construc-
tions, ship the spent fuel abroad, and stop ballistic missile exports. In the
meantime, the United States would provide non-nuclear energy assistance, allow
liaison offices to be opened in each other’s capitals, lift some economic sanc-
tions, and assure Pyongyang that it would not launch a nuclear attack against
North Korea. Then in the second stage, North Korea should reduce conventional

NUCLEAR DIPLOMACY, 1 993 9 4

103



forces, adhere to international agreements against ballistic missiles proliferation,
ban the possession of chemical weapons, and improve human rights conditions. In
return, the United States would have LWRs provided to North Korea, lift additional
economic sanctions, exchange ambassadors, and hold visits by senior government
official.73

On July 8, the first day of the third round of high-level U.S.–DPRK talks, an
unforeseen event happened: Kim Il Sung died of a heart attack at the age of 82.
The hermit kingdom was inherited by his son, Kim Jong Il. Although the
younger Kim had already taken charge of most of the national policies, now
the country was completely under his command. Significant and indicative
of North Korea’s future trajectory, North Korean policy survived Kim Il Sung’s
death without any tangible inconsistencies in its policy lines. On August 12,
at the end of the third round of talks, the United States and North Korea
issued an “Agreed Statement,” which became the basis for the final deal on
October 21.74

In the period leading up to the final settlement, the United States and North
Korea were again engaged in psychological war with the threat of force and
harsh rhetoric. On September 22, it was reported that Commander of U.S. Paci-
fic Fleet Ronald Zlatoper had commented, “We certainly hope for a diplomatic
settlement in the Korean situation. However … some very strong military force
can influence diplomacy,” and “that’s why we’re putting the carrier battle group
up there off the Korean peninsula. I think it sends a very strong message.”75 At
the time, the carrier battle group, consisting of the aircraft carrier USS Kitty
Hawk, three cruisers, a frigate and two logistics ships, had been sent to the Sea of
Japan.76 On September 24, the MFA declared that if the United States continued
making military threats, the DPRK would have no other way than to put an end
to the temporary freeze of the nuclear development and proceed to resume
“normal, peaceful nuclear development.”77 On September 25, Defense Secretary
Perry warned that the United States would use “coercive diplomacy” if North
Korea did not respect its nuclear commitments.78 On September 27, the Ministry
of People’s Armed Forces (MPAF) accused the United States of “reckless and
provocative words and deeds,” and declared that if the Americans “rashly
unleash another war on the Korean peninsula,” they would “pay dearly for it
with blood.”79

However, apart from the harsh rhetoric, North Korea demonstrated a sig-
nificant level of restraint in terms of military actions. Moreover, the U.S. military
threats eventually proved to be ineffective or, possibly, counterproductive. The
U.S. position was that the aircraft carrier was sent to the Sea of Japan merely on
routine deployment.80 The Kitty Hawk was subsequently withdrawn on October
3.81 A U.S. State Department official complained that the feeling among the
negotiating team was, “How can I negotiate when they [North Koreans] say,
‘Send the carrier away,’ and we send it away?”82

The outstanding issues had been settled by October 17. On October 21, the
United States and the DPRK signed the Agreed Framework.83
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Critical factors

North Korea’s actual and potential nuclear capabilities

Despite economic difficulties, North Korea had invested a large amount of
resources in its nuclear program. North Korean nuclear development had poli-
tical and military implications on the local, regional and global stages, which the
U.S. government took very seriously. William Perry wrote:

… in 1989, when the North Koreans unloaded some of the fuel rods
from the operating [5-MW] reactor, they did so without IAEA super-
vision. … The size of the reactor told us that if all the unloaded fuel had
been reprocessed, the North Koreans could have enough plutonium to
make one and possibly two atomic bombs.

By the fall of 1993, the operating reactor was nearing completion of
its initial fuel cycle, and its entire load of fuel rods would be ready for
reprocessing in a few months. If all of this fuel were to be reprocessed,
it would yield enough plutonium for another five or six nuclear weap-
ons. Moreover, if the reactor were to move into full-scale operation, it
could yield enough plutonium for ten or twelve nuclear bombs a year.
When the larger [50-MW and 200-MW] reactors were completed, their
total capacity would amount to scores of bombs per year.

We believed that such a development would create intolerable
risks. … We took a much more serious view of this proliferation
issue … because of the tense military situation on the Korean Penin-
sula, North Korea’s history of extreme behavior, and our concern that
North Korea might sell some of this plutonium to rogue nations or ter-
rorists to get desperately needed hard currency.84

These different capabilities at different levels of development enabled the
North Koreans to exercise continuous and phased pressure on the concerned
countries and organizations over an extended period of time.

North Korea’s deterrent capabilities

North Korea’s deterrent capabilities played an indispensable role in the execution
of their nuclear diplomacy. While exercising nuclear coercion vis à vis the United
States, North Korea had to deter possible preventive attacks by the United States.
Also, North Korea had to avoid being coerced into abandoning its nuclear devel-
opment without obtaining meaningful “compensation.”

By June 1994 the United States had developed a plan to attack North Korean
nuclear facilities. According to the plan, the United States could execute such an
attack with little or no risk of U.S. casualties and a low risk of North Korean
casualties, as well as a very low risk of radiation release into the atmosphere.85
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Moreover, the overall conventional military balance had been shifting in favor of
the U.S.–ROK side. In fact, the United States was confident of a military victory
in case of war. Gary Luck assessed in June 1994 that North Korea could be
defeated even if it used the one or two nuclear weapons it might have pos-
sessed.86 Since North Korea’s capability to defend its nuclear-related facilities
against such a preventive attack was limited and it would not be able to prevail in
all-out war, it had to rely on “deterrence by punishment,” or deterrence attained
by the threat of causing unbearable damage to the opponent. In this context, it is
worth noting that when Kang Sok Ju announced the withdrawal from the NPT
on April 12, 1993, he emphasized that North Korea was capable of rejecting any
international pressure or sanctions with “solidarity among the leader, the Party,
and the people,” “strong independent national economy,” and “powerful military
forces.”87

In fact, by the time North Korea embarked on its nuclear diplomacy, it had
already been taking steps to deal with possible counter-coercion from the United
States and South Korea. In the early 1990s, North Korea significantly enhanced
its offensive capabilities through an “intensive five-year campaign” with a 1995
completion date. There were several important developments during this
period.88 The first and the most important development was the deployment of a
large number of long-range artillery and multiple-rocket launchers along the
DMZ, and in particular on the western front near Seoul. North Korea reinforced
its artillery capabilities in the forward areas since 1993, first in the central and
western areas, and then in the eastern area.89 North Korea was capable of deli-
vering artillery shells and rockets to Seoul, making the North Korean threat to
turn Seoul into a “sea of fire” a credible one. Second, North Korea strengthened its
chemical warfare capability as stockpiles of chemical agents in the North Korean
inventory dramatically increased. These steps seemed to have made chemical
weapons an integral part of North Korea’s warfighting strategy. Third, North
Korea test-launched Scud and No Dong missiles in the opening phase of its
nuclear diplomacy. This suggested that now North Korea might be able to bring
the war not only to anywhere on the peninsula but also to Japan. Finally, although
North Korea had continued to reduce the size of its military exercises since 1989,
they started to pick up again in late 1993.90

In addition, according to the South Korean Ministry of National Defense,
North Korea designated October 1992 through July 1993 as a war preparation
period and separately established a war preparation command which directed the
expansion of the production and stockpiling of war materials as well as the
strengthening of underground facilities. At the same time, North Korea extended
the age of citizens mobilized in wartime from 40 to 45, encouraged students to
enlist, and requested those who had been discharged to rejoin the armed
forces.91

Also important was North Korea’s residual defensive capabilities. North
Korea’s defensive capabilities created since 1962 under the “military lines of the
Party” seemed to have been another factor that deterred the United States and
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South Korea from attempting to execute a short and decisive war against North
Korea. With its entire population armed and the entire country fortified, offensive
operations into North Korea would not have been an easy mission.92

The most important reason why the United States and, in particular, South
Korea wanted to avoid a serious military clash was not the fear that the U.S.–
ROK side might be defeated militarily but the large number of casualties and
damages that would be suffered even if the war was won. Based on the U.S.–
ROK combined Operation Plan (OPLAN) 5027, which envisaged offensive
operations deep into North Korea, an all-out war on the peninsula would have
caused gigantic human, material, and financial damage. Although it is still not
clear how confident the North Koreans were of their ability to repel the U.S.–
ROK side’s offensive into their territory, it was quite clear that they were con-
fident of their capability to impose unbearable costs on the U.S.–ROK side. The
North Korean deterrent worked quite effectively.

Limits of the Nuclear Nonproliferation Regime

Both the existence and limits of the nuclear nonproliferation regime helped
North Korea’s nuclear diplomacy. First, the existence of a nuclear nonprolifera-
tion regime, in this case the NPT, and North Korea’s membership in it enabled
the country to attract significant international attention by announcing its deci-
sion to withdraw. The symbolism of the NPT and its relatively successful history
gave weight to North Korea’s announcement to withdraw from the regime since
it was the first in history.

Second, the NPT gave the North Koreans two unique opportunities to exer-
cise pressure on the United States. Of particular importance was Article X,
which allows for member states to withdraw from the treaty if absolutely
necessary and defines that the withdrawal will take effect three months after
notification. In addition, Article X provides that a conference shall be con-
vened 25 years after the treaty went into force to decide whether it shall con-
tinue in force indefinitely or shall be extended for an additional fixed period.
This 25th anniversary happened to be 1995.93 Thus, Article X-1 enabled North
Korea to threaten withdrawal and still have a three-month lead-time during
which it could effectively negotiate with the United States. Quite apart from
the original intention of the provision, the three-month provision worked as a
deadline for the U.S. negotiators.94 Furthermore, Article X-2 set an additional
quasi-deadline for the U.S. negotiators. The United States, which regarded
nuclear non-proliferation as one of the most important post-Cold War security
issues, was making an effort to indefinitely extend the NPT at the NPT
Extension and Review Conference scheduled for 1995. The NPT’s inability to
stop North Korean nuclear development would have posed a serious challenge
to the U.S. effort. Given the significant contribution of the nuclear non-
proliferation regime in the past, it is obviously unfair to say that the existence
of the regime was counterproductive. It must be acknowledged, however, that
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in the face of a determined international outlaw like North Korea, the interna-
tional regime also allowed for certain negative developments.

Finally, the inherent limitation of the IAEA to enforce the NPT and the safe-
guards agreement in case its members balked proved serious in the North
Korean nuclear case. The IAEA ended up demonstrating that it relied heavily on
the United States in terms of intelligence collection and enforcement when it had
to deal with uncooperative members. Although the United Nations discussed the
imposition of economic sanctions against North Korea, the United States actu-
ally led the coordination effort.

Lack of transparency

The lack of transparency in the North Korean system seemed to have helped its
conduct of nuclear diplomacy and the North Koreans seemed to have tried to
manipulate the perceived risk involved in the nuclear crises by taking advantage
of this opacity. First, the lack of transparency in the North Korean political
system worked to encourage U.S. decision-makers to take the North Korean
threats seriously and hedge against negative scenarios. William Perry wrote that
he and General Shalikashvili thought that an attack on North Korean nuclear
sites was “very likely” to incite military attack on South Korea, and that it would
be irresponsible to “shrug off” the North Korean threat that it would regard the
imposition of sanctions as an act of war.95

Second, the effectiveness of the North Korean threats was further reinforced by
the perceived lack of rationality of the North Korean leadership, particularly that
of Kim Jong Il, due to past actions such as the 1983 bombing in Rangoon and
the 1987 bombing of a Korean Airliner. As Denny Roy suggested, the North
Koreans seemed to have used “madman” tactics in that they depicted themselves as
irrational and dangerous in order to keep the other side on the defensive and put
themselves in an advantageous position.96

Characteristics

Location and timing

The most important part of North Korean nuclear development took place in
Nyongbyon and Taechon, both located about 100 kilometers north of Pyon-
gyang. There were other facilities spread throughout the country, but none were
as important as these two locations.

The critical phase of North Korean nuclear diplomacy lasted for one year and
seven months. More broadly, the North Korean nuclear issue surfaced in 1986
when the United States discovered “cylindrical craters” believed to be the resi-
due of experimental high-explosive detonations, near the nuclear complex in
Nyongbyon.97 The North Koreans unloaded some of the fuel rods from the
5-MW reactor in 1989, and reprocessed some of the spent fuel, recovering
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weapons-grade plutonium. This was followed, however, by relative inactivity in
terms of further development.

When North Korea announced its withdrawal from the NPT in 1993, however,
it came as a total surprise. Few in the world anticipated that North Korea would
take such a dramatic step. When North Korea initiated its nuclear diplomacy, the
international environment was extremely negative. In September 1990, the
Soviet Union established diplomatic relations with South Korea. In August
1992, China followed suit. In November, North Korea–Japan normalization talks
broke down. In January 1993, Russia informed North Korea that it would no
longer honor the military clause in the bilateral Treaty of Friendship, Coopera-
tion, and Mutual Assistance of 1961.98

The nuclear diplomacy started just after new presidents were inaugurated in
the United States and South Korea. This timing seems to have had two effects.
First, North Korea’s announcement to withdraw from the NPT took the new
administrations aback and enabled the North Koreans to take the initiative in the
affair. Second, it gave the North Koreans plenty of time to play the game to the
finish. The new U.S. administration had four years to go, and the new South
Korean government had five.

Forces involved and the type of use of force

North Korea’s nuclear diplomacy did not involve actual application of force.
What was involved was North Korea’s actual and potential nuclear capabilities
as well as demonstrations of force including the declaration of a “state of readi-
ness for war” and the testing of missiles. This case vividly demonstrated the
significance of nuclear weapons, for even largely potential capabilities had a
tremendous impact on the behavior of the target states.

Intensity and targeting

What is particularly noteworthy of North Korea’s nuclear diplomacy was the fact
that despite the crises in 1993 and 1994 no casualties or physical damages were
inflicted on the U.S.–ROK side. This was a departure from previous decades
when a large number of casualties were inflicted by North Korean actions.

Although no actual use of force took place, the military threat was issued
primarily against South Korea, and in particular Seoul. The most vivid threat
came in March 1994 when the head of the North Korean delegation talked about
turning Seoul into a “sea of fire.” Although verbal threats were made against the
United States, no real military threat was made against it. This was probably
because North Korea was not able to pose a direct military threat against the
continental United States since it was simply too far away. Second, by mainly
targeting the South Koreans, North Korea tried to drive a wedge between the
United States and South Korea. Finally, in order to improve relations with the
United States, it was better to avoid attacking Americans.
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Military-diplomatic coordination

North Korea’s nuclear diplomacy was the first long, complex, and sophisticated
military-diplomatic campaign conducted by Pyongyang. Although North
Korea had used force for diplomatic purposes even before 1993, past experi-
ences were nowhere near the nuclear diplomacy of 1993–94 in terms of com-
plexity and level of sophistication. It therefore seems likely that North
Korea had already prepared a more or less concrete game plan for its nuclear
diplomacy by the time it announced its withdrawal from the NPT in March
1993.

According to defected former North Korean diplomats, a task force named
“Haeg Sangmujo,” or Nuclear Management Team, was organized sometime
around 1991, bringing together some 20 officials from the MFA, MPAF,
Workers’ Party, the General Bureau of Atomic Energy, and other security
agencies. Headed by Kang Sok Ju and reporting directly to Kim Jong Il, this
task force played a critical policymaking role regarding the nuclear diplo-
macy. Among the different actors, the MFA took the lead and Kang led the
North Korean delegation throughout the period. The MPAF and the KPA
played supporting roles by backing verbal threats issued by the MFA with
words and actions. The General Bureau of Atomic Energy seemed to provide
technical support to the MFA.99 Significant knowledge of legal and techno-
logical issues related to nuclear issues was demonstrated in the process, sug-
gesting that the different organizations within the North Korean government
were working closely together. On the other hand, the nuclear weapons pro-
gram was managed by the “131 Jidogug,” or Guidance Bureau No. 131,
which served Kim Jong Il and was directed by the Ministry of Machine
Industry, bringing together the Committee for Second Economy, the General
Bureau of Atomic Energy, and nuclear specialists in universities and research
institutions.100

Assessment

On October 12, 1993, North Korea presented a list of its demands to the U.S.
side. According to the list, North Korea demanded that the United States fulfill
the following requirements:

(a) Conclusion of a peace agreement (or treaty) that includes legally binding
assurances to the DPRK against the U.S. threat or use of nuclear weapons;

(b) Provision of LWRs;
(c) Complete normalization of diplomatic relations between the DPRK and the

United States to ensure respect for each other’s sovereignty and non-
interference in each other’s internal affairs; and

(d) The U.S. promise to take balanced policies toward North and South Korea
for the purpose of peaceful reunification.101

NUCLEAR DIPLOMACY, 1 993 9 4

110



It is quite significant that North Korea proposed these items, all but one of which
were eventually included in the Agreed Framework, as early as October 1993.

Peace agreement and negative nuclear assurances

North Korea first proposed the conclusion of a bilateral peace agreement with
the United States in 1974. It made the same proposal in 1984, but also con-
currently suggested the conclusion of a non-aggression agreement with South
Korea. North Korea proposed the conclusion of a U.S.–DPRK peace agreement
in 1993 for the third time, but this time on the basis that a “non-aggression
agreement” had already been concluded with South Korea as stipulated in 1991
under the Basic Agreement. The U.S. position that South Korea must be inclu-
ded in any peace arrangement negotiations did not change during the nuclear
talks, however, and the United States did not accept even the mention of a peace
agreement in the Agreed Framework. North Korea’s renewed effort to pursue the
conclusion of a U.S.–DPRK peace agreement was once again not successful.

Despite the failure to conclude a peace agreement, North Korea obtained
“formal assurances” against the threat or use of nuclear weapons by the United
States. The North Koreans regarded this provision as highly important. When they
proposed the conclusion of “non-aggression treaty” with the United States in
2002, they reiterated the American obligation to “give formal assurances to the
DPRK against the threat or use of nuclear weapons.”102 Credibility of the
negative security assurances later proved to be questionable, however. In March
2002, it was reported that the United States had decided to consider developing
earth-penetrating nuclear weapons to be used against nations armed with weap-
ons of mass destruction, including North Korea.103

Provision of light-water reactors and heavy fuel oil

In the Agreed Framework, the United States pledged to undertake to make
arrangements for the provision to the DPRK of a LWR project with a total
generating capacity of approximately 2,000 MW(e) by a target date of 2003. In
March 1995, the Korean Peninsula Energy Development Organization (KEDO)
was established accordingly. KEDO was set to build two 1,000-MW LWRs in
Kumho on the east coast of North Korea and held a groundbreaking ceremony in
August 1997. The turnkey contract went into effect in February 2000.104 The
entire project lagged behind schedule, however, due partly to lack of North
Korean cooperation. In 2000, the LWRs were estimated to be completed in 2008
instead of 2003. North Korea demanded compensation for the delay, but KEDO
did not respond positively.105 Finally, KEDO decided in May 2006 to terminate
the LWR project in response to the reemergence of the nuclear issue. North
Korea failed to obtain LWRs as a result.

Related to the provision of the LWRs was the provision of alternative energy.
According to the Agreed Framework, heavy fuel oil (HFO) for heating and
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electricity production was to be provided to North Korea. In 1995, the United
States provided 50,000 tons of HFO. After that, the United States provided
500,000 tons of HFO annually, though with delays in 1997 and 1998.106 After
the nuclear issue was reignited in October 2002, however, KEDO decided to
suspend the delivery of HFO.107

By 2005, KEDO had obtained approximately $2.5 billion from supporting
countries and organizations, of which about $1.6 billion was earmarked for the
LWR project and about $395 million for HFO. The largest contributor was
South Korea, with a total amount of $1.5 billion; the second largest was Japan,
with $498 million; and the third largest was the United States, with $405 mil-
lion.108 North Korea did not receive the LWRs and the HFO free of charge,
though. In exchange, North Korea froze its graphite-moderated reactors and
related reprocessing facilities and was obliged to eventually dismantle them.
Moreover, expenditure for the LWRs was provided as a loan and not a grant.
North Korea was obliged to repay KEDO for each LWR plant in equal, semi-
annual installments, free of interest, over a 20-year term after completion of each
LWR plant, including a three-year grace period beginning upon completion of
that LWR plant.109

Normalization of relations with the United States

The Agreed Framework provided that the United States and the DPRK would
“move toward full normalization of political and economic relations.” It speci-
fied that:

(a) both sides would reduce barriers to trade and investment, including restric-
tions on telecommunications services and financial transactions;

(b) each side would open a liaison office in the other’s capital following resolution
of consular and other technical issues through expert level discussions; and

(c) as progress was made on issues of concern to each side, the United States
and the DPRK would upgrade bilateral relations to the Ambassadorial level.

On the first point, the United States eased some economic sanctions against
North Korea in January 1995, permitting direct telecommunications services,
contracts for U.S. companies to import magnesite from the DPRK, and licenses
for American firms to provide humanitarian goods to the North.110 These mea-
sures, however, did not do much for the North Korean economy. Additional
lifting of sanctions came only in June 2000.

On the second point, the United States and North Korea failed to open a liai-
son office in each other’s capitals. After the KPA shot down a U.S. Army heli-
copter which had inadvertently intruded into the North Korean territory in
December 1994, it refused to allow American diplomats to transit through Pan-
munjom from Seoul as the United States requested. Also, the North Koreans
wanted the liaison office and living quarters to be in the same building for
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security reasons, but Washington, D.C. law prevented such an arrangement.
Moreover, they thought the rent for offices was too expensive and the Trading
with the Enemy Act made it illegal for Korean-Americans to donate money to
North Korea. As a result, the two countries later agreed that North Korea open
its liaison office at its Mission to the United Nations in New York and the
United States arrange for the Swedish embassy in Pyongyang to represent U.S.
interests.111 According to a defected North Korean diplomat, Kim Jong Il was
actually indecisive on this matter and changed his mind several times before
finally deciding not to open the liaison offices in each other’s capitals.112

Finally, the U.S. designation of North Korea as a “state sponsor of terrorism”

remained an obstacle in achieving full normalization of political and economic
relations between the two countries. Unless North Korea was removed from the list
of state sponsors of terrorism, substantial improvement in U.S.–DPRK relations
would not be possible.

Straining U.S.–ROK Relations

North Korea’s demand for the United States to take “balanced policies” toward
North and South Korea was simply ignored. Given the existence of the U.S.–
ROK alliance treaty and the U.S. military presence in South Korea, it was
unrealistic to expect such a policy change. Nevertheless, North Korea’s nuclear
diplomacy did result in a deterioration of U.S.–ROK relations. Friction between
the United States and South Korea was created by a combination of North
Korean efforts to consistently communicate with the Americans and sideline the
South Koreans, lack of leverage on the part of South Korea, and confusion
within the Kim Young Sam Administration.

After North Korea announced its withdrawal from the NPT, the nuclear issue
was negotiated primarily by the United States and North Korea. Although under
U.S. pressure North Korea paid some lip service to South Korea and the IAEA,
its engagement with each always lacked substance. Until the South Koreans
agreed to finance the KEDO operations, they did not have any useful leverage.

Although South Korea sought a negotiated settlement of the issue, it was
reluctant to see improvement in U.S. and North Korean relations with Seoul on
the sidelines. Kenneth Quinones, a former U.S. Department of State official,
argued that in February 1994 Kim Young Sam seemed to have been more inter-
ested in preventing further improvement in U.S.–DPRK relations than in solving the
North Korean nuclear issue.113 Also, the South Korean policy lacked consistency,
fluctuating between “soft” and “tough” extremes. In the course of Pyongyang’s
nuclear diplomacy, Kim Young Sam proved to be a volatile and insecure leader,
incapable of carrying out a consistent and cohesive policy toward the North. Worse
yet, Kim tended to change his position according to the changes in public opinion in
his country.114 Quinones wrote that when tensions rose, Kim sought salvage from the
U.S.–ROK alliance; however, when the tension subsided, he tried to regain initiative
in dealing with North Korea.115
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U.S.–ROK relations were further strained by the military crisis in 1994. Kim
Young Sam wrote that he almost quarreled with Clinton. According to Kim’s
memoir, Clinton said that he did not rule out going to war with North Korea
in order to alter its behavior. Kim responded by saying, “You are trying to fulfill
your objectives by fighting war in our country. … You would never be
allowed to be bombing on our soil.”116 Kim thought that if the United States
bombed Pyongyang, all the artillery deployed near the Military Demarcation
Line would open fire and Seoul, Busan, Gwangju, and Jeju would suffer heavy
bombardment.117

Suspending Team Spirit

The North Korean indignation about Team Spirit can be inferred from Kim Il
Sung’s private remarks to East German Premier Erich Honecker in 1984:

When Team Spirit exercise is conducted, we go on alert nationwide,
workers are mobilized to the armed forces and, therefore, productive
activities are stopped for more than a month. Due to this damage, the
year’s agricultural production is seriously hampered. Due to this mili-
tary pressure, our people are all dying.118

Moreover, in April 1998, commenting on the “war manoeuvres of the enemy,”
North Korea’s official Korean Central News Agency put the “resumption of the Team
Spirit 93 joint war exercises” in parallel with the Pueblo incident, the EC-121 inci-
dent, the “Panmunjom incident” (AxeMurder incident), and the “‘nuclear inspection’
racket.”119 This shows the significance that the North Koreans put on the suspension
of Team Spirit, which has not been held since 1993. Nevertheless, North Korea has
not been totally satisfied. In 1998, it started to take issue with the Ulchi-Focus Lens
exercise, a joint and combined U.S.–ROK simulation-supported command post
exercise.120 It called the Ulchi-Focus Lens a “replica of the Team Spirit,” or the
“second Team Spirit.”121

Consolidation of Kim Jong Il’s position

By the time North Korea embarked on its nuclear diplomacy, Kim Jong Il’s
position within the North Korean military establishment had been consolidated.
The nuclear crisis was then used to further strengthen his position. Efforts to
formalize his position in the military began in earnest in May 1990 when Kim
was elected Vice Chairman of the DPRK National Defence Commission, soon
followed by his election to the position of Supreme Commander of the KPA in
December 1991. Kim was bestowed with the title of Marshal of the DPRK in
April 1992.122 In February 1992, he had a conversation with workers of the
Party Central Committee in which he stressed the importance of “fomenting the
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social character of strengthening the People’s Army and emphasizing the military
affairs.”123

It was against this backdrop that Kim enunciated his plan for nuclear diplomacy
by ordering the army and all civilians to be placed on a semi-wartime footing in
March 1993. Once the crisis started, yet another important step was taken. On
April 9, Kim Jong Il was elected chairman of the National Defence Commis-
sion.124 According to the Constitution of the DPRK, partially revised in April
1992, the Chairman of the National Defence Commission was now entitled to
command and direct all the armed forces.125 Then on July 19, Kim Jong Il issued
Supreme Commander Directive No. 0040, with which he promoted 85 KPA officers
who had participated in the Korean War.126

North Korea’s nuclear diplomacy might also have worked to divert people’s
attention away from domestic difficulties. Prior to the beginning of its nuclear
diplomacy, there had been signs that the North Korean leadership had serious
concerns about domestic stability. On March 1, just 11 days prior to the
announcement of withdrawal from the NPT, Kim Jong Il reportedly said in his
talk entitled, “Abuses of Socialism Are Intolerable”:

At a time when the imperialists and reactionaries are resorting to
unprecedentedly vicious schemes against socialism, many misleading
statements are being made about socialism. …

This slander against socialism is absurd. But, it has caused ideological
confusion among the people, mainly because they are not fully equip-
ped with the socialist idea. …

. … Our socialism is unshakable, whatever the storm. This is because
the single-hearted unity of the leader, the Party and the people has been
realized and the people are building a new life in conformity with their
independent demands under the guidance of the Party and the leader.127

In March 1993, it was reported that there had been a coup attempt by the
commander and about 30 officers of the KPA Seventh Infantry Division, but the
attempt was detected by the State Security Department before it was actually
implemented.128 The economic situation was also difficult during this period.
The communiqué released at the 21st Plenary Meeting of the Sixth Central
Committee of the Workers’ Party in December 1993 tacitly acknowledged that the
Third Seven-Year Plan (1987–93) had failed as it designated the following two
to three years as an adjustment period.129

Although it is hard to measure how effective the diversionary tactics and the
domestic propaganda were in consolidating Kim Jong Il’s position and alleviat-
ing domestic instability, they seem to have served as more help than harm. After
the Agreed Framework was concluded, the North Korean authority started to use
the nuclear episode to glorify Kim Jong Il and praise his ability. For instance, the
book entitled, Gen. Kim Jong Il’s Policy of Giving Priority to the Army,
published in Pyongyang in 2000, contended:
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People do not forget that when the United States threatened the North
with “special inspections” and “collective sanctions” under an excuse of
“suspected nuclear development” in early 1993, by declaring the state
of war readiness and announcing the withdrawal from the NPT (Nuclear
Nonproliferation Treaty), Gen. Kim Jong Il made the United States sur-
render and agree to come to the negotiating table, and thereby success-
fully obtained the DPRK–U.S. Agreed Framework and a letter of
assurance from Clinton.130
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Chapter 7

MISSILE DIPLOMACY, 1998 2000

In the 1990s, North Korea used its missile capabilities and exports as diplomatic
tools, first implicitly but then explicitly. When it launched the Taepo Dong mis-
sile in August 1998, missiles became a focus of attention in U.S.–DPRK talks,
and in 1999 the United States undertook a major review of its policy toward
North Korea.1 The new policy called for a comprehensive approach to relations
with Pyongyang and as a result the United States and North Korea took sig-
nificant steps for normalization toward the end of 2000. Nevertheless, U.S. Pre-
sident William Clinton announced his decision not to visit Pyongyang in
December 2000. North Korea’s missile diplomacy ultimately failed to produce a
diplomatic breakthrough.

Missile exports, flight-testing, and talks

Early signs of missile diplomacy2

At first, missile diplomacy was not a North Korean creation. Diplomatic deals
based on missile development were first sought by the Israelis, who approached the
North Koreans in 1992 in order to stop their missile-related exports to Arab coun-
tries in the Middle East and Iran. Israeli officials reportedly visited Pyongyang in
1992 and offered a deal whereby Israel would provide economic assistance to
North Korea in return for its suspension of missile sales.3 Also in 1993, an Israeli
official met multiple times with North Korean officials in Beijing to prevent a
reported North Korea–Iran deal of 150 No Dong missiles for oil and cash. The
North Koreans demanded that the Israelis provide them with cash for compliance.
The Israeli effort thus continued into 1994, but then the United States demanded
that the Israel–North Korea missile talks stop.4

Although no successful deal was reached, the Israel–North Korea talks on
missiles might well have been a learning experience for the North Korean pol-
icymakers. It was later reported that Israel had offered a package worth an esti-
mated one billion dollars, which included buying a North Korean gold mine and
supplying thousands of trucks in return for the cessation of missile exports to the
countries in the Middle East.5
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Missiles for influence

No Dong and Scud flight tests6

North Korea showed the first signs of using missiles as a diplomatic tool in
1993. On May 29–30, it test-launched three Scud missiles and one indigenously
designed medium-range No Dong missile in its most extensive flight-testing
program ever. Present at the test site were Iranian and Pakistani observers.7 At
the time, North Korea was under pressure from the international community
since it had announced its withdrawal from the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation
of Nuclear Weapons (NPT) just two months earlier. U.S.–DPRK bilateral talks
began shortly after the missile tests, and the first-ever joint statement between
the two countries was announced on June 11. Although it seems that the missile
tests did not have much impact on the U.S.–DPRK talks, it is reasonable to think
that the North Koreans had diplomatic considerations in addition to other technolo-
gical and monetary considerations in mind when they decided to conduct missile
tests.

Preparations for a No Dong flight test

In May 1994, there were indications that North Korea was preparing for flight-
testing a No Dong missile.8 On May 31 and June 2, North Korea actually test-
fired anti-ship missiles in the Sea of Japan.9 On June 14, North Korea conducted a
burn test of an engine thought to be for the Taepo Dong missile.10 On June 9, North
Korean ForeignMinister Kim Yong Nam remarked that North Korea would continue
missile testing, adding that they had the will and sufficient capability to defend itself
from sanctions. He further stated:

Missile launches occur in any country regularly, and the United States
and Japan do this most often. Until now no one ever mentioned anything
about our launches of experimental missiles. We do not understand why
there is so much noise about it now.11

During this period, North Korea’s steps toward nuclear development were
creating a major crisis. It was under such circumstances that preparations for the
flight-testing of the No Dong missile were initiated and eventually cancelled. These
developments suggest that North Korea used the possible flight-test of the No
Dong as part of its brinksmanship strategy, later deciding to use reduce tensions
by canceling the flight test.

Diplomacy sets in: U.S.–DPRK missile talks

Once the nuclear issue was settled, the United States started to pay more
attention to the missile issue, making it one of the most important agenda items
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in U.S.–DPRK relations. In early 1995, a U.S. State Department team visited
North Korea and proposed that U.S.–DPRK missile talks begin February 20 in
Beijing.12 In the meantime, North Korea reportedly started selling No Dong
technology to Iran.13 In January 1996, Thomas Hubbard, Deputy Assistant
Secretary of State for East Asian Affairs, once again proposed talks to discuss
missile proliferation issues. The North Korean side demanded that economic
sanctions be eased before a date and venue for the talks were scheduled. It
subsequently accepted the U.S. proposal, partly in response to the U.S. deci-
sion to provide emergency food aid to the country.14

The first round

The first round of missile talks took place in Berlin in April 1996. Robert Ein-
horn, Deputy Assistant Secretary for Nonproliferation in the State Department’s
Political-Military Affairs Bureau, and Ri Hyong Chol, Director of the DPRK For-
eign Ministry’s U.S. Affairs Department, led the talks. The U.S. side saw the talks
as an effort to bring North Korea into the international system of nonproliferation
agreements, an outgrowth of the Agreed Framework.15

During the talks, the U.S. side gave the North Korean delegation a tutorial on
the Missile Technology Control Regime (MTCR) and expressed its willingness
to lift sanctions if North Korea agreed to terminate its missile production
and export programs.16 After the talks, the U.S. side described the talks as
useful;17 the North Korean side affirmed that the talks would continue.18

Shortly after the talks, however, the United States imposed sanctions
on North Korea’s Changgwang Sinyong Corporation. In June, the Korean
Central News Agency (KCNA) reported that the media in Western countries,
including the United States, were lambasting the DPRK for exporting missiles
to countries in the Middle East even though the DPRK was holding talks to
address this issue.19 The momentum that had been building seemed under
threat.

Preparations for the missile flight test

In September 1996, a North Korean special operations submarine was found
aground off the South Korean east coast. South Korean President Kim Young
Sam reacted strongly,20 suspending South Korea’s participation in the Korean
Peninsula Energy Development Organization (KEDO) and thus delaying pro-
gress on the light-water reactor (LWR) project.21 Under tense circumstances,
North Korea began preparations for a No Dong missile flight-test.22 The United
States informed the North Korean side that it would strongly oppose a missile
test.23 On October 23, the North Korean Ministry of Foreign Affairs (MFA)
issued a statement of defiance.24

Despite the statement, however, North Korea eventually cancelled the missile
test. The cancellation seemed to have been related to ongoing U.S.–DPRK talks
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during that period. North Korea indicated its concern over what had been dis-
cussed during U.S.–ROK meetings when Winston Lord, Assistant Secretary of
State for East Asian and Pacific Affairs, visited Seoul in October. The MFA
denounced the United States for letting the South Koreans to delay the LWR
project. It also said that the United States was trying to use the submarine inci-
dent as a bargaining chip by associating it with the implementation of the
Agreed Framework.25 When it was reaffirmed in subsequent U.S.–DPRK talks
that the United States remained committed to the Agreed Framework, the MFA
expressed its satisfaction in early November.26 Five days later, the U.S. Depart-
ment of State announced that the North Korean missile test had been can-
celled.27

The second round

The second round of U.S.–DPRK missile talks was held in New York in June
1997. The United States demanded that North Korea not deploy No Dong mis-
siles and end the sales of Scud missiles and their components. North Korea did
not respond positively and the talks ended without any meaningful results.28

Also, it canceled the third round of talks scheduled for August after the North
Korean ambassador to Egypt defected to the United States.29 In August, the
United States imposed sanctions on two additional North Korean firms – the
Korea Pugang Trading Corporation and the Lyongaksan General Trading
Corporation – for missile-proliferation activities. As a result, the missile talks
stagnated.

Full-fledged missile diplomacy

It was only in March 1998, just after the Kim Dae Jung administration came into
office, that the United States and North Korea agreed to resume missile talks,
with North Korea showing a positive attitude. In these talks, North Korea
started to explicitly demonstrate its willingness to use missiles as a diplo-
matic bargaining chip. On June 16, the KCNA broadcast a commentary:

The discontinuation of our missile development is a matter which can
be discussed after a peace agreement is signed between the DPRK and
the United States. … Our missile export is aimed at obtaining foreign
money we need at present. As the United States has pursued economic
isolation of the DPRK for more than half a century, our resources of
foreign money have been circumscribed. So, missile export is the
option we could not but take. If the United States really wants to pre-
vent our missile export, it should lift the economic embargo as early as
possible and make a compensation for the losses to be caused by
discontinued missile export.30

M ISS ILE D IPLOMACY, 1998 2 000

120



In August, Vice Foreign Minister Kim Kye Gwan told a U.S. Congressional
delegation visiting Pyongyang that North Korea would stop exporting
missiles if the United States agreed to pay $500 million every year as com-
pensation.31 Behind these moves might have been an expectation that the
benefit from the missile sales would likely stagnate now that North Korea
had already sold much of what it could sell to the major trading partners
like Syria, Iran, and Pakistan.32 Or it might have been that North Korea
desperately wanted hard currency because of its serious domestic economic
crisis.

Underground site at Kumchangri

While missiles were emerging as the next big issue to be discussed between
the United States and North Korea, the nuclear issue came back to center. In
August 1998, the New York Times reported that U.S. intelligence agencies
had detected a huge secret underground complex related to nuclear develop-
ment in Kumchangri, 40 kilometers northeast of Nyongbyon.33 This site was
thought to house a new nuclear reactor or a reprocessing plant.

The discovery of the underground site quickly became a major issue. In U.S.–
DPRK talks held between August 21 and September 5 in New York, the U.S.
side, led by Charles Kartman, U.S. Special Envoy for the Korean Peace Talks,
probed the North Korean side, led by Kim Kye Gwan, DPRK Vice Foreign
Minister, in order to find out the nature of North Korean underground construc-
tion activities. Kartman informed the North Korean side that verbal assurances
would not suffice to meet U.S. concerns.34 With this, the missile issue was now
bundled with the nuclear issue.

Launching the Taepo Dong 1

To the surprise of many, on August 31, 1998, North Korea launched a mis-
sile based on the Taepo Dong 1. Japan was shocked because part of the
missile flew over its main island. The United States was shocked because it
came at a time when they were engaging in talks with North Korea. The
flight-test proved that the North Korean missile program was much more
advanced than the U.S. intelligence community had previously estimated,
proving that the Taepo Dong could enter a third stage, fueled by solid fuel,
that would extend the range of the missile significantly.35 Although the third
stage exploded in the flight, its debris traveled to a point approximately 4,000
kilometers away from the launching pad. It suggested that North Korea might
be capable of delivering a small chemical or biological warhead to the con-
tinental United States with the longer-range Taepo Dong 2 if it was equipped
with a hard fuel-propelled third stage.36 Arguably, the South Koreans were
the least affected by the missile launch because they had already been
under direct threat from Scud missiles which could reach the entirety of their
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territory. Nevertheless, the missile launch had the potential of frustrating
Kim Dae Jung’s accommodative engagement or sunshine policy toward
North Korea, which was initiated just several months prior to the missile
launch.

The Japanese government, faced with a missile launch over its territory with-
out prior notification, lodged a strong protest against North Korea and took
measures including suspension of Japan’s financial contribution to KEDO.37

Despite their verbal condemnation of the missile launch, however, the United
States and South Korea did not take meaningful punitive measures. By the time
of the Taepo Dong launch, the United States and South Korea had already
agreed on implementing the sunshine policy toward North Korea and had reaf-
firmed that KEDO was central to such a policy. Because of this, Japan’s strong
reaction was regarded as unhelpful.38 Under pressure from the two friends, the
Japanese government agreed to resume its financial contribution to KEDO on
October 21.39

After the Taepo Dong launch, North Korea made it even clearer that it was
set on its missile diplomacy. For example, an article in the Rodong Sinmun
stated that the world opinion evaluated that the development of the satellite
launch vehicle was equivalent to the “development of the intercontinental bal-
listic missile,” suggesting that the North Koreans understood the military
implications of launching such a rocket.40 Another article in the Rodong
Sinmun reported that building a launching pad and facilities related to the
control of and communication with the satellite was estimated to cost more
than $300 million.41 Finally, another commentary issued a blunt threat, con-
tending, “Whether the DPRK’s launch of artificial satellite is used for military
purposes or not entirely depends on the attitude of the U.S. and other hostile
forces.”42

For the Clinton administration, the Taepo Dong test was politically significant
for two reasons. First, the test could undermine Congressional support for the
administration’s North Korea policy, making it difficult to fund KEDO and sus-
tain the Agreed Framework. Second, the test shifted the debate on missile
defense in favor of those who argued for early development and deployment of a
national missile defense, to which the administration was opposed. The missile
test therefore encouraged the administration to address the missile issue more
seriously.43

Talks in New York

The August missile launch came at a time when U.S.–DPRK talks were
underway in New York. Despite intelligence reports that North Korea was
preparing for the flight-testing, Washington assumed that the missile would
not be launched while the U.S.–DPRK talks were taking place. The psycho-
logical shock to the U.S. side was thus remarkable. In early September, there
were indications that North Korea was preparing to flight-test a Scud or No Dong
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missile on its east coast.44 North Korea was trying to put continued pressure on
the United States.

Despite the Taepo Dong launch, U.S.–DPRK talks in New York proved to be
successful. In these talks, the two sides discussed the complex in Kumchangri
and agreed to abide by the Agreed Framework. The United States reaffirmed that
it would make every effort to construct the LWRs according to schedule and
provide heavy fuel oil to North Korea on time. Also, North Koreans reportedly
demanded one billion dollars in exchange for suspension of its missile exports.45

In addition to the nuclear talks, the two countries agreed to resume talks on
missiles and on North Korea’s inclusion the U.S. list of state-sponsors of terror-
ism.46 In other words, the United States and North Korea agreed to discuss all
relevant issues in a comprehensive manner. The Taepo Dong launch worked as a
catalyst, giving new momentum.47 On September 21, the U.S. government
announced its decision to contribute an additional 300,000 metric tons of wheat
in response to the World Food Programme (WFP) appeal for food assistance to
North Korea.48

The third round

The third round of U.S.–DPRK missile talks was held in New York in
October. At these talks, the Americans made it clear to the North Korean side
that further launches of long-range missiles or further exports of such missiles
would have “very negative consequences” for U.S.–DPRK relations.49 The
United States also hinted at substantial loosening of economic sanctions
against North Korea if North Korea stopped flight-testing, reduced exports,
and gradually halted domestic production and development of the missiles in
excess of the MTCR threshold. The North Korean side decided to play
hardball and rejected the U.S. proposal, contending that the United States had
already promised to loosen sanctions as part of the Agreed Framework.50

Preparing the Taepo Dong

In November, activities seemingly related to Taepo Dong missile flight-testing,
such as construction of launch facilities and bunkers to store the missiles, started
once again.51 Concurrently, on December 2, the KPA General Staff issued a
statement:

It must be clearly known that there is no limit to the strike of our
People’s Army and that on this planet there is no room for escaping the
strike. It must also be realized that the target of our strike in the war is
not only the U.S. imperialist aggression forces who chiefly execute the
“Operation Plan 5027” but also the South Korean puppets who are
willing to serve as their bullet-shield and Japan and all others that
offer bases or act [as] servants behind the scenes.52
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On December 9, North Korea suggested that the rocket development
was part of its peaceful satellite program, adding that it could be re-launched
anytime.53 On the same day, it was reported that North Korea was moving
parts of a missile from storage to a launch pad; estimates suggested that
North Korea might launch another Taepo Dong 1 missile in December.54

At the same time, however, North Korea sent signals that it wanted to
improve U.S.–DPRK relations. For example, a Rodong Sinmun commentary on
December 18 stated that whether the “artificial satellite” would be launched
and whether it would be used for military purposes depended on the attitude of
the United States.55 The United States issued warnings against a missile
launch but continued talks with North Korea.56 It was reported on December
31 that a U.S. intelligence official had concluded that the missile launch had
been postponed.57

The fourth round

In the fourth round of U.S.–DPRK missile talks held in Pyongyang in March
1999, the North Koreans demanded that the United States provide one billion
dollars each year for three years as compensation for stopping missile exports.58

The U.S. side made it clear that the United States was not prepared to compen-
sate North Korea for “stopping destabilizing missile sales it should not be
making in the first place.”59

Visiting Kumchangri

As bilateral talks continued into December 1998, North Korea dropped
its demand for monetary compensation for allowing the U.S. to inspect
the underground site at Kumchangri and started to demand food aid instead.60

U.S.–DPRK talks were held between February 27 and March 15, 1999. As a
result, North Korea agreed to invite a U.S. delegation for an initial visit to
Kumchangri in May to be followed by subsequent visits to assuage U.S. con-
cerns about the site’s future use. In return, the United States agreed to take a
step to improve political and economic relations between the two countries.61

In April, the United States and North Korea reached an agreement on the
details of a potato production project in North Korea. This agreement was
significant in that this project represented the first bilateral U.S. assistance to
the DPRK in history.62

In May, the U.S. team visited Kumchangri.63 Based on the visit, the
Department of State concluded in late June that the site at Kumchangri did not
contain a plutonium production reactor or reprocessing plant and that the site
was unsuitable for the installation of a plutonium production reactor or a
reprocessing plant.64
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Assuming a higher profile

The Perry Process

In the latter half of 1998, the U.S. government agreed that the policy toward
North Korea needed a fundamental review in light of the suspicious Kumchangri
site and the Taepo Dong missile launch. In this context, President Clinton named
former Defense SecretaryWilliam Perry as the administration’s North Korea Policy
Coordinator in November 1998.65 In close coordination with South Korean and
Japanese officials, Perry drafted the “Review of United States Policy Toward
North Korea,” or so-called “Perry Report,” and submitted it to the President and
the Congress in September 1999.66

The report argued that the United States should not deal with nuclear and
missile matters separately but instead should take a “comprehensive and inte-
grated approach” toward both issues, pursuing a two-path strategy of “normal-
ization” and “containment.” In normalization, North Korea would: (a) assure that
it did not have a nuclear weapons program; (b) stop the development, production,
and deployment of missiles that exceeded the restrictions of the MTCR; and (c)
cease exporting missiles, missile components, and related technology outside as
stipulated by MTCR restrictions. The United States in return would strive to
normalize economic and diplomatic relations with North Korea. If North Korea
failed to pursue such relations with the United States, the latter would pursue
containment instead.

Prior to the submission of the report, Perry visited Pyongyang in May 1999
and formally presented this new comprehensive package proposal to North
Korea. It was a package of “incentives and disincentives,” of “carrots and
sticks,” rather than a unilateral concession by the United States to North Korea.
However, it was designed to be “attractive enough” for the North Koreans to
respond positively.67

Taepo Dong 2 preparations68

In May 1999, North Korea resumed preparations for a flight-test of the Taepo
Dong 2 missile. North Korea also conducted engine-burning and fueling tests.69

In response to Perry’s suggestion in May, North Korea had proposed a possible
moratorium on missile flight-testing for the first time in the U.S.–DPRK talks in
June.70 By then, missile issues had become a major agenda item in the U.S.–
DPRK relationship.71 In other words, North Korea succeeded in enhancing the
utility of the missile issue as an important diplomatic bargaining chip in its
efforts to improve overall relations with the United States. Even after the June
talks, though, North Korea continued the test preparations. By July, the launch-
ing pad was almost complete. By early August, a Taepo Dong 2 missile had
been assembled and stored in a site near the launching pad, just as another round
of U.S.–DPRK talks convened in Geneva. In September, a National Intelligence
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Council report assessed that North Korea was much more likely to weaponize
the more capable Taepo Dong-2 than the three-stage Taepo Dong 1 as an inter-
continental ballistic missile (ICBM).72

Freezing the test

North Korea’s missile diplomacy bore fruit in September. In the U.S.–DPRK
talks in Berlin, North Korea tacitly agreed to continue to refrain from testing
long-range missiles while the United States and North Korea moved toward
more normal relations.73 In return, President Clinton announced his decision to
unilaterally ease some sanctions against North Korea administered under the
Trading With the Enemy Act, Defense Production Act, and the Department of
Commerce’s Export Administration Regulations.74 On September 24, the DPRK
formally announced that it would not launch missiles while talks with the United
States were under way.75

Steps to fundamentally improve U.S.–DPRK relations

The United States and North Korea took steady steps toward normalization. On
June 19, 2000, the United States announced it would substantially ease sanctions
based on the September 1999 decision.76 In July, the fifth round of the U.S.–
DPRK missile talks was held in Kuala Lumpur.77 Without talks at a higher level,
however, it was impossible to substantially improve bilateral relations. After
Perry visited Pyongyang in May 1999, the United States requested North Korea
to dispatch a high-ranking official to Washington. North Korea did not respond,
and the normalization process started to lose momentum.

Shortly thereafter, on October 9–12, Vice Chairman of the DPRK National
Defence Commission (NDC) and Vice Marshal of the KPA Jo Myong Rok, vis-
ited the United States as a special envoy of Kim Jong Il, meeting with President
Clinton, Secretary of State Madeleine Albright, and Secretary of Defense
William Cohen. As a result of this visit, the two sides issued the U.S.–DPRK
Joint Communiqué. In the Communiqué, the United States and DPRK agreed
that resolution of the missile issue would make “an essential contribution to a
fundamentally improved relationship. …”78

In the meantime, both sides took an important step toward eliminating yet
another obstacle in improving bilateral relations, issuing the Joint Statement on
International Terrorism on October 6. In this Statement, North Korea affirmed
that it opposed all forms of terrorism against any country or individual. In return,
the United States noted that it would work toward removing North Korea from
the list of state sponsors of terrorism if it satisfactorily addressed the require-
ments stipulated by U.S. law.79

Another major milestone came later that month, when Albright visited North
Korea on October 23–24. The objective of the visit was to “convey directly to
Chairman Kim Jong Il the views of President Clinton and to prepare for a
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possible visit by the President to the DPRK.” During the official visit, Kim told
Albright that the Taepo Dong launch in 1998 was North Korea’s first and last
satellite launch. Kim and Albright also discussed Kim’s suggestion for the
United States to sponsor satellites launches for North Korean use so that North
Korea would not further its indigenous missile testing.80

During the Albright–Kim meetings, Kim (a) promised not to produce, test, or
deploy missiles with a range of more than 500 kilometers, (b) offered to halt all
missile exports, and (c) dropped the previous demand for cash, asking instead
for one billion dollars worth of non-monetary assistance such as food or coal.81

After these talks, however, several important issues remained unresolved, such
as the issue of verification, the question of missiles already deployed, and the
value of the non-monetary aid that North Korea should receive.82

Following the ministerial-level meeting, the sixth round of missile talks was
held in November. During these talks, the U.S. delegation demanded that the
North Korean side: (a) ban the production, testing, and deployment of all mis-
siles with a range of over 300 kilometers that could carry a 500-kilogram pay-
load; (b) accept verification measures, including a declaration of the numbers
and types of missiles in its inventory; and (c) make a commitment to destroy its
existing stocks.83 In addition, the delegations explored in depth the idea of
trading North Korean restraint on missile-related activities for U.S.-sponsored
satellite launches for North Korea.84 To this, North Korean delegates acknowl-
edged that Kim’s freeze proposal covered No Dong and Taepo Dong missiles,
but they did not accept the freeze as applying to their Scud variants. They
argued privately that limits on Scud forces could be considered only in the
context of broader security issues. Also privately, they suggested that they could
consider gradual elimination of No Dong and Taepo Dong missiles over an
extended period of time in return for unspecified “compensation.” On verifica-
tion, the North Koreans agreed to establish cooperative mechanisms, but the
details of these mechanisms were ostensibly left out. Finally, the North Koreans
accepted food or oil as a means of “compensation,” but the amount and nature of
the “compensation” to be provided were not agreed upon.85

Despite all these talks and preparatory visits, the United States and North
Korea failed to produce concrete results. On December 28, Clinton announced
that he would not visit North Korea. North Korea’s missile diplomacy came to a
crashing halt.86

Critical factors

North Korea’s ballistic missile capabilities87

North Korea’s indigenous missile development dates back to the 1970s, but it
wasn’t until the early 1980s that the North Korean program found its stride.88

North Korea’s ballistic missiles, either existing or under development, fall lar-
gely into three categories: (a) Scud series; (b) No Dong series; and (c) Taepo
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Dong series. Development of the Scud B missile began in earnest in the early
1980s, but its full-scale production didn’t start until 1986. In the late 1980s,
the North Korean leadership came up with specific requirements for its future
missile programs based on the distance to the potential targets. On this basis,
the No Dong and the Taepo Dong were developed. The Scud C had an exten-
ded range of 550 kilometers with a reduced payload of 770 kilograms and
better accuracy thanks to an improved inertial guidance system.89 Its first suc-
cessful flight-test took place in June 1990. In 2000, the U.S. Forces Korea
estimated that North Korea had more than 500 Scud missiles in its inventory.90

The development of a No Dong capable of reaching major cities in Japan,
including Tokyo, started in 1988.91 The No Dong could fly 1,300 kilometers
with a payload of 1,000 kilograms, carrying high explosive, cluster, chemical,
and possibly nuclear and biological warheads. No Dong, like Scud, could be
deployed on transporter-erector-launchers (TEL) and was thus hard to detect
and destroy, as the great Scud hunt during the Gulf War demonstrated.92 In
1999, North Korea was estimated to have 50–100 No Dong missiles in its
inventory.93

The development of North Korea’s first two-stage Taepo Dong missile began
in the early 1990s. Its mockups were first identified in 1994. The Taepo Dong 1
was estimated to have a payload of 1,000 kilograms and a range of over 1,500
kilometers, which meant that it could reach almost all of Japan, including Oki-
nawa. The Taepo Dong 2 had an estimated range of 3,500–6,000 kilometers with
a 1,000-kilogram warhead. If completed, this missile could reach the Aleutian
Islands (4,500 kilometers) and Alaska (5,000 kilometers).94 In February 1999,
the Director of Central Intelligence testified that with a third stage the Taepo
Dong 2 would be able to deliver large payloads to the rest of the United States.95

North Korea was estimated to have produced one to 10 Taepo Dong 1 and one
or two Taepo Dong 2 prototypes by the end of 1999. Also, the U.S. Central
Intelligence Agency estimated in 2000 that North Korea could build up to sev-
eral Taepo Dong 2 missiles by 2005.96 In the 1990s alone, North Korea success-
fully test-launched a medium-range No Dong and Taepo Dong 1 and was ready
to test a Taepo Dong 2.97

The pace at which the North Korea expanded the variety and range of its
missiles was impressive. Nevertheless, the U.S. intelligence community’s esti-
mates regarding North Korean missile developments were relatively low-key.
The Department of Defense pointed out in 1997 that North Korea had no
experience of testing multistage ballistic missiles or other related technologies,
and noted that Taepo Dong missiles represented a significant technological
departure from the proven Scud designs. The Department of Defense report
thus concluded that this lack of test experience could complicate North Korea’s
ability to evaluate, improve, or repair flaws in its missile designs.98 The
impressive speed of North Korea’s missile developments, combined with
the relatively low-key estimates by leading intelligence agencies, helped
enhance the psychological shock following the North Korean missile test. The
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only report which stood out as alarmist before the missile test was issued by
the Commission to Assess the Ballistic Missile Threat to the United States,
commonly referred to as the “Rumsfeld Commission,” released in July 1998,
just one and a half months before the Taepo Dong 1 launch.

International connections

By the end of the 1980s, North Korea had become one of the most active
missile-exporting countries in the world, exporting not only missiles but also
missile technology and missile-related facilities. North Korea and Iran con-
cluded a $500-million missile contract in 1987, with North Korea exporting
approximately 90–100 Scud B missiles and providing assistance to establish a
missile assembly during the Iran–Iraq War.99 The South Korean Ministry of
Unification estimated in 1996 that North Korea produced approximately 100
Scud missiles annually, and had exported approximately 400 missiles to Iran
and Syria. Arms exports accounted for more than 30 percent of the country’s
$20.4 billion in exports from 1980 to 1993.100 In 2000, the U.S. government
assessed that in the past 10 years, North Korea had received more than one
billion dollars’ worth of bartered goods and services and hard currency for its
Scud missiles and production technology.101 According to the U.S. Forces
Korea, by early 2001, North Korea had exported at least 450 missiles to Iran,
Iraq, Syria, Pakistan, and other countries.102 Yet another source estimated that
North Korea sold at least 540 missiles to countries like Iran, Iraq, Libya, and
Egypt between 1985 and 2000. Among them were 50 No Dong missiles sold
to Libya. Scuds were sold at $2–2.5 million dollars per unit and No Dongs
were sold at about $7 million a unit.103 Figures vary, but one thing was clear:
missile exports constituted a significant part of North Korea’s income.

Through international cooperation, Pakistan and Iran developed missile sys-
tems based on North Korea’s No Dong. In April 1998, Pakistan flight-tested its
Ghauri missile and in July Iran test-launched its Shahab 3, both based on No
Dong technology. There was also a report that North Korea offered Taepo
Dong 1 missiles to countries like Egypt, Libya, and Syria at $6 million a
unit.104 North Korean missile-related exports and technological cooperation
were so extensive that they became a major international security concern.
William Perry succinctly summarized the significance of the North Korean
missile program coupled with nuclear, biological, and chemical capabilities
when he wrote:

The North’s missiles are increasing in range. The so-called No Dong
missile could reach Japan, and the so-called Taepo Dong could prob-
ably reach parts of the United States. With only high explosive war-
heads, such missiles pose a negligible military risk, but in tandem
with a nuclear weapons program, they become a deadly threat.105
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Characteristics

Location and timing

Most of North Korea’s missile development efforts took place inside North Korean
territory and all of its missile launches originated from within North Korea. All the
ballistic missile flight-tests during this period took place on the east coast.

North Korea demonstrated its missile capabilities in several different forms,
such as flight-tests and engine-burning tests. The most effective form was flight-
testing. Missile flight-testing is a critical step in the process of any missile
development and, therefore, had significant military, technological, and diplo-
matic implications. This was particularly true in the case of North Korea since
Pyongyang tended to start deploying missiles after only one or two flight-tests.
The Rumsfeld Commission Report asserted:

North Korea’s decision to deploy the No Dong after what is believed to
be a single successful test flight is another example [of unexpected
development patterns]. Based on U.S. and Russian experience, the
Intelligence Community had expected that a regular test series would be
required to provide the confidence needed before any country would
produce and deploy a ballistic missile system. Yet North Korea
deployed the No Dong.106

North Korea’s nuclear diplomacy and missile diplomacy had chronological
continuity. It was only four months after North Korea concluded the Supply
Agreement with KEDO that North Korea held the first bilateral talks on missiles
with the United States in 1996. However, this continuity arose more from the
U.S. policy imperative than from North Korea.

It’s important to note, however, that North Korea’s missile-related activities
were not driven solely by diplomatic considerations. Missile flight-testing also
had much to do with technological and/or other imperatives such as the need to
earn foreign currency, as well. For instance, even before the May 1993 No Dong
launch, North Korea had already attempted flight-testing the No Dong on three
occasions – in May 1990, November 1990, and June 1992 – without success.
The need to generally improve military capabilities must have also played a role.
However, taking into account the timing and the manner in which the missile
tests were prepared, executed, or cancelled, it is clear that diplomatic needs were
one of the critical factors that determined North Korea’s missile-related activities.

Forces involved and the type of use of force

The May 1993 flight-test involved four missiles, by then the largest number of
missiles launched on a single occasion. The Taepo Dong 1 missile launch took
place without accompanying flight-tests, although there were signs that North Korea
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was preparing additional missiles as well. On each occasion, there was no indica-
tion that North Korean armed forces were put on high alert.

In its missile diplomacy, North Korea demonstrated its missile capabilities by
flight-testing them, in contrast to its nuclear diplomacy in 1993–94 in which it
did not explode a nuclear device. This divergence might be due to North Korea’s
inability to actually explode a nuclear device, hesitation to waste the small
amount of extracted plutonium it possessed, or an assessment that such a test
might be counterproductive.

In its missile diplomacy, North Korea’s deterrent capability did not matter
too much because no punitive or preventive military and economic measures
were seriously contemplated by other countries, especially the United States.
Learning from the nuclear crises in the 1990s, by 1998 concerned countries
had come to understand how difficult it was to take punitive or preventive
measures against North Korea. As a result, positive incentives were preferred
to negative ones.

Intensity and targeting

Missile flight-testing and other missile-related activities caused no physical
damage or casualties despite the harsh rhetoric that the North Koreans some-
times employed. The apparent potential targets in the No Dong and Taepo Dong
missile flight-tests were Japan and the United States. The No Dong missile flew
in the direction of Tokyo. The Taepo Dong 1 flew over the Japanese main island
in the direction of Hawaii. However, it is hard to tell whether Hawaii was a target
because the flight path to the east was technically consistent with North Korea’s
contention that it was launching an artificial satellite. In any case, in terms of missile
range and capabilities, the No Dong was designed for use against Japan and the
Taepo Dong, or more specifically, the Taepo Dong 2 was designed for use against
the United States.

Military-diplomatic coordination

North Korea’s missile-related activities and diplomatic actions were extremely
well coordinated, particularly after June 1998. Missile-related activities prior to
that time also seemed to have reflected diplomatic considerations, but the con-
nection between them was less apparent. Military-diplomatic maneuvers between
June 1998 and September 1999 in particularly were quite impressive. The KCNA
statement in June 1998 was followed by the Taepo Dong launch in August,
which was carefully synchronized with the U.S.–DPRK talks in New York.
Preparations for another Taepo Dong launch toward the end of 1998 were used
to back active diplomatic campaigns to convince the United States to take the
missile issue more seriously. Then in 1999, preparations for the Taepo Dong 2
launch were used to support the series of U.S.–DPRK talks in June, August, and
September.

M ISS ILE D IPLOMACY, 1998 2 000

132



North Korea’s missile-related activities seem to have been quite useful as a
diplomatic tool for a number of reasons. First, missile-related activities were
much more visible than obscure nuclear-related activities, as preparations for
flight-testing or engine-burning testing, as well as actual flight-testing, could be
identified easily by reconnaissance satellites or other means. Moreover, the
Taepo Dong 1 launch had a spectacular psychological impact given the images
of the launch widely disseminated across the world. In addition, it was relatively
easy to synchronize missile tests with diplomacy since it did not take too much
time to prepare and execute missile flight-testing. The Rumsfeld Commission
estimated that even in case of the Taepo Dong 2, it would take less than six
months after the decision was made to actually conduct the flight-test.107

Assessment

Normalizing relations with the United States

North Korea’s most important objective was to improve and possibly normalize
its relations with the United States. The Taepo Dong 1 launch served as a cata-
lyst for comprehensive U.S.–DPRK talks on bilateral relations. The preparations
for the Taepo Dong 2 launch induced the acceleration of the U.S.–DPRK talks,
which culminated in the September 1999 simultaneous announcements by the
United States regarding its decision to partially lift economic sanctions and by
North Korea regarding its decision to freeze its missile flight-testing. The North
Korean effort was also helped by South Korea’s sunshine policy. Unlike Kim
Young Sam, Kim Dae Jung advocated improved U.S.–DPRK relations. More-
over, the first inter-Korean Summit meeting was held in Pyongyang in June
2000.

As a result, the normalization process accelerated toward the end of the Clin-
ton presidency. In the October 2000 joint communiqué, the United States and
North Korea agreed to “take steps to fundamentally improve their bilateral rela-
tions” and “reduce tension on the Korean Peninsula and formally end the Korean
War by replacing the 1953 Armistice Agreement with permanent peace
arrangements.” The United States did not accept the North Korean demand that
the peace agreement be concluded bilaterally between the United States and
North Korea, but the replacement of the Armistice Agreement with “peace
arrangements” was clearly mentioned. Also important was the adoption of the
“principles of respect for each other’s sovereignty and non-interference in each
other’s internal affairs.” To Pyongyang, this was tantamount to a U.S. guarantee of
their regime survival.

Further details of the possible breakthrough were discussed during Secretary
Albright’s visit to Pyongyang and in the sixth round of the U.S.–DPRK missile
talks. Wendy Sherman, special advisor to the president and policy coordinator
on North Korea under the Clinton administration, later recalled that an agree-
ment was “within reach.”108 This was an enormous achievement on the part of
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North Korea given the status of the U.S.–DPRK relations just several years ago.
In the end, however, the two sides failed to achieve a major breakthrough in
their relationship.

Economic gains

Acquiring economic gains was yet another important objective for North Korea.
In order to assess the effectiveness of its missile diplomacy, only the economic
benefits that North Korea gained through the coercive use of missiles, not
including revenues from missile sales, will be discussed in this section. A few
important points stand out. First, North Korea failed to gain monetary rewards
for its missile diplomacy, as the United States refused to accept its demand for
monetary “compensation” for the discontinuation of missile exports and the
long-range missile programs. Instead, North Korea obtained non-monetary aid
from the United States. It is analytically difficult to determine how much of the
non-monetary aid came as a direct result of the missile diplomacy, especially
since the U.S. government stated on numerous occasions that its policy was not
linking bilateral political issues to humanitarian aid.109 In addition, the extent of
aid offered seemed to be affected by a change in overall U.S. aid policy. For
instance, in 1999, the United States made donations to North Korea as part of
President Clinton’s Food Aid Initiative, under which a record level of nearly 10
million tons of food was provided to the needy around the world.110 Moreover,
North Korea’s economic and food situation also played a large role in deter-
mining the amount of aid offered, as demonstrated by the fact that the United
States provided its first contribution of $25,000 in emergency assistance in the
fall of 1995, just as the North Korean food situation began to deteriorate sig-
nificantly.111 For these reasons, the most we can say is that given the observed
correlation between the timing of U.S.–DPRK talks and the U.S. decision to
provide aid to North Korea, Pyongyang’s missile diplomacy probably encour-
aged the United States to provide aid to North Korea, and that it affected the
timing of that decision, but it’s hard to quantify how much.

Second, the North Korean achievement of partial lifting of U.S. economic
sanctions was clearly a result of its missile diplomacy.112 The easing of the
sanctions allowed for increases in bilateral trade in most consumer goods, per-
sonal and commercial fund transfers, and commercial air and sea transportation
between the two countries. That said, there was also clearly a limit to these
increases. For example, statutory restrictions such as U.S. missile sanctions and
restrictions based on multilateral arrangements, such as the Wassenaar Arrange-
ment – an international regime to control export of arms and dual-use technolo-
gies – remained in place.113 North Korea’s missile diplomacy apparently
worked to compel the United States to ease part of its sanctions, but the volume
of trade between the two countries remained negligible. Trade was $4.5 million,
or .0031 percent of North Korea’s total trade, in 1998; $11.3 million, or .0076
percent, in 1999; and $2.9 million, or .0015 percent, in 2000.114 For this reason,
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the economic benefit that the easing of the sanctions would bring to the North
was minimal.

Lastly, the October 2000 joint communiqué stated that the United States and
North Korea agreed to “work together to develop mutually beneficial economic
cooperation and exchanges,” noting plans for “an exchange of visits by eco-
nomic and trade experts at an early date.” This was a significant step forward
for North Korea. That said, it was not followed up after the end of the Clinton
presidency.

Straining U.S.–ROK–Japan Relations

Regardless of whether it was an intended result, missile related-activities, parti-
cularly the missile flight-testing, highlighted differences among the United
States, South Korea, and Japan, therefore complicating their relationship. The
Taepo Dong launch in August 1998 strained relations between the United States
and South Korea on the one hand and Japan on the other as differing threat
perceptions and resulting policies toward North Korea rose to the surface. North
Korea’s missile diplomacy also put pressure on South Korea. This was particu-
larly true after Kim Dae Jung came into office in February 1998 and started to
implement his sunshine policy. Even after the 1998 Taepo Dong launch, Kim
made it clear that the sunshine policy would be carried out despite the missile
issue.115 In July 1999, Kim said that he would not abandon the sunshine policy
even if North Korea test-launched another ballistic missile.116 As a consequence,
the Kim Dae Jung administration was regarded as “soft” on North Korea and
was subject to domestic criticism when North Korea behaved badly.

In addition, some quarters in South Korea were critical of the bilateral nature
of the missile talks between the United States and North Korea since they excluded
South Korea. For example, the South Korean daily Kyunghyang Sinmun wrote
just after the first round of U.S.–DPRK missile talks started in April 1996 that
South Korea felt alienated because the missile issue, though directly related to
the security of South Korea, was being discussed in “exclusive talks between
North Korea and the United States,” and expressed the concern that the U.S.–
DPRK talks in Berlin might impose “unreasonable financial burdens” on South
Korea, as did the 1994 Agreed Framework.117

Consolidating Kim Jong Il’s position

Although the connection between its missile-related activities and domestic pol-
itics is not clear, it is at least noteworthy that North Korea’s missile-related activ-
ities, particularly flight-testing, tended to coincide with Kim Jong Il’s steps to
consolidate his power. For example, in May 1990, when the first attempt was
made to flight-test a No Dong missile, Kim Jong Il was elected first vice chair-
man of the NDC at the first session of the ninth Supreme People’s Assembly
(SPA). In 1993, a No Dong missile was flight-tested one and a half months after
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Kim was elected chairman of the NDC at the fifth session of the ninth SPA in
April. Finally, Kim was reelected chairman of the NDC at the first session of the
10th SPA in September 1998, just after a Taepo Dong missile was launched.118

In particular, the Taepo Dong missile launch was used extensively for
domestic propaganda purposes. The KCNA reported on September 4 that the
“satellite” it launched was transmitting the melody of the “immortal revolu-
tionary hymns ‘Song of General Kim Il Sung’ and ‘Song of General Kim Jong
Il’ and the Morse signals ‘Juche Korea,’” and concluded that the “successful
launch of the first artificial satellite in the DPRK greatly encourages the Korean
people in the efforts to build a powerful socialist state under the wise leadership
of General Secretary Kim Jong Il.”119 On the next day, it was proposed that Kim
Jong Il be reelected NDC chairman on the basis that the successful launch of
the “first artificial satellite” during the “emotion-filled time of greeting the
50th anniversary of the National Day” had demonstrated the “inexhaustible
potentials and the level of tremendous development of our republic which has
advanced along the road of prosperity under the guidance of Kim Jong Il.”120 The
reelection took place that day.121

Repercussions

Emergence of U.S.–ROK–Japan policy coordination

Although North Korea’s missile diplomacy produced several positive results for
Pyongyang, it also created negative repercussions as well. One of the most impor-
tant diplomatic consequences of the Taepo Dong launch was the emergence of a
U.S.–ROK–Japan trilateral policy coordination process. The North Korean missile
diplomacy strained the relations among the three countries in the short run, but in
the long run it actually encouraged these countries to coordinate their North
Korea policies more closely than ever before.

North Korea Policy Coordinator Perry understood that close policy coordina-
tion with South Korea and Japan was indispensable to the successful execution
of U.S. policy toward North Korea. During the policy review process, Perry
visited the two countries three times and drafted his report in close cooperation
with them. Moreover, policy coordination was further strengthened and institu-
tionalized by the establishment of the Trilateral Coordination and Oversight
Group (TCOG) in April 1999. As a result, when North Korea showed signs of
preparing for missile flight-tests in mid-1999, the foreign ministers of the three
countries demonstrated their solidarity by jointly issuing a warning statement
before the tests were conducted.122

Increased efforts on ballistic missile defense programs

Another important consequence, both militarily and diplomatically, was renewed
efforts by the United States and Japan on ballistic missile defense programs. The
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Taepo Dong launch boosted the National Missile Defense (NMD) program in the
United States. The realization that North Korea might soon have an ICBM
capability strengthened the position of NMD advocates and accelerated the effort
to develop an NMD system.

The Taepo Dong launch also encouraged Japan to work harder on Theater Mis-
sile Defense (TMD). In December 1998, Japan decided to formally participate in
joint U.S.–Japan technological research on the Navy theater-wide sea-based
upper-tier TMD system (later renamed Aegis Ballistic Missile Defense). Addi-
tionally, the Japanese government decided to procure four information-gathering
satellites in direct reaction to the Taepo Dong launch.123

Having realized these negative outcomes, North Korea sought to cope with
them. For instance, in January 2000, the MFA declared that the test of the NMD
interceptor had “compelled the DPRK to take our moratorium into a serious
consideration.”124 In February, the KCNA broadcast a commentary condemning
the United States for using “North Korea’s missile threat” to introduce its NMD
and TMD systems.125 A DPRK–Russia joint declaration signed in July con-
tended that the “missile threat from some states” had been used as a pretext to
justify the U.S. attempt to amend the Anti-Ballistic Missile Treaty, and warned
that the deployment of TMD might seriously damage regional stability and
security.126 These efforts to minimize negative consequences notwithstanding,
North Korea had already created a situation where U.S. and Japanese policymakers
took missile proliferation challenges seriously, thus accelerating their efforts to
develop missile defense systems.
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Chapter 8

ASSAULTS ON THE KOREAN
ARMISTICE, 1993 2002

In late 1993, North Korea undertook systematic assaults on the Korean Armis-
tice by actively using force, both directly and indirectly, in the Joint Security
Area (JSA), Demilitarized Zone (DMZ), and the offshore Northwest Islands area
in the Yellow Sea, with the primary political objective of concluding a peace
agreement with the United States. This series of actions has been arguably the
longest and most elaborate military-diplomatic campaign that North Korea has
ever undertaken. Despite the sophisticated nature of this campaign, however,
these efforts produced only mixed results.

Military and diplomatic assaults on the Korean Armistice

Undermining the Military Armistice Commission

North Korea’s diplomatic offensive to nullify the Korean Armistice started in
earnest in October 1993 although early efforts had already begun in 1991. When
the Commander in Chief of the United Nations Command (CINCUNC) appoin-
ted an ROK Army major general as a Senior Member of the United Nations
Command (UNC) Military Armistice Commission (MAC), a position previously
held by an American general officer, North Korea quickly rejected this appoint-
ment.1 Since then, the Korean People’s Army (KPA) has suspended MAC plen-
ary sessions and MAC Senior Member-level communications, the central
mechanisms of administering the Korean Armistice. It also adopted the position
that the MAC process had been “paralyzed” by the March 25 appointment since
the South Korean army was allegedly neither a signatory to the Armistice
Agreement nor a member of the UNC and, therefore, could not represent it.2 The
UNC, however, contended that this North Korean argument was flawed because
CINCUNC had signed the Armistice Agreement as commander of all UNC
forces, including sixteen United Nations Member States and the ROK.3 In
1992, the North Korean side, represented by the KPA/Chinese People’s
Volunteers (CPV) MAC, removed its Senior Member and did not appoint a
new one.4
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At the same time, North Korea further intensified its effort to undermine the
Armistice and to open a high-level direct military channel with the United States
in other venues as well. In October 1993, North Korea’s Vice-Minister of For-
eign Affairs stated at the United Nations General Assembly that the Armistice
Agreement was out of date and the Armistice mechanism was virtually paral-
yzed. He then contended that the nuclear issue could be resolved, hostile rela-
tions between the North and the South could be removed, and peace on the
Korean Peninsula could be realized only if the Armistice Agreement was
replaced by a peace agreement and the UNC was dissolved.5

At the height of the nuclear crisis on the Korean Peninsula in 1994, North
Korea played an interesting diplomatic sideshow between April and May. On
April 28, the MFA proposed the establishment of a new peace mechanism to the
United States.6 On the same day, the KPA/CPV side notified the U.S.–ROK side
that it would recall all remaining KPA/CPV MAC members, cease to participate
in MAC activities, and no longer recognize the UNC representatives to the MAC
as counterparts.7 On the next day, the KPA performed a show of force by send-
ing approximately 100 heavily armed soldiers into the JSA, in overwhelming
excess of the 35 guards with small side arms permitted in the JSA by the Sub-
sequent Agreements of the Armistice Agreement.8 It was the first major
demonstration of force in the JSA since the 1976 Axe Murder incident. Finally,
North Korea announced the establishment of the KPA Panmunjom Mission on
May 2 in order to “ease tension and ensure peace on the Korean Peninsula”
through negotiations with the “U.S. army side.”9 When the UNC called for a
MAC Secretary meeting, the KPA boycotted it.10 In August, it was announced
that China had decided to withdraw its delegation from the MAC.11 The Chinese
delegation left North Korea in December.12

In the meantime, North Korea seized the opportunity afforded by a helicopter
accident in order to achieve its goal. On December 17, a U.S. Army helicopter
inadvertently crossed the Military Demarcation Line (MDL) into the north and
was shot down by the KPA. One of the crew was killed and the other was cap-
tured. Four days later, a meeting was held at Panmunjom between U.S. Marine
Corps Maj. Gen. Ray Smith and KPA Maj. Gen. Ri Chan Bok. At the meeting,
the two Major Generals agreed to the return of the remains. The KPA defined the
meeting as a U.S.–DPRK general-officer meeting. The UNC said it was an
UNC–KPA meeting.13

The North Korean effort to have bilateral U.S.–DPRK general-officer talks
continued. On December 28, Thomas Hubbard, Deputy Assistant Secretary of
State, visited North Korea. As a result of two-day negotiations, the two sides
agreed that the surviving helicopter crewman would be returned. The memor-
andum of understanding, signed on December 29, stated that the two sides had
agreed to continue military contacts in an “appropriate forum” to deflect the
tension on the Korean Peninsula.14 The two sides disagreed over what this
“appropriate forum” meant, however. The North Korean side claimed that it
meant bilateral military contacts between the United States and the DPRK in
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Panmunjom.15 The U.S. side contended that the two sides had agreed to main-
tain military contacts without reference to either the MAC meeting or the U.S.–
DPRK military talks.16

Armed demonstrations, tentative agreements, and overreactions

On February 20 and 22, 1995, the KPA temporarily reinforced the JSA with
approximately 80 KPA guards armed with load-bearing equipment and helmets,
automatic rifles, mortars, and anti-tank weapons rather than the pistols and soft
caps that they usually wore and in clear violation of the Armistice Agreement.17

On February 23, the U.S. State Department issued a statement that North Korea
was seriously mistaken if it thought it possible to force the United States to
conclude a peace treaty on a bilateral basis by undermining the Armistice
Agreement. It reiterated the U.S. position that South and North Korea should
undertake that mission based on the Agreement on Reconciliation, Nonaggres-
sion, and Exchanges and Cooperation between North and South Korea, or Basic
Agreement, signed in 1991.18 The KPA then proposed negotiations to establish a
U.S.–DPRK general-officer channel of communication.19

Although U.S.–DPRK general-officer talks were not realized, the UNC and
the KPA subsequently started the talks.20 In these talks, the KPA’s objective was
to establish a bilateral U.S.–KPA channel and to renegotiate the Armistice
Agreement. The UNC, on the other hand, sought to reestablish a crisis manage-
ment dialogue channel between the UNC and the KPA. On April 14, two KPA
officers and three soldiers crossed the MDL, moved approximately 100 meters
into the UNC portion of the DMZ, and remained there for about 30 minutes
before moving back to the KPA side.21 The ROK Ministry of National Defense
(MND) later disclosed that between April 2 and 27 there had been 40 daytime
and nighttime reconnaissance activities by the KPA in 18 different areas in the
DMZ. The MND assessed that North Korea was trying to provoke a reaction from
the South Korean side and heighten the tension in its effort to discredit the effec-
tiveness of the Armistice.22

North Korean actions continued. On May 9, one KPA officer crossed the
MDL, walked approximately 40 meters south into the UNC portion of the DMZ, and
remained there for about four minutes. He then returned to the northern side fol-
lowing warnings by UNC DMZ police.23 At this point, the UNC side suggested
a compromise and proposed general-officer talks within the MAC framework.
This proposal assumed American, South Korean, British, and Canadian officers
as UNC members.24 North Korea rejected it.25

On June 29, the MFA issued a memorandum demanding the withdrawal of
U.S. Forces Korea (USFK) and the conclusion of a U.S.–DPRK peace agreement.
It also said that if these demands were difficult to achieve, then at least the UNC
should be dissolved. It suggested that the DPRK was willing to take a step-by-
step approach to the eventual establishment of a new peace regime. Moreover, it
mentioned the Pueblo incident of 1968 and the helicopter incident of 1994,
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highlighting that these incidents were resolved not through the Armistice system
but through “direct DPRK–U.S. negotiations.”26 On July 5, the KPA Panmun-
jom Mission warned that unless an institutional mechanism was established,
unforeseen incidents could continue to occur.27

Its prediction was certainly accurate. On the same day, the KPA temporarily
inserted a platoon-sized force into the JSA. On August 15, it permitted a large
demonstration of force in the JSA, and deployed more than 35 guards.28 On
August 22, one KPA officer and seven soldiers approached an MDL marker and
removed it from its position. The KPA showed movements in the area again on
September 4 and 7. On September 16, one KPA officer and five soldiers crossed
the MDL and placed nine wooden stakes about five meters south of MDL
Marker 1274.29 When it became clear that the United States was not responding,
North Korea took further steps to break the impasse. On February 15, 1996, six
KPA soldiers equipped with automatic weapons and anti-tank rocket grenade
launchers entered the JSA, and remained there for approximately 15 minutes.30

Then on February 22, the MFA officially made a three-point proposal to the
United States, which included: signing a “tentative agreement”; organizing a
U.S.–DPRK joint military body; and negotiating to discuss these two issues. The
tentative agreement would replace the Armistice Agreement until a peace
agreement was completed. The U.S.–DPRK joint military body would replace
the MAC and be responsible for implementing the tentative agreement.31

After the MFA proposed the tentative agreement, North Korea mounted a
major military-diplomatic offensive to nullify the Armistice. In a rare public
announcement made by the First Vice Minister of People’s Armed Forces, Kim
Kwang Jin said that the status of the MDL and the DMZ could no longer be
maintained.32 On April 4, the KPA Panmunjom Mission declared that the KPA
would relinquish its duties to maintain and control the MDL and the DMZ.

In the evening on April 5, 6, and 7, the KPA reinforced its guard force in the
JSA with more than 200 additional soldiers armed with assault rifles, heavy and
medium machine guns, rocket grenade launchers, and recoilless rifles. These
soldiers remained in the JSA for several hours each time, constructing defensive
positions.33 On April 9, Kim Kwang Jin reiterated that the southern area of the
DMZ had lost its meaning as a buffer zone, and said that the question was not
whether a war would break out, but when.34 On April 11, seven armed KPA
soldiers crossed the MDL, intruded 300 meters into the south, and remained in
the area for 45 minutes. On the same day, 10 KPA soldiers occupied hills 200
and 300 meters south of the MDL, and stayed there until 0230 hours on the next
day.35 On April 19, two North Korean patrol boats crossed the Northern Limit Line
(NLL) – a quasi-maritime borderline separating the North and the South in the
Yellow Sea.

The South Korean government reacted strongly to the armed demonstrations
in the JSA. On April 5, the U.S.–ROK Combined Forces Command (CFC)
raised the Watch Condition (WATCHCON) from three to two at the demand of
the South Korean side. The next day, the ROK government summoned an
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emergency National Security Council (NSC) meeting.36 On April 9, the ROK
Army Chief of Staff issued an order for his men to immediately take measures
according to the rules of engagement against the North Korean intrusions into
the southern portion of the DMZ.37

Behind the scenes, there was an important perception gap between the ROK
government and the U.S.-led UNC. While the ROK government took the inci-
dents very seriously, the UNC did not view the North Korean actions as parti-
cularly alarming.38 In fact, when a similar incident occurred in February 1995,
the South Korean government regarded it as an attempt by the North Koreans to
further their diplomatic goals.39 The U.S. side viewed this response differently,
assessing that the South Koreans wanted to prevent, or at least slow down, the
improvement of U.S.–DPRK relations, which appeared to be taking place at
Seoul’s expense.40 Washington also assessed that the general election scheduled
in South Korea for April 11 likely influenced the behavior of the South Korean
government, causing President Kim Young Sam to play up the seriousness of the
military confrontation in order to marshal domestic support for his conservative
platform.41

While the North Korean activities on the ground increased, similar harass-
ments took place at sea. On April 19, two weeks after the armed demonstrations
occurred in the JSA, two North Korean high-speed patrol boats crossed the NLL
into a position about nine nautical miles southwest of Yeonpyeongdo islands and
stayed there for one and a half hours. When the ROK Navy dispatched several
vessels to the spot, the patrol boats returned to the north of the NLL.42 On May
23, five North Korean patrol boats crossed the NLL and proceeded about four
nautical miles south near Yeonpyeongdo. The ROK Navy and ROK Air Force
quickly sent high-speed boats and fighters to the scene. The North Korean boats
returned north after staying in the area for one and a half hours.

Unintended consequences of the submarine incident

On September 17, 1996, a North Korean Sang o-class special-purpose midget
submarine ran aground 200 meters off the east coast of South Korea while
approaching the coast to recover infiltrators. Consequently, 24 crew members
were killed and one was captured.43 After a pause, the North Korean Ministry of
People’s Armed Forces announced that the submarine was on a routine training
mission and seemed to have drifted down the South Korean coast due to engine
trouble. The ministry demanded the return of the submarine and the crew, both
deceased and living.44 North Korea did not miss the opportunity to make its case
even on this inadvertent situation. The KPA demanded that the “U.S. side”
return the submarine and personnel, and increased pressure for holding general-
officer-level talks.45

Although the incident was settled by the end of the year with both Koreas
making concessions, U.S.–ROK relations deteriorated further in the process.
While the South Korean government took a tough position, the United States
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tried to resolve the issue in a more subdued manner. The South Korean govern-
ment demanded a “clear apology” and assurance that no such incident would be
repeated. It also suspended its support for the Korean Peninsula Energy Devel-
opment Organization (KEDO) light-water reactor construction project.46

Reportedly, President Kim Young Sam even contemplated a retaliatory air strike
against a North Korean submarine base in Wonsan.47 The United States, on the
other hand, was focused on preventing North Korea from resuming its nuclear
development and further complicating the situation.48 What was worse, just after
the submarine was discovered, U.S. Secretary of State Warren Christopher urged
“all parties” – not only North Korea but also South Korea – to exercise restraint.
President Kim was infuriated by these remarks.49 The mishandling of the situa-
tion on the U.S. part, combined with Kim’s high-handed and rigid attitude,
brought U.S.–ROK relations to one of its lowest points in history. In November,
a New York Times correspondent wrote that some U.S. officials seemed to feel
that their biggest headache on the peninsula was “the government in the
South.”50

Escalations on the ground and at sea

In February 1997, the KPA softened its position and accepted the UNC demand
that all participants on the UNC side have equal voice in discussions. It also
agreed that only Armistice-related issues would be discussed in the General-
Officer Talks (GOT) and that the GOT would be held in the MAC conference
room.51 This arrangement was rejected by the ROK government, however.52 By
then, President Kim’s attitude had become extremely rigid. Faced with South
Korea’s rejection of the GOT, North Korea started to raise tensions on the
peninsula once again. From March through June, KPA personnel repeatedly
intruded deep into the south across the MDL. On April 10, South Korean troops
exchanged warning shots with North Korean counterparts across the MDL.
The incident occurred approximately 90 minutes before U.S. Defense Secretary
William Cohen arrived at Panmunjom.53

Pyongyang’s escalation was also seen at sea. On June 5, a North Korean high-
speed patrol boat, together with nine fishing boats, crossed the NLL near Yeon-
pyeongdo. When three ROK Navy fast boats approached the North Korean
patrol boat, the patrol boat fired three gun rounds into the water. A South Korean
fast boat responded by shooting two rounds from a 40-millimeter gun as a
warning. The North Korean boats returned to their side about one and a half
hours after crossing the NLL.54

After a number of near clashes, a serious firefight finally broke out just one
month later. On July 16, a 14-man KPA patrol team crossed the MDL in
mountainous Cheorwon, Gangwon-do, advancing about 100 meters into the
southern DMZ. Ignoring repeated verbal warnings and warning shots from the
UNC guard post, the KPA patrol continued its activity. Then, almost immedi-
ately after a UNC guard post fired directly at the vicinity of the KPA patrol, the
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KPA patrol returned fire. Two KPA guard posts in the area fired about 80 aimed
rifle and machine-gun shots at two UNC guard posts. South Korean guards
opened machine-gun fire, and the North Koreans responded by firing one 107-
millimeter recoilless shell and a score of mortar shells to the southern side. In
response, South Korean soldiers fired scores of rifle shots and one 57-millimeter
round from a recoilless gun. The firefight lasted approximately one hour. While
there were no casualties on the UNC side, some KPA soldiers appeared to have
been injured or killed.55

The military significance of this incident was that the North Koreans went so
far as to use mortars and recoilless guns, and the South Koreans fired directly at
a KPA patrol for the first time in years. The direct shots from the South Koreans
seemed to have taken the North Koreans by surprise.56 After the armed clash,
the North Koreans began to give advance notice of reconnaissance activities
within the DMZ. The July 16 incident made it clear that not only the North
Koreans but also the South Koreans were prepared to escalate. A spokesman of
the ROK Joint Chiefs of Staff said that the clash was a “good lesson for the
North Koreans.”57

This incident made Americans even more concerned about a possible escala-
tion and, therefore, more interested in confidence-building and tension-reduction
measures than before.58 Despite the military failure, North Korea was quick in
taking the opportunity to make its point. The KPA Panmunjom Mission claimed
that the United States was partially responsible for the incident since it had
ignored the proposal for a tentative agreement and left the management of the
DMZ to the “south Korean puppets.”59

After Kim Dae Jung was inaugurated as president, the South Korean govern-
ment eased its position and let the UNC and the KPA formally agree on the
establishment of the GOT. In February 1998, the UNC suggested that the GOT
replace the MAC plenary, while adding that the four UNC representatives from
South Korea, the United States, Britain, and another UNC member country have
“equal voice” within these talks. The KPA side objected to the equal-voice
arrangement, and questioned who would be the head of delegation for the
UNC.60

In the process, the North Koreans resorted to force again. Twelve KPA
soldiers crossed the MDL and intruded 40–50 meters into the southern DMZ on
March 12. On May 18, North Korea warned that it would no longer allow UNC
helicopter flights over the JSA. On June 11, a KPA soldier fired an automatic
rifle from his guard post into a UNC guard post and at the top of an observation
tower.61 The UNC and the KPA finally signed the agreement for procedures for
the GOT on June 8.62 North Korea never fully accepted the interpretation
that the GOT would be the forum held between the UNC and the KPA, how-
ever. The North Korean media characterized these talks as ones between the
KPA and the “International Allied Forces.”63 The KPA subsequently proposed
in a general-officer informal meeting a tripartite agreement between the DPRK,
the United States, and the ROK to establish a Joint Military Mechanism. The
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KPA claimed that the ROK Army would be included in the new scheme only
because they had a large army. The UNC regarded this proposal as an attempt by
the KPA to undermine the UNC and the Armistice Agreement, and therefore
rejected it.64

The Battle of Yeonpyeong and the “Military Demarcation
Line at the West Sea”65

In June 1999, North Korea embarked on yet another military-diplomatic offen-
sive to nullify the Armistice Agreement by rekindling the dispute surrounding
the status of the waters around the Northwest Islands and the NLL. In the
morning of June 7, North Korean patrol boats began crossing the NLL to the
south, and continued doing so until June 15 when a major exchange of fire took
place between the two navies.

The first sign of this new North Korean offensive was seen on June 6. On this
day, the North Korean Central News Agency (KCNA) reported that South
Korean combat vessels had crossed the “sea boundary line” and intruded deep
into the “territorial waters” of the DPRK.66 North Korean maritime operations
began in earnest on June 7. At 0910 hours, a North Korean patrol boat crossed
the NLL, about 5.6 nautical miles northeast of Yeonpyeongdo. Later, two more
boats joined in the operation, and 12 fishing boats operated in the area. The
fishing boats belonged to the Korean People’s Navy and, therefore, were practi-
cally part of it. The ROK Navy sent a total of five fast boats and four patrol
ships to the area, and conducted maneuvers to prevent the North Korean vessels
from crossing the NLL.

On June 8, seven North Korean patrol boats repeatedly crossed the NLL
between 0555 hours and 2320 hours, and 17 North Korean fishing boats
operated in the area. The South Korean side deployed 12 fast boats and four
patrol ships to the area. At 1145 hours, South Korean fishing boats operating in
the area were ordered to return home.67 At 1645 hours, the JCS issued Operation
Directive No. 99–5, ordering the South Korean forces to react boldly against the
North Korean provocations according to the rules of engagement. The next day,
on June 9, six North Korean patrol boats together with five fishing boats crossed
the NLL to the south once again. The South Korean side maintained local mili-
tary superiority by dispatching 12 fast boats and four patrol boats. At 0635
hours, a North Korean patrol boat veered toward one of the ROK Navy fast
boats, slightly damaging it. At this point, the UNC proposed that they hold a GOT
meeting, and the MND issued a statement calling on North Korea to stop provo-
cative activities. On June 10, South Korean fast craft lightly clashed with four
North Korean patrol boats in an attempt to stop the NLL crossings. There were
approximately 20 North Korean fishing boats fishing in the area. Having
determined that the NLL crossings were deliberately executed, the ROK gov-
ernment summoned the NSC Standing Committee, and decided to firmly defend
the NLL.
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On June 11, ROK Navy fast boats conducted “tail-pushing operations” and a
“bumping offensive” against North Korean vessels based on the decision the pre-
vious day to push Northern intruders back to the north of the NLL. This was the
first offensive measure that South Korea took in this confrontation. As a result,
two of the middle-sized North Korean patrol boats were severely damaged in the
tail, and another two slightly damaged. One of the South Korean fast craft suf-
fered a punctured hull, and three others were slightly damaged. North Korean
actions further escalated on June 12. The North Korean vessels penetrated
deeper into the south of the NLL, and attempted to bump into the South Korean
vessels. The South Korean vessels avoided the bumping attempts and maneuv-
ered to encircle the North Korean vessels. On June 13 and 14, North Korea
increased the pressure on the South Korean side by mobilizing three torpedo
boats. Under such circumstances, President Kim Dae Jung emphasized both the
need to defend the NLL and the need to avoid becoming the first to open fire,
escalating the situation.68 On June 14, the ROK Navy deployed two Pohang-
class corvettes equipped with Exocet anti-ship missiles and 76-millimeter guns in
the area.

All told, between June 7 and 14, North Korean patrol boats crossed the NLL
52 times, while fishing boats crossed 62 times. Moreover, the North Korean side at
one point deployed a buoy with a white flag between Socheongdo and Yeon-
pyeongdo on the 12-nautical-mile line from its coastline.69

Then on June 15, the “Battle of Yeonpyeong” broke out. At the time, there
were seven North Korean and 13 South Korean vessels in the theater, with 20
North Korean fishing boats operating about one nautical mile south of the
NLL. At 0845 hours, four North Korean patrol boats started to cross the NLL
into the south and conducted bumping operations against five South Korean fast
craft. Each side tried to outmaneuver the other. At 0904 hours, three North
Korean torpedo boats joined in, and quickly approached five South Korean fast
craft. The South Korean fast craft outmaneuvered them, however, and responded
by beginning to conduct their own “bumping offensive.” Five of them hit six
North Korean vessels in the tail. At 0928 hours, severely bumped by a South
Korean fast craft in the tail and pushed by another in the side, one of the North
Korean patrol boats, PT 381, started to fire machine guns and 25-millimeter guns
at two South Korean fast craft. The South Korean side responded by firing a 20-
millimeter Gatling gun as well as 40-millimeter and 76-millimeter guns. The
battle lasted for 14 minutes with the South Korean side firing a total of 4,584
rounds of ammunition. The South Korean side then exercised restraint, stopping
short of imposing further damage on the North Korean vessels.70 By the time the
battle ended, at least one 40-ton North Korean torpedo boat was sunk with its crew,
one 420-ton patrol craft was severely damaged, two 215-ton patrol boats were
crippled, and two 70-ton patrol boats were slightly damaged. The MND estimated
that 17–30 or more North Korean crew members were killed,71 but other estimates
suggested that the actual number was more than 100.72 On the South Korean side,
one patrol ship and four fast craft were damaged, and nine sailors were slightly
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injured. By 1100 hours, all the North Korean vessels had returned north and the
NLL crossings had ceased.

Meanwhile, the defense readiness level of the South Korean armed forces in
the theater was raised a notch given the possible resumption of hostilities and the
U.S.–ROK Military Committee Meeting Steering Session decided to raise the
WATCHCON to level two.73 The North Korean air force put its fighters on alert
with their engines burning.74 The North Korean official news agency acknowl-
edged the damage that the Korean People’s Navy had suffered. The KCNA
denounced the South Korean “armed provocation” and praised the restraint that
the North Korean side had exercised.75

Despite the military defeat in the battle, North Korea boldly initiated a
diplomatic offensive vis à vis the United States and South Korea at the next
GOT. In the sixth GOT held on June 15, the KPA side claimed that South
Korea had fired on their ships first. It denounced the South Korean naval
vessels for intruding into what it called the “coastal waters,” or the waters
“contiguous … to the land area of Korea” under the jurisdiction of the KPA
Supreme Commander as defined in Paragraph 13b of the Armistice Agree-
ment. This claim was similar to the one North Korea put forward in December
1973. The KPA side also contended that the NLL had been established uni-
laterally by the UNC and that the KPA had neither been informed nor recog-
nized the line.

In the seventh GOT held on June 22, the KPA chief delegate claimed that
according to the Armistice Agreement, the Northwest Islands were within the
North Korean territorial waters. In order to claim that the NLL did not fit in
well with the Armistice Agreement and to highlight the difference between the
U.S. and South Korean positions on the status of the NLL, the KPA chief
delegate said, “So, I think you should make clear that you are giving up the
subparagraph 13b of the Armistice Agreement by insisting on the Northern
Limit Line. I await your clear answer concerning this issue.” The South
Korean delegate responded by suggesting that the North and the South could
discuss a new non-aggression separation line to replace the NLL in the inter-
Korean Joint Military Commission in accordance with the 1991 North–South
Basic Agreement.76

In the eighth GOT on July 2, the KPA presented a long and elaborate expla-
nation and justification of its position, touching on international law, debate
within South Korea, statements made by the U.S. government, and remarks by a
South Korean minister.77 Though self-serving, the discussion was highly articulate.
The KPA delegate stated:

The international Maritime Law clearly provides that the territorial
waters of each nation includes the waters within twelve miles of
starting line for reckoning. The International Law stipulates that in
those countries like our country that is under the special situation of
the Armistice, the issue of the waters of the islands which is inside of
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the opponent’s territorial waters shall be agreed upon by both sides on
the basis of the existing Armistice Agreement.

Having unilaterally established the so-called [Northern] Limit Line
without any consultation in advance with us, you, however, are vio-
lating our right over territorial waters. … Unlike South Korea’s posi-
tion that the waters in question is its territorial waters, Spokesman of
the U.S. Department of State, mentioning about the West Sea incident
on June 17 last, announced that the so-called Northern Limit Line has
[sic] never been officially recognized and, therefore, North Korean
combat vessels could not be construed to have violated territorial waters
of South Korea.

A Minister of Foreign Affairs and Trade of South Korea admitted
that here existed a forum in connection with Northern Limit Line in the
West Sea and proposed that this issue be discussed between the North
and South. … At a forum for the peaceful solution of the belligerence
in the West Sea held in South Korea on June 18 last, a South Korean
professor maintained that the crossing over of the Northern Limit Line
by the North’s patrol boats is [sic] hardly to be seen as an intrusion of
the territorial waters, since the Northern Limit Line was a unilateral
line. … [W]hich part of the [North–South] agreement admits the
Northern Limit Line? Article 20 of Chapter 5 of the Supplementary
Agreement of the North–South Agreement stipulates that the North and
South shall earnestly abide the present Armistice Agreement until dur-
able peace is achieved between the North and the South. … As for the
past practice, our side has no knowledge of it [the NLL], and has never
recognized it. We have set up some sea lanes for ourselves, for our
vessels, as was required by our side, and it has nothing to do with your
side.78

The South Korean member of the UNC delegation and KPA representatives
exchanged harsh words during the talks.

In the ninth GOT held on July 21,79 the KPA proposed a “maritime demarca-
tion line at the West Sea” and insisted that this issue be settled on the basis of the
Armistice Agreement and international law. The line extended about 90 nautical
miles southwest from the western end of the boundary between Hwanghae-do
and Gyeonggi-do provinces on the west coast, located far to the south of the
NLL.80 In response, the UNC proposed implementing confidence-building mea-
sures, and stated that the North–South Joint Military Commission was the correct
forum for negotiating maritime boundaries. In the 11th GOT on September 1, the
KPA asked for UNC’s final position on the North Korean proposal.81 The UNC
rejected it.

On September 2, the KPA General Staff declared the establishment of the
“Military Demarcation Line at the West Sea of Korea.” It announced that the
waters north of the line already proposed by the KPA would be waters under its
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military control, and that its “self-defensive right” to the line would be exer-
cised by “various means and methods.”82 The ROK government refused to
accept this declaration and stressed the validity of the NLL.83 The UNC’s
reaction to the North Korean announcement was to just ignore it. The UNC
decided that: (a) there was no legal basis for the North Korean decision; and
(b) the North Koreans did not have the capability to militarily enforce the
announced provisions.84

Peaceful means of undermining the Northern Limit Line85

After a lull, North Korea resumed its campaigns to alter the maritime order. On
June 2, 2001, three North Korean cargo ships separately sailed through the Jeju
Strait off the southwestern tip of the Korean Peninsula. When ROK Navy ves-
sels contacted the North Korean ships via radio communications, they replied
and revealed their destinations, the contents of their cargo, and the number of the
crew. The South Korean navy vessels conducted low-key maneuvers to prevent
the North Korean ships from passing the Jeju Strait. The North Korean ships
ignored the South Korean demand to move out of its territorial waters, however,
reported that as foreign ships they had chosen the route, and requested the South
Korean side to help them navigate safely. They also added that they could not
change course because they were “under the orders from above.”86 The South
Korean government convened the NSC Standing Committee meeting and deci-
ded that the North Korean ships’ passage through its territorial waters would be
allowed this time, but that South Korea would take strong measures next time it
happened. The decision was conveyed to the North Korean side. On June 3, the
MND notified the North Korean side of the intrusion into South Korea’s terri-
torial waters by three North Korean ships. The North Korean side denied the
allegation.

On June 4, one of the North Korean ships that had sailed through the Jeju
Strait crossed the NLL from the south between Daecheongdo and Yeon-
pyeongdo at 1105 hours and entered the North Korean port of Haeju. This ship
was carrying the rice provided by the United Nations World Food Programme
as humanitarian aid, making it difficult for the South Korean authority to take
strong measures against it. On the same day, another North Korean cargo ship
intruded into South Korean territorial waters off the southwest coast of the
Korean Peninsula en route from China to a North Korean port on the east coast
at 1425 hours. As the ship headed for the Jeju Strait, the South Korean navy
ordered one destroyer, one large transport ship, four corvettes, and three fast
boats to prevent it from entering the strait. The North Korean ship still mana-
ged to sail through the strait. After these events, South Korea’s minister of
unification warned North Korea that stronger measures would be taken next
time the same type of incident happened. At the same time, however, he pro-
posed the conclusion of an inter-Korean maritime agreement for the purpose of
preventing similar events from happening in the future.
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On June 5, two other North Korean cargo ships, one travelling from Japan to
the west coast and the other sailing from the west to the east coast, reported to
the South Korean side that they would use the route south of Jeju Island and
would not pass South Korea’s “territorial waters.” They sailed accordingly. The
South Korea government later explained that the North Korean ships did not
have the right of innocent passage through the Jeju Strait since the relationship
between the North and the South was regulated by Armistice Agreement and,
therefore, the provisions on the right of innocent passage in the United Nations
Convention on the Law of the Sea did not apply.

The 2002 West Sea incident87

On June 29, 2002, two North Korean patrol boats separately crossed the NLL
in the Yellow Sea. The first boat crossed the line at 0954 hours about seven
nautical miles west of Yeonpyeongdo and the second boat at 1001 hours about
14 nautical miles west of the island. In response, two separate groups of two
South Korean patrol boats were dispatched to confront them. At about 1025
hours, while the South Korean boats were sending warning signals with loud-
speakers and sirens, one of the North Korean boats suddenly opened fire with
an 85-millimeter gun, a 35-millimeter auxiliary gun, and hand-carried rockets at
the distance of about 500 yards. The 85-millimeter gun hit the South Korean
boat in the engine room. The South Korean boats quickly returned fire. About
10 minutes later, four other South Korean patrol boats and two corvettes joined
in and started shooting. At this point, North Korean missile craft floating near
the Sagot naval base turned its targeting radar on. At 1043 hours, one of the
North Korean patrol boats went up in flames. At 1050 hours, the North Korean
patrol boats returned north, and the South Korean side stopped firing at 1056
hours. As a result of the battle, one patrol boat was sunk, six sailors were
killed, and 18 others were injured on the South Korean side. On the North
Korean side, one patrol boat was damaged, and approximately 30 sailors were
estimated to have been killed or injured.

Later on that day, the South Korean defense minister denounced the North
Korean action and demanded an apology and the punishment of those who were
responsible for the action. The Commander of the UNC described the North
Korean action as a serious violation of the Armistice Agreement.88 On July 25,
the head of the North Korean delegation to the inter-Korean ministerial talks sent
a telephone message to the south, which read, “Feeling regretful for the unfore-
seen armed clash that occurred in the West Sea recently, we are of the view that
both sides should make joint efforts to prevent the recurrence of similar incidents
in future.”89 This North Korean message was significant in that it was the second
such apology since the Axe Murder incident and the first public expression of
apology. However, North Korea neither took responsibility nor punished those
who were responsible for the clash.
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Critical factors

Koreanization of the defense of South Korea

Taking into account the end of the Cold War and the power shift between the
two Koreas, the United States and South Korea started Koreanizing the defense
of South Korea in the early 1990s. In 1990, the United States announced a three-
stage plan to reduce U.S. forces in East Asia, including South Korea. In 1991, it
was announced that there were no U.S. nuclear weapons deployed in South
Korea. In 1992, the U.S.–ROK Combined Field Army was dissolved. In 1994,
the Armistice or peacetime operational control (hereafter referred to as peacetime
OPCON) over designated South Korean units exercised by the Commander in
Chief of the U.S.–ROK Combined Forces Command (CINCCFC), a U.S. Army
general, was transferred to the ROK JCS Chairman.90 Against this backdrop, the
United States and South Korea initiated Koreanization of the Armistice
mechanism as well. In March 1991, ROK Army Maj. Gen. Hwang Won Tak was
appointed Senior Member of UNC MAC.91 Furthermore, in October 1991, the
ROK Army took full responsibility for guarding the entire DMZ except for the
JSA.92

The Koreanization efforts had several important consequences. First, the
transfer of the peacetime OPCON created a situation in which the United States
and South Korea could seriously disagree over how and what kind of military
actions should be taken, particularly in response to North Korean provocations.
When the CINCCFC had peacetime OPCON over both U.S. and ROK forces,
disagreements between the United States and South Korea could not become too
serious because the American general had the ultimate authority for making
decisions. After the transfer, however, disagreements between the United States
and South Korea could actually create serious tension between the two over how to
use force. Second, the transfer also created a situation in which the North Koreans
could militarily harass the South Koreans without directly confronting the Americans.
Now that the South Koreans controlled the ROK forces in low-intensity conflicts
like the naval battle in 1999, North Korea could highlight the disagreements
between the United States and South Korea over the NLL by militarily engaging
the ROK Navy without offending the Americans. Third, the transfer of the
peacetime OPCON, which had eliminated the need to undergo a complex com-
bined decision-making process, enabled the South Koreans to act more flexibly,
swiftly, and effectively than before.93 Finally, the Koreanization of the defense
of the DMZ made the JSA practically the only place on land where the North
Koreans could directly harass the Americans.94

Debate over the Northern Limit Line

While the North Korean government rejected the validity of the NLL, the South
Korean government strongly argued for it, basing its argument mainly on the 1991
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North-South Basic Agreement and the 1994 United Nations Convention on the Law
of the Sea (UNCLOS).95 According to the Defense White Paper 1999, the South
Korean argument can be summarized as follows:96

(a) The NLL has worked effectively as a maritime boundary for the last 46
years, and North Korea has tacitly accepted and abided by it. Therefore, the
principles of effectiveness and consolidation validate the NLL;

(b) According to the UNCLOS, the use of the median line in determining terri-
torial seas does not apply “where it is necessary by reason of historic title or
other special circumstances;”97

(c) The Basic Agreement specified that the “South–North demarcation line and
the areas for nonaggression shall be identical with … the areas that each side
has exercised jurisdiction over until the present time.”98 The NLL has
demarcated the areas of jurisdiction until the present time and, therefore, it is
deemed to be a legitimate demarcation line; and

(d) The validity of NLL is not an issue to be discussed at the GOT. Until North
and South Korea finalize the sea demarcation line through a separate agree-
ment, the ROK government will continue to enforce the NLL as the sea
demarcation line.

The South Korean position was not without weaknesses, however. First,
South Korea contended that North Korea had tacitly accepted and abided by
the NLL, but in fact North Korea had officially challenged it since 1973 both
militarily and diplomatically. Also, when the UNC created the NLL, it did not
inform the North Koreans of the line. Moreover, although North Korea abided
by the NLL most of the time, it had done so not necessarily because it recog-
nized the NLL but because it understood that the crossings of it would be
countered militarily by the South Korean side. If North Korean behavior was
affected by South Korea’s military force, the principle of consolidation might
not apply.99

Second, the name “Northern Limit Line” was not mentioned in the Basic
Agreement. In fact, even South Koreans distinguished between the NLL and the
“sea demarcation line.” From the reading of South Korean official pronounce-
ments, it could be inferred, on the one hand, that the NLL was a line whose
existence was justified by the requirements of the Armistice Agreement, and was
administered by the military for control purposes. The sea demarcation line, on the
other hand, was a conceptual line defined in the Basic Agreement and adminis-
tered by the Ministry of Unification.100

Third, the South Koreans were confused as to whether the area to the south of
the NLL was their territorial sea or not. The South Korean defense minister said
in June 1999 that South Korea would defend the areas to the south of the NLL
as its “territorial sea.” But a JCS representative asserted that the buffer zone,
located to the south of the NLL, was not “territorial sea,” and that the JCS
simply called it “haeyeog (sea area).”101
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Finally, some of the MND materials justified the NLL by claiming that the NLL
approximately connected the median points between Hwanghae-do’s coastline and
the Northwest Islands and, therefore, the NLL reflected the principles of international
law.102 However, if the contemporary international law of the sea is used to define
territorial waters, part of the area to the south of the NLL between Socheongdo and
Yeonpyeongdo would become North Korean territory.

Moreover, there were some important differences between the United States
and South Korea. First, the United States regarded the area in which the naval
battle occurred in 1999 as international waters.103 Also, the U.S. position was that
there was a dispute over the territories and jurisdictions in the area.104 Based on
such an interpretation, the U.S. Department of State explained why the North
Koreans should still refrain from crossing the NLL as follows:

… the Northern Limit Line was and still is demarcated by the UN
[United Nations] command as a practical way to separate forces. … We
believe it’s been an effective means to prevent military tension between
North and South Korean military forces for 46 years, since 1953. So it’s
served a useful purpose that has benefited both sides.

We continue to urge the DPRK to recognize this practicality by
keeping its craft north of the line. In 1953, the area was a zone of
conflict, you’ll recall – a war zone; and territorial jurisdictions, they
remain in dispute today. Therefore, we believe this is a practical mea-
sure, or a practical mechanism that has allowed there to be a reduction
in tensions or the means of diffusing tensions.105

The U.S. argument in support of the NLL was not based on law but on prac-
ticality.106

Second, while the ROK was a signatory to the Basic Agreement, the United
States was not and therefore interpretation of the status of the NLL would
inevitably differ between the two allied partners. South Korea could reasonably
claim the status of the NLL as the demarcation line of the “nonaggression
areas of the sea” defined in the Basic Agreement. Neither the UNC nor the
United States, however, had a legal basis to do the same.

Developments in the International Law of the Sea

Developments in international law, and in particular the adoption of the
UNCLOS, seemed to have encouraged the North Koreans to renew their terri-
torial claims and their military-diplomatic raid on the NLL. Having entered into
force in November 1994, the UNCLOS provided that every state had “the right to
establish the breadth of its territorial sea up to a limit not exceeding 12 nautical
miles, measured from baselines determined in accordance with this Convention.”
By formalizing the 12-nautical-mile territorial sea demarcation – the claim long
upheld by the North Korean side – the Convention seemed to have given the
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North Koreans ammunition.107 Minju Joson, a DPRK government daily, wrote
in June 1999 that the waters at issue in the Northwest Islands area unquestion-
ably belonged to the DPRK “in the light of the international convention” defin-
ing each country’s water line within 12 nautical miles.108

The North Korean contention could backfire on itself, nevertheless, for con-
temporary international law allows an island to enjoy “the territorial sea, the
contiguous zone, the exclusive economic zone and the continental shelf.”109

According to this principle, the Northwest Islands could have their own ter-
ritorial waters as the UNC side contended. Finally, while South Korea ratified
the UNCLOS in 1995, North Korea had yet to do so.110

Local military balance in the Northwest Islands Area

In 1999, the military balance in the Northwest Islands area was as follows. The
Korean People’s Navy had some 70 vessels including 23 torpedo boats and four
fast missile boats deployed in the naval base at Sagot under the Eighth Naval
Squadron. These were relatively small vessels, however. There were also 76-
millimeter and 122-millimeter coastal guns and Silkworm surface-to-ship missiles
deployed in the southern tip of the Ongjin Peninsula about seven nautical miles
to the north of Yeonpyeongdo. MiG-17s/19s as well as An-2s were deployed in
airbases in Onchon and Taetan.111 South Korea’s Second Fleet Command in
Incheon possessed a much smaller number of ships in the theater, but they
included corvettes, frigates, and destroyers with much larger displacement than
the North Korean counterparts.112 One marine brigade as well as coastal guns
and radar sites were deployed in Baengnyeongdo; fast craft and one marine
regiment were deployed in Daecheongdo and Yeonpyeongdo.113 In June 1999,
the South Korean side maintained 21 vessels comprised of 14 fast boats, four
corvettes, one rescue ship, and two transport ships in the theater during the
period of tension.114

By 1999, the local military balance in the Northwest Islands area had shifted
in favor of South Korea. Learning lessons from the West Sea incident in the
early 1970s, South Korea procured new fast boats and corvettes in the 1970s and
the 1980s as part of the Force Improvement Program. These vessels played the
central role in the Battle of Yeonpyeong. South Korea’s victory resulted in large
part from the superiority in speed and maneuverability as well as firepower and
fire control system. The better speed and maneuverability made it possible for
the South Korean boats to successfully execute “tail-pushing operations” and
“bumping offensives” against the North Korean patrol boats and torpedo boats.
The superior firepower and fire control system enabled the South Korean vessels
to overwhelm their counterparts. In addition, by 1999, South Korea had acquired
a number of ships equipped with anti-ship missiles, compromising North
Korea’s superiority in this category. The South Korean side could, therefore,
credibly deter North Korea from escalating the situation. The Korea Naval
Tactical Data System, introduced to the ROK Navy in late 1995, also played an
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important role in the operations in June 1999. This system enabled the navy
command to instantaneously acquire tactical data such as location, speed, and
direction of ships and aircraft in the theater.115

Characteristics

Location and timing

North Korea’s military actions took place primarily in the JSA, DMZ, and in the
Northwest Islands area. The JSA and the Northwest Islands area were particu-
larly important stages for the North Korean armed demonstrations. Incidents in
the Northwest Islands area often took place west of Yeonpyeongdo where the
validity of the NLL was most contentious. The naval battles took place about six
nautical miles west of Yeonpyeongdo in 1999 and 14 nautical miles west of the
island in 2002.

Systematic military-diplomatic operations began in earnest in April 1994 at
the height of the nuclear crisis. Major armed demonstrations in the JSA were
performed repeatedly between 1994 and 1996. Hostile NLL crossings started to
take place in 1996, escalated in 1997, and culminated in the 1999 naval battle.
The North Korean navy achieved a perfect surprise in 2002 when it attacked the
South Korean navy in an apparent act of revenge for the 1999 defeat. The sur-
prise attack took place when the Korea/Japan World Cup soccer games were
successfully convened.

Forces involved and the type of use of force

Conventional ground and naval forces played the central role in the attacks
during this period. The use of commercial vessels as part of the broader military-
diplomatic campaigns was an action of ingenuity. The use of force was in most
cases indirect and coercive in nature. The North Korean actions in the JSA and
the Yellow Sea were all highly visible, often occurring in broad daylight, and
there was no attempt made by the North Korean side to conceal or hide what
they were doing. The purpose of the armed demonstrations in the JSA was dip-
lomatic and by no means simply military.

In the past, North Korea tended to use force where it had a local military
advantage. In June 1999, it did not have that advantage. North Korea still
instigated the action, nonetheless. This may have been because the North
Koreans might have judged that military victory was not necessary, and that
military confrontation and limited military skirmishes would be enough to
achieve its policy objectives. The 2002 naval clash was an aberration from the
prevailing tendency. In this case, military victory itself was one of the most
important objectives and therefore physical destruction rather than coercion was
its main goal.
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Intensity and targeting

Despite the harsh rhetoric, North Korean actions were carefully controlled and
limited at first. The intensity of its actions gradually heightened from July 1997,
and serious shooting incidents occurred in 1999 and 2002. The North Koreans
did not seek to escalate the situation excessively, though. During the 1990s, no
Americans or South Koreans were killed. The 2002 naval clash was an aberra-
tion, as serious harm was inflicted on the South Koreans. Direct military attacks
did not continue after this incident, however.

The physical target of North Korean actions during this period was pre-
dominantly South Korean. When the North Koreans provoked confrontation in the
DMZ and the Northwest Islands area, it was always South Koreans that became
their target. Although there were live fire exchanges in the DMZ and the North-
west Islands area, there was no live fire exchange in the JSA where U.S. forces
were deployed. Although one U.S. Army helicopter was shot down in December
1994, this was the result of an accidental intrusion by the U.S. helicopter.

Military-diplomatic coordination

North Korea’s military and diplomatic actions were extremely well coordinated.
Major military actions almost always preceded or followed important diplomatic
moves. The basic pattern was: (a) harass and provoke South Koreans; (b) argue
that the tension was rising and that the situation could not be managed by the
North and the South; and (c) propose talks with Americans to establish a new
bilateral peace mechanism.

The organizations involved, such as the KPA, the KPA PanmunjomMission, and
the MFA, were very well coordinated. In fact, the KPA Panmunjom Mission
(formerly the KPA/CPV MAC) was controlled and managed jointly by the
Workers’ Party’s Organisation and Guidance Department, the KPA and the
MFA.116

Assessment

Improving relations with the United States

The North Korean actions were part of a broader strategy to improve rela-
tions with the United States, executed in conjunction with Pyongyang’s nuclear
and missile diplomacy. More specifically, these actions were an attempt to create
a direct military-to-military channel between the United States and the DPRK
and, upon that basis, to conclude a bilateral peace agreement.

North Korea achieved several gains from its actions. First, the KPA Pan-
munjom Mission practically became a counterpart of the UNC. Second, the
North Koreans succeeded in having the UNC agree to the creation of the GOT.
Although they failed to establish exclusive U.S.–DPRK General-Officer Talks
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or U.S.–DPRK-ROK tripartite military talks, they succeeded in essentially
replacing the MAC plenary meeting with the GOT. Also, they succeeded in
keeping a mechanism in which an American – not a South Korean – general
officer was the chief interlocutor. Finally, North Korea managed to frustrate the
U.S.–ROK effort to establish peace on the Korean Peninsula through a multi-
lateral forum. In 1996, Clinton and Kim Young Sam proposed the Four Party
talks featuring the two Koreas, the United States and China, and its plenary
talks were held six times between December 1997 and August 1998. Never-
theless, North Korea continued to insist on the conclusion of a bilateral peace
agreement with the United States. As a result, the United States secretly pro-
posed to South Korea the conclusion of three separate peace agreements in July
1999 – one between the United States and North Korea, one between the two
Koreas, and one among the participants of the Four Party talks. South Korea
rejected this proposal.117

Despite these tactical gains, however, North Korea failed to achieve its most
important objective. After years of concentrated effort, Pyongyang ultimately
failed to conclude a peace agreement with the United States. A U.S. defense
official involved in the negotiations with the North Koreans in Panmunjom
concluded that North Korea’s provocative actions did not have much impact on
the U.S. position or behavior.118

Complicating U.S.–ROK relations

Another North Korean objective in this prolonged military-diplomatic campaign
was to complicate U.S.–ROK relations and diplomatically separate the two
countries. The North Koreans tried to achieve this by creating situations where
the differences between the two countries were highlighted. North Korean
actions proved to be quite successful, particularly in the late years of the Kim
Young Sam presidency.

Having witnessed the exceptionally strong reaction of South Korea to the
April 1996 incident in the JSA and the September 1996 submarine incident, the
United States became increasingly concerned about the possibility of escalation.
For this reason, in the meeting between President Clinton and President Kim
after the submarine incident, Clinton went so far as to bluntly seek to obtain “an
ironclad commitment” that South Korean forces would not initiate military
action against the North without American consent. Although a senior South
Korean official later said that he believed Clinton had been reassured by Kim’s
response, an American official thought Kim’s reaction had “still left room for
doubt.”119 The July 1997 incident fueled the already high level of mutual sus-
picion between the two countries. As a result, the United States became more
willing to establish a mechanism for building confidence and reducing tension
between North and South Korea. The tension between the United States and
South Korea lasted until the Kim Dae Jung administration came into office in
1998.
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After the inauguration of the Kim Dae Jung administration, the U.S.–ROK
relationship improved greatly. Although some disagreements remained, such as
the status of the NLL, they were generally technical rather than substantive political
issues. The two countries firmly shared the understanding that they should not play
into North Korea’s hand.

North Korean actions also sometimes worked against Pyongyang’s interests. As
a South Korean Defense Ministry official pointed out, the North Korean military
pressure actually made it more difficult for the United States to agree to North
Korean proposals even when these proposals were relatively reasonable. The
United States was worried that doing so might give the North the wrong
impression that its tactics were working and the U.S.–ROK alliance was in
disarray.120

Undermining the South Korean position

Related to the previous point, undermining the South Korean position
was another important objective of the North Korean military-diplomatic cam-
paign. There were several positive outcomes for the North Koreans in this
regard. First, North Korea succeeded in slowing down the Koreanization of
the Armistice. The Koreanization of the South Korean defense would have
undermined the North Korean position by weakening its contention that South
Korea had been “colonized” by the United States and that the South Koreans
were “puppets of American imperialists.” In this sense, keeping the South
Korean members subordinate to or at least equal to an American general officer
in the GOT, for example, provided the North Koreans with a good propaganda
asset.

Second, North Korea succeeded in undermining the South Korean claims on
the NLL. The sustained crossings of the NLL and the naval battles made it clear
that the South Korean position on the status of the NLL was not without weak-
nesses and inconsistencies. When the South Korean foreign minister said after
the 1999 naval battle that he was “open to discussing” the sea demarcation line,
he was facing a dilemma. On the one hand, not discussing the sea demarcation
line would prolong the conflict over the issue. On the other hand, starting the
discussion to establish the sea demarcation line might undermine the legitimacy
of the NLL.121 The North Korean actions in 1999, 2001, and 2002 stimulated a
heated and sometimes politically divisive debate in South Korea regarding the
legal status of the NLL and how to deal with North Korea’s provocations. The
NLL was no longer something “sacrosanct” and “inviolable” as it was several
years ago.122

Although a tactical success, the 2002 naval battle also produced negative
results for North Korea. The deaths of six young South Korean sailors and
their families’ expression of deep sorrow cemented the feeling in South Korea
that they would have to firmly defend what the young sailors had sacrificed
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their lives for, the NLL. North Korea’s naval action in 2002 made it even more
difficult politically for South Korean leaders to make any concessions on the
NLL.123 The North Korean actions thus backfired in this regard.

In the fourth Inter-Korean General-level Military Talks in May 2006, the
North Korean delegation proposed a new military demarcation line in the
Yellow Sea.124 The line mostly overlapped the NLL in the eastern and western
ends, but expanded deep into the south in the area between Socheongdo
and Yeonpyeongdo. This line indeed represented what the UNCLOS, under a
peacetime situation, would require North and South Korea to draw, as it was
the median line in the areas where the distance between the North Korean
coastline and the Northwest Islands was less than 24 nautical miles and a 12-
nautical-mile line where there was no South Korean island off the North
Korean coast.125 The South Korean side rejected the proposal, however.

Obtaining economic gains

The waters around the Northwest Islands were lucrative fishing areas, with the
areas to the south of the NLL four times as productive as the northern side.
For this reason, some believed that the active crossings of the NLL by North
Korea in June 1999 had much to do with economic imperatives, and in parti-
cular the need to acquire foreign currency. In fact, North Korea had exported
$2.8 million of blue crabs to Japan in 1998,126 and the NLL crossings tended
to increase during the blue crab season.127 South Korean Defense Minister
Cho Seong Tae speculated that, given the fact that KPA personnel manned
fishing boats operating in the area, the KPA might have been busy fulfilling its
required foreign currency acquisition quota.128 Also, North Korea wanted to
use this area as a shortcut for its maritime traffic, as it did back in the 1970s.
By crossing the NLL, North Korean ships could dramatically shorten the
sailing mileage to and from the Haeju port. North Korea ultimately failed to
achieve this objective with its military actions, as well, though.

In an indirect and subtle way, however, North Korea’s military actions
helped to bring about some gains for Pyongyang over time. In June 2004, two
years after the second naval clash in the Yellow Sea, North Korea and South
Korea signed the Inter-Korean Maritime Agreement and its Subsequent
Agreement. These agreements enabled commercial ships of both Koreas to sail
directly to the other side’s ports by using newly designated sea routes.129 In
August 2005, South Korea agreed to allow North Korean commercial vessels
to sail through the Jeju Strait.130 In the inter-Korean Summit meeting in
October 2007, the two sides agreed to establish a “special peace and coop-
eration zone in the West Sea,” which envisioned the creation of a joint fishing
zone and passage of commercial vessels via direct routes to and from Haeju
across the NLL. Although this agreement has not been implemented yet, it
included some of the outcomes that the North Koreans had sought to obtain
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through its military-diplomatic campaign.131 The North Korean actions in
2001 and 2002 seem to have worked as a catalyst in accelerating the process
leading up to these agreements because they created the feeling in South
Korea that conflict-prevention measures must be established as soon as possi-
ble to avoid future military crises.132 In the final analysis, however, South
Korea’s desire to engage North Korea and bolster wide-ranging North–South
interactions has played a much more important role in bringing about these
new agreements than the North Korean military actions.133

Consolidating Kim Jong Il’s position

North Korea might also have used the military actions in the JSA, the DMZ,
and the Northwest Islands area for domestic political purposes, namely to
consolidate Kim Jong Il’s position. Several indications support such a possi-
bility. First, in April 1996, just three days after the armed demonstrations took
place in the JSA, in a program celebrating the third anniversary of Kim Jong
Il’s election as the Chairman of the DPRK National Defence Commission, the
KCNA boasted that he had successfully frustrated “the enemy plot” in August
1976 with his boldness and intellectual ability when the “enemies perpetrated
the Panmunjom [Axe Murder] incident.”134 This seemed to have been an
attempt not only to enhance the effectiveness of the ongoing military-diplo-
matic maneuvers by reminding the Americans and the South Koreans of the
brutal axe killings in the JSA but also to praise Kim Jong Il as a new military
leader.

Second, on June 16, 1999, one day after the exchange of fire took place in
the Yellow Sea, the Workers’ Party daily Rodong Sinmun and journal Kulloja
jointly carried an editorial entitled, “WPK’s [Workers’ Party of Korea’s] policy
of giving priority to the army is invincible.”135 The release of this very
important editorial in the midst of the military-diplomatic campaign in the
Yellow Sea suggested the North Korean intention to use the occasion to fur-
ther glorify Kim Jong Il and justify the military-first policy adopted by the
nation’s leadership.

Finally, the June 2002 incident was most likely aimed partly at degrading the
festive and successful World Cup games co-sponsored by South Korea and
Japan. The success of the World Cup games was doubly problematic to the
North Korean leaders since they had just failed to attract international attention
to their first Arirang Festival, a two-month gymnastics and artistic festival to
celebrate Kim Il Sung’s birthday held in Pyongyang from April 29 until June
29, the day of the naval attack. It was yet another case in which North Korea
attempted to frustrate successful international sports events held in South Korea
since the bombing of the Korean Air passenger aircraft before the Seoul Olympic
Games in 1988. Despite Pyongyang’s aims, the June 29 attack only marginally
affected the World Cup games.136
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Repercussions

Enhanced U.S.–ROK coordination in dealing with
North Korean provocations

Although the sustained military actions taken by North Korea did result in some
victories for Pyongyang, it also produced a number of negative consequences
such as strengthening U.S.–ROK political and military cooperation in dealing
with North Korean military provocations. Two examples stand out. First, at the
20th Military Committee Meeting held in January 1999, the United States and
South Korea agreed to establish a mechanism under which USFK would parti-
cipate in operations dealing with North Korea’s local provocations such as the
infiltration of spy boats.137 As has already been pointed out, the December 1994
transfer of the peacetime OPCON had made it easier for the North Koreans to
drive a wedge between the United States and South Korea in times of crisis. The
January 1999 agreement partly alleviated this problem and strengthened military
cooperation between the two countries even in peacetime.138 It was on the basis
of this new mechanism that the USFK provided “immediate support” to the
South Korean side in the naval crisis in June 1999.139

Second, the June 1999 naval clash prompted the United States and South
Korea to seek to narrow their differences over the status of the NLL. As a result,
the Joint Communiqué of the 31st U.S.–ROK Security Consultative Meeting
issued in November 1999 mentioned the NLL for the first time. It read:

With regard to the June naval clash, both Ministers urged the North to
accept the practical value of, and abide by, the Northern Limit Line,
which has been an effective means of separating South and North
Korean military forces and thus preventing military tension for forty-six
years.140

Although the U.S. position on the NLL had not changed, it was politically sig-
nificant that for the first time the two sides agreed to officially declare the impor-
tance of upholding the NLL in the ministerial-level Security Consultative Meeting.

The widening gap in military balance

The July 1997 clash in the DMZ and the June 1999 naval clash openly demon-
strated that the military balance had and was continuing to change in favor of
South Korea. The July 1997 incident shocked the KPA because for the first time
South Korean soldiers and weapons clearly excelled their Northern counterparts.
In the naval battle in June 1999, furthermore, North Korea demonstrated that its
conventional military assets were outdated and no match for South Korea.141

The change in the military balance was undercutting North Korea’s ability to
effectively use force for political purposes. Donald Gregg, former U.S.
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ambassador to South Korea, wrote that the naval battle had taught the North
Koreans a “lesson,” commenting:

My own experience goes back to 1968 when they seized the (USS)
Pueblo. I was with the CIA [Central Intelligence Agency] and part of
my job was to find a way to retaliate and we couldn’t. We did nothing.
We did nothing after the Blue House raid, the Rangoon bombing and
the blowup of a Korean Air flight. Last June was the first time North
Koreans were given a punch in the nose.142

The June 1999 naval battle prompted South Korea to deploy its newly pro-
cured indigenous K-9 155-millimeter self-propelled long-range artillery batteries
with a range of over 40 kilometers on Baengnyeongdo and Yeonpyeongdo.143 This
deployment strengthened South Korean long-range firepower and solidified the
local military balance in the Northwest Islands area.144

South Korea’s defense posture was further strengthened as a result of the 2002
naval clash. The rules of engagement (ROE) governing South Korea’s actions
were simplified from five stages to three. Before the clash, South Korean naval
boats gave warnings, engaged in demonstration and interdiction maneuvers, fired
warning shots, and then fired direct shots. After the ROE were revised, the
sequence became demonstration maneuvers, followed by firing warning shots
and then finally by firing direct shots at the intruding vessels. The purpose of the
revision was to avoid exposing patrol boats to enemy surprise attacks.145
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Chapter 9

NUCLEAR DIPLOMACY, ROUND TWO,
2002 08

In December 2002, North Korea set in motion a second round of nuclear diplo-
macy by announcing that it was resuming the operation and construction of
nuclear facilities. Faced with Washington’s financial sanctions imposed in 2005
and refusal to engage in serious dialogue, North Korea launched multiple bal-
listic missiles in July 2006 and conducted a nuclear test in October of the same
year. In this military-diplomatic campaign, North Korea’s bold calculated
adventurism worked. After the nuclear test, the United States shifted its policy
toward North Korea, stopped applying the Trading with the Enemy Act to it, and
rescinded its designation as a State Sponsor of Terrorism. However, the two coun-
tries have yet to establish diplomatic relations.

Twists and turns

Initiation of the new round of nuclear diplomacy

In the U.S.–DPRK meeting held in Pyongyang on October 3, 2002, Assistant
Secretary of State James Kelly informed Kim Kye Gwan, North Korea’s Vice
Minister of Foreign Affairs, that the United States had acquired information
about North Korea’s covert enriched uranium nuclear program, in violation of
the 1994 Agreed Framework as well as other related agreements. On the next
day, Kang Sok Ju, First Vice Foreign Minister and Kim Jong Il’s right-hand
man, asked, “What is wrong with us having our own uranium enrichment pro-
gram? We are entitled to possess our own HEU [highly-enriched uranium], and
we are bound to produce more powerful weapons than that.”1 Kang also said
that North Korea considered the Agreed Framework nullified, and stated that the
DPRK would resolve this issue if the United States: (a) concluded a nonaggres-
sion treaty with the DPRK; (b) lifted the embargo on North Korea and stopped
interfering with Japan–DPRK normalization; (c) normalized relations with the
DPRK; and (d) compensated North Korea for the delay in the construction of a
light-water reactor (LWR). He also suggested that these issues could be solved
through a summit meeting between the leaders of the two countries. Kelly did
not respond positively, and the U.S. delegation left the negotiating table.2
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On October 16, the U.S. government announced that in the U.S.–DPRK talks,
North Korean officials had acknowledged that they had a program to enrich
uranium for nuclear weapons.3 This became a point of contention, however,
when the North Koreans later claimed that they had never acknowledged the
existence of the HEU program. The initial North Korean response was to pro-
pose a new negotiated settlement.4 The United States did not respond positively.
Rather, it brought the HEU issue to the Korean Peninsula Energy Development
Organization (KEDO). KEDO decided in November that delivery of heavy fuel
oil (HFO) under the 1994 Agreed Framework be suspended and that future
shipments be dictated by North Korea’s willingness to dismantle its nuclear
program.5 Furthermore, the United States pressured the North by temporarily
seizing its cargo ship carrying components for Scud missiles off the coast of
Yemen in December.6

At this point, North Korea decided to get tough, and quickly escalated the
situation. On December 12, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs (MFA) announced
that the DPRK would resume the operation and construction of its nuclear
facilities.7 In late December, North Korea ousted International Atomic Energy
Agency (IAEA) inspectors. Moreover, on January 10, 2003, North Korea
declared its withdrawal from the Treaty on the Non-proliferation of Nuclear
Weapons (NPT) once again. After the announcement, it engaged in a series of
military demonstrations. In late January, the North Koreans moved canned
spent fuel away from the five-megawatt (MW) reactor in Nyongbyon (Yongb-
yon).8 In February, the MFA suggested that the DPRK was operating its
nuclear facilities “for the production of electricity.”9 It was reported that North
Korea was also getting ready to resume the operation of the reprocessing
facility.10

On February 17, the Korean People’s Army (KPA) Panmunjom Mission
issued a statement contending that if the U.S. side continued “violating and
misusing the Armistice Agreement,” the DPRK would no longer remain bound
to it.11 After the statement, a MiG-19 fighter flew over the Northern Limit
Line (NLL) on February 20. Four days later, an anti-ship missile was fired
toward the Sea of Japan for the first time in three years.12 On March 2, four
North Korean fighters, including two MiG-29s, approached a U.S. Air Force
RC-135S Cobra Ball intelligence-gathering aircraft flying over the Sea of
Japan. One of them came within 50 feet, and a North Korean pilot sent inter-
nationally recognized hand signals to the American flight crew to follow him,
presumably to North Korean territory. The American crew members simply
ignored the signals. After the event, a U.S. official said, “Clearly, it appears
their intention was to divert the aircraft to North Korea, and take it hostage.”13

On March 7, North Korea announced that its nuclear facilities had resumed
operation. Three days later it once again fired an anti-ship missile toward the
Sea of Japan. In the meantime, the United States entered the war in Iraq on
March 20. After the war began, Kim Jong Il did not appear in public for two
months.
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Declaration of nuclear weapons development

In April 2003, the MFA issued a statement noting that only a “physical deterrent
force” could avert a war and protect the security of the country.14 On June 9,
North Korea declared that if the United States kept “threatening the DPRK with
nukes,” it would have no option but to build up a nuclear deterrent force.15 As
before, North Korea escalated tension by engaging in confrontations to back up
its threats. In the early morning of July 17, for example, North Korean service-
men fired four machinegun shots toward the South Korean side and damaged its
guard post in the DMZ. The South Korean side returned 17 shots but did not
escalate further.16

In May, the United States and Japan agreed to take measures including eco-
nomic sanctions if North Korea continued to escalate. In July, it was reported
that Secretary of Defense Donald Rumsfeld had ordered U.S. military commanders
to devise a new war plan called Operation Plan 5030, which would give com-
manders in the region authority to “conduct maneuvers – before a war has star-
ted – to drain North Korea’s limited resources, strain its military, and perhaps
sow enough confusion that North Korean generals might turn against the coun-
try’s leader, Kim Jong Il.”17

Initiation of multilateral talks

Even after North Korea declared its withdrawal from the NPT, the concerned
countries insisted on solving the problem through diplomacy. In January, James
Kelly commented that, “once we can get beyond nuclear weapons, there may be
opportunities … to help North Korea in the energy area.”18 Also, President
George W. Bush said that this issue would be solved in a peaceful way, adding
that if North Korea abandoned its nuclear program, the United States would
reconsider a “bold initiative.”19

As a result, the three-party talks between the United States, North Korea, and
China were held in Beijing in April. North Korea took the position that the talks
would take place between the United States and North Korea with China merely
playing the role of host.20 While the talks were continuing, the head of the North
Korean delegation, Ri Kun, informally told his U.S. counterpart, James Kelly,
that North Korea had nuclear weapons and that it could demonstrate or sell
them.21

In parallel with diplomatic responses, the concerned countries also stepped up
non-diplomatic pressure on North Korea. In May, the United States proposed the
Proliferation Security Initiative (PSI) to check the proliferation of weapons of
mass destruction (WMD) and related materials, and urged other countries to
participate. The Japanese police searched the premises of a trading company run
by a Korean on suspicion of having illegally exported machine parts that could
be used for the development of nuclear weapons, and vigorously inspected the
North Korean passenger ferryMangyongbong 92 that entered the port of Niigata.
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After the three-party talks, the countries concerned set out to explore the
possibility of holding broader multilateral talks.22 As a result, the first round of
Six-Party Talks, featuring North Korea, the United States, China, South Korea,
Japan, and Russia, was held in Beijing in late August 2003. In the talks, North
Korea proposed that reciprocal actions would be taken simultaneously in four
stages. First, the United States would resume the supply of HFO and sharply
increase humanitarian food aid while North Korea would declare its intention to
scrap its nuclear program. Second, when the United States concluded a non-
aggression treaty with the DPRK and compensated it for the loss of electricity
caused by the delay in providing the LWRs, North Korea would refreeze its
nuclear facilities and nuclear substances and allow monitoring and inspection of
such facilities and substances. Third, when diplomatic relations were established
between the United States and the DPRK and between Japan and the DPRK,
North Korea would resolve the missile issue. Finally, when the construction of
the LWRs was completed, North Korea would dismantle its nuclear facilities.23

China released a host country summary at the end of the talks, which stated that
North Korea’s “reasonable concern over its security” must be considered and
resolved, adding that the nuclear issue should be resolved “in a manner that is
phased and synchronized or parallel in implementation.”24

Frustrated by the lack of progress after the talks, however, North Korea took
steps to raise tensions. On October 2, the MFA announced that the DPRK had
decided that its pursuit of a nuclear program was no longer for producing elec-
tricity but instead for strengthening its “nuclear deterrent force.”25 In late Octo-
ber, North Korea tested anti-ship missiles in the Sea of Japan on three occasions.
KEDO decided to suspend the LWR project in November for a one year
period.26

In the meantime, there were also some positive developments. In October,
Bush said that the United States would consider providing written security
assurances to North Korea in the context of the Six-Party Talks.27 In December,
the MFA announced that it was ready to accept “written security assurances” in
lieu of a non-aggression treaty and proposed “first-phase action” in which North
Korea would freeze its nuclear activities while the United States would remove
the DPRK from its list of terrorism-sponsoring states, lift its political, economic
and military sanctions and blockade, and provide energy aid.28 The United
States did not respond positively, however. Three days later, Vice President Dick
Cheney reportedly said, “We don’t negotiate with evil; we defeat it.”29 In Jan-
uary 2004, North Korea invited American nuclear scientists and area specialists
including Siegfried Hecker, a senior fellow at the Los Alamos National Labora-
tory, to Nyongbyon to review its nuclear facilities. During the visit, the North
Koreans even presented them with what they characterized as plutonium.30

In the second round of Six-Party Talks in February 2004, although the par-
ties agreed to establish a working group and convene another round of the
talks, North Korea refused to accept the goal of the talks as defined by the
United States: “complete, verifiable, and irreversible dismantlement of all of
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North Korea’s nuclear programs (CVID).”31 James Kelly suggested that when
the nuclear issue was resolved, the six parties might be able to replace the
armistice agreement on the Korean Peninsula with a “permanent peace
mechanism.”32

In the third round of the Six-Party Talks in June, the United States stopped using
the term “CVID,” and instead started to use the term “comprehensive dis-
mantlement,” while conceptually keeping CVID as the underlying principle. More
importantly, under pressure from Japan to engage with North Korea more
proactively, the United States made its first concrete proposal to North Korea
when it suggested that as the DPRK dismantled its nuclear programs, the other
parties would take corresponding steps such as providing HFO and provisional
multilateral security assurances to North Korea.33 The North Koreans thought it
was “noteworthy” that the U.S. had proposed phased and reciprocal actions, but
they also complained that the U.S. intention was to discuss what it would do
only when the DPRK had completed the unilateral dismantlement of its nuclear
program.34 North Korea responded by putting forth its own proposal in which it
would freeze all the facilities related to nuclear weapons and refrain from pro-
ducing, transferring, and testing nuclear weapons in return for a U.S. commit-
ment to lift its sanctions and blockade against the DPRK, energy assistance of
2,000 MW through the supply of heavy oil and electricity, and removal of the
DPRK from the list of terrorism-sponsoring states.35 The Chairman’s Statement
noted that the parties had stressed the need for a step-by-step reciprocal process
of “words for words” and “action for action.”36

In the meantime, as before, the North Koreans did not forget to show force. It
was later reported that North Korea had test-fired a missile in the Sea of Japan a
few days before the opening of the Six-Party Talks in June.37 In September,
North Korea started preparing for a No Dong ballistic missile launch. On
November 1, several North Korean patrol boats crossed the NLL in the Yellow
Sea on three separate occasions. South Korean patrol boats fired warning shots,
but there was no direct clash between the two sides.38 During this period, the
U.S. side also took action. In October, the U.S. Congress passed the North Korean
Human Rights Act, and Bush signed it. The act was designed to encourage pri-
vate organizations to promote human rights in North Korea and increase the
availability of information inside North Korea, thereby putting the pressure on
the North Korean regime. In November, KEDO decided to prolong the suspen-
sion of the LWR Project in North Korea for another year.39

At this point, Pyongyang decided to suspend its operations as it waited to find
out the result of the 2004 presidential election in the United States. When Bush
was reelected in December, the MFA announced that it would “wait a bit longer”
to find out what kind of North Korea policy the second Bush Administration
might adopt.40 A month later, Condoleezza Rice, Secretary of State-Designate,
characterized North Korea as one of the “outposts of tyranny,” however.41 A few
days later, in his inaugural address, Bush said the U.S. goal was to end “tyranny
in our world.”42
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The threat of a nuclear test and the resumption of talks

On February 10, 2005, about three weeks after Bush entered his second term,
North Korea declared itself a nuclear weapon state. Recognizing that U.S. policy
had not changed after Bush’s reelection, the MFA declared that the DPRK would
suspend its participation in the Six-Party Talks for an indefinite period and that it
had manufactured “nukes for self-defence.” At the same time, it reiterated its
willingness to solve the issue through dialogue.43

In this period, important personnel reshuffling took place within the U.S.
Administration. In January, Rice was appointed Secretary of State. In the fol-
lowing month, Christopher Hill was named as the head of the U.S. delegation to
the Six-Party Talks on the North Korean nuclear issue, and in April he became
Assistant Secretary of State for East Asian and Pacific Affairs. During this
period, Rice and Hill started to consider having serious bilateral talks with North
Korea. In late March, Rice said that the United States recognized North Korea as
a “sovereign state,” adding that it did not have any intention to attack the
North.44

In April, North Korea started to raise tensions once again. A senior North
Korean official reportedly told an American specialist that his country had plans
to unload its nuclear reactor in order to force Bush to negotiate on terms more
favorable to North Korea.45 In April, Kim Yong Chun, Chief of the KPA Gen-
eral Staff, warned that America’s “hostile policy” would only prompt Pyongyang
to “bolster its self-defensive nuclear deterrent under the banner of Songun [army-
first policy].”46 The MFA stated that to resume the Six-Party Talks, the United
States must withdraw its “outpost of tyranny” remarks. The MFA also declared
that the DPRK would regard sanctions imposed by the United Nations Security
Council (UNSC) as a “declaration of war.”47 Rather than complying with the
demand, Bush responded by calling Kim Jong Il “a tyrant.”48

On May 1, North Korea reportedly fired a KN-02 short-range ballistic missile
in the Sea of Japan after a failed test on April 29.49 On May 5, it was reported
that the United States had identified preparations for a nuclear test since October
near Kilchu in the northeast of North Korea and that activity had accelerated in
the past weeks.50 On May 11, the MFA claimed that the DPRK had recently
finished the unloading of 8,000 spent fuel rods from the 5-MW reactor and
declared that it would resume the construction of 50-MW and 200-MW reac-
tors.51 In late May, the United States deployed 15 F-117 stealth bombers in
South Korea.52 In parallel with these escalatory moves, North Korea also
showed a willingness to talk. On May 8, the MFA expressed its intention to find
out whether the United States was prepared to hold bilateral talks within the
framework of the Six-Party Talks.53

On the U.S. side, a North Korea policy review was taking place during this
period. From the spring to the summer, the U.S. government developed and
adopted a two-track policy toward North Korea in which both diplomacy and so-
called “defensive measures,” or pressure, would be used.54 As a result, Rice and
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Hill took steps to have serious bilateral talks with North Korea.55 On May 9,
Rice reiterated her position to recognize North Korea as “sovereign.”56 In May
and June, Joseph DeTrani, Hill’s deputy, met North Korean representatives at the
United Nations. On June 17, Kim Jong Il expressed his willingness to return to
the Six-Party Talks possibly in July if the United States “respected” his country.
Kim also suggested that he would eliminate all medium- to long-range ballistic
missiles if U.S.–DPRK diplomatic relations were normalized.57 In late June, it
was reported that North Korea had resumed construction of the 50-MW and 200-
MW reactors.58 In the July meeting with Hill, Kim Kye Gwan agreed to return
to the Six-Party Talks.59

Activities in Nyongbyon, the Joint Statement,
and “Defensive Measures”

On July 26, 2005, the first session of the fourth round of the Six-Party Talks
convened in Beijing. In this session, the United States loosened its position on
HEU in an attempt to break the deadlock and the focus of disagreement became
whether North Korea should be entitled to LWRs or not.60 In August 2005, Hecker
visited North Korea again, and met Ri Hong Sop, the director of the Nuclear Sci-
entific Research Centre in Nyongbyon. Ri told the visitors that: (a) the 5-MW
reactor had operated from February 2003 to the end of March 2005 at the 25-
MWth full power; (b) fuel rods were unloaded in April in part to extract the
plutonium; (c) the reactor was reloaded with the last batch of fresh fuel produced
prior to 1994, and operations resumed in mid-June; (d) reprocessing to extract
plutonium from the unloaded 8,000 spent fuel rods had begun in late June and
was almost finished in late August; and (e) the fuel fabrication facility was being
refurbished to make more fuel.61 The North Koreans were playing a game of
coercion with the Americans. The same month, Bush appointed Jay Lefkowitz as
special envoy for human rights in North Korea.

Against this backdrop, the fourth round of the Six-Party Talks was reconvened
in September. The North Korean side again demanded LWRs. The U.S. side did
not accept the demand. Finally, the United States suggested its own compromise.
It accepted LWRs in the words of the joint statement, but decided to qualify its
support later. The six-point Joint Statement adopted on September 19 thus stated
that:

� The DPRK was committed to abandoning all nuclear weapons and existing
nuclear programs and returning, at an early date, to the NPT and to IAEA
safeguards;

� The United States had no intention to attack or invade the DPRK with
nuclear or conventional weapons;

� The DPRK and the United States would take steps to normalize their rela-
tions;

� The DPRK and Japan would take steps to normalize their relations;
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� The non-North Korea parties were willing to provide energy assistance to the
DPRK and were wiling to discuss, at an appropriate time, the provision of
LWRs to the DPRK; and

� The directly related parties would negotiate a permanent peace regime on the
Korean Peninsula at an appropriate separate forum.62

The Joint Statement was significant in that it clearly spelled out the end sce-
nario in which all parties would be satisfied. Nevertheless, disagreements
remained. Just after the Joint Statement was adopted, Hill issued a statement,
drafted primarily by Undersecretary of State for Arms Control and International
Security Robert Joseph.63 It stated that the “appropriate time” for providing LWRs
to the DPRK would only come when the DPRK had eliminated all nuclear
weapons and all nuclear programs, and come into full compliance with the NPT
and IAEA safeguards. The statement also said that the United States supported a
decision to terminate KEDO by the end of 2005.64 North Korea was quick to
respond. On the next day, the MFA declared that the United States “should not
even dream of the issue of the DPRK’s dismantlement of its nuclear deterrent
before providing LWRs, a physical guarantee for confidence-building.”65

Further complicating matters, on September 15, while the Six-Party Talks
were proceeding, the U.S. Department of the Treasury decided to designate the
Macao-based Banco Delta Asia (BDA) as a “primary money laundering con-
cern” in an attempt to freeze the North Korean account in the bank.66 This action
was taken as a part of the “defensive measures,” or coercive element, in the U.S.
government’s two-track policy. “Defensive measures,” including PSI as well as
economic and financial actions, were designed to deter, disrupt, and prevent
North Korea’s proliferation and other illicit activities.67 After the September 15
announcement, banks all over the world started to shut down their dealings with
North Korea. In October, the U.S. government for the first time publicly accused
North Korea of manufacturing high-quality counterfeit $100 “supernotes.”68 The
U.S. Treasury Department also announced that it was freezing the assets in the
United States of eight North Korean enterprises involved in activities related to
WMD.69 The United States was taking these more aggressive tactics in the hope
of enhancing its bargaining power.70

In the first session of the fifth round of the Six-Party Talks in November 2005,
North Korea called for implementing the joint statement in phases and refused to
discuss the nuclear issue unless the financial sanctions were lifted.71 The session
ended without meaningful results. In the same month, the U.S. Agency for
International Development announced that it would cease to provide food aid to
North Korea, and KEDO began discussing the termination of the LWR project.
Moreover, the United States co-sponsored a resolution before the United Nations
General Assembly that condemned North Korea’s poor human rights record.72

The General Assembly passed the resolution in December.73

Faced with strong protests from North Korea on the sanctions and continuing
demands for bilateral talks, Hill offered a briefing session on the sanctions to the
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North Koreans. The briefing did not work as planned, though, and in December,
the MFA denounced the United States while linking prospects for resuming the
Six-Party Talks to the U.S. attitude.74 In January 2006, KEDO completed the
withdrawal of all workers from the LWR project site. Bush said the United
States would not lift sanctions unless North Korea stopped faking U.S. dollars.
In February, while criticizing the United States, the MFA claimed that the DPRK
government opposed “all sorts of illegal acts in the financial field” and would
“actively join the international actions against money laundering.”75 In March, a
U.S.–DPRK meeting was held in New York in which the North Korean side
reiterated that lifting the financial sanctions were a prerequisite for North Korea’s
return to the Six-Party Talks.76 On the next day, North Korea fired two anti-ship
missiles in the Sea of Japan.77 On March 30, the U.S. Department of the Treasury
added a Swiss company and individual to the list of designees supporting the pro-
liferation of WMD for their involvement with North Korea.78

Faced with the execution of a series of the “defensive measures,” North Korea
showed a strong attitude of defiance. In May, it was reported that preparations
for a missile test were sighted.79 Shortly thereafter, KEDO decided to terminate
the LWR project. On June 1, the MFA declared that the “escalated hostile policy
and increasing pressure” would only compel the DPRK to take the “strongest
measures to protect its right to existence and sovereignty.” At the same time,
however, it also extended an invitation for Hill to visit Pyongyang once again.80

The U.S. government rejected the invitation.

Multiple missile launches

After midnight on July 5, or in the afternoon of July 4, Independence Day by
U.S. time, North Korea began launching Scud, No Dong, and Taepo Dong 2
missiles, defying strong international warnings against such an action. The mis-
siles were launched at approximately 0333 hours, 0404 hours, 0501 hours, 0712
hours, 0731 hours, 0732 hours, and 1720 hours. The first, fourth, and sixth
missiles were assessed as Scud D, Scud C, and Scud ER missiles, respectively;
the second, fifth and seventh as No Dong; and the third as Taepo Dong 2.81

While the Scud and No Dong missiles were successfully launched in the north-
eastern direction between the Russian Far East and Japan’s Hokkaido island, the
Taepo Dong 2 launch failed disastrously. The missile disintegrated in the air
several tens of seconds after the launch.82

On July 6, the MFA issued a statement noting that (a) the missile launches
had been part of routine military exercises to increase defense capacity, (b) the
KPA would go on with missile launch exercises in the future, and (c) the DPRK
would take “stronger physical actions of other forms” if they faced more pres-
sure from the international community.83 On July 15, the UNSC unanimously
adopted Resolution 1695, requiring member states to prevent the transfer and
procurement of missiles and missile-related items, materials, goods and technol-
ogy to and from North Korea, as well as the transfer of any financial resources in
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relation to North Korea’s missile or WMD programs.84 Although the resolution
did not approve the use of force, China’s support was nevertheless significant.
On the next day, the MFA proclaimed that the United States had sought to
“describe the issue between the DPRK and the U.S. as an issue between the
DPRK and the UN [United Nations] and form an international alliance against
the DPRK,” adding that the DPRK would “bolster its war deterrent for self-
defence in every way by all means and methods.”85 North Korea’s diplomatic
target was the United States and the United States only. On July 26, the
Department of State acknowledged that the Bank of China had frozen some
North Korean assets in its Macau branch.86

The October 9 nuclear test

In mid-August, unnamed U.S. officials suggested that North Korea might be
preparing for a nuclear test. Suspicious vehicle movement was observed at a
suspected test site and wire bundles used to monitor an underground test were
identified.87 On September 21, Hill revealed that he had suggested a bilateral
working group to discuss financial sanctions on the condition that the North
Koreans came back to the Six-Party Talks.88 On October 3, the MFA issued a
three-point statement, noting that: (a) the DPRK would conduct a nuclear test; (b)
the DPRK would never use nuclear weapons first and strictly prohibit any threat of
nuclear weapons transfer; and (c) Pyongyang would do its utmost to realize the
denuclearization of the peninsula and give momentum to worldwide nuclear
disarmament and ultimate denuclearization.89

At 1035 hours on October 9, the DPRK conducted a nuclear test near Punggye in
Kilchu in the country’s northeast. On October 11, the MFA issued a statement:

Although the DPRK conducted the nuclear test due to the U.S., it still
remains unchanged in its will to denuclearize the peninsula through
dialogue and negotiations.
…The DPRK’s nuclear test does not contradict the September 19 joint
statement under which it committed itself to dismantle nuclear weapons
and abandon the existing nuclear program. On the contrary, it constitutes
a positive measure for its implementation.
…If the U.S. increases pressure upon the DPRK, persistently doing
harm to it, it will continue to take physical countermeasures,
considering it as a declaration of a war.90

In response to the nuclear test, the UNSC unanimously adopted Resolution 1718
on October 14. The resolution called upon all member states to take measures to
make it difficult for North Korea to acquire (a) major conventional weapon sys-
tems, (b) all items, materials, equipment, goods, and technology which could
contribute to nuclear-related, ballistic missile-related, or other WMD related
programs, and (c) luxury goods.91 The resolution mentioned Chapter VII and
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Article 41 of the United Nations Charter, which allowed for such measures as
interruption of economic relations and the severance of diplomatic relations, but
did not mention Article 42, which provided for use of military force.

About-face: a major shift in the U.S. policy

Rather than acting on the resolution, the United States decided to change
course.92 On October 31, 2006, a U.S.–DPRK bilateral meeting was held in
Beijing. In the high-level bilateral talk, Hill suggested a willingness to resolve
the BDA issue separately from the Six-Party Talks.93 Against this backdrop,
the MFA announced that the DPRK would return to the Six-Party Talks on
November 1.94 In late November, additional U.S.–DPRK bilateral meetings
were held in Beijing in which a so-called “early harvest” proposal was pre-
sented to Kim Kye Gwan. The proposal required North Korea to stop activ-
ities at Nyongbyon, allow IAEA inspectors back, present the list of its nuclear-
related programs and facilities, and shut down its nuclear test sites by 2008.
If North Korea fulfilled these requirements, it would receive food and energy
aid and the United States would discuss ways to end the sanctions against
BDA, normalize diplomatic relations, and establish a peace regime on the
Korean Peninsula. The North Korean side responded by insisting that the
BDA issue be addressed first.95 In any case, after a 13-month intermission,
the second session of the fifth round of the Six-Party Talks convened on
December 18. In the meeting, Kim Kye Gwan warned that the implementation
of the Joint Statement would be possible only after the BDA sanctions were
lifted.96 While the talks were proceeding, U.S. and North Korean officials
separately had working-level talks on the BDA issue. After this round of talks,
Kim Kye Gwan criticized the United States for having failed to lift the sanc-
tions; U.S. intelligence identified renewed activities in the North Korean nuclear
test site.97

In the meantime, an important political change took place in the United States.
In the mid-term elections in November, the Democrats won a majority in both the
House and the Senate, putting the Republicans in a difficult position. Moreover,
as a result, important personnel changes followed this upset victory. U.S.
Ambassador to the United Nations John Bolton, Secretary of Defense Rumsfeld,
and Undersecretary of State for Arms Control Robert Joseph, all advocates of a
tough policy toward North Korea, resigned between late 2006 and early 2007.
After these personnel changes, the United States decisively shifted its approach
toward engagement with North Korea.

In January 2007, U.S.–DPRK talks were held in Berlin. Hill and Kim Kye
Gwan agreed that the DPRK would shut down nuclear facilities in Nyongbyon
within 60 days and it would receive HFO in return. This “Berlin Agreement”
was to be formalized at the next session of the Six-Party Talks.98 Later in the
same month, U.S. and North Korean officials again met to discuss issued related
to financial sanctions.
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Implementing the Joint Statement

On February 13, the third session of the fifth round of the Six-Party Talks ended
with the adoption of an action plan for implementing the 2005 Joint Statement.
The action plan had two phases. In the 60-day initial phase, the DPRK would
shut down and seal for the purpose of eventual abandonment the Nyongbyon
nuclear facility, including the reprocessing facility, and invite back IAEA per-
sonnel; and the other parties would provide emergency energy assistance
equivalent to 50,000 tons of HFO. In the next phase, the DPRK would provide a
complete declaration of all nuclear programs, and all existing nuclear facilities
would be disabled. In return, the other parties would provide North Korea with
economic, energy, and humanitarian assistance up to the equivalent of one mil-
lion tons of HFO, including the initial shipment equivalent to 50,000 tons.99 In
the meantime, the United States assured its North Korean counterpart that that it
would begin talks to end the BDA sanctions within 30 days.100

In March, the Department of the Treasury allowed North Korea to transfer the
roughly $25 million frozen in BDA, in effect lifting its financial sanction.101 On
June 15, the Macau authorities announced the completion of the transfer. On the
next day, the Director General of North Korea’s General Department of Atomic
Energy invited an IAEA working-level delegation to North Korea once more.102

In July, North Korea shut down the 5-MW and 50-MW reactors, reprocessing
facility, nuclear fuel fabrication plant in Nyongbyon, and the 200-MW reactor in
Taechon.103 Two days after South Korea began providing HFO, North Korea
informed the United States that the facilities had been shut down.104

Following the second session of the sixth round of the Six-Party Talks, the
agreement on “Second Phase Actions for the Implementation of the Joint State-
ment” was announced on October 3. In the agreement, North Korea pledged to
disable the 5-MW reactor, the reprocessing plant, and the nuclear fuel rod fab-
rication facility in Nyongbyon by December 31, 2007. It also agreed to provide
a “complete and correct declaration of all its nuclear programs” by the year’s
end. In return, the other parties reaffirmed the provision of assistance to North
Korea. More importantly, the United States suggested it would remove North
Korea from the list of State Sponsors of Terrorism as well as lift sanctions
imposed under the Trading with the Enemy Act.105 Although North Korea failed
to meet the deadline, most of the agreed disablement tasks at the three core
facilities were completed prior to February 2008, and North Korea provided over
18,000 pages of operating records from Nyongbyon in early May. In late June, it
presented a list of allegedly all of its nuclear programs to the Chinese govern-
ment. Bush responded by announcing that the Trading with the Enemy Act
would no longer be applied to North Korea and notified Congress of his intent to
rescind North Korea’s designation as a State Sponsor of Terrorism.106 Later in
the month, a cooling tower for the 5-MW reactor in Nyongbyon was demol-
ished. In July, the six parties agreed to establish a verification mechanism within
the Six-Party Talks framework whose measures included visits to facilities,
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review of documents, interviews with technical personnel and other measures
unanimously agreed by the six parties.107

However, when the United States failed to remove North Korea from the list
of State Sponsors of Terrorism on the ground that they had not yet agreed to
verification measures, North Korea announced in late August that it had decided
to consider restoring its nuclear facilities in Nyongbyon.108 In September, it
removed IAEA seals and surveillance from the reprocessing plant.109 In the
meantime, North Korea reportedly conducted a Taepo Dong missile engine burn
test as well as other missile launch tests and appeared to be preparing for another
nuclear test.110

On October 1–3, however, a U.S. negotiating team visited Pyongyang for
talks on verification measures, but on October 9, North Korea informed IAEA
inspectors that it would no longer grant them access to facilities at Nyongbyon
and stated that it was preparing to restart the nuclear facilities there.111 Just two
days later, on October 11, the United States announced that North Korea had
finally agreed to the terms of verification: experts from all Six Parties would be
allowed to have access to all declared facilities and, based on mutual consent, to
undeclared sites; scientific procedures, including sampling and forensic activ-
ities, would be used; and all measures contained in the Verification Protocol
would apply to both plutonium-based and uranium enrichment activities.112

Based upon the bilateral agreement, the United States rescinded the designation
of the DPRK as a State Sponsor of Terrorism on the same day.113 It was reported
that a key factor influencing this decision was the growing concern that North
Korea could “test a nuclear weapon in the final 100 days of Bush’s pre-
sidency.”114 On October 13, North Korea granted the IAEA access to the facil-
ities at Nyongbyon.115

However, during the meeting of the Heads of Delegation of the Six-Party
Talks in December, North Korea refused to agree to terms for verification. It
turned out that the United States had removed North Korea from the list of State
Sponsors of Terrorism, based on “oral understandings” that they had agreed on a
verification plan.116 North Korea’s official media reported that there was “no
paragraph referring to the collection of samples” in the U.S.–DPRK agreement
of early October.117

Critical factors

Iraq, internal division, and the election

In a peculiar way, the twists and turns in the second nuclear episode were not
primarily driven by North Korean factors but rather by other factors such as
developments in Iraq, internal division within the U.S. government, and the U.S.
midterm election. First, the most important U.S. foreign policy priority – Iraq –

put North Korea on the backburner. Deputy Secretary of State Richard Armitage
later argued that the U.S. government was not willing to be involved in North
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Korean issues when Afghanistan and Iraq were policy priorities.118 As a result,
Washington defined North Korean nuclear development “not as a dispute between
the United States and North Korea but one between North Korea and the rest of the
world,” and insisted that this issue be dealt with within a multilateral framework.119

In the multilateral framework, China was expected to take the lead.120 Moreover,
U.S. leaders thought that the success in Iraq would be the most effective pressure
on North Korea.121

Second, the Bush Administration long remained internally divided over North
Korea. Vice President Cheney continued to block any policy to engage North
Korea, and the hardliners within the administration seemed to favor regime
change in North Korea as the ultimate goal of U.S. policy.122 By contrast,
moderates attempted to use engagement combined with pressure to encourage
North Korea to make a “strategic decision” to dismantle its nuclear programs.
Until the Vice President’s position was weakened and the hardliners left office,
neither the President nor the National Security Advisor provided coherence in
North Korea policy.123

Finally, as the situation in Iraq deteriorated, the Republican party fared disastrously
in the midterm election held in November 2006. When it became clear that the Bush
Administration could not afford any more foreign policy debacles, it decided to use
North Korea to score desperately needed diplomatic points.124

Weakness as strength

In a paradoxical way, North Korea’s weakness worked as its strength. North
Korea’s collapse was anathema not only to South Korea but also to China. As a
result, South Korea and China continued to reject any policy which pressured
North Korea too much and helped stabilize the country whenever possible.

By 2003, South Korea’s policy had decidedly become that of maintaining the
status quo, i.e. division of the Korean Peninsula, in the foreseeable future. In
order to achieve its goal of moderating North Korea’s behavior and maintaining
the status quo at the same time, South Korea opted for proactive engagement. As
a result, inter-Korean trade grew from $642 million in 2002 to $1.35 billion in
2006.125 The South Korean government provided official aid to North Korea in
the amount of $93.77 million in 2003, $123.62 million in 2004, $135.88 million
in 2005, and $193.77 million in 2006. Non-governmental aid fluctuated, but still
remained high, at $45.77 million in 2002, $63.86 million in 2003, $132.50 mil-
lion in 2004, $76.66 million in 2005, and $80.48 million in 2006.126 The two
Koreas were also engaged in joint development projects such as reconnection of
railways and roads, tourism in Mt. Geumgang and development of the Gaeseong
(Kaesong) Industrial Complex in North Korea.127

The sea change in South Korean politics also helped North Korea. In 2002,
liberal Roh Moo-hyun was unexpectedly elected president, and he strongly pro-
moted a proactive and accommodative engagement policy toward North Korea.
In November 2004, President Roh even stated that the North Korean contention
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that their nuclear weapons and missiles constituted a means of safeguarding their
security by deterring threats from the outside was “understandable.”128 Accord-
ing to a high-ranking U.S. official, Roh’s policy orientation made it difficult to
consider military options against North Korea.129 In addition, South Korea was
concerned about the negative impact of rising tension on its economy, with
Moody’s Investors Service changing the outlook for long-term ratings of South
Korea from positive to negative in February 2003.130 South Korean leaders were
quite conscious of the negative impact this would have and therefore wanted to
minimize political instability on the peninsula.

With a rapidly growing economy, China also played an important role in
sustaining the North Korean regime. In the 2000s, China continued to provide
assistance equivalent to about $200 million annually. In the China–North Korea
Summit meetings in 2005 and 2006, China reportedly agreed to provide a 50–
100-million-dollar aid package to North Korea.131 Moreover, North Korea’s
trade with China totaled $1.7 billion in 2006, up from $488 million in 2000 and
from $1.3 billion in 2005, despite its missile launch and nuclear test. This figure
amounted to about 40 percent of North Korea’s total trade. Between 2000 and
2005, bilateral trade grew on average by 30 percent annually, contributing to an
estimated 3.5 percent annual growth for the North Korean economy.132 In April 2005,
Hill suggested that China shut down its oil pipeline to North Korea to pressure it to
come back to talks. But China simply rejected this.133 On this point, Charles Pritchard
has correctly pointed out:

Any conclusion that Beijing does not hold significant leverage over
Pyongyang is not quite accurate. However, Beijing may avoid applying
too much leverage on Pyongyang for what is only a second-tier national
security priority for China (North Korea’s nuclear weapons program)
because it fears that doing so could have a negative impact on its top
national security priority (regional security).134

Finally, partly due to the large amount of humanitarian assistance that the
international community provided to North Korea, its economy recorded positive
growth between 1999 and 2005 after experiencing an average 4.3 percent nega-
tive growth between 1990 and 1998.135 Its grain production had grown for five
years until 2005 though it marked negative growth in 2006.136 Consequently,
North Korea could conduct nuclear diplomacy within a relatively favorable
domestic and regional environment and therefore survive pressure coming from
the United States.

Nuclear capabilities

Although there were many similarities between North Korea’s first and second
round of nuclear diplomacy, one of the new factors in the second nuclear epi-
sode was the maturity of North Korea’s nuclear program. Since the Agreed
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Framework did not prohibit the development of a detonator, the miniaturization
of nuclear devices, or the development of delivery means, North Korea could
continue to work on these projects even after 1994. The yield of the October 2006
nuclear explosion was less than one kiloton, much smaller than the four kilotons
that the North Koreans had predicted, and thus the test was not a clear-cut suc-
cess.137 That said, it was still significant that North Korea detonated a nuclear
device.138 At the time of the test, North Korean nuclear scientists and engineers
must have been extremely nervous given the disastrous failure of the Taepo Dong 2
test in July. Kim Jong Il, the scientists, and the engineers took a chance, and pro-
duced a reasonably successful result.

The Institute for Science and International Security, a U.S. think tank, esti-
mated that at the time of the 1994 nuclear crisis, there was 0–10 kilograms of
separated plutonium (0–2 bombs equivalent) in North Korea’s possession and
that in 2006, there were 33–55 kilograms (6–13 bombs equivalent).139 This
estimate was reinforced by the declaration North Korea presented in June 2008,
in which it stated that it had produced 38 kilograms of plutonium, 26 kilograms
of which had been used to produce nuclear weapons.140 Moreover, at the time of
the test, the fuel fabrication facility was in the final stages of refurbishment, and
would begin new fuel fabrication in 2007. This meant that within about a year,
an entire reactor core of fresh fuel rods would have been fabricated.141 This
development seems to have worked as a significant pressure on the United
States.

Another path in North Korea’s nuclear development was a uranium enrich-
ment program. North Korea made a secret deal with Pakistan in 1996 with
which Pakistan would provide uranium enrichment technology to North Korea,
and North Korea began its uranium enrichment program in earnest in the late
1990s.142 Pakistan provided nearly a dozen first- and second-generation Pakis-
tani centrifuges to North Korea together with blueprints and a shopping list of
necessary components with which North Korean scientists could construct their
own centrifuge production infrastructure. In 2000, North Korea decided to
acquire materials for a uranium-enrichment facility with several thousand cen-
trifuges. In November 2002, the U.S. Central Intelligence Agency estimated that
North Korea was constructing a plant that could produce enough weapons-grade
uranium for two or more nuclear weapons per year when fully operational – which
could happen as soon as mid-decade.143 In April 2003, a 22-ton shipment of high-
strength aluminum tubes acquired by a German firm was intercepted en route to
North Korea. The dimensions of those tubes matched the technical requirements for
vacuum castings for a Urenco centrifuge, and authorities then discovered that this
shipment was to be followed by another 200 tons of tubes.144

North Korea’s improved nuclear capabilities seem to have done two things.
First, the 2006 nuclear test worked as a catalyst in bringing about a change in
U.S. policy. The nuclear test made it clear that the U.S. policy in the past had
failed, and that unless the United States decided to engage with North Korea,
there would be more and possibly bigger tests in the future.145 Moreover, North
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Korea’s threat to conduct another nuclear test encouraged the United States to
remove the country from the list of terrorism-sponsoring states. Second, North
Korea’s nuclear capabilities worked as a deterrent. As a high-ranking U.S. official
pointed out, the advancement that the North Korean nuclear development had
achieved since 1994 was one of the reasons why the United States regarded the use
of force as a difficult option to take.146

Missile capabilities

During the second round of nuclear diplomacy, furthermore, North Korea’s
missile capabilities were also more advanced. By 2003, North Korea had
deployed some 175–200 No Dong missiles capable of covering almost the entire
territory of Japan.147 As it was difficult to spot No Dong missiles mounted on
mobile launchers, of which North Korea reportedly possessed about 30, a pre-
emptive strike would not be effective.148 Additionally, by 2006, North Korea
had also developed a Taepo Dong 2 missile. In 2007, the U.S. government esti-
mated the range of a two-stage Taepo Dong 2 to be 10,000 kilometers, and that
of the three-stage version to be 15,000 kilometers.149 By July 2006, the missile
had become ready for a flight-testing, although the test ended in failure.150

In late 1999, the KPA established the Missile Training Guidance Bureau, and
all ballistic missile units were subsequently subordinated to this bureau. Since
the 2001–02 training cycle when the KPA started to conduct ballistic missile
exercises at battalion level instead of battery level, annual exercises with Scud
and No Dong units had expanded and many ballistic missile units had been
redeployed.151

The increased number and types of the missiles combined with improved opera-
tional skills seem to have given North Korean leaders the option to undertake the
missile launching spree of July 2006. These missile launches demonstrated the level
of sophistication that the North Korean’s missile forces had achieved. Seven missiles
were launched within a relatively short period of time. Some of them were launched
at night from mobile launchers, and made impact in a narrow target area despite the
differences in their operational ranges.152 A high-ranking U.S. official argued that the
increased missile arsenal played a role in deterring U.S. use of force against North
Korea.153 Experts agree, however, that the July 2006 missile tests did not affect U.S.
policy much.154

Deterrence vs. “preemption”

The basic deterrent structure in the second nuclear crisis was not much different from
the one in 1994. North Korea’s deterrent capabilities continued to come mainly from
its conventional forces. The United States officially adopted “preemption” as its
national security strategy in 2002. However, the United States and, in particular,
South Korea were reluctant to use force for fear that a large number of casualties and
damage would be suffered if North Korea retaliated. The number of North Korea’s
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170-millimeter artillery pieces had reportedly grown from about 200 in the early
1990s to over 600 by 2001, and the number of 240-millimeter multiple rocket
launchers had increased to 430.155 If chemical weapons were loaded on artillery
shells, the expected number of casualties would shoot up dramatically. In fact, despite
the public argument that all options were on the table, decision-makers at the U.S.
Department of Defense were overwhelmingly pessimistic about takingmilitary action
against North Korea.156

Characteristics

Location and timing

As in the 1990s, a major part of North Korea’s nuclear activities took place
within its territory. The second round of nuclear diplomacy was conducted in
more diverse fronts than in the first, however. For one, international nuclear-
related transactions played a more important role in the 2000s both in terms of
procurement of nuclear-related equipment and in terms of potential sales of
nuclear devices. North Korea also took military actions in the Yellow Sea and
the Sea of Japan in this episode.

The second round of nuclear diplomacy began in December 2002, and has
lasted for six years as of December 2008. Rising tensions were at least tenta-
tively eased with the signing of the February 2007 action plan, but the major
issues of contention have not yet been resolved. It’s important to note that the
timing of the commencement of the second round of nuclear diplomacy was not
of North Korea’s own choosing. When North Korea decided to embark on its
second nuclear diplomacy, it did so only after the United States had found out
about its covert uranium enrichment program. From Pyongyang’s perspective,
therefore, North Korea had been suddenly forced to take strong action in the
face of international pressure.

When the North Korean leaders decided to conduct missile and nuclear
tests, they took a chance. There was no technological assurance that the sys-
tems would actually work. In fact, neither of them were clear-cut successes.
However, their psychological impact was not insignificant. North Korea sur-
prised the world at least three times by quickly deciding to withdraw from the
NPT in 2003, launching missiles in 2006, and conducting a nuclear test in the
same year.

Forces involved and the type of use of force

Both actual and potential nuclear forces played an important role in this episode
of nuclear diplomacy. Fighter aircraft, patrol boats, anti-ship missiles, and bal-
listic missiles were also employed to enhance the nuclear coercion. In many
ways, past episodes such as the Pueblo and EC-121 incidents, the West Sea
incident, and missile diplomacy were replayed in the second round of nuclear
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diplomacy. It is quite interesting that the missile issue did not become a major
topic in the Six-Party Talks although the North Korean side actually suggested it
be one.157

The North Korean strategy was composed of two major elements: deter-
rence and compellence. Through deterrence, it achieved the most fundamental
goal: regime survival. Through compellence, it attempted to encourage the
United States to normalize relations with and provide economic assistance to
the country. In order to make these coercive tools effective, the North
Koreans invited American specialists such as Siegfried Hecker to visit their
country on multiple occasions. When this indirect and implicit approach failed
to produce results, they went ahead with missile and nuclear tests.

Intensity and targeting

As in 1993–94, the second round of nuclear diplomacy did not involve the
actual application of force and it did not cause any casualties or physical damage
to the concerned countries. The only difference between the first and second
round was that an actual nuclear explosion was involved in the second one. As
in the first round of nuclear diplomacy, North Korea refrained from causing
human or material damage on any of the target countries, particularly the United
States, most likely because it wanted to extract economic assistance from or
improve relations with them.

Military-diplomatic coordination

Nuclear diplomacy in the 2000s within North Korea was reportedly managed by
the task force called “Yugja Hoedam Sangmujo,” or the Six-Party Talks Man-
agement Team.158 Military actions and diplomacy were very well coordinated, as
in most of the cases military actions were preceded or followed by diplomatic
moves to give meaning to them.

It is also important to note that the MFA might not have been aware of the
existence of the HEU program when the U.S. side challenged North Korean
diplomats on the issue in 2002. On this point, Kang Sok Ju reportedly said that
“we in the Foreign Ministry were surprised that there was indeed this program:
we did have this program, and the military was running it.”159 As in the
1990s, it seems that nuclear diplomacy and nuclear weapons development
were managed by different organizations: the Six-Party Talks Management
Team and the “131 Jidogug,” or Guidance Bureau No. 131.160

Assessment

For all its provocative actions, North Korea’s political objectives in the 2000s
were not any different from those in the first nuclear episode in the 1990s.
North Korea was still seeking to ensure regime survival by improving
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relations with the United States and, to a lesser extent, Japan. North Korea
repeatedly clarified this point in the early stages of this round of the nuclear
diplomacy. For example, North Korea presented a “proposal for a package
solution to the nuclear issue and the order of simultaneous actions” in 2003.
According to the proposal, the United States was to (a) conclude a non-
aggression treaty with North Korea, (b) establish diplomatic relations with it,
(c) guarantee economic cooperation between the DPRK and Japan, and
between the two Koreas, and (d) compensate North Korea for the loss of
electricity caused by the delayed provision of LWRs and complete their
construction.161 In essence, North Korea was demanding security assurances
and a new peace mechanism, normalization with the United States, eco-
nomic benefits, and energy assistance. In this section, the effectiveness of
the second round of nuclear diplomacy will be assessed against these policy
objectives as well as other possible domestic political objectives.

Security assurances and a new peace mechanism

In the 2005 Joint Statement, the United States affirmed that it had no nuclear
weapons on the Korean Peninsula and that it had “no intention to attack or
invade the DPRK with nuclear or conventional weapons.” This was a big step
forward for North Korea. The North Korean leaders seemed to have been
concerned about the U.S. decision to consider developing earth-penetrating
nuclear weapons to be used against nations armed with WMD, including
North Korea, coupled with its adoption of “preemption” as official strategy.162

For example, the North Korean media reported in June 2005 that the United
States had deployed missiles capable of penetrating underground in an attempt
to bring about “regime change.”163 The U.S. pledge was thus doubly mean-
ingful since it provided conventional security assurances in addition to
nuclear-related negative security assurances that the Agreed Framework had
already provided. However, from the North Korean perspective, no assurance
without actual military movement to support it would be enough. From
Pyongyang’s perspective, the written security assurance in the Joint Statement
was only part of the answer.

Regarding the replacement of the Korean Armistice with a new peace
mechanism, the Joint Statement called on the directly related parties to
negotiate a “permanent peace regime” on the Korean Peninsula, repeated in
the 2007 action plan. Although Hill said in 2007 that the talks to sign a
formal peace treaty could begin “next year,” it was a rather open-ended com-
mitment without any target date.164 In any case, it was at least moderately
meaningful to North Korea because Pyongyang had repeatedly demanded the
replacement of the Armistice Agreement with a new peace mechanism since
1993 and the establishment of a peace mechanism would certainly contribute
to the survival of Kim Jong Il’s regime and to the normalization of U.S.–
DPRK relations.
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Normalization of relations with the United States

The United States stopped applying the Trading with the Enemy Act to North
Korea in June 2008 and rescinded its designation as a State Sponsor of Ter-
rorism in October the same year. Although the Bush Administration empha-
sized that these actions were largely symbolic and that most sanctions,
including those related to the October 2006 nuclear test, proliferation activ-
ities, and human rights violations, would continue, this was a major about-
face in the administration’s North Korea policy.165 North Korea responded
cautiously, welcoming the U.S. actions but warning that the successful imple-
mentation of the verification agreement would depend on whether the
delisting of the DPRK as a state sponsor of terrorism would actually take
effect and economic rewards be provided.166 Nevertheless, given that the
application of the Trading with the Enemy Act and designation as a State
Sponsor of Terrorism had been regarded as two of the most important stum-
bling blocks to the fundamental improvement of U.S.–DPRK relations, the
steps that the United States took in June and October 2008 at least paved a
way for substantial improvement of diplomatic relations between the two
countries.

In addition, these U.S. actions had important potential implications for
U.S.–DPRK economic relations. For one, by no longer applying the Trading
with the Enemy Act, the United States removed the requirement for licenses
on all imports from North Korea.167 With the delisting of North Korea as a
State Sponsor of Terrorism, a ban on arms-related exports and sales, controls
over exports of dual-use items, prohibitions on economic assistance, and the
imposition of financial and other restrictions imposed by U.S. law were tech-
nically lifted. Most significantly, the United States was now no longer required
to oppose loans by the World Bank and other international financial institu-
tions to North Korea.168 Despite these major changes, however, the United
States and North Korea failed to fully normalize diplomatic relations.

Provision of light-water reactors and heavy oil

In July 2007, South Korea provided 50,000 tons of HFO to North Korea in
return for the nuclear freeze. In October, the parties agreed in the second phase
of the action plan to provide 450,000 tons of HFO as well as materials and
equipment for producing energy equivalent to 500,000 tons of HFO.169 By early
February 2008, it was informally agreed that materials and equipment related to
refurbishing coal mines and thermal and hydro power plants would be provided
to North Korea as non-HFO assistance.170 By the end of July 2008, North Korea
had received approximately 420,000 tons of HFO and equivalent assistance.171

The 50,000 tons of HFO that South Korea procured from SK Energy were valued
at $22 million.172 By simple calculation, one million tons of HFO would cost
about $440 million.
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North Korea did not obtain nearly as much direct material benefit as it had in
its first nuclear diplomacy, though. The 1994 Agreed Framework offered North
Korea an annual provision of 500,000 tons of HFO for about eight years, or
some four million tons of HFO, about four times as much as offered in the 2007
action plan. Ironically, suppliers of HFO will have to spend about the same
amount of money, however, due to rising oil prices. In addition, although the
2005 Joint Statement mentioned the possible provision of LWRs to North Korea,
no concrete decision has yet been made.

Moreover, North Korea’s nuclear development came at a price. According to
the ROK Ministry of National Defense, North Korea has probably spent $290–
764 million for its nuclear program, including $57–170 million to construct the
5-MW reactor, $20–59 million for the reprocessing facility, $24–73 million for
the plutonium production needed for one nuclear device, and $33–106 million
for designing and producing nuclear weapons.173

Economic cooperation with Japan and South Korea

North Korea’s nuclear diplomacy also negatively affected its relationship with
Japan, and bilateral economic cooperation between the two has not yet been
realized. In July 2002, just months before the onset of the second round of
nuclear diplomacy, North Korea started to take a series of measures to improve
its economic management. If economic reform were to gather momentum,
Pyongyang would have to introduce a large amount of foreign capital goods and
funds into the country. It was in this context that Japanese Prime Minister Juni-
chiro Koizumi visited Pyongyang to meet with Kim Jong Il in September. The
two leaders agreed that Japan would provide economic assistance to North
Korea after normalization. The bilateral Pyongyang Declaration specified that
the economic assistance would include grant aid, loans and credits, and huma-
nitarian assistance, with the total amount expected to be several billion dollars at
the minimum.174 The onset of tension over the nuclear issue as well as the
revelation that North Korea had actually abducted Japanese citizens and that
some of them were already dead, however, stalled the normalization process.
Furthermore, the Japanese government imposed unilateral sanctions on North
Korea shortly after the nuclear test in October 2006, making it even harder for
the two countries to improve relations.175 As a result, Japan refused to provide
not only the economic assistance specified in the Pyongyang Declaration but
also the relatively small amount of energy aid based on the six-party agreements
in February and October 2007.

By contrast, inter-Korean economic cooperation continued despite the nuclear
crisis. The South Korean government provided an average $136.76 million
annually as official aid to North Korea between 2003 and 2006, and joint
development projects also proceeded. North Korea’s nuclear diplomacy did not
cause this outcome, however, as warming relations between North and South
were a result of South Korea’s proactive sunshine policy of engagement. In fact,
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North Korea’s diplomacy of brinkmanship significantly slowed down the devel-
opment of inter-Korean economic cooperation, which could have advanced
much more rapidly had it not been for the nuclear issue.176

Maintaining domestic stability

North Korean leadership extensively used the nuclear test for domestic propa-
ganda purposes. After the nuclear test, words of celebration appeared in every
corner of the nation. A few weeks after the test, reportedly more than 100,000
people including party, army, and state cadres were mobilized in Pyongyang to
celebrate the “historic successful nuclear test” in an army–people rally held at
Kim Il Sung Square.177 On January 1, 2007, the New Year’s special editorial
said, “The army and people of Korea, under the unfurled banner of Songun
[army-first policy], have won victory after victory in the showdown with the
United States and in safeguarding socialism.” It also said, “That we have come to
possess a nuclear deterrent was an auspicious event in our national history, a
realization of our people’s centuries-long desire to have a national strength no
one could dare challenge.”178

Repercussions

Significantly, the 2006 nuclear test has deprived North Korea of plausible
deniability, as the test clearly demonstrated that North Korea actually possessed
nuclear weapons and had the ability to explode them. Before the test, while the
United States was convinced that North Korea had nuclear weapons, China was
doubtful. North Korea often took advantage of this gray zone in its diplomatic
maneuvers. After the test, however, this plausible deniability was lost and North
Korean diplomatic flexibility was undermined. The hurdle for the United States
and Japan to fundamentally improve relations with North Korea is now higher
than before.

NUCLEAR DIPLOMACY, ROUND TWO, 2002 08

186



CONCLUSION

North Korea’s changing policy objectives

North Korea’s policy objectives have changed significantly over time. In the
1960s, they were ambitious, aggressive, and hostile. Forcibly stopping U.S.
intelligence activities, diverting U.S.–ROK strategic focus away from the Viet-
nam War, and attempting to overthrow the South Korean government are but a
few examples. North Korea’s policy objectives in the 1970s were not as grand-
iose as in the 1960s but they were still quite ambitious. Examples from this
decade include making maritime territorial claims, concluding a peace agreement
with the United States, getting the United States to withdraw its forces from
South Korea, and destabilizing South Korea. In the 1980s, North Korea took
extremely aggressive actions. It attempted to assassinate the South Korean pre-
sident and undermine the Seoul Olympic Games by bombing a Korean Air
civilian passenger airliner. Despite the expressed aggressiveness, however, these
actions, and particularly the bombing of a passenger aircraft, reflected a sense of
anxiety and desperation, as North Korea’s policy objectives were becoming
increasingly defensive. South Korea’s economy was pulling ahead of the North
as it prepared to make its debut on the international stage by hosting the Olym-
pic Games. Concerned with preserving the balance, North Korea felt like it had
to stop these developments. By the early 1990s, North Korea’s policy objectives
had become more decidedly defensive. Regime survival and acquisition of eco-
nomic assistance had become the most important objectives. North Korea
attempted to achieve these goals by trying to normalize relations with the United
States and Japan. Military crises notwithstanding, North Korea’s policy objec-
tives since the 1990s have been minimalist.

While North Korea’s policy objectives were predominantly hostile in the
1960s, cooperative elements began to appear in the 1970s. In 1974, North Korea
proposed the conclusion of a peace agreement with the United States primarily
for the purpose of getting rid of the U.S. presence in South Korea. North Korea’s
goal was to change the status quo on the Korean Peninsula by improving its
relations with the United States. The important difference between the 1970s and
the 1990s was that while the North Koreans tried to change the status quo by
improving its relations with the United States in the 1970s, they tried to maintain
the status quo by doing the same in the 1990s.
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Purely military objectives diminished in importance while diplomatic and
economic objectives loomed larger over time. The primary objectives involved
in the seizure of the Pueblo and the shooting down of the EC-121 in the
1960s, stopping U.S. intelligence operations, were military in nature. The
1970s were a transitional period. North Korea’s policy objectives in the West
Sea incident were primarily diplomatic and legal, and secondarily economic.
North Korea’s objective in the Axe Murder incident was definitely more dip-
lomatic than military. Since the 1990s, North Korea’s military-diplomatic
campaigns have been about trading military capabilities for diplomatic and
economic gains.

Patterns of military-diplomatic actions

Patterns of North Korea’s military-diplomatic actions have changed in conjunc-
tion with its changing policy objectives, particularly in terms of their intensity
and targeting. First, the intensity and the number of casualties associated with its
military actions diminished over time. North Korea in the 1960s was extremely
ambitious, and used force in a variety of ways – to coerce, control, and subvert.
It used force directly and aggressively and caused a large number of casualties
for both the United States and South Korea. Then in the 1970s, as a more
cooperative approach emerged, North Korea used force in a limited, indirect, and
coercive manner, with explicit coordination between military and diplomatic
activities. As a result, the number of casualties caused by North Korean actions
diminished significantly. The number of casualties temporarily increased in the
1980s due to the surge in terrorism-type subversive actions in North Korea’s
desperate attempt to derail the turn in domestic and international support in favor
of South Korea. In the 1990s, as North Korea’s policy objectives became more
defensive, it started to engage in a show of force for coercive purposes instead of
physically applying force, as it had done in earlier periods. As a consequence,
North Korea only inflicted limited damage and casualties, especially against the
United States, despite the long and high-profile nature of its military-diplomatic
campaigns in the decade.

The number of casualties caused by North Korea decreased from a high of
507 in the 1960s to 94 in the 1970s to more than 140 in the 1980s to zero in the
1990s and then to six between 2000 and 2007.1 There seem to have been two
important reasons for these numbers. One is that the need to actually resort to
brute force diminished once North Korea came to have military capabilities of
significant strategic importance, such as nuclear and longer-range missile forces.
The other is that the emergence of cooperative policy objectives, such as nor-
malizing relations with the United States and obtaining economic assistance from
the neighbors, has made it diplomatically unwise for the North Koreans to inflict
significant physical damage on others. Killing Americans, and South Koreans to a
lesser extent, would certainly be detrimental to the normalization of U.S.–DPRK
relations.
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Another indication that the North Koreans tailored their military actions to
their policy objectives is seen in the shift in targeting patterns. In the 1960s,
North Korea exercised no target discrimination; in the sustained attacks along
the Demilitarized Zone (DMZ), both U.S. and South Korean servicemen
became targets. In 1968, the Pueblo incident and the Blue House raid took
place simultaneously. In the 1970s, however, the North Koreans started to
distinguish between U.S. and South Korean targets. In the Axe Murder inci-
dent, for example, U.S. servicemen were specifically targeted. This target
discrimination became clearer in the 1980s. The attempted attack against
the U.S. SR-71, for example, was North Korea’s last direct use of force against
U.S. personnel and assets. After the incident, North Korea stopped attacking
Americans, a trend which has continued to this day. Moreover, after the
Rangoon incident in 1983, North Korea stopped attacking the South Korean
leadership.

Assessing effectiveness

Some of North Korea’s military actions were very successful in achieving its
policy objectives while others were only moderately successful. Still others were
simply counterproductive. The Pueblo incident and the first round of nuclear
diplomacy were highly successful while the assaults along the DMZ in the
1960s, the West Sea incident in the 1970s, and North Korea’s missile diplomacy
in the 1990s were moderately so. The attempt to undermine the Korean Armis-
tice in the 1990s did not produce positive results. The Axe Murder incident and
other unconventional attacks such as the bombing of the Korean airliner were
disastrously counterproductive. The second round of nuclear diplomacy has
produced fairly positive, if inconclusive, results.

However rational the North Koreans might be, they do make mistakes. At the
time of the Axe Murder incident, for example, the international environment had
been very favorable to North Korea. The tactical mistake of killing American
servicemen in an extremely brutal manner turned the whole venture into a dis-
astrous failure. In June 1999, furthermore, the North Koreans underestimated the
South Korean reaction. As a result of the Battle of Yeonpyeong, North Korea
lost lives, naval vessels, and their reputation for military prowess. Other uncon-
ventional actions also failed. Assassination attempts on South Korean presidents
have never succeeded; neither have guerrilla infiltrations. The bombing of a
Korean airliner in 1987, furthermore, decisively shifted the attitude of the inter-
national community against North Korea.

Taken as a whole, North Korean leaders have been highly rational and mod-
erately successful high-risk takers with idiosyncratic policy objectives. The claim
that the North Koreans have always been highly effective in using force and that
Kim Il Sung and Kim Jong Il are “military geniuses” is not true. They have been
voracious users of force, but they have not been any better at using it than
others.
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Military balance and patterns of military action

Military advantage as an enabling factor

North Korea’s propensity to use or threaten force has been high, particularly
when a fresh opportunity was created by the acquisition of new military cap-
abilities. Examples abound. North Korea’s assaults along the DMZ, the Pueblo
incident, and the shooting down of the EC-121 in the late 1960s were all
preceded by a major military buildup based on the “Party military lines”
adopted in 1962.2 The naval actions around the Northwest Islands (NWI) in
the early 1970s were made possible by the procurement of fast guided-missile
boats from the Soviet Union in the preceding decade. North Korea’s nuclear
and missile diplomacy in the 1990s was made possible by the development of
nuclear and missile capabilities which had accelerated in the 1980s. Some
years after North Korea froze its plutonium-based nuclear program in 1994, it
embarked on a uranium-based nuclear program. When the United States
uncovered the secret program in 2002, North Korea attempted to use it as a
new bargaining chip.

It is noteworthy that North Korea became relatively inactive in using its con-
ventional military force in the 1980s. The changing military balance on the
Korean Peninsula explains this period of relative calm. By 1986, South Korea
had finished its second mid-term Force Improvement Program and the United
States and South Korea had adopted more offensive elements into their defense
strategy.3 South Korea had been outspending North Korea on defense since 1976
and the overall military balance was shifting in favor of the U.S.–ROK side.4

Moreover, North Korea was beginning to devote a larger share of its resources to
ballistic missile and nuclear development with a diminishing emphasis on con-
ventional forces.

Military advantage and the choice of location

North Korea’s preferred location for military actions changed over time in line
with the changing military balance. At first, North Korea was active along the
DMZ. When the DMZ was fortified in the late 1960s, however, the North
Koreans shifted their attention to the NWI area in the Yellow Sea where they
had a local military advantage. South Korea then fortified the NWI and
strengthened its naval forces. When this happened, the North Koreans moved
their attention away from the NWI area to the JSA, where it enjoyed local
military superiority. In the 1990s, North Korea’s major military-diplomatic
campaigns – nuclear and missile diplomacy – were based in sustained activ-
ities inside the North Korean territory, which served as a sanctuary. North
Korea tended to use force where it enjoyed local military superiority. Put dif-
ferently, as North Korea lost local military advantages as a result of U.S.–
ROK countermeasures, its room for action diminished accordingly. By the

CONCLUS ION

190



1990s, North Korea’s military actions had been largely confined to its own
territory as well as small areas such as the JSA and the NWI area in the
Yellow Sea.

Unconventional attacks followed the same pattern. In the 1960s, the major-
ity of North Korean infiltrators came to the south across the DMZ. When
the DMZ was fortified in the late 1960s, the North Koreans started to dig
tunnels beneath the DMZ in order to get around the fortified DMZ, and
increased seaborne infiltrations. Then after South Korea strengthened its naval
power, North Korea started to put an emphasis on submerged infiltration
methods. The submarine incidents of 1996 and 1998 were partly the results
of such a shift. In the 1980s, North Korea resorted to terrorism, and two of
the three major terrorist plots – the Rangoon incident and the bombing
of the Korean Airliner passenger plane – were executed outside of the Korean
Peninsula. This, too, seems to have reflected the shift in military balance
in and around the peninsula. In short, the North Koreans have continued to
look for new frontiers for possible action as the military balance changed over
time.

Military advantage as a determinant of success

The single most important determinant of success in North Korea’s military-
diplomatic campaigns has been the presence—or absence—of a military advan-
tage during the campaign. When the North Koreans had a military advantage, the
chance that their actions would succeed was high. In other words, relevant
military advantages, not skilled negotiation tactics, played the decisive role in
determining the outcome of North Korea’s military-diplomatic campaigns. As
examples, while the first round of nuclear diplomacy resulted in the Agreed
Framework and North Korea’s missile diplomacy almost produced a sig-
nificantly improved relationship with the United States, the same North Koreans
failed to obtain any meaningful diplomatic or economic benefit from their mili-
tary actions in the JSA, the DMZ, and the NWI area in the 1990s even though
they expended just as much military-diplomatic effort. What distinguished these
two sets of cases was the existence of actual and potential nuclear and missile
capabilities in the former, which generated a tremendous compellent effect on
the target countries. In terms of strategic significance and compellent value, the
armed demonstrations in the JSA, the skirmishes in the DMZ, and the naval
clash in the NWI area were nowhere near as significant as the nuclear and missile
capabilities in the other examples cited above. This does not mean that tactical
factors did not matter.5 Sophisticated diplomatic actions were always indis-
pensable in translating military action into meaningful policy results. It does
mean, however, that tactical factors such as negotiation skills were at best sec-
ondary determinants of the effectiveness of North Korea’s military-diplomatic
campaigns.
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Learning from the past

North Korean skill in using military force in conjunction with diplomatic action
has become more sophisticated over time. As a result, they have demonstrated an
ability to conduct highly sophisticated and elaborate military-diplomatic campaigns
since the 1990s. For example, the North Koreans seem to have learned lessons
from the Pueblo incident as demonstrated in their conduct of nuclear diplomacy
in the 1990s. In both cases, they acquired what the Americans cared very much
about – the Pueblo and its crew in the former, and nuclear capabilities in the
latter – and used them as a bargaining chip. The only difference was that the
military-diplomatic campaign was rather incidental in the Pueblo case while its
nuclear diplomacy was a result of a deliberate and premeditated action. It is
quite suggestive, therefore, that the North Koreans have actually characterized
these two incidents as examples of Kim Jong Il’s “war of brains” and “war of
wisdom” against the United States. The negotiations resulting from the seizure
of the Pueblo seem to have made the North Koreans realize that diplomatic
interactions with the Americans, accompanied by appropriate military action,
could produce positive results.

Also, since the 1990s, North Korea has started to recycle old tricks. The
multiple armed demonstrations of force in the JSA in the mid-1990s were a
modified version of the Axe Murder incident without blood. The actions in the
NWI area in 1999, 2001, and 2002 had much in common with those in the first
half of the 1970s. In 2002, furthermore, North Korea started to replay its nuclear
diplomacy, this time incorporating slightly different ingredients than the previous
era.

North Korea’s military-diplomatic coordination in the 1960s was at best rudi-
mentary. The assaults along the DMZ were not followed up by diplomatic
action. In the Pueblo and EC-121 incidents, Kim Il Sung’s thinking was simple:
shoot them if they came close. The U.S.–DPRK talks following the capture of the
Pueblo were an unexpected result rather than a premeditated outcome. The shoot-
ing down of the EC-121 in 1969 was not followed by any meaningful diplomatic
action. In the 1970s, North Korea’s military-diplomatic coordination became a bit
more sophisticated. In the West Sea incident, a series of military actions were
taken specifically to back the demands that the North Koreans made at meetings
in Panmunjom. The Axe Murder incident could have served North Korea’s
policy objectives had it not been for the tactical mistakes committed on the
ground, namely the excessively brutal nature of the attack. Diplomatic coordi-
nation thus had to work to minimize the damage rather than to exploit the
opportunity created by the military action.

After a long pause in the 1980s, North Korea returned in the 1990s with a
surprising ability to conduct long, multi-phased, and highly sophisticated mili-
tary-diplomatic campaigns. Its nuclear and missile diplomacy are cases in point.
They were both based on actual and potential military capabilities of regional
and global significance. In both cases, the North Koreans made effective use of
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the element of surprise. Both of them brought about high-level bilateral talks
between the United States and North Korea. In both cases, many of the objec-
tives spelled out by the North Koreans were quite realistic. North Korea’s mili-
tary-diplomatic campaigns to undermine the Korean Armistice in the 1990s are
often forgotten, but they were also highly sophisticated and complex in terms of
how military actions were coordinated with diplomatic moves.

One problem for North Korea is that its sophisticated coordination between
military actions and diplomatic moves sometimes makes its military-diplomatic
campaigns less effective. This is because when military and diplomatic actions
are so apparently coordinated, the target nations can easily figure out that the
military actions are simply a part of the demonstration of force and, therefore,
will not develop into an actual military clash. Military coercion tends to work
better when the coercer’s intention or the consequences of the situation is not
entirely clear. This is why coercers tend to manipulate risk by reducing trans-
parency. In this sense, it is rational for the North Koreans to maintain a certain
level of ambiguity in their policy and intensions.

Deterrence as a crucial ingredient

Despite the tendency to focus on the offensive aspect of North Korean military
strategy, effective deterrence has been a critical enabling factor in North Korea’s
military actions. For North Korea’s military-diplomatic campaigns to succeed,
North Korea had to prevent strong reactions from the U.S.–ROK side.

The United States and/or South Korea seriously considered military actions in
response to the North Korean raid on the Blue House, the seizure of the Pueblo,
the shooting-down of the EC-121, the Axe Murder incident, and its nuclear
development. In 2002, the United States even talked about “preemption.” In all
cases, however, they eventually dropped the military option. There have been
several different sources of North Korea’s deterrent capabilities. One of them
was the “Party military lines” adopted in 1962. Kim Il Sung presented two of the
four major elements of the Party military lines – arming of the entire population
and the fortification of the entire country – as “the most powerful defence
system from the military strategic point of view, a system which is capable of
thwarting any enemy attack.”6 One of the most important reasons why the
United States and South Korea could not take punitive military actions was the
realization that fighting a war with the highly militarized, fortified nation in arms
would be costly and futile.

The characteristics of North Korea’s deterrent, however, changed over time.
Until the 1980s, its deterrent largely originated from its ability to defend itself in
case of a major military clash, or deterrence by denial. By the early 1990s,
however, it had become clear that North Korea’s ability to inflict unbearable
damage on the United States and South Korea, or deterrence by punishment, had
become the most important source of its deterrent. In the 1990s, North Korea
deployed a large number of long-range artillery and multiple rocket launchers
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along the DMZ. By forward-deploying a total of 12,000 long-range artillery and
rocket systems, North Korea made it possible to fire 500,000 rounds per hour against
South Korea by 2001.7 Despite the confidence that the U.S.–ROK side had in mili-
tarily defeating North Korea in case of war, North Korea successfully deterred
preventive and/or counter-coercive actions with its ability to “punish.”8

Extensive use of legal issues

Legal issues were prime considerations in North Korea’s military actions. North
Korean policymakers have proved to be extremely knowledgeable about legal
issues and versed in exploiting them to their advantage, although they have done
poorly in abiding by international law and agreements. Quite frequently, North
Korea’s military-diplomatic campaigns involved legal issues in important ways.
In the West Sea incident of the 1970s, for example, North Korea exploited the
failure of the Armistice Agreement to define maritime boundaries, and chal-
lenged the validity of the Northern Limit Line (NLL). Later, the North Koreans
took advantage of provisions in the Non-Proliferation Treaty (NPT) in putting a
time pressure on American negotiators. In another example, North Korea
undertook sustained actions in the JSA and the DMZ as well as around the NWI
in the 1990s in order to undermine the Armistice Agreement by highlighting its
defects. In particular, North Korea’s naval operations in June 1999 aimed to
exploit the defects of the Armistice Agreement and the weakness in the North–
South Basic Agreement of 1992.

Sometimes, legal factors were extremely important. In June 1999, North
Korean naval vessels started crossing the NLL systematically even though North
Korea did not have a local military advantage, as the outcome of the naval cla-
shes in this period suggest. The North Koreans still took these actions, however,
because they hoped that they could exploit legal problems pertaining to the
status of the NLL. In other words, North Korea has used or threatened force
where it could plausibly, though not necessarily persuasively, claim legal justice
even when it lacked a local military advantage. In fact, North Korea’s legal
argument regarding the NLL was much more sophisticated in 1999 than in the
1970s. Also, the maritime demarcation line North Korea proposed in 2006 was
consistent with the contemporary peacetime international law of the sea.

North Korea’s ability to make use of legal factors seems to come partly from
the nature of its political system, in which a small number of specialists tends to
stay in the same position for a long time, resulting in a deep understanding of
technical issues and the effective retention of organizational memory.9 Former
North Korean diplomats who defected to South Korea have revealed that there
were many aged officials in the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and that almost 90
percent of the officials in the ministry stayed in the same bureau throughout
their careers.10 Such a personnel management system certainly creates rigidity.
However, it also guarantees consistency, continuity, and a significant level of
professionalism.
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The element of surprise

An element of surprise has almost always been an important ingredient in North
Korea’s military actions. The seizure of the Pueblo, the shooting down of the
EC-121, the Axe Murder incident, the announcement of withdrawal from the
NPT, the launch of the Taepo Dong missile, the multiple ballistic missile laun-
ches, and the nuclear test all came as surprises to North Korea observers.

It also appears that in recent years the North Koreans have taken into account
political developments in both the United States and South Korea while deciding
when to initiate an action. North Korea’s nuclear and missile diplomacy com-
menced shortly after new administrations came into office in the United States
and/or South Korea. By doing so, the North Koreans put U.S. and South Korean
policymakers off balance. The element of surprise was used effectively.

Underlying its effective use of surprise is the nature of North Korea’s political
system, military capabilities, and tactical skills. What is significant is not neces-
sarily the fact that the North Koreans used the element of surprise quite often but
that they have been able to actually plan, prepare, and execute actions to surprise
the target countries. That said, frequent use of the element of surprise has come
at a price. North Korea is no longer trusted by anyone, and its reputation in the
international community is at rock bottom.

Domestic politics

Domestic political objectives have also played a role in some of North Korea’s
military-diplomatic campaigns, but they have been of secondary importance.
Kim Il Sung used the Pueblo incident to justify his “dual-track development
policy” and the purging of his political rivals. He decided to shoot down the
EC-121 partly to strengthen his position within the military establishment. The
Axe Murder incident occurred when Kim Jong Il was trying to consolidate his
position as heir to Kim Il Sung, defying criticism from within the North
Korean political system. Military actions in the 1990s were taken when
Kim Jong Il was finishing his attempt to establish his positions both in the
party and in the military establishments. The Taepo Dong missile was laun-
ched in 1998 just before Kim Jong Il was reelected chairman of the National
Defence Commission. The nuclear test in 2006 was also used to glorify Kim’s
leadership.

That said, the contention that North Korean leaders resort to force only when
they face domestic difficulties is not true. In the period directly following the
end of the Korean War in 1953, North Korea did not undertake many military
actions as its attention was focused on a number of serious domestic power
struggles. North Korea’s use of force actually increased when Kim Il Sung’s
position was consolidated in the 1960s. Furthermore, when Kim Jong Il for-
malized his position in the Workers’ Party in the early 1980s, North Korea
continued to undertake provocative actions, such as the Rangoon incident.
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North Korea’s military actions could have worked against domestic political
objectives because as history shows some of the actions actually failed. The Axe
Murder incident, for example, was a major failure. In the 1999 naval battle, the
North Korean navy was defeated. Unconventional attacks such as the Rangoon
bombing and the bombing of the Korean airliner also failed disastrously. These
cases would have given ammunition to Kim Jong Il’s domestic rivals, if they
actually existed. We can therefore conclude that military actions have not always
helped Kim Il Sung and Kim Jong Il domestically.

The international environment

The contention that North Korea undertakes military action only when faced
with a negative international environment is similarly not true. History shows
that North Korea initiated military actions both when the international envir-
onment was favorable as well as when it was not. Actions in the late 1960s,
for example, were taken in a mixed international environment in which the
Sino-Soviet split was a negative factor but the Vietnam War had rather posi-
tive implications for North Korea. The Axe Murder incident took place in an
environment most favorable to North Korea. Its nuclear diplomacy began
twice when the international situation was extremely negative, but the Taepo
Dong launch occurred when the international environment was quite favorable
due to the adoption of the engagement and sunshine policies on the part of the
United States and South Korea, respectively. The 1999 naval clash, what is
more, took place shortly after William Perry visited Pyongyang.

As these cases also suggest, the international environment has not necessarily
determined the outcome of the episodes, either. The Axe Murder failed dis-
astrously despite a highly favorable international environment, while both nuclear
diplomacy initiatives turned out to be a success despite a highly unfavorable
international environment.

Repercussions

Despite short-term successes, in some cases North Korea’s military-diplomatic
campaigns have produced negative mid- to long-term repercussions by provok-
ing unintended reactions in other countries. In the 1960s, sustained assaults
along the DMZ caused the U.S.–ROK side to fortify the DMZ. In the 1970s,
North Korean naval and air activities provoked South Korea to fortify the NWI
and build up and modernize its naval forces deployed in the area. The local
military balance in the area had become decisively favorable to the South
Korean side by the time the naval vessels of North and South Korea engaged in
battle in 1999. Additionally, the launch of a Taepo Dong missile in 1998
encouraged the United States and Japan to renew their ballistic missile defense
programs.
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These cases have demonstrated the importance of paying attention to mid- to
long-term repercussions in assessing the effectiveness of North Korea’s military-
diplomatic campaigns. Short-term success could turn into mid- to long-term
disadvantages. Military responses or other countermeasures can make an impor-
tant difference in assessments of the longer-term effectiveness of North Korea’s
military-diplomatic campaigns.

Looking into the future

Since 1966, North Korea has used force in a highly calculated but often dan-
gerously provocative manner, bringing the situation to the brink of war. No
matter how calculated its actions were, they have indeed been military
adventures. After more than 40 years, North Korea’s calculated adventurism
has come to full maturity. Or, put differently, North Korea’s calculated
adventurism has come to the limit of its life. Over time, North Korea’s policy
objectives have become extremely conservative and limited. With all of its
military-diplomatic campaigns, what North Korea now seeks to achieve is
simply regime survival, normalization of relations with other countries, and
obtaining economic aid.

The North Korean leaders are bold in taking negative, hostile actions but
extremely cautious in taking positive, conciliatory steps. They risked war in the
Pueblo incident, the Axe Murder incident, and during the first round of nuclear
diplomacy, but they did not allow the Americans to have an office in Pyon-
gyang. They would “disable” part of their nuclear program but not go any
further.

From Pyongyang’s perspective, this might actually be the optimal strategy.
Since the late 1990s, North Korea’s military-diplomatic campaigns have been
executed in a half-hearted manner and have produced commensurately mediocre
results. The reason behind this is the dilemma that North Korea faces. It could
obtain large gains if it were to abandon its nuclear and missile programs, but if it
did so, it would be left with no effective policy leverage. Nobody knows better
than Kim Jong Il what his portfolio of policy options looks like and how solid
or fragile his regime might be. It is perfectly natural that North Korean leaders
try to play some cards but keep others back. Up to now, North Korea has used
every possible conventional and unconventional tool in its military-diplomatic
campaigns.

The life of a singer ends when he starts singing his old songs. Tellingly, the
most interesting characteristics of North Korea’s second nuclear initiative –

fighter aircraft, patrol boats, anti-ship missiles, nuclear bombs, and ballistic
missiles – are actually all stars from past episodes. In a similar vein, the chal-
lenge against the U.S. RC-135S in 2003 was a modified repeat of the Pueblo
and EC-121 incidents. In 2003, just as in the 1970s, North Korean MiG-19 and
patrol boats crossed the NLL. In 2006, the No Dong and Scud flew once again
after an absence of 13 years. The Taepo Dong also reappeared, now as the Taepo
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Dong 2, and yet again anti-ship missiles were fired. In 2006, even the nuclear
bomb came up again, and this time it exploded. Given all this, perhaps the
second round of nuclear diplomacy should be entitled, “The Final Episode of
Calculated Adventurism.” That said, however, one should always remember that,
more often than not, the “final” episode is never final. There is always the pos-
sibility of reruns.

CONCLUS ION

198



APPENDIX A

Casualties suffered due to hostilities

US ROK DPRK

Year Killed Wounded Killed Wounded Killed Wounded

1964 0 1 1 0 3 1
1965 0 0 21 (19) 6 (13) 4 51
1966 6 1 29 (4) 28 (5) 43 19
1967 16 51 115 (22) 243 (53) 228 57
1968 18 54 145 (35) 240 (16) 321 13
1969 35 5 10 (19) 39 (17) 55 6
1970 0 0 9 (7) 22 (17) 46 3
1971 0 0 18 (4) 28 (4) 22 2
1972 0 0 0 0 0 0
1973 0 0 2 1 2 1
1974 1 4 1 (38) 2 (16) 5 0
1975 0 1 0 0 0 0
1976 2 4 4 10 3 5
1977 3 1 1 1 0 0
1978 0 0 1 4 23 0
1979 1 2 2 1 7 0
1980 0 0 5 (1) 11 (1) 19 1
1981 0 0 0 2 1 0
1982 0 0 0 0 1 0
1983 0 0 0 0 16 2
1984 0 0 0 0 0 0
1985 0 0 0 0 0 0
1986 0 0 0 0 0 0
1987 0 0 0 (11) 0 0 0
1988 0 0 0 0 0 0
1989 0 0 0 0 0 0
1990 0 0 0 0 0 0
1991 0 0 0 0 0 0
1992 0 0 0 2 3 0
1993 0 0 0 0 0 0
1994 0 0 0 0 0 0
1995 0 0 0 0 0 0
1996 0 0 0 0 24 0
1997 0 0 0 0 1 14
1998 0 0 0 0 15 0
1999 0 0 0 9 17 30+ Many
2000 0 0 0 0 0 0
2001 0 0 0 0 0 0

(continued on next page)
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(continued)

US ROK DPRK

2002 0 0 6 18 About 30 (killed
and wounded)

2003 2007 0 0 0 0 0 0

*Figures in parentheses denote civilian casualties.
**Casualties suffered due to the terrorist attacks are not included.
Source: Lee Mun Hang, JSA Panmunjeom, 1953 1994 (Seoul: Sohwa, 2001), p. 373 (for
the 1953 1992 period); and the data obtained from the ROK Ministry of National
Defense, August 29, 2002 (for the 1993 2000 period) and February 29, 2008 (for the
2001 2007 period).
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APPENDIX B

North Korea’s infiltrations into South Korea

Year Total By Land By Sea (Number of Cases/Infiltrators)

1960 86 / 157 26 / 38 51 / 99
1961 81 / 115 28 / 32 54 / 79
1962 58 / 104 14 / 26 39 / 71
1963 36 / 57 16 / 27 19 / 29
1964 47 / 96 17 / 33 29 / 62
1965 60 / 142 20 / 49 40 / 93
1966 91 / 210 21 / 62 68 / 146
1967 184 / 694 96 / 359 82 / 311
1968 141 / 601 104 / 386 35 / 202
1969 144 / 429 97 / 254 46 / 172
1970 86 / 245 59 / 156 27 / 89
1971 52 / 198 23 / 83 29 / 115
1972 20 / 58 8 / 25 12 / 33
1973 24 / 62 2 / 6 22 / 56
1974 21 / 66 4 / 17 17 / 49
1975 26 / 78 5 / 6 21 / 72
1976 7 / 36 1 / 3 6 / 33
1977 6 / 24 2 / 5 4 / 19
1978 8 / 36 3 / 10 5 / 26
1979 5 / 33 3 / 11 2 / 22
1980 15 / 69 9 / 27 6 / 42
1981 3 / 9 3 / 9 0 / 0
1982 4 / 7 0 / 0 4 / 7
1983 5 / 37 1 / 3 4 / 34
1984 1 / 1 0 / 0 1 / 1
1985 1 / 5 0 / 0 1 / 5
1986 0 / 0 0 / 0 0 / 0
1987 0 / 0 0 / 0 0 / 0
1988 0 / 0 0 / 0 0 / 0
1989 0 / 0 0 / 0 0 / 0
1990 6 / 30 0 / 0 6 / 30
1991 3 / 14 0 / 0 3 / 14
1992 5 / 16 4 / 12 1 / 4
1993 4 / 11 1 / 3 3 / 8
1994 3 / 9 2 / 6 1 / 3
1995 2 / 5 1 / 3 1 / 2
1996 1 / 25 0 / 0 1 / 25
1997 2 / 10 0 / 0 2 / 10
1998 5 / 29 0 / 0 5 / 29
1999 2007 0 / 0 0 / 0 0 / 0
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Source: National Defense Military History Research Institute, Daebijeonggyujeonsa II,
1961 1980 (History of the Counter Unconventional Warfare II) (Seoul: Gugbang Gunsa
Yeonguso, 1998), pp. 359 360 (for the 1960 1985 period); and the data obtained from
the ROK Ministry of National Defense, August 29, 2002 (for the 1986 2000 period) and
February 29, 2008 (for the 2001 2007 period).
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APPENDIX C

Crossings of the Northern Limit Line

Year Times Vessels

1973 137 184
1974 320 341
1975 643 362
1976 779 294
1977 714 212
1978 427 199
1979 282 152
1980 375 131
1981 1988 n.a. n.a.
1989 29 n.a.
1990 21 n.a.
1991 12 n.a.
1992 38 n.a.
1993 25 n.a.
1994 30 n.a.
1995 26 n.a.
1996 16 n.a.
1997 6 n.a.
1998 48 n.a.
1999 71 n.a.
2000 25 n.a.
2001 20 n.a.
2002 19 n.a.
2003 21 n.a.
2004 19 n.a.
2005 14 n.a.
2006 21 n.a.
2007 28 n.a.

*Figures between 1989 and 2007 are official numbers given by the ROK Ministry of
National Defense. Others are not official.
**Counting method might have changed over time and that there have been cases where the
ROKNavy did not report Northern Limit Line crossings by North Korean vessels. These factors
have made the figures not perfectly reliable. These figures are useful in identifying “trends,”
however. Stephen Tharp, interview by author, Seoul, ROK, March 14, 2001.
Source: Park Ung Seo and et al., Bughan Gunsa Jeongchaegron (On North Korean
Military Policy) (Seoul: Gyeongnam Daehaggyo Geugdong Munje Yeonguso, 1983),
p. 342; and the data obtained from the ROK Ministry of National Defense, August 29,
2002 (for the 1989 2000 period) and February 29, 2008 (for the 2001 2007 period).
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